RADICAL REACTIONS OF CARBOHYDRATES I: RADICAL REACTIONS OF CARBOHYDRATES

Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley



# Radical Reactions of Carbohydrates I: Radical Reactions of Carbohydrates

Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley

This text is disseminated via the Open Education Resource (OER) LibreTexts Project (https://LibreTexts.org) and like the hundreds of other texts available within this powerful platform, it is freely available for reading, printing and "consuming." Most, but not all, pages in the library have licenses that may allow individuals to make changes, save, and print this book. Carefully consult the applicable license(s) before pursuing such effects.

Instructors can adopt existing LibreTexts texts or Remix them to quickly build course-specific resources to meet the needs of their students. Unlike traditional textbooks, LibreTexts' web based origins allow powerful integration of advanced features and new technologies to support learning.



The LibreTexts mission is to unite students, faculty and scholars in a cooperative effort to develop an easy-to-use online platform for the construction, customization, and dissemination of OER content to reduce the burdens of unreasonable textbook costs to our students and society. The LibreTexts project is a multi-institutional collaborative venture to develop the next generation of openaccess texts to improve postsecondary education at all levels of higher learning by developing an Open Access Resource environment. The project currently consists of 14 independently operating and interconnected libraries that are constantly being optimized by students, faculty, and outside experts to supplant conventional paper-based books. These free textbook alternatives are organized within a central environment that is both vertically (from advance to basic level) and horizontally (across different fields) integrated.

The LibreTexts libraries are Powered by NICE CXOne and are supported by the Department of Education Open Textbook Pilot Project, the UC Davis Office of the Provost, the UC Davis Library, the California State University Affordable Learning Solutions Program, and Merlot. This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. 1246120, 1525057, and 1413739.

Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation nor the US Department of Education.

Have questions or comments? For information about adoptions or adaptions contact info@LibreTexts.org. More information on our activities can be found via Facebook (https://facebook.com/Libretexts), Twitter (https://twitter.com/libretexts), or our blog (http://Blog.Libretexts.org).

This text was compiled on 03/10/2025



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### Licensing

## 1: Advantages & Disadvantages of Radical Reactions

- II. Advantages of Radical Reactions
- III. Disadvantages of Radical Reactions
- IV. Looking Ahead

# 2: Halogenated Compounds

- I. Introduction
- II. Radical Formation by Dehalogenation
- III. Radical Reactions
- IV. Halogenation
- V. Summary

# 3: Compounds with Carbon–Sulfur Single Bonds

- I. Introduction
- II. Reaction Mechanisms
- III. Alkylthio and Arylthio Substituted Carbohydrates and Related Compounds
- IV. Dithioacetals
- V. Thiocarbonates and Dithiocarbonates
- VI. O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds
- VII. Sulfones
- VIII. Thiols and Thiyl Radicals
- IX. Summary

## 4: Selenides & Tellurides

- II. Selenides
- III. Tellurides
- IV. Summary

## 5: Acetals & Ethers

- II. Bromination of Acetals and Ethers
- III. Thiol-Catalyzed Reactions of Acetals: Polarity-Reversal Catalysis
- IV. Ring Opening of Specially Designed Acetals
- V. Internal Hydrogen-atom abstraction in Acetals and Ethers
- VI. Radical Cyclization: The Role of Ethers and Acetals
- VII. Silyl Ether Rearrangement
- VIII. Summary

## 6: Alkoxy Radicals

- II. Alkoxy Radicals
- III. Summary
- Index



## 7: Unprotected Carbohydrates

- II. Radicals That Abstract Hydrogen Atoms from Unprotected Carbohydrates
- III. First Formed Radicals: Radicals Produced by Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction from Unprotected Carbohydrates
- IV. Reactions of First-Formed Radicals
- V. Reactions of Carbonyl-Conjugated Radicals
- VI. Oxidative Degradation of Carbohydrates
- VII. Reactions of Polysaccharides
- VIII. Summary

## 8: Carboxylic Acids & Esters

- II. Replacement of an Acyloxy Group with a Hydrogen Atom
- III. Photochemical Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters
- IV. Nonphotochemcal Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters
- V. Acyloxy Group Migration
- VI. Reactions of Carboxylic Acids
- VII. Summary

## 9: Phosphoric Acid Esters

- II. Phosphatoxy Group Migration
- III. Radical Cation Formation from Nucleotides
- IV. Migration Reactions in Other β-Ester Radicals
- V. Summary

## 10: Aldehydes & Ketones

- I. Introduction
- II. Intramolecular Addition of Carbon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydo and Keto Groups
- III. Migration of Aldehydo Groups
- IV. Addition of Tin- and Silicon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydes
- V. Reaction of Samarium(II) Iodide with Aldehydes and Ketones
- VI. Ketone Photolysis
- VII. Cyclization of Acylsilanes
- VIII. Reactions of α-Acyloxyketones
- IX. Summary

# 11: Synthesis of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds

- II. Xanthates
- III. (Thiocarbonyl)imidazolides
- IV. Aryl Thionocarbonates
- V. Cyclic Thionocarbonates
- VI. Thionoesters
- VII. Factors Affecting O-Thiocarbonyl Compound Synthesis
- VIII. Summary

## 12: Reactions of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds

- II. Deoxygenation: The Barton-McCombie Reaction
- III. Radical Addition
- IV. Radical Cyclization
- V. Comparing the Reactivity of O-Thiocarbonyl and O-Carbonyl Carbohydrates
- VI. Summary



# 13: Carboxylic Acid Esters of N-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione

- II. Reaction Mechanism
- III. Group Replacement Reactions
- IV. Addition Reactions
- V. Cyclization Reactions
- VI. Generating Methyl Radicals
- VII. Summary

## 14: Nitro Compounds

- II. Reaction Mechanisms
- III. C-Nitro Carbohydrates
- IV. O-Nitro Carbohydrates
- V. Reactions of Nitro Compounds with Silanes
- VI. Summary

## 15: Azides & Azo Compounds

- II. Azides
- III. Azo Compounds
- IV. Summary

# 16: Nitriles & Isonitriles

- II. Isonitriles
- III. Nitriles
- IV. Summary

## 17: Oxime Ethers & Related Compounds

- II. Oximes
- III. Hydrazones and Imines
- IV. Ketonitrones
- V. Protonated Heteroaromatics
- VI. Protected Amines
- VII. Summary

## 18: Compounds with Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds I: Addition Reactions

- II. Defining Characteristics of Radical Addition Reactions
- III. Chain Reactions
- IV. Nonchain Reactions: Radical Formation by Electron Transfer
- V. Summary

# 19: Compounds With Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds II: Cyclization Reactions

- II. Ease of Reaction between a Carbon-Centered Radical and a Multiple Bond
- III. Reaction Selectivity
- IV. Unsaturated Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization
- V. An Organization for Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization
- VI. Summary



# 20: Reactions of Samarium(II) Iodide With Carbohydrate Derivatives

- II. Radical Formation
- III. Formation of Organosamarium Compounds
- IV. Reactions of Organosamarium Compounds
- V. Cyclization Reactions
- VI. Radical Addition and Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction
- VII. Comparison of Reactions of Chromium(II) Reagents With Those of Samarium(II) Iodide
- VIII. Summary

# 21: Reactions of Radicals Produced by Electron Transfer to Manganese(III) Acetate & Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate

- II. Manganese(III) Acetate
- III. Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate
- IV. Summary

# 22: Reactions of Carbohydrate Derivatives With Titanocene(III) Chloride

- II. Reactions
- III. Electron Donation by a Ruthenium Complex
- IV. Summary

## 23: Organocobalt & Organomercury Compounds

- I. Organocobalt Compounds
- II. Organomercury Compounds
- III. Summary

## 24: Redox Couples

- II. Electron Transfer from a Redox Couple
- III. Reactions with Redox Couples
- IV. Reaction Mechanism
- V. Summary

# Appendix I: Hydrogen-Atom Donors

- II. Organotin Hydrides
- III. Organosilanes
- IV. Compounds with Phosphorous–Hydrogen Bonds
- V. Compounds with Boron–Hydrogen Bonds
- VI. Compounds with Carbon–Hydrogen Bonds
- VII. Compounds with Sulfur–Hydrogen or Selenium–Hydrogen Bonds
- VIII. Summary

Index

Glossary

**Detailed Licensing** 

References



# Licensing

A detailed breakdown of this resource's licensing can be found in **Back Matter/Detailed Licensing**.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

## 1: Advantages & Disadvantages of Radical Reactions

When deciding whether or not to conduct a radical reaction, certain information is crucial. It is important to know as completely as possible how intermediate radicals will form and, once formed, how these radicals will react with various reagents and solvents present in the reaction mixture. This information not only points to the expected product but also answers questions such as: What side reactions could take place? How might these reactions be avoided or minimized? What is the outcome of reactions that have been reported for similar compounds? A fitting way to begin framing the answers to these questions is by looking at the advantages and disadvantages of radical reactions.

- II. Advantages of Radical Reactions
- III. Disadvantages of Radical Reactions
- **IV. Looking Ahead**

This page titled 1: Advantages & Disadvantages of Radical Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## II. Advantages of Radical Reactions

Some advantages of radical reactions can be traced to the mild conditions under which they are conducted; others to the stability of common protecting groups during reaction. Ease in performing group and atom replacement is still another benefit, but the greatest value radical reactions bring to carbohydrate synthesis is in forming new, carbon–carbon bonds; in other words, even though radical reactions are capable of causing a variety of structural changes, their most valuable role is their most basic one, namely, building more complicated structures from less complicated ones.

This page titled II. Advantages of Radical Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## III. Disadvantages of Radical Reactions

In addition to the advantages associated with radical reactions, there also are disadvantages. Deciding whether to use a radical reaction depends, in part, on knowing what these disadvantages are. Problems with radical reactions are described in the next four sections.

This page titled III. Disadvantages of Radical Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **IV. Looking Ahead**

The advantages of radical reactions discussed in this chapter provide an introduction to the possibilities these reactions bring to carbohydrate chemistry. The chapters immediately ahead are devoted to a systematic presentation of the various types of carbohydrate derivatives that are able to produce radicals and the reactions that these radicals undergo. Later chapters contain information about reactions that take place when radicals are generated by electron transfer from transition-metal complexes to various carbohydrate derivatives.

This page titled IV. Looking Ahead is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 2: Halogenated Compounds

Halogen-atom abstraction to give a carbon-centered radical is the first step in many radical reactions. Among the more common of these are simple reduction, radical addition, and radical cyclization.

#### **Topic hierarchy**

I. Introduction

II. Radical Formation by Dehalogenation

III. Radical Reactions

**IV. Halogenation** 

V. Summary

This page titled 2: Halogenated Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.





### I. Introduction

Halogen-atom abstraction to give a carbon-centered radical is the first step in many radical reactions. Among the more common of these are simple reduction, radical addition, and radical cyclization. A typical example is give in Scheme 1, where chlorine-atom abstraction produces a pyranos-1-yl radical that then adds to the carbon–carbon double bond in allyltri-*n*-butyltin.<sup>1</sup> Group migration, ring-opening, elimination, hydrogen-atom abstraction, and radical combination are less common reactions that also often begin with halogen-atom abstraction that forms a carbohydrate radical.



Another way of viewing reactions that begin with halogen-atom abstraction is one taken from the perspective of the involvement of such reactions in carbohydrate synthesis. This view describes these reactions in terms of the changes in carbohydrate structure that they make possible; thus, halogen-atom abstraction is involved in synthesizing deoxygenated sugars and nucleosides, establishing glycosidic linkages, extending carbon-atom chains, forming new ring systems, introducing unsaturation, and modifying protecting group reactivity. This broad range of applications combines with generally good product yields to make halogen-atom abstraction the first step in many, useful synthetic reactions.

In addition to the variety of reactions that begin with loss of a halogen atom, there are others that reverse this process; that is, there are reactions that cause a halogen atom to be incorporated into a carbohydrate. The range of synthetically useful compounds prepared in this way is limited. Radical halogenation is not part of a general synthesis of carbohydrate halides, but it sometimes provides a route to compounds that are difficult to prepare in other ways. The specialized, but useful, nature of radical halogenation is illustrated by the conversion of a 4,6-*O*-benzylidene acetal into the corresponding bromodeoxy benzoate (eq 1).<sup>2</sup>



This page titled I. Introduction is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## II. Radical Formation by Dehalogenation

Most mechanistic understanding of radical formation by dehalogenation comes from study of alkyl halides. It is reasonable to assume that the findings from these investigations also are applicable to reactions of halogenated carbohydrates but, at the same time, to recognize that such application does involve extrapolation of the data to more complex structures.

This page titled II. Radical Formation by Dehalogenation is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### III. Radical Reactions

#### A. Simple Reduction

#### 1. Typical Reaction Conditions

Simple reduction of a halogenated carbohydrate is a reaction in which the only change that occurs in the substrate is replacement of a halogen atom with a hydrogen atom. This change typically is brought about by heating a solution of a halogenated carbohydrate, tri-*n*-butyltin hydride, and a catalytic amount of 2,2'-azobis(isobutyronitrile) (AIBN) in benzene or toluene at 80-110 °C for a few hours.

#### 2. Thermodynamic Driving Force for Reaction

There is a powerful thermodynamic driving force for simple reduction of halogenated compounds with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride.<sup>14</sup> This driving force is apparent in the highly exothermic reaction of bromomethane with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride (eq 6).<sup>14</sup> The exothermic nature of this reaction derives from a carbon–bromine bond being replaced by a stronger carbon–hydrogen bond and a tin–hydrogen bond being exchanged for a stronger tin–bromine bond. The data in eq 7 show that simple reduction of chloromethane is also quite exothermic.<sup>14</sup>



#### 3. Synthesis of Deoxygenated Sugars and Nucleosides

Simple reduction is a common reaction for halogenated sugars and nucleosides. A typical example, one in which halogen replacement takes place at C-4 in a pyranoid ring, is shown in eq 8.<sup>23</sup> Other reactions, ones where the halogen atom is located at C-1,<sup>24,25</sup> C-2,<sup>26,27</sup> C-3,<sup>28</sup> C-4,<sup>29,30</sup> C-5,<sup>31</sup> or C-6<sup>32,33</sup> in a pyranoid ring, are common. There are fewer reports of simple reduction when the halogen atom is attached to a furanoid ring (C-1,<sup>34,35</sup> C-5,<sup>36,37</sup> or C-6<sup>38</sup>), but many nucleoside reactions are known where the halogen atom is bonded to C-2',<sup>39,40</sup> C-3',<sup>41,42</sup> or C-5' <sup>43,44</sup> in the substrate. (Each reference listed above refers to a simple-reduction reaction representative of those taking place at the indicated carbon atom.)



When a halogen atom is replaced by a deuterium atom, simple reduction can provide information about reaction stereoselectivity; thus, in the reaction shown in Scheme 7 the approach of Bu<sub>3</sub>SnD to the nucleoside radical **3** is from the less hindered face of the furanoid ring.<sup>45</sup> Reaction at the 2'-position in other halogenated nucleosides also is stereoselective, but this selectivity, which is heavily influenced by the structure and positioning of ring substituents, sometimes is modest.<sup>46–48</sup>



Scheme 7



#### 4. Protecting Group Modification

Simple reduction sometimes is used to modify protecting group reactivity.<sup>49–57</sup> In the reaction shown in eq 9, for example, replacement of the three chlorine atoms in the trichloroethylidene group with three hydrogen atoms makes hydrolytic removal of this group much easier.<sup>49</sup> In a related example, the trichloroacetamido group is converted to the more easily hydrolyzed acetamido group by three, successive simple reduction reactions (eq 10).<sup>56</sup> Reaction with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride as a means of replacing all the chlorine atoms in a protecting group with hydrogen atoms is not always successful because complete dechlorination sometimes is elusive (eq  $11^{58}$ ).<sup>58–60</sup>



#### 5. Acyloxy Group Migration

When an anomeric halide with a neighboring acyloxy group reacts with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride, acyloxy group migration leading to a 2-deoxy sugar competes with simple reduction (Scheme 8).<sup>61</sup> If 2-deoxy sugar synthesis (and not simple reduction) is the goal of the reaction,<sup>61–64</sup> conditions that maximize group migration need to be selected. Generally, this means maintaining the tri-*n*-butyltin hydride concentration at a low enough level to allow time for migration to occur.





#### B. Addition

Halogenated compounds are common radical precursors for addition reactions involving carbohydrates, but other carbohydrate derivatives also function in this capacity; consequently, radical addition reactions are mentioned in most of the chapters in this book. They are discussed extensively not only in this chapter but also in Chapters 10, 12, 13, and 18. In Chapter 18 radical addition is considered from a different point of view, that is, with a focus on the compound to which addition is occurring rather than on the radical precursor.

Addition reactions can be divided into three groups based on what happens after formation of the adduct radical. The first group (addition-abstraction reactions) contains those reactions where the adduct radical abstracts a group or atom from a donor present in solution. Atom abstraction is more common that group abstraction and nearly always involves a hydrogen atom. The second type of reaction (addition-combination) is one in which the adduct radical combines with another radical or an organometallic reagent present in the reaction mixture. In the third reaction type (addition-elimination or addition-fragmentation) the adduct radical forms an unsaturated compound by a  $\beta$ -fragmentation process that eliminates a radical. Examples in which halogenated carbohydrates serve as radical precursors for each of these reaction types are given in the following three sections.

#### 1. Addition-Abstraction Reactions

Formation of a carbon-centered radical by reaction of a glycosyl halide with a tin- or silicon-centered radical is the first step in many addition reactions. An addition-abstraction reaction takes place when a radical produced by halogen-atom abstraction adds to a multiple bond to generate an adduct radical that then abstracts a hydrogen atom. The hydrogen-atom transfer is nearly always a tin- or silicon hydride. An example of this type of reaction is given in eq 12, where a pyranos-1-yl radical generated from the D-mannopyranosyl bromide **4** adds to the  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated ketone **5**.<sup>65</sup> Pyranos-1-yl radicals generated from halogenated carbohydrates are known to add to  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated nitriles,<sup>66,67</sup> esters,<sup>67,68</sup> aldehydes,<sup>67</sup> ketones,<sup>69,70</sup> lactones,<sup>71,72</sup> and phosphonates.<sup>73,74</sup> In all of these reactions formation of the adduct radical is followed by hydrogen-atom abstraction. Pyranos-1-yl and other carbohydrate radicals formed from halogenated compounds also add to oximes<sup>75–77</sup> and electron-deficient enol ethers.<sup>78,79</sup> The reactions shown in equations 13 and 14 underscore a critical feature of radical addition reactions, namely, that unless a multiple bond is electron-deficient (eq 13), addition of a nucleophilic radical (which nearly all carbohydrate radicals are) will be too slow to compete effectively with simple reduction (eq 14).<sup>80</sup>







Addition-abstraction reactions that do not involve pyranos-1-yl radicals are much less common than those that do. An example of a non-pyranos-1-yl radical reaction is shown in eq 15.<sup>81</sup> The pyranos-5-yl radical formed in this reaction has reactivity similar to that of a pyranos-1-yl radical because both are nucleophilic species that are stabilized by a ring oxygen atom. This similarity in reactivity can be seen when comparing the reaction shown in eq 15<sup>81</sup> with that in eq 16.<sup>82</sup> Several addition-abstraction reactions of radicals centered on C-6<sup>83–86</sup> are known, but reaction of a radical located on an atom in or attached to a pyranoid ring (other than C-1or C-6) is rare.<sup>87</sup> There are reports of addition-abstraction reactions where the radical is centered on a carbon atom that is part of or attached to a furanoid ring.<sup>88–90</sup>



#### 2. Addition-Combination Reactions

Although radical formation from a glycosyl halide normally involves halogen-atom abstraction by a tin or silicon centered radical, a radical also can be generated by electron transfer to the glycosyl halide from a metal ion, such as the samarium ion in SmI<sub>2</sub> or the titanium ion in Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl. An example of this type of reaction is shown in Scheme 9, where the pyranos-1-yl radical (R·) is formed by electron transfer from titanium to the glycosyl bromide (RBr).<sup>91</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 9, radical addition to an electron-deficient multiple bond is faster than combination of the radical with a second molecule of Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl. Once addition occurs, however, the situation changes. The reactivity of the adduct radical is so different from the far more nucleophilic pyranos-1-yl radical that the fastest reaction for the adduct radical is combination with a molecule of Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl. (Chapters 20-24 contain further discussion of addition-combination reactions brought about by electron-transfer from organometallic complexes to carbohydrate halides.)





#### 3. Addition-Elimination Reactions

When a carbon-centered radical adds to allyltri-*n*-butyltin, it begins a sequence of reactions that replaces a halogen atom with an allyl group ([] Scheme 1).<sup>1</sup> This type of transformation (an addition-elimination reaction) often occurs when the halogen atom is attached to C-1<sup>1,92–94</sup> but also takes place when such an atom is bonded elsewhere in a carbohydrate framework.<sup>95,96</sup> For example, the reaction between the tri-*n*-butyltin acrylate **6** and the deoxyiodo sugar **7** involves a radical centered at C-6 (eq 17).<sup>97</sup>



A reaction mechanistically similar to that shown in eq 17, but one with a quite different outcome, occurs when a halogen atom is abstracted by  $Bu_3Sn$ · in the presence of *t*-butyl isocyanide. When this happens, an addition-elimination reaction produces a nitrile (Scheme 10).<sup>98</sup>

Scheme 10  
RI 
$$\xrightarrow{Bu_3Sn}$$
 R  $\cdot$   $\xrightarrow{:C=NC(CH_3)_3}$  R  $-\dot{C}=NC(CH_3)_3 \xrightarrow{-(CH_3)_3C}$  R  $-C\equiv N$   
*t*-BuMe\_2SIOCH<sub>2</sub> B  
R =  $\bigvee_{N}$  B =  $\bigvee_{N}$  NH<sub>2</sub>  
NH<sub>2</sub>

Most addition-elimination reactions transfer an allyl or substituted allyl group from a tin-containing compound to a carbon-centered radical; however, this transfer can be tin-free.<sup>99,100</sup> In the reaction shown in eq 18 the allyltin reactant is replaced by allyl ethyl sulfone.<sup>99</sup>

$$AcO \xrightarrow{CH_2I}_{OAc} OMe \xrightarrow{EISO_2CH_2CH=CH_2}_{CH_3CH_2SH_3} AcO \xrightarrow{CH_2CH_2CH=CH_2}_{OAc} (18)$$

#### C. Cyclization

New ring formation is pervasive in the radical reactions of carbohydrates; consequently, radical cyclization, like radical addition, is mentioned in many of the chapters in this book. Significant discussion exists in this chapter because halogenated carbohydrates often are the precursors for radical-based formation of new ring systems. A large portion of Chapter 12 also is devoted to radical cyclization because *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds frequently are precursors for radicals involved in new ring formation. Chapter 19 is devoted entirely to cyclization reactions and is concerned less with radical formation and more with the internal radical addition that produces new rings.

#### 1. Substrate Reactivity

As with simple reduction reactions, the abstracting radical that begins radical cyclization nearly always is derived from a tin or silicon hydride. The well-established order of reactivity for halogenated compounds with silicon and tin hydrides (RI > RBr > RCl



>> RF), mentioned in Section II.B, accounts for the usual selection of a carbohydrate iodide or bromide as the substrate in a cyclization reaction.

Halogen identity is especially critical to dehalogenation with either  $SmI_2$  or  $Cp_2TiCl$ . In the cyclization reaction shown in Scheme 11 the iodide gives a good yield of the substituted cyclopentane, but the bromide is enough less reactive that it produces only bromine-containing dimers arising from reduction of the double bond by  $SmI_2$ .<sup>101</sup> Reaction of a similar compound with  $Cp_2TiCl$  results in an 82% yield of substituted cyclopentanes from the iodide but only an 18% yield from the corresponding bromide (Scheme 12).<sup>102</sup> More forcing reaction conditions might have improved product yield from the bromide because its attempted cyclization returned primarily unreacted starting material.



Successful cyclization of halogenated carbohydrates by reaction with  $SmI_2$  or  $Cp_2TiCl$  depends upon reaction conditions and additives. The presence of hexamethylphosphoramide (HMPA) is so important to the reactivity of  $SmI_2$  that the cyclic product shown in Scheme 11 does not form unless HMPA is present in the reaction mixture.<sup>101</sup> In a similar fashion, UV radiation is critical to the reaction shown in Scheme 12. If it is omitted, little reaction takes place.<sup>102</sup>

#### 2. Competition between Cyclization and Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction

Whenever a cyclization reaction is conducted in the presence of a tin or silicon hydride, hydrogen-atom abstraction by the initially formed radical, leading to simple reduction, competes with cyclization (Scheme 13).<sup>38</sup> Other reagents that are not hydrogen-atom transfers but are capable of generating radicals from halogenated carbohydrates (e.g., Bu<sub>3</sub>SnSnBu<sub>3</sub>,<sup>103</sup> SmI<sub>2</sub>,<sup>101,104,105</sup> and Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl<sup>102</sup>) have the advantage that simple reduction is suppressed. Even though simple reduction is not a problem when using SmI<sub>2</sub> and Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl, each of these compounds can prevent cyclization by combining with a carbon-centered radical before ring formation takes place; therefore, rapid ring closure remains an important criterion for successful reaction.



Scheme 13



#### 3. Organization of Cyclization Reactions

Successful radical cyclization requires a multiple bond and radical center that are suitably positioned with respect to each other. The radical center in such a reaction can be either on an atom that is part of the carbohydrate framework (Figure 2) or on a substituent group. The same possibilities exist for the multiple bond. For purposes of discussion it is useful to divide cyclization reactions into the four basic types shown in Figure 3. This Figure also contains a short-hand terminology that has been proposed to identify each reaction type.<sup>105</sup> Chapter 19 contains extensive tables of cyclization reactions in which radicals are formed from halogenated and nonhalogenated carbohydrates.



Figure 3. Possible types of cyclization reaction for carbohydrate radicals



#### a. Addition of a Framework Radical to a Framework Multiple Bond

The possibilities for a framework radical adding internally to a framework multiple bond are limited by the size of the rings that are easily produced; thus, only five- and six-membered rings generally form rapidly enough to compete with other radical reactions. Since radical cyclization produces five-membered rings more quickly than six-membered ones, the typical cyclization reaction produces a pair of heavily substituted, cyclopentane derivatives (eq 19<sup>106</sup>).<sup>106–111</sup> When five-membered ring formation is not possible but producing a six-membered ring is, cyclization gives a substituted, cyclohexane derivative (eq 20).<sup>112</sup> Addition of a framework radical to a framework multiple bond also can produce a bicyclic compound (Scheme 14).<sup>113</sup>



Although forming either a five- or six-membered ring is the typical result of radical cyclization, larger rings are possible if the carbohydrate framework is held so that the radical center easily can approach the multiple bond. Striking examples of such a situation are found in the reactions shown in equations 21 and 22, where the *O*-isopropylidene groups cause the iodides **8** and **9** to adopt conformations that favor formation of seven- and eight-membered rings, respectively.<sup>114</sup>



One way to increase the reactivity of a multiple bond in a radical cyclization reaction is to replace one of the carbon atoms with an electronegative heteroatom.<sup>115–121</sup> The remaining carbon atom then will have electron density drawn from it and, as a result, have enhanced reactivity toward nucleophilic radicals. The oxime **10** contains a double bond activated in this way (eq 23).<sup>115</sup> Having reactive centers able easily to come within bonding distance translates into cyclic products being formed in reactions involving other carbon–nitrogen<sup>116–119</sup> and even carbon–oxygen<sup>120,121</sup> multiple bonds. In the reaction shown in Scheme 15, for example, ring formation occurs because the radical center easily comes into contact with the cyano group.<sup>118</sup>





Scheme 15



#### b. Addition of a Framework Radical to a Substituent Multiple Bond

An example of a reaction in which a framework radical adds to a substituent multiple bond to form a five-membered ring is shown in eq 24.<sup>122</sup> If five-membered-ring formation introduces too much strain into a system, reaction to give a larger ring becomes a possibility; thus, the radical centered at C-5 in **11** adds to the substituent double bond to form a six-membered ring (Scheme 16) and, in so doing, avoids producing highly strained, trans-fused, five-membered rings.<sup>123</sup>



Although bimolecular addition of a carbohydrate radical to a multiple bond is fast enough to be observed only when the multiple bond is electron-deficient, radical cyclization is not limited in this way. Having a radical center, such as the one at C-5 in **11** (Scheme 16), in close proximity to a double bond makes cyclization competitive with other radical reactions (e.g., simple reduction) even though the multiple bond is not electron-deficient.

Radical cyclization followed by ring opening that breaks the newly formed bond is a degenerate addition-elimination reaction that is rarely useful or even detectable. Sometimes, however, ring opening breaks a different bond from that produced during cyclization.<sup>124,125</sup> The result of such a reaction is an addition-elimination process, such as that shown in Scheme17, where the effect of the reaction is migration of a part of a substituent group.<sup>124</sup>





A unique type of cyclization between a framework radical and a substituent multiple bond takes place in nucleosides that have properly placed dibromovinyl groups.<sup>103,126–131</sup> Bromine-atom abstraction by Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· produces a vinyl radical that begins a sequential reaction leading to two spiro compounds (Scheme 18).<sup>103</sup> Using Bu<sub>3</sub>SnSnBu<sub>3</sub> in this reaction (rather than Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH) improves the yield of the cyclization product because competing simple reduction involving a tin hydride is not an option.<sup>103</sup>



#### c. Addition of a Substituent Radical to a Framework Multiple Bond

Cyclization involving halogenated carbohydrates often occurs when the halogen atom is part of a substituent group and the multiple bond is located in the carbohydrate framework. The substrate in many of these reactions is a silyl ether with a bromine atom incorporated into the silicon-containing group.<sup>132–139</sup> An example is shown in Scheme 19, which describes a reaction that stereoselectively creates a new C–C bond at C-3 in the product.<sup>132</sup> Nonradical reaction of the resulting product transforms it into a diol (Scheme 19) that can be readily converted into other compounds. An extension of this type of reaction to a pair of saccharide units connected by a silaketal tether leads to formation of a protected *C*-disaccharide (**12**) from which the tether is easily removed (Scheme 20).<sup>140</sup>





Cyclization of an unsaturated carbohydrate in which an acetal substituent contains a halogen atom is similar to cyclization of brominated silyl ethers such as that pictured in Scheme 19. High stereoselectivity is the norm in these reactions.<sup>141–147</sup> In the process shown in Scheme 21, for example, the stereochemistry at C-3 is controlled by the kinetically and thermodynamically favored formation of a cis-fused ring system.<sup>141</sup> [There is a second chiral center (C-4) created during this reaction. The stereochemistry at this center is determined by the least-hindered approach of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride to the reacting radical.] The reaction shown in eq 25 provides an example of new ring formation when a radical formed from a halogen-containing, acetal substituent adds internally to a triple bond.<sup>142</sup>



#### d. Addition of a Substituent Radical to a Substituent Multiple Bond

Sometimes in a radical cyclization reaction neither the carbon atom bearing the radical center nor the carbon atoms of the multiple bond are part of the carbohydrate framework.<sup>148,149</sup> When this occurs, the carbohydrate portion of the molecule has only an indirect influence on the reaction; that is, it can affect reaction stereoselectivity by acting as a chiral auxiliary, or its cyclic structure can



bring reactive centers into bonding distance. It is the latter role that assists eleven-membered ring formation in the reaction shown in eq 26.<sup>148</sup>



#### D. Elimination

Free-radical elimination takes place when a vicinal dihalide reacts with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride (eq 27).<sup>150</sup> A similar reaction occurs if one of the vicinal substituents is a halogen atom and the other contains an *O*-thiocarbonyl group.<sup>151,152</sup> In the reaction shown in eq  $28^{151}$  there is little doubt that the initial interaction between Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· and compound **13** in most instances is with the substituent at C-3' because the rate constant for reaction of Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· with a compound containing an *O*-thiocarbonyl group is much larger than that for reaction with a chlorinated compound.



Electrochemical reduction of glycosyl halides (and their sulfur-containing analogs<sup>154a</sup>) begins with electron transfer to the halide to produce a radical anion that reacts further to give the corresponding glycal (Scheme 22<sup>153</sup>). Reaction of glycosyl bromides with zinc dust also leads to glycal formation by electron-transfer to a glycosyl halide (eq 29).<sup>154b</sup> The mechanism for this reaction may parallel that shown in Scheme 22, but the possibility also exists that an organozinc intermediate forms following the initial electron transfer.





#### E. Ring-Opening

If halogen-atom abstraction produces a cyclopropylcarbinyl radical, cyclopropane ring opening takes place. The radical remaining after ring opening then can undergo hydrogen-atom abstraction,<sup>155</sup> addition,<sup>156</sup> or, as shown in eq 30, cyclization.<sup>157</sup>



#### F. Internal Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction

Reaction of a halogenated carbohydrate to form a carbon-centered radical rarely results in this radical abstracting a hydrogen atom from a carbon–hydrogen bond in another molecule because such abstraction is, in most instances, too slow to compete with other radical reactions. If, however, the abstraction is internal and the radical is quite reactive (primary, vinyl or aryl), hydrogen-atom abstraction can take place.<sup>158–160</sup> Dehalogenation of the bromide **14** begins such a reaction by producing a primary radical that abstracts a hydrogen atom from C-1, a process that leads to epimerization at this carbon atom (Scheme 23).<sup>158</sup> Internal hydrogenatom abstraction by a vinyl radical takes place in the reaction pictured in [] Scheme 18.<sup>103</sup>



#### G. Radical Combination

#### 1. Dimerization

Radical combination is not a common synthetic reaction for carbohydrates, but it does take place when conditions are adjusted so that reactions such as hydrogen-atom abstraction are to slow to compete.<sup>161–163</sup> Having the source of the chain-carrying radical be Me<sub>3</sub>SnSnMe<sub>3</sub> (as opposed to a tin hydride) reduces the rate of hydrogen-atom abstraction by the carbohydrate radical to the point that the three dimers shown in eq 31 are formed. {Similar dimer formation takes place during reaction of glycosyl phenyl sulfones [Chapter 3, Section VII.B.1.c] and glycosyl phenyl selenides [Chapter 4, Section II.B.6]} Electrochemical reactions of glycosyl halides also produce radical dimers.<sup>163</sup>



#### 2. Reaction with Molecular Oxygen

Reaction of halogenated carbohydrates with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride in the presence of oxygen replaces the halogen atom with a hydroxyl group.<sup>164–168</sup> Since combination of a carbon-centered radical with molecular oxygen is either diffusion-controlled or nearly so ( $k \cong 2 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$ ),<sup>169</sup> any other reaction of the radical taking place in the presence of oxygen must be rapid enough to happen before O<sub>2</sub> reaches the radical center. An example of a cyclization reaction that is fast enough to meet this criterion is shown



in eq 32.<sup>164</sup> Since the oxygen concentration in the reaction mixture is approximately 1 x  $10^{-3}$  M, the rate constant for cyclization needs to be at least 1 x  $10^{7}$  s<sup>-1</sup> in order for an acceptable yield of a cyclic product to be obtained.<sup>166b</sup> A proposed mechanism for replacement of a halogen atom with a hydroxyl group is given in Scheme 24.<sup>170</sup>



Other reagents and reaction conditions also cause replacement of halogen atoms with hydroxyl groups. These include  $Et_3B-O_2$  initiated reaction of a deoxyiodo sugar with molecular oxygen<sup>171,172</sup> and adding  $O_2$  to a reaction mixture in which AIBN is both initiator and reactant.<sup>166</sup> Another set of conditions leading to replacement of a halogen atom with a hydroxyl group consists of reacting a deoxyiodo sugar with NaBH<sub>4</sub> and  $O_2$  in the presence of a catalytic amount of Co(salen) (eq 33<sup>173</sup>).<sup>162,173–175</sup> A comparative study found Co(salen)-catalyzed oxidation reactions to be experimentally more convenient than those with a tin hydride.<sup>162</sup>



#### H. Water-Soluble Halides

Most halogenated carbohydrates used in synthesis are rendered soluble in organic solvents by the introduction of various hydroxyl protecting groups, but sometimes it is useful to be able to conduct dehalogenation reactions in aqueous solution on unprotected or partially protected carbohydrates. Such a situation requires a water-soluble replacement for the tin and silicon hydrides typically used. Water-soluble hydrogen-atom transfers can be formed by replacing the alkyl substituents normally attached to tin or silicon with more polar ones. This replacement produces hydrides that are sufficiently soluble in water to allow simple reduction to take place in aqueous solution (eq 34<sup>176</sup> and eq 35<sup>177</sup>).







There are potential advantages to conducting reactions in water, advantages that extend beyond substrate solubility.<sup>176,177</sup> One of these is that reactions conducted in aqueous solution may exhibit new reactivity because, rather than taking place in an essentially nonpolar liquid, these reactions occur in a polar, heavily hydrogen-bonded solvent. Since water generally does not participate in radical reactions, it is effectively an inert solvent. Also, using water as the reaction medium can reduce or even eliminate the need for recycling or disposal of organic solvents.

#### I. Hypohalites

Hypohalites are intermediates in the formation of alkoxy radicals. Reactions of hypohalites and the alkoxy radicals they produce are discussed in Chapter 6.

#### J. Organotin Hydrides

The majority of reactions of halogenated carbohydrates use an organotin hydride (nearly always Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH) as a hydrogen-atom transfer and as a source of a chain-carrying-radical; however, there are serious problems associated with the toxicity of tincontaining compounds and the difficulty in removing their residues from reaction products. A variety of solutions to these problems have been proposed. Since most of these solutions apply not only to reactions of halogenated carbohydrates but also to those of a broad range of carbohydrate derivatives, the solutions will not be discussed here (and then repeated in later chapters); rather, they are gathered together in Appendix 1, which is found at the end of this book.

This page titled III. Radical Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **IV. Halogenation**

Regioselectively replacing a particular hydrogen atom in a carbohydrate with a halogen atom depends upon a radical abstracting one hydrogen atom from among the many present in a typical molecule. When this type of selectivity occurs, it sometimes is linked to radical philicity; that is, a hydrogen atom that is more electron rich than others in a molecule can be abstracted preferentially by a highly electrophilic radical. This regioselectivity caused by radical philicity only occurs when the transition state is early in a reaction. When the transition state is late, selective reaction also can take place, but in this case selectivity exists because abstraction of a particular hydrogen atom produces a carbon-centered radical that is much more stable than radicals formed by abstraction of other hydrogen atoms. Since there are relatively few carbohydrates where highly selective hydrogen-atom abstraction occurs and since hydrogen-atom abstraction typically is the first step in halogenation, regioselective, free-radical halogenation reactions are limited in number.

This page titled IV. Halogenation is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## V. Summary

Halogen-atom abstraction by a tin-centered radical is a common reaction in carbohydrate chemistry. Ample evidence supporting radical intermediates in this type of reaction comes from chemical reactivity and from direct radical observation by ESR spectroscopy. Iodides are the most reactive of the halogenated carbohydrates. Bromides are slightly less so, but the reactivity of chlorides is considerably reduced. Fluorides are essentially unreactive. In dehalogenation reactions the transition-state structure is thought to involve partial tin–halogen and carbon–halogen bonds.

Simple reduction (replacement of a halogen atom with a hydrogen atom) occurs under mild reaction conditions. The halogen atom being abstracted can be attached to any carbon atom in the carbohydrate framework. Although the primary role of simple reduction is in the synthesis of deoxy sugars and deoxy nucleosides, this reaction also can be used to modify the reactivity of halogenated protecting groups. Replacement of halogen atoms with hydrogen atoms can convert a group that is difficult to hydrolyze into one that does so more easily.

Simple reduction of anomeric halides must compete with group migration when there is an acyloxy group at C-2. This migration, which is useful in the synthesis of 2-deoxy sugars, is most likely to occur when the concentration of the hydrogen-atom transfer (e.g., tri-*n*-butyltin hydride) is held at a very low level.

Halogen-atom abstraction often is the first step in the addition of a carbohydrate radical to a compound containing a multiple bond. Such addition will occur in an intramolecular fashion if the multiple bond is electron-deficient because under the proper conditions a nucleophilic carbohydrate radical adds to an electron-deficient multiple bond more rapidly than it abstracts a hydrogen atom.-When the radical center and the multiple bond are in the same molecule and easily come within bonding distance, cyclization takes place so readily that it will occur even if the multiple bond is not electron-deficient. A characteristic of cyclization reactions is that formation of the new carbon–carbon bond often occurs in a highly stereoselective fashion.

Halogenated carbohydrates participate in a variety of less common reactions. These include double bond formation, internal hydrogen-atom abstraction, addition to molecular oxygen, cyclopropane ring opening, and radical anion formation.

Free-radical bromination produces several types of brominated carbohydrates. Bromination of benzylidene acetals leading to formation of bromodeoxy benzoates is a standard reaction in carbohydrate synthesis. Modifications of this reaction also are known; thus, the cation produced following benzylidene acetal bromination can be intercepted by water to give a hydroxy benzoate. Carbohydrates protected as benzyl ethers react with bromine to produce unstable bromides that, in turn, react with water to give benzaldehyde and the deprotected carbohydrate. Reaction with bromine of carbohydrates that do not contain benzyl or benzylidene protection regioselectively replaces a hydrogen atom on one of the carbon atoms attached to the ring oxygen atom.

This page titled V. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# CHAPTER OVERVIEW

## 3: Compounds with Carbon–Sulfur Single Bonds

A carbohydrate derivative that contains a sulfur atom bonded to two carbon atoms is capable of forming carbon-centered radicals. A common pathway for radical formation in compounds of this type is homolytic cleavage of a carbon–sulfur bond brought about by group abstraction.

Topic hierarchy

This page titled 3: Compounds with Carbon–Sulfur Single Bonds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.





## I. Introduction

A carbohydrate derivative that contains a sulfur atom bonded to two carbon atoms is capable of forming carbon-centered radicals. A common pathway for radical formation in compounds of this type is homolytic cleavage of a carbon–sulfur bond brought about by group abstraction (eq 1). When the sulfur atom in a C–S bond is part of an electronegative group, as is the case in a glycosyl phenyl sulfone, electron transfer of the type shown in Scheme 1 represents another pathway to carbon-centered radical formation. A beginning point for discussing these reactions is examining their possible mechanisms.



This page titled I. Introduction is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### II. Reaction Mechanisms

#### A. Group Abstraction

Two mechanisms are considered to be reasonable possibilities for the carbon–sulfur bond cleavage described by the reaction shown in [] eq 1.<sup>1</sup> The first is the bimolecular, homolytic, substitution (S<sub>H</sub>2) reaction pictured in Scheme 2, and the second is a stepwise process that involves formation of an intermediate (1) with a hypervalent sulfur atom (Scheme 3). The choice between these two hinges on the existence of **1**.



There is little experimental evidence upon which to base a decision about formation of a compound with a hypervalent sulfur atom during carbon–sulfur bond cleavage, but reaction of the thioacetal **2** with the tri-*n*-butyltin radical provides some suggestive information (Scheme 4).<sup>2</sup> Although this reaction produces BuOCH<sub>2</sub>· (**3**), the effect of temperature on the ESR signal for this radical is unexpected because the intensity of the signal increases as the temperature in the ESR cavity rises. (Signals due to radicals arising from reaction of bromides with Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· decrease with rising temperature due to leveling of the Boltzmann distribution of spin states.<sup>2</sup>) A possible explanation for this behavior is that a slow, temperature-dependent reaction between the thioacetal **2** and Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· produces the hypervalent, sulfur-centered radical **4** (not observable by ESR), an intermediate that then fragments rapidly to give the ESR observable radical **3** (Scheme 4).<sup>2</sup>



Molecular orbital calculations also have been used to study the possibility of formation of intermediates with hypervalent sulfur atoms. When these calculations focus on the reactions of sulfides, they do no support the existence of such intermediates.<sup>1,3–6</sup>

#### **B. Electron-Transfer**

Electron transfer to a sulfur-containing carbohydrate naturally depends upon such a compound having a group that readily accepts electrons. Sulfones meet this requirement and, thus, are prime candidates for electron-transfer reaction.<sup>7</sup> Two proposed mechanisms showing how such transfer could lead to cleavage of a carbon–sulfur bond are shown in Scheme 5. In one of these a sulfone reacts with an electron donor (e.g., SmI<sub>2</sub>) to produce a radical anion (5) that then fragments to give an anion and a carbon-centered radical. In the other, dissociative electron transfer forms an anion and a carbon-centered radical directly from reaction of a sulfone with SmI<sub>2</sub>.





This page titled II. Reaction Mechanisms is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.


## III. Alkylthio and Arylthio Substituted Carbohydrates and Related Compounds

The identity of the carbon–sulfur single bond broken during reaction of a carbohydrate that has two such bonds depends upon the stability of the carbon-centered radical being formed. If the sulfur atom is part of a methylthio,<sup>8–11</sup> ethylthio,<sup>12–15</sup> or arylthio<sup>15–24</sup> group, radical stability favors producing a carbohydrate radical rather than a methyl, ethyl, phenyl, or *p*-tolyl radical (Scheme 6).

Scheme 6 R ⋅ - Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn ⋅ - Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn Sr ⋅ - Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn Sr ⋅ - Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn Sr ⋅ - Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn Sr ⋅ - Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn ⋅ CARB · = a carbon-centered carbohydrate radical

 $R = CH_3$ ,  $CH_3CH_2$ ,  $C_6H_5$ 

This page titled III. Alkylthio and Arylthio Substituted Carbohydrates and Related Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## IV. Dithioacetals

Dithioacetals react with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride to replace first one, and then the second, alkylthio group with a hydrogen atom (Scheme 10).<sup>30</sup> Because the first group is replaced more rapidly than the second, good yields of compounds with a single sulfur atom are obtained under the proper reaction conditions.<sup>31–35</sup> The greater reactivity of the first ethylthio group in these compounds is due to formation of an intermediate, carbon-centered radical that is stabilized by the sulfur atom in the remaining ethylthio group.



An unsaturated dithioacetal in which the double bond is properly positioned undergoes intramolecular radical addition.<sup>31–34</sup> Reaction typically involves capture of the first-formed, carbon-centered radical by the multiple bond; thus, in the reaction shown in Scheme 11, the major product has a new ring system with an ethylthio substituent.<sup>31</sup> Here again the greater reactivity of the first ethylthio group allows reaction to occur with no detectable loss of the second.



This page titled IV. Dithioacetals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## V. Thiocarbonates and Dithiocarbonates

Thiocarbonates and dithiocarbonates are compounds in which at least one sulfur atom is bonded to the carbon atom of a carbonyl group. The reactivity of these compounds is similar to that of the sulfur-containing compounds already discussed in that reaction begins with carbon–sulfur bond cleavage producing the more stable of the possible carbon-centered radicals; thus, in the reaction shown in eq 5, product identity is consistent with forming an intermediate allylic radical from reaction of a thiocarbonate.<sup>36</sup>



Addition of  $Bu_3Sn$  to the dithiocarbonate **9** is the first step in an addition-elimination reaction that produces the tin-containing compound **11** (Scheme 12).<sup>37</sup> The stability of CH<sub>3</sub>SC(=O)S· is critical to this type of reaction because it, rather than  $Bu_3Sn$ , is expelled when a radical such as **10** forms a tin-containing product.<sup>37,38</sup> Since  $Bu_3Sn$ · addition to a double bond often is reversible, **10** sometimes may break a carbon–tin bond causing an undetectable regeneration of  $Bu_3Sn$ · and the substrate **9**.



This page titled V. Thiocarbonates and Dithiocarbonates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## VI. O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds

Compounds with carbon–sulfur single bonds are substantially less reactive with tin- and silicon-centered radicals than are compounds with C–S double bonds. Among carbohydrates these double bonds are almost always part of *O*-thiocarbonyl groups. (The reactions of *O*-thiocarbonyl carbohydrate derivatives are discussed in Chapter 12.) The reaction shown in eq 6 illustrates the greater reactivity of a C–S double bond when compared to a C–S single bond because only the *O*-thiocarbonyl group in the 1-thio-glycoside **12** reacts even though an ethylthio group is present in the molecule.<sup>39</sup> Greater reactivity of a carbon–sulfur double bond also can be seen in the reaction shown in Scheme 13, where Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· reacts only with the *O*-thiocarbonyl group.<sup>26</sup> A quantitative measure of the reactivity of C–S single and double bonds comes from comparing absolute rate constants for their reactions; thus, rate constants for reaction of (Me<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>Si· with C<sub>10</sub>H<sub>21</sub>SC<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub> and C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>11</sub>OC(=S)SMe are less than 5 x 10<sup>6</sup> and 1.1 x 10<sup>9</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, at 21 °C.<sup>40</sup> The reactions in Schemes [] 12 and 13 also illustrate the ease of fragmentation of a carbon–sulfur single bond when a radical is centered on an adjacent carbon atom.







This page titled VI. O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## VII. Sulfones

Radicals are involved in both the synthesis and the reactions of carbohydrate sulfones. Sulfones produce carbon-centered radicals by group abstraction, dissociative electron-transfer, and photochemical bond homolysis. Sulfone synthesis takes place when a sulfonyl radical adds to an unsaturated carbohydrate.

This page titled VII. Sulfones is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### VIII. Thiols and Thiyl Radicals

In compounds with an H–S bond, hydrogen-atom abstraction to produce a sulfur-centered radical (eq 10) is a significant (sometimes the exclusive) reaction pathway. Such reactivity exists because thiols are among the most effective hydrogen-atom transfers in organic chemistry. Rate constants for hydrogen-atom abstraction by primary, secondary, and tertiary, carbon-centered radicals from thiophenol range from  $0.8 \times 10^8$  to  $1.5 \times 10^8$  M<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> at 25 °C.<sup>70</sup>



A characteristic reaction of a thiyl radical is addition to a carbon–carbon multiple bond.<sup>71–85</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 21, for example, addition of the thiyl radical **23** to the unsaturated carbohydrate **21** leads to formation of the *S*-disaccharide **22**.<sup>77</sup> This reaction is not only regiospecific but hydrogen-atom abstraction from **20** is so much faster than reaction with the molecular oxygen dissolved in the reaction mixture that an inert atmosphere is not required for successful *S*-disaccharide formation. Similar radical addition takes place between the thiol **20** and various D-glycals, including the D-glucal **24** (eq 11).<sup>78</sup>



Even though the most common radical reaction of a compound with an H–S bond is hydrogen-atom abstraction, under some conditions the HS group is replaced by a hydrogen atom (eq 12).<sup>86</sup>





Although a carbohydrate containing a sulfur-centered radical typically is generated by hydrogen-atom abstraction from a thiol, the reaction shown in eq 13 forms a thiyl radical by the addition-elimination sequence pictured in Scheme 22.<sup>87</sup> Critical to chain propagation in this reaction is the removal of the sulfur atom from **25** by reaction with triphenylphosphine.



This page titled VIII. Thiols and Thiyl Radicals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## IX. Summary

Tin-centered radicals react with carbohydrates that contain methylthio, ethylthio, or phenylthio groups to produce carbon-centered radicals. Two mechanisms have been proposed for such a reaction. The first is a concerted  $S_{\rm H2}$  process, and the second is a stepwise reaction that forms an intermediate with a hypervalent sulfur atom. Molecular orbital calculations favor the concerted process.

Compounds with alkylthio or arylthio groups break the C–S bond that produces the more stable, carbon-centered radical. This means that when fragmentation takes place in a carbohydrate containing a methylthio, ethylthio, or phenylthio substituent, a carbohydrate radical forms rather than an alkyl or aryl radical. Reactions that begin with carbon–sulfur bond cleavage often lead to either simple reduction or radical cyclization. Similar reactions occur when the sulfur atom is part of a dithioacetal, thiocarbonate, or dithiocarbonate.

When the carbon–sulfur bonds in a carbohydrate are part of a sulfone and when an electron-donor (usually  $SmI_2$ ) is present, bond cleavage occurs via an electron-transfer reaction. The resulting radical combines rapidly with a second molecule of  $SmI_2$  to produce an organosamarium intermediate that undergoes reactions typical of an organometallic compound (e.g., proton abstraction,  $\beta$  elimination, or addition to an aldehyde or ketone). Radical cyclization is one of the few reactions fast enough to occur before this combination takes place.

If a compound has a hydrogen–sulfur bond, the major reaction pathway usually is hydrogen-atom abstraction to form a sulfurcentered radical. This radical adds readily to a carbon–carbon double bond.

This page titled IX. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

## 4: Selenides & Tellurides

Carbohydrates containing selenium–carbon bonds react with tin and silicon hydrides to generate carbon-centered radicals. Phenyl selenides are the most common type of selenium-containing carbohydrate used in radical formation. As radical precursors, phenyl selenides rival the reactivity of bromides and iodides. (Absolute rate constants for reaction of simple organic iodides,<sup>1</sup> phenyl selenides,<sup>2</sup> and bromides<sup>2,3</sup> with (CH<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>Si· are 4.0 x 10<sup>9</sup>, 9.6 x 10<sup>7</sup>, and 2.0 x 10<sup>7</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.)

Selenophenyl glycosides have a distinct advantage over the corresponding iodides and bromides when it comes to radical formation because anomeric phenyl selenides are thermally more stable than the corresponding anomeric halides. Anomeric iodides are, in fact, too unstable to have a significant role in generating pyranos-1-yl or furanos-1-yl radicals. Anomeric bromides are acceptable radical precursors in many instances, but when they are too unstable, phenyl selenides become attractive alternatives. Phenyl selenide advantage is apparent in the generation of furanos-1-yl radicals where glycosyl bromides typically are unable to survive the heating at reflux in benzene or toluene that normally is used in such reactions. Selenophenyl glycosides are stable enough under these conditions to avoid nonradical, thermal decomposition and, therefore, they are able to form the desired radicals.<sup>4,5</sup>

Organotellurium compounds represent another source of carbohydrate radicals. Although selenides are used much more frequently as starting materials for radical formation, tellurides undergo many of the same types of reaction. A problem with many tellurium-containing compounds is that they decompose so readily that they can be difficult to purify and store.

#### **Topic hierarchy**

**II. Selenides** 

III. Tellurides

**IV. Summary** 

This page titled 4: Selenides & Tellurides is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.





### **II. Selenides**

#### A. Reaction Mechanism

The  $S_{H2}$  mechanism pictured in Scheme 1 and the stepwise process shown in Scheme 2 both are considered possibilities for explaining the reaction between a phenyl selenide and a tin- or silicon-centered radical.<sup>6</sup> The tris(trimethylsilyl)silyl radical (1) is used in illustrating these two mechanisms because it plays a significant role in the choice between them.<sup>2</sup> A way for making this choice begins with the observation that the absolute rate constant for reaction of **1** with cyclohexyl phenyl selenide to give cyclohexal ( $k_{Se}$ ) is 9.6 x 10<sup>7</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> and the rate constant for reaction of 1-bromooctane to give octane ( $k_{Br}$ ) is 2.0 x 10<sup>7</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>. If every cyclohexyl and 1-octyl radical is formed irreversibly and abstracts a hydrogen atom from (CH<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>SiH (Scheme 3), then the ratio  $k_{Se}/k_{Br}$  should be equal to the ratio of cyclohexane to octane formed when an equal-molar mixture of the selenide and bromide react with a limited amount of **1**. When an experiment to test this possibility is conducted, the ratio of cyclohexane to octane in the product mixture is 0.08, a value far less than the 4.8 ratio predicted from the absolute rate constants (Scheme 3).<sup>2</sup> This result is inconsistent with a process in which both the bromide and selenide react according to the S<sub>H</sub>2 mechanism shown in Scheme 3. The 0.08 ratio is consistent with the bromide reacting as pictured in Scheme 3 but the selenide producing an intermediate that can return to the starting materials (Scheme 4). A likely intermediate in such a reaction is one with a hypervalent selenium atom.<sup>2</sup> The results from this comparative experiment, therefore, favor the stepwise mechanism for selenide reaction shown in Scheme 2 over the concerted process pictured in Scheme 1.



#### **B.** Reactions

#### 1. Reduction



Carbohydrates that have a selenophenyl group attached to a pyranoid ring react with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride, triphenyltin hydride, or tris(trimethylsilyl)silane to replace the selenium-containing group with a hydrogen atom.<sup>7–19</sup> Such a reaction is the final step in the disaccharide synthesis shown in Scheme 5.<sup>7</sup> Although reduction involving selenophenyl group replacement is usually at C-2 in monosaccharides or at C-2' in disaccharides and nucleosides, reaction in monosaccharides also has been observed at C-1<sup>17,18</sup> and at C-6.<sup>20</sup>



The polymer 3,<sup>21,22</sup> with selenium attached to the aromatic rings in polystyrene, reacts with the glycal 2 in the presence of the partially protected sugar 4 to produce the carbohydrate-containing polymers 5 and 6 (Scheme 6).<sup>21</sup> (The polymer-bound reagent 3 has the advantage that it is odorless, safer, and more convenient to handle than C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>SeCl, which is toxic and foul smelling.<sup>21</sup>) Reaction of 5 and 6 with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride releases the carbohydrates from the polymers and, at the same time, completes the reduction process.



Replacing a selenophenyl group in a five-membered ring by a hydrogen atom is a common reaction for nucleosides and nucleoside analogs.<sup>23–32</sup> This replacement can be conducted either at 80-110 °C with AIBN initiation (eq 1),<sup>23</sup> or at room temperature with  $Et_3B-O_2$  as the initiator (eq 2).<sup>26</sup> [Selenophenyl group replacement, when initiated by  $Et_3B-O_2$ , can occur at temperatures as low as -75 °C (eq 3).<sup>31</sup>] Tri-*n*-butyltin hydride is the normal hydrogen-atom transfer in such reactions, but tris(trimethylsilyl)silane (eq 4)<sup>28</sup> and 1,4-cyclohexadiene (eq 5)<sup>30</sup> also are effective in this role. Yields from reaction of  $Bu_3SnH$  with carbohydrates containing selenophenyl groups remain high when the oxygen atom in a furanoid ring is replaced by a sulfur atom.<sup>33–35</sup>

$$\begin{array}{c} BnOCH_{2} & B & AIBN \\ & & Bu_{3S}BH \\ & & C_{6}H_{6} \\ & & B_{0}\circ_{C} \\ & & & & \\ \end{array}$$





#### 2. Addition

Carbohydrate radicals generated from phenyl selenides undergo characteristic addition reactions with compounds containing multiple bonds.<sup>19,36–39</sup> These radicals add not only to decidedly electron-deficient double bonds, such as that found in *t*-butyl acrylate, but also to less electron-deficient double bonds, such as that present in styrene.<sup>19,37,38</sup> Product yields from addition to styrene are lower, however, because hydrogen-atom abstraction from tri-*n*-butyltin hydride to give the reduction product competes effectively with addition to a less electron-deficient multiple bond (eq 6). Conditions are critical to the success of these addition reactions because only hydrogen-atom abstraction is observed unless  $Et_3B-O_2$  is the initiator and the reaction is run at room temperature.<sup>38</sup> As is typical for reactions of this type (i.e., ones that form intermediate pyranos-1-yl radicals), the stereoselectivity of addition is controlled by the kinetic anomeric effect [Section III.B of Chapter 11 in Volume I].



#### 3. Cyclization

The reaction shown in Scheme  $7^{40}$  illustrates the established preference of unsaturated radicals for forming five-membered rings even when six-membered ones are possible.<sup>40–43</sup> This reaction (Scheme 7) also reveals a complication in radical cyclization caused by internal hydrogen-atom abstraction, a process that leads in this instance to epimerization at C-5. Only carbon-centered radicals that are very reactive, such as the primary radical 7, are able to abstract a hydrogen atom from a carbon–hydrogen bond fast enough to be of consequence. Epimerization at C-5 in this reaction can be reduced or even eliminated by increasing the tri-*n*-butyltin hydride concentration to the point that internal hydrogen-atom abstraction by 7 no longer competes successfully with abstraction from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH (Scheme 7).<sup>40</sup>





Cyclization of unsaturated carbohydrates in which a selenophenyl group is attached to a pyranoid ring is marked by a surprising variety of new ring systems that can be produced. In addition to the expected five-<sup>40–44</sup> and six-membered<sup>45</sup> rings, formation of seven-membered,<sup>46</sup> eight-membered,<sup>47,48</sup> and even nine-membered<sup>49–54</sup> rings also takes place. Larger rings usually are generated when a radical center and a multiple bond are linked through a silicon–oxygen connector.<sup>46–52</sup> Reactions of this type often produce carbohydrates in which two saccharide units are linked by a methylene bridge (Scheme 8.)<sup>48</sup> Although bridges containing silicon and oxygen atoms are common, reactions also occur between monosaccharides connected by other combinations of atoms.<sup>53,54</sup>



In cyclization reactions a selenophenyl group attached to a furanoid ring behaves in a manner similar to one attached to a pyranoid ring; that is, reaction produces a radical that adds to a connected multiple bond. The connecting group sometimes contains a nitrogen atom (eq 7)<sup>55</sup> or an oxygen atom<sup>56–58</sup> (eq 8<sup>56</sup>) or the collection of atoms that make up an ester linkage,<sup>59,60</sup> but as is the case for compounds with pyranoid rings, a radical centered in a furanoid ring frequently has the unsaturated group tethered to the five-membered ring through a silicon–oxygen bridge<sup>61–69</sup> (eq 9<sup>61</sup>). Reported radical cyclization of this type, such as that shown in eq 10,<sup>62</sup> often involves reaction of a nucleoside.



Although in most carbohydrates a selenophenyl group undergoing reaction is bonded to a ring carbon atom, cyclization<sup>70,71</sup> (and addition<sup>72</sup>) reactions also can start with a ring-open structure. An example is given in eq 11.<sup>70</sup> Cyclization of the ring-open selenide **8** begins with electron transfer from samarium(II) iodide. The intermediate samarium ketyl formed during this reaction displaces a benzyl group from selenium to give a ring system that contains a selenium atom (Scheme 9).<sup>73</sup> This is an unusual method for ring formation because it takes place by group displacement rather than addition to a multiple bond.





Scheme 9



#### 4. Group Migration

Group migration is a characteristic reaction of a pyranos-1-yl radical that has an acyloxy group attached to C-2. Since phenyl selenides are one type of precursor for these radicals, it is reasonable to expect selenides to be substrates for such a migration.<sup>5,74,75</sup> The reaction shown in eq 12 justifies this expectation.<sup>5</sup> (Acyloxy-group-migration reactions are discussed in Section V. of Chapter 8.)



#### 5. Radical-Cation Formation

In the reaction shown in Scheme 10 abstraction of the selenophenyl group from **9** by  $Bu_3Sn$ · gives the pyranos-1-yl radical **10**, which then fragments to produce the radical cation **11**.<sup>76</sup> This radical cation then undergoes a combination of cyclization, proton loss, and hydrogen-atom abstraction to give the final product. Investigating radical-cation formation from nucleotides containing selenophenyl groups is used to study the mechanism of DNA strand scission.<sup>77,78</sup>



#### 6. Radical Combination

Replacement of a selenophenyl group with a hydrogen atom typically depends on the ability of a reagent such as tri-*n*-butyltin hydride both to provide a chain-carrying radical ( $Bu_3Sn$ ·) and to serve as a hydrogen-atom transfer. If this reagent is replaced by one that lacks hydrogen-donating ability but retains the capacity to generate a chain-carrying radical, selenophenyl group loss still will occur, but hydrogen-atom abstraction cannot be depended upon to complete the reaction. If unsaturated reactants are present, radical addition is possible, but if such compounds are absent, radical combination can take place (eq 13).<sup>4</sup> {[Combination of the type shown in eq 13 also happens when pyranos-1-yl radicals are formed from glycosyl bromides [Chapter 2, Section III.G.1] and glycosyl phenyl sulfones [Chapter 3, Section VII.B.1.c.]}





This page titled II. Selenides is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### **III.** Tellurides

The organotellurium compounds that are used as radical precursors in carbohydrate chemistry usually are synthesized by a nucleophilic displacement reaction such as that pictured in eq 14.<sup>79</sup>



The majority of compounds prepared in this way are anomeric tellurides. Furanosyl tellurides are relatively unstable and tend to decompose within a few days,<sup>80–82</sup> but although their pyranosyl counterparts can exist unchanged in the solid state for months,<sup>79</sup> heating or exposing pyranosyl tellurides to UV light causes epimerization (eq 15).<sup>83</sup>



Two procedures, both of which involve photolysis, cause radical reaction of carbohydrate tellurides. The first of these is photochemical homolysis of a carbon–tellurium bond, a reaction that generates the more stable of the two possible, carbon-centered radicals (Scheme 11).



An example of reaction brought about in this way is found eq 16.<sup>83</sup> The second procedure for radical formation from a carbohydrate telluride calls for photochemical decomposition of *N*-acetoxy-2-thiopyridone to produce a methyl radical that then reacts with the telluride (Scheme 12).



Equation 17 describes a cyclization reaction initiated in this way.<sup>84</sup> Reactions of carbohydrate radicals formed from tellurides include cyclization,<sup>84,85</sup> addition,<sup>86–89</sup> reduction,<sup>83</sup> and group migration.<sup>83</sup> It is reasonable to assume that reaction of a carbohydrate telluride with a methyl radical involves, as molecular orbital calculations indicate, formation of an intermediate with a hypervalent tellurium atom (Scheme 13).<sup>90</sup>





Scheme 13 RTeAr  $\xrightarrow{CH_3}$  R  $\xrightarrow{-re}$  -CH<sub>3</sub>  $\longrightarrow$  R  $\cdot$  + ArTeCH<sub>3</sub> Ar hypervalent intermediate

This page titled III. Tellurides is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **IV. Summary**

Reactions of carbohydrate selenides with tin-centered and silicon-centered radicals produce carbon-centered, carbohydrate radicals. These radicals can undergo hydrogen-atom abstraction, intra- and intermolecular addition, group migration, radical-cation formation, and radical combination. Reduction and radical cyclization are the two most common of these reactions. Reduction is involved in the synthesis of 2-deoxy sugars and 2'-deoxy disaccharides and nucleosides. Cyclization, which is characterized by the formation of compounds with a variety of ring sizes, is the central reaction in a general procedure for converting monosaccharides into *C*-disaccharides. In this procedure glycosyl phenyl selenides are chosen to generate pyranos-1-yl and furanos-1-yl radicals because a carbohydrate with a selenophenyl group at C-1 is thermally more stable than other substituents usually used for radical generation at this position. Carbohydrate tellurides are relatively unstable compounds that form carbohydrate radicals upon absorption of light or reaction with methyl radicals.

This page titled IV. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

## 5: Acetals & Ethers

#### I. Introduction

Acetals are pervasive in carbohydrate chemistry. They link together saccharide units in oligo- and polysaccharides, provide the bonding in glycosides that joins carbohydrate and aglycon portions of a molecule, and furnish protection for hydroxyl groups during synthetic transformations. Because acetals have these vital protective and connective roles, their stability in the presence of free radicals is critical in enabling radical reactions selectively to modify other parts of a carbohydrate structure. Even though most acetals are stable in the presence of the carbon-centered radicals typically encountered in carbohydrate chemistry, there are reactions between heteroatom-centered radicals that are useful in carbohydrate transformation.

Ethers also serve as hydroxyl protecting groups during carbohydrate synthesis because, like acetals, they are unreactive in the presence of most carbon-centered radicals. When reaction of an ether or acetal does occur, it typically is hydrogen-atom abstraction from a carbon atom that has an attached oxygen atom.

#### **Topic hierarchy**

- II. Bromination of Acetals and Ethers
- III. Thiol-Catalyzed Reactions of Acetals: Polarity-Reversal Catalysis
- IV. Ring Opening of Specially Designed Acetals
- V. Internal Hydrogen-atom abstraction in Acetals and Ethers
- VI. Radical Cyclization: The Role of Ethers and Acetals
- VII. Silyl Ether Rearrangement
- VIII. Summary

This page titled 5: Acetals & Ethers is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## II. Bromination of Acetals and Ethers

Free-radical bromination of acetals and ethers is discussed in Section IV of Chapter 2.

This page titled II. Bromination of Acetals and Ethers is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## III. Thiol-Catalyzed Reactions of Acetals: Polarity-Reversal Catalysis

Thiols act as catalysts for hydrogen-atom abstraction from acetals.<sup>1–10</sup> The initiation phase in these reactions generates a thiyl radical that then abstracts a hydrogen atom from the acetal in the first propagation step (Scheme 1). This first step is reversible and a pseudo equilibrium is established that favors the reactants (RH and XS·). (The position of this equilibrium is based on the enthalpy calculated from the bond-dissociation energies given in eq 1.<sup>11</sup>) The overall process is driven by the second propagation step, a reaction that irreversibly converts one carbon-centered radical (R·) into another (R·). The final step is rapid hydrogen-atom abstraction from the thiol by the newly formed, carbon-centered radical R'.

Scheme 1 initiation phase (CH3)3CO-OC(CH3)3 ----2 (CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>CO · (CH3)3CO · + XSH → (CH3)3COH + XS · propagation phase R · + XSH polarity matched RH + XS· electronucleo-philic radical ŧ electron philic rich radical electron deficient  $R \cdot \longrightarrow R' \cdot$ R'+ XSH \_\_\_\_ R'H + XS • polarity matched electro-electron philic rich radical nucleo philic radical ŧ electron deficient R · = a radical derived from a carbohydrate acetal by hydrogen abstraction R' · = a radical produced from R · by ring opening, β-fragmentation or ring inversion ÇH₃ TDT = HSCC9H19 TBST = HSSi(OC(CH3)3)3 XSH = TDT or TBST сн₃ RS. + R-H - RS-H + R · △H = +6 kcal/mol (1) 1 t  $R = (CH_3)_3C$ 96 kcal/mol 89 kcal/mol

Hydrogen-atom abstraction from a molecule of substrate should have a lower transition-state energy when the abstracting radical is sulfur-centered (Scheme 1) rather than carbon-centered (Scheme 2). In reactions of this type the transition state can be described as a hybrid of valence-bond structures **1-4** (Figure 1).<sup>10</sup> If the abstracting radical is carbon-centered, structures **1** and **2** are the major contributors to the hybrid; the charge-separated structures **3** and **4** are of little consequence. If, however, abstraction is done by a thiyl radical, not only are structures **1** and **2** important, but contribution from the charge-separated structure **3** also is significant.<sup>10</sup> (In the case where a thiyl radical abstracts a hydrogen atom from an acetal, the valence-bond structures **1-4** can be represented in the more descriptive manner shown in Figure 2.) Significant contribution from **3** means that the energy required to reach the transition state for abstraction of a hydrogen atom is less than that needed when a carbon-centered radical abstracts the same hydrogen atom. Faster hydrogen-atom abstraction in propagation step **1** (Scheme 1) means that as R· is converted into R'· in step 2, the R· needed to continue the propagation sequence will be replenished more rapidly.



Scheme 2

initiation phase

 $(CH_3)_3CO - OC(CH_3)_3 \longrightarrow 2 (CH_3)_3CO \cdot$  $(CH_3)_3CO \cdot + RH \longrightarrow (CH_3)_3COH + R \cdot$ 

propagation phase

 $R \cdot \longrightarrow R' \cdot$   $R' \cdot + RH \iff R'H + R \cdot polarity mismatched$ nucleo-

```
nucleo-
philic electron electron philic
radical rich rich radical
```

R • = a radical derived from a carbohydrate acetal by hydrogen abstraction

R'• = a radical produced from R • by ring opening, β-fragmentation, or ring inversion

 $\begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{R} \cdot \mathbb{H} - \mathbb{R}' \end{bmatrix} \longleftrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{R} - \mathbb{H} \cdot \mathbb{R}' \end{bmatrix} \longleftrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{R}^{0} & \dot{\mathbb{H}} & 0\mathbb{R}' \end{bmatrix} \longleftrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{R}^{0} & \dot{\mathbb{H}} & 0\mathbb{R}' \end{bmatrix}$   $1 \qquad 2 \qquad 3 \qquad 4$ 

Figure 1. Valence-bond structures describing the transition-state for hydrogen abstraction

 $\begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{RO}_{i}^{l} \cdot H - \operatorname{SR} \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ ROC_{i}^{l} - H \cdot \operatorname{SR} \end{bmatrix}$   $\stackrel{1}{=} \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{RO}_{i}^{l \circ 0} + \cdots & \operatorname{SR}^{0} \\ \operatorname{ROC}_{i}^{l \circ 0} + \cdots & \operatorname{SR}^{0} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$   $\begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{RO}_{i}^{l} \circ H \circ \operatorname{SR} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \longleftrightarrow \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{RO}_{i}^{l} \circ H \circ \operatorname{SR} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$ 

A structure such as **3** is a transition-state-stabilizing contributor in any hydrogen-abstraction reaction where a change in radical philicity takes place. Such a change occurs in propagation steps 1 and 3 in the thiol-catalyzed mechanism pictured in [] Scheme 1, but it does not take place at all in the uncatalyzed mechanism shown in [] Scheme 2. When a change in radical philicity occurs during a reaction, either due to abstraction of an electron-rich hydrogen atom by an electrophilic radical or abstraction of an electron-deficient hydrogen atom by a nucleophilic radical (propagation steps 1 and 3, respectively, in Scheme 1), the reaction is described as polarity-matched.<sup>4,10</sup> If one radical must be converted into another by hydrogen-atom abstraction without benefit from a change in radical philicity (step 2 in Scheme 2), the reaction is described as being polarity-mismatched. The transition state for a polarity-matched reaction will be stabilized by contribution from the charge-separated, valence-bond structure **3** (Figures 1 and 2), but a polarity-mismatched reaction will not experience similar, transition-state stabilization. A polarity-matched reaction, therefore, will have transition-state stabilization that is denied to a polarity-mismatched reaction.

Although the combination of steps 1 and 3 in [] Scheme 1 achieves the same result as step 2 in [] Scheme 2 (see Figure 3), the polarity-matched steps in Scheme 1 can be fast enough that in combination they are more rapid, sometimes much more rapid, than the single, polarity-mismatched step in Scheme 2. When this occurs, the added thiol is said to catalyze the entire reaction by polarity-reversal catalysis.<sup>10</sup> The next three sections describe reactions that either are made possible by or have improved yields due to polarity-reversal catalysis.

Figure 2. Representations for the transition state in hydrogen atom transfer between carbon and sulfur atoms



 $\begin{array}{c} \mathsf{R} & \cdot & \rightarrow & \mathsf{R}' \cdot & \mathsf{step 1} \\ \mathsf{R}' \cdot + & \mathsf{RH} & \longrightarrow & \mathsf{R'H} + \mathsf{R} \cdot & \mathsf{step 2} \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \mathsf{R}' + & \mathsf{RS} \cdot & \longleftarrow & \mathsf{R} \cdot + & \mathsf{XSH} \\ \mathsf{R'} + & \mathsf{XSH} & \longleftarrow & \mathsf{R'H} + \mathsf{XS} \cdot \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \mathsf{R}' + & \mathsf{XSH} & \longleftarrow & \mathsf{R'H} + \mathsf{XS} \cdot \end{array} \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \mathsf{R}' = a \text{ radical derived from a carbohydrate acetal by hydrogen abstraction} \\ \hline \\ \mathsf{R'} \cdot = a \text{ radical produced from } \mathsf{R} \cdot \mathsf{by ring opening}, \beta \text{-fragmentation}, \\ \mathsf{or ring inversion} \\ \hline \\ \mathsf{XSH} = \text{TDT or TBST} \quad \text{TDT} = \mathsf{HSC} \mathsf{CgH_{19}} \quad \text{TBST} = \mathsf{HSSi}(\mathsf{OC}(\mathsf{CH}_{3})_{3})_{3} \\ \hline \\ \mathsf{CH_{3}} \\ \hline \\ \end{array}$ 

This page titled III. Thiol-Catalyzed Reactions of Acetals: Polarity-Reversal Catalysis is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## IV. Ring Opening of Specially Designed Acetals

Search for compounds with more versatile reactivity than that provided by a 4,6-*O*-benzylidene group has stimulated development of some specially designed structures.<sup>14–18</sup> The acetal **23**, which fits into this "specially designed" category, reacts with  $Bu_3Sn$ · to form the aryl radical **24**. The iodine-atom abstraction that generates **24** is the first step in a sequence of radical reactions that culminates in producing the protected glycoside **25** (Scheme 9).<sup>14–16</sup> An example of the synthetic usefulness of this reaction is found in the conversion of a tetrasaccharide containing four such protecting groups into one in which each group is transformed into an *O*-benzoyl group.<sup>15</sup> The glycoside **26** is another cyclic benzylidene acetal with an aromatic iodo substituent that undergoes a sequential radical reaction that leads to the corresponding deoxy benzoate **27** (eq 10).<sup>17</sup> The reactions pictured in Scheme 9 and eq 10 are two more examples (in addition to those shown in equations [] 2 and [] 3) where *trans*-fused rings open to produce primary rather than a secondary radicals. Ring opening of the 4,6-*O*-benzylidene acetal **28** to give a secondary radical (eq 11) further supports the proposal made for the acetal **11** ([] eq 4) that for a more flexible, *cis*-fused ring system the direction of ring opening is controlled by radical stability rather than ring strain at the transition state.



This page titled IV. Ring Opening of Specially Designed Acetals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## V. Internal Hydrogen-atom abstraction in Acetals and Ethers

#### A. Abstraction by Alkoxy Radicals

Hydrogen-atom abstraction by alkoxy radicals from acetals and ethers is described in the next several sections. More information about the formation and reactions of alkoxy radicals is found in Chapter 6.

#### 1. Abstraction From an Acetal

Intramolecular hydrogen-atom abstraction by an oxygen-centered radical from the central carbon atom in an acetal linkage is the "key" step in the orthoester formation pictured in Scheme 10.<sup>19</sup> The radical phase of this reaction begins with photochemically initiated fragmentation of the hypoiodite **29**. Internal hydrogen-atom abstraction followed by carbon–iodine bond formation completes the radical phase of the reaction. Formation of the orthoester **31** from the iodide **30** then occurs by an ionic process.



#### 2. Abstraction From an Ether

Internal hydrogen-atom abstraction from a benzyloxy group produces a highly stabilized radical (**32**) that can be an intermediate in the formation of a benzylidene acetal (Scheme 11). This type of reaction takes place in good yield when the substrate contains adjacent *O*-benzyl and hydroxyl groups (Scheme 11).<sup>20</sup> The reaction in Scheme 12 illustrates the type of transformation possible. In this reaction the hypoiodite **33** is not just assumed to exist but is actually observed by <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectroscopy. Such direct observation of a hypoiodite is rare.



It is not essential to have aromatic stabilization in the developing radical for internal hydrogen-atom abstraction to take place.<sup>21–23</sup> In the alkoxy radical **35** abstraction from a nearby methoxy group begins a process that ultimately unites the interacting groups as

84%

1



an acetal (Scheme 13).<sup>21</sup> This reaction constitutes a regioselective transformation of a methoxy group that is in close proximity to an oxygen-centered radical.



#### 3. Abstraction From an $\alpha$ -Aminoether

Internal hydrogen-atom abstraction by an alkoxy radical from an  $\alpha$ -aminoether linkage can lead to the same type of ring formation observed in reactions of acetals and other ethers. For example, 1,6-hydrogen-atom abstraction converts the alkoxy radical **36** into the  $\alpha$ -amino radical **37**. Combination of **37** with an iodine atom or reaction of **37** with I<sub>2</sub> then produces a reactive iodide that cyclizes to give the spiro nucleoside **38** (Scheme 14).<sup>24,25</sup>



#### B. Abstraction by Carbon-Centered Radicals

Although internal hydrogen-atom abstraction usually involves an alkoxy radical, some carbon-centered radicals are capable of such reaction. One element associated with successful hydrogen-atom abstraction is that ring strain in the transition state be minimal. (Ring strain usually is minimized when hydrogen-atom abstraction involves a six-membered-ring transition state.<sup>26</sup> Such a reaction can be described as a 1,5-hydrogen-atom transfer or 1,5-HAT.) A second characteristic of successful abstraction is that stabilization of the developing radical contribute to lowering the transition-state barrier.<sup>26</sup> The need for radical stabilization means that primary<sup>27</sup> and vinylic<sup>28,29</sup> radicals are prime candidates for hydrogen-atom abstraction because their reactions typically lead to much more stable radicals; however, even a secondary radical will abstract a hydrogen atom internally if the developing radical is sufficiently stabilized.<sup>30</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 15, the vinylic radical **39** abstracts a hydrogen atom from the adjacent *O*-benzyl group in route to the major products **41** and **42** (80% combined yield). The product **40**, formed when **39** abstracts a hydrogen atom from (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>3</sub>SnH, is produced in only 8% yield, demonstrating that intermolecular reaction from this tin hydride has difficulty competing with internal hydrogen-atom abstraction.<sup>29</sup>



Scheme 15 39 40  $Ar = C_6H_5$ 8% Ar<sub>3</sub>SnH - Ar<sub>2</sub>Sn • ArCHO OCHA нó OBr Ar<sub>3</sub>SnH - Ar<sub>3</sub>Sn 41 80% 42

It is often difficult to predict the extent of internal hydrogen-atom abstraction when a reactive, carbon-centered radical is formed in the presence of an effective hydrogen-atom transfer. For example, generating the radical **39** with  $(C_6H_5)_3$ SnH present in solution still results primarily in internal reaction (Scheme 15);<sup>29</sup> in contrast, in the reaction shown in eq 12 deuterium incorporation demonstrates that even though a primary radical is formed, abstraction from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH is more rapid than internal 1,4- or 1,5-HAT.<sup>31</sup>



This page titled V. Internal Hydrogen-atom abstraction in Acetals and Ethers is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## VI. Radical Cyclization: The Role of Ethers and Acetals

Radical cyclization depends upon having a radical center and multiple bond held in close enough proximity for internal addition to take place. In carbohydrates an ether linkage often is the means for connecting these two reactive centers. In the reaction shown in Scheme 16, for example, a carbohydrate (**43**) with a radical precursor at C-1 is connected by a silyl ether linkage at C-2 to a substituent containing a double bond.<sup>32</sup> Radical cyclization to give the silyl ether **44** creates a new carbon–carbon bond. Nonradical ring opening of **44** produces a silicon-free carbohydrate with an extended, carbon-atom chain.



Acetals and nonsilyl ethers also act as tethers that connect reactive centers during radical cyclization. In the reaction shown in Scheme 17, for example, the acetal linkage holds the double bond and the radical center in **45** close enough for ring formation to occur.<sup>33</sup> In a similar manner an ether linkage connects the reactive centers during the cyclization reaction shown in eq 13.<sup>34</sup> Unlike silyl ethers, the rings formed when acetals and nonsilyl ethers act as tethers usually are not destined for immediate ring opening. (Section IV.C of Chapter 19 contains additional examples of ethers and acetals serving as tethers in radical cyclization reactions.)



This page titled VI. Radical Cyclization: The Role of Ethers and Acetals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## VII. Silyl Ether Rearrangement

Rearrangement takes place during radical cyclization involving some silyl ethers. The primary evidence for this rearrangement is the dependence of product ring size on the concentration of Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, the hydrogen-atom transfer in these reactions. When the reaction shown in eq 14 is conducted in dilute Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH solution, the major product contains a six-membered ring,<sup>35</sup> but at high Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH concentration reaction regioselectivity changes to give a product with a five-membered ring.<sup>36,37</sup> This concentration dependence can be explained by the more rapidly formed, but less stable, radical **46** having sufficient time and energy, when the concentration of Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH is low, to be converted into the more stable radical **47**, either by a rearrangement that involves a cyclic transition state or by a fragmentation-addition sequence (Scheme 18).<sup>37</sup> At high Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH concentration hydrogen-atom abstraction occurs before ring expansion can take place.



This page titled VII. Silyl Ether Rearrangement is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## VIII. Summary

The free-radical bromination of a benzylidene acetal is a standard procedure in carbohydrate chemistry for ring opening that results in the formation of bromodeoxy sugars. Ring opening in the absence of bromine occurs when 4,6-*O*-benzylidene acetals react with peroxides in the presence of a thiol catalyst. Hydrogen-atom abstraction by an electrophilic, thiyl radical is the first step in this reaction. This is also the first step in reactions of other acetals leading to epimerization and deoxygenation.

Ethers, like acetals, serve as protecting groups during carbohydrate synthesis, but this protection is not total because both ethers and acetals undergo hydrogen-atom abstraction in the presence of reactive, electrophilic radicals. These radicals can be sulfur, oxygen-, or bromine-centered. When hydrogen-atom abstraction by an alkoxy radical is intramolecular, it typically is highly regioselective and can lead to formation of a new ring system.

Acetals and ethers, including silyl ethers, have a connective role in radical cyclization reactions. The radical center and the multiple bond involved in a cyclization reaction are often joined together by an acetal or ether linkage.

This page titled VIII. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

## 6: Alkoxy Radicals

Radical formation by abstraction of a hydrogen atom potentially can convert a partially protected carbohydrate into either an oxygen-centered or carbon-centered radical (Scheme 1). In practice, however, such abstraction produces only carbon-centered radicals because their greater stability is reflected in the transition state leading to their formation. Because hydroxyl groups in unprotected or partially protected carbohydrates do not react with radicals typically present during transformation of carbohydrates (e.g., Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn·, (Me<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>Si·, or various carbon-centered radicals), protecting these groups is not necessary to prevent them from becoming involved in radical reactions.



Topic hierarchy

II. Alkoxy Radicals III. Summary Index

This page titled 6: Alkoxy Radicals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.





## **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

## **Front Matter**

TitlePage InfoPage

# 6: Alkoxy Radicals

This text is disseminated via the Open Education Resource (OER) LibreTexts Project (https://LibreTexts.org) and like the hundreds of other texts available within this powerful platform, it is freely available for reading, printing and "consuming." Most, but not all, pages in the library have licenses that may allow individuals to make changes, save, and print this book. Carefully consult the applicable license(s) before pursuing such effects.

Instructors can adopt existing LibreTexts texts or Remix them to quickly build course-specific resources to meet the needs of their students. Unlike traditional textbooks, LibreTexts' web based origins allow powerful integration of advanced features and new technologies to support learning.



The LibreTexts mission is to unite students, faculty and scholars in a cooperative effort to develop an easy-to-use online platform for the construction, customization, and dissemination of OER content to reduce the burdens of unreasonable textbook costs to our students and society. The LibreTexts project is a multi-institutional collaborative venture to develop the next generation of openaccess texts to improve postsecondary education at all levels of higher learning by developing an Open Access Resource environment. The project currently consists of 14 independently operating and interconnected libraries that are constantly being optimized by students, faculty, and outside experts to supplant conventional paper-based books. These free textbook alternatives are organized within a central environment that is both vertically (from advance to basic level) and horizontally (across different fields) integrated.

The LibreTexts libraries are Powered by NICE CXOne and are supported by the Department of Education Open Textbook Pilot Project, the UC Davis Office of the Provost, the UC Davis Library, the California State University Affordable Learning Solutions Program, and Merlot. This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. 1246120, 1525057, and 1413739.

Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation nor the US Department of Education.

Have questions or comments? For information about adoptions or adaptions contact info@LibreTexts.org. More information on our activities can be found via Facebook (https://facebook.com/Libretexts), Twitter (https://twitter.com/libretexts), or our blog (http://Blog.Libretexts.org).

This text was compiled on 03/10/2025



## **II. Alkoxy Radicals**

Although oxygen-centered radicals are not formed in significant number by direct hydrogen-atom abstraction from carbohydrates, these radicals can be produced indirectly in high yield from carbohydrate derivatives. Since such radicals are capable of internal reaction, intramolecular abstraction provides a pathway for oxygen-centered radicals to produce specific, carbon-centered radicals and, in so doing, to participate in synthetically useful reactions. (Alkoxy and alkoxyl are both terms used in describing oxygen-centered radicals derived from alcohols. The alkoxy designation will be used here.)

This page titled II. Alkoxy Radicals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### **III.** Summary

Alcohols are converted indirectly into alkoxy radicals through intermediate hypoiodites, nitrates, and phthalimides. A common reaction of alkoxy radicals is hydrogen-atom abstraction. This reaction becomes synthetically useful when the abstraction is internal because regioselective formation of a carbon-centered radical takes place. This selectivity depends on a combination of factors that include transition-state ring size, stability of the developing radical, and polarity matching between reacting atoms. Alkoxy radicals also can undergo carbon–carbon bond fragmentation that produces a carbonyl group and a carbon-centered radical. No matter which pathway is taken by the alkoxy radical (hydrogen-atom abstraction or  $\beta$  fragmentation), the resulting carbon-centered radical can undergo new ring formation, epimerization at a chiral center, ring opening, and other reactions characteristic of this radical intermediate.

This page titled III. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.


# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

### **Back Matter**

Index



### Index

E Epimerization I. Organocobalt Compounds



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

### 7: Unprotected Carbohydrates

Radical reactions of unprotected carbohydrates begin with hydrogen-atom abstraction from a carbon–hydrogen bond in the carbohydrate structure. Such reaction requires a radical more reactive than the tin- or silicon-centered ones that are common in reactions of carbohydrate derivatives. A hydrogen atom usually is abstracted from an unprotected carbohydrate by a hydroxyl radical (HO·), but sometimes the sulfate radical anion (SO<sub>4</sub><sup>--</sup>) is the abstracting agent. A beginning point for discussing radical reactions of unprotected carbohydrates is to examine how the abstracting radicals HO· and SO<sub>4</sub><sup>--</sup> are formed.

#### **Topic hierarchy**

- II. Radicals That Abstract Hydrogen Atoms from Unprotected Carbohydrates
- III. First Formed Radicals: Radicals Produced by Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction from Unprotected Carbohydrates
- IV. Reactions of First-Formed Radicals
- V. Reactions of Carbonyl-Conjugated Radicals
- VI. Oxidative Degradation of Carbohydrates
- VII. Reactions of Polysaccharides
- VIII. Summary

This page titled 7: Unprotected Carbohydrates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.





### II. Radicals That Abstract Hydrogen Atoms from Unprotected Carbohydrates

#### A. Hydroxyl Radicals

#### 1. Ionizing Radiation and Ultraviolet Light

 $\gamma$ -Radiolysis of water produces hydroxyl radicals along with the compounds, ions, and other radicals shown in eq 1.<sup>1–4</sup> The yield of hydroxyl radicals in this reaction can be increased by adding N<sub>2</sub>O to the reaction mixture because hydrated electrons react with N<sub>2</sub>O to form hydroxyl radicals (eq 2).<sup>2–4</sup> In N<sub>2</sub>O-containing solutions 85% of the radicals are HO· and 15% are H·.<sup>4</sup> Both HO· and H· abstract hydrogen atoms from carbon–hydrogen bonds.<sup>4</sup> Hydroxyl radicals (and hydrogen atoms) also can be produced by photolysis of water with ultraviolet light of wavelength less than 185 nm (eq 3).<sup>1</sup>

```
\begin{array}{rcl} H_{2}O & \stackrel{\text{ionzing}}{\text{radiation}} & e_{aq}^{\mathcal{B}} + HO \cdot + H \cdot + H_{2}O_{2} + H_{2} + H^{\mathfrak{B}} + HO^{\mathfrak{B}} & (1) \end{array}
e_{aq}^{\mathcal{B}} + N_{2}O + H_{2}O & \longrightarrow N_{2} + HO \cdot + HO^{\mathfrak{B}} & (2) \end{array}
H_{2}O \xrightarrow{hv} H \cdot + HO \cdot & (3)
```

#### 2. Reaction of $H_2O_2$ with $Fe^{2+}$ and $Ti^{3+}$

Reaction of  $H_2O_2$  with  $Fe^{2+}$  (eq 4) or  $Ti^{3+}$  (eq 5) produces hydroxyl radicals.<sup>5–8</sup> (These reagent combinations are sometimes described as radiomimetic, that is, imitating radiation.) Each hydroxyl radical produced is capable of abstracting a hydrogen atom from a carbon–hydrogen bond present in a molecule of substrate (eq 6). The  $Ti^{4+}$  generated by the reaction shown in eq 5 does not react further with the carbon-centered radical produced, but the  $Fe^{3+}$  formed in the reaction shown in eq 4 does;<sup>8</sup>  $Fe^{3+}$  oxidizes an  $\alpha$ -hydroxy radical to a carbonyl group while itself being reduced to  $Fe^{2+}$ . Regeneration of  $Fe^{2+}$  from  $Fe^{3+}$  by the reaction shown in eq 7 means that when this reaction occurs, only a catalytic amount of  $Fe^{2+}$  may be necessary for complete decomposition of  $H_2O_2$  (eq 4). (The combination of  $H_2O_2$  and  $Fe^{2+}$  is known as Fenton's reagent,<sup>9</sup> and that of  $H_2O_2$  and  $Te^{3+}$  as a Fenton-type reagent.<sup>8</sup>)

 $Fe^{2+}$  +  $H_2O_2$   $\longrightarrow$   $Fe^{3+}$  +  $HO \cdot$  +  $HO^G$  (4)

$$TI^{3+} + H_2O_2 \longrightarrow TI^{4+} + HO^{+} + HO^{9} \quad (5)$$

$$HO^{+} + H_2O^{+} \longrightarrow H_2O^{+} + HO^{-} = O^{+} \quad (6)$$

$$HO^{+} + H^{0} \longrightarrow Fe^{2+} + = O^{+} + H^{0} \quad (7)$$

F

#### **B. Sulfate Radical Anions**

The sulfate radical anion (SO<sub>4</sub>·<sup>-</sup>) forms when the peroxydisulfate dianion (S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>8</sub><sup>2-</sup>) reacts with Ti<sup>3+</sup> (eq 8).<sup>10</sup> A low concentration of Cu<sup>2+</sup> present in the reaction mixture enhances the rate of generation of SO<sub>4</sub>·<sup>-</sup> via the reactions shown in equations 9 and 10. The sulfate radical anion also forms from direct photolysis of S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>8</sub><sup>2-</sup> (eq 11).<sup>10</sup>

$$T_{1}^{3+} + S_{2}O_{8}^{2^{2}} \longrightarrow T_{1}^{4+} + SO_{4}^{-1} + SO_{4}^{2^{-}} (8)$$

$$T_{1}^{3+} + Cu^{2+} \longrightarrow T_{1}^{4+} + Cu^{+} (9)$$

$$Cu^{+} + S_{2}O_{6}^{2^{-}} \longrightarrow Cu^{2+} + SO_{4}^{-1} + SO_{4}^{2^{-}} (10)$$

$$S_{2}O_{8}^{2^{-}} \xrightarrow{hv} 2 SO_{4}^{-} (11)$$

This page titled II. Radicals That Abstract Hydrogen Atoms from Unprotected Carbohydrates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# III. First Formed Radicals: Radicals Produced by Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction from Unprotected Carbohydrates

A hydroxyl radical is sufficiently reactive to abstract a hydrogen atom from any of the carbon atoms in an unprotected carbohydrate.<sup>3,6</sup> The radicals produced by such a reaction often are referred to as "first-formed" radicals, a terminology that correctly implies further transformation is likely.<sup>6</sup> The ESR spectrum produced by the mixture of radicals generated from reaction of even a simple sugar with hydroxyl radicals is understandably complex; nevertheless, in the reaction of D-glucose (the most heavily studied of the simple sugars) signals for all six of the first-formed radicals can be detected.

This page titled III. First Formed Radicals: Radicals Produced by Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction from Unprotected Carbohydrates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### IV. Reactions of First-Formed Radicals

#### A. Reactions in Neutral Solution

In discussing the various products arising from reaction in neutral solution of first-formed radicals (typically reactions in which the hydroxyl radical is generated by  $\gamma$ -radiolysis), it is convenient to distinguish between products with a molecular weight less than or equal to that of the substrate and those with a higher molecular weight. Because first-formed radicals can undergo dimerization, disproportionation, elimination, and rearrangement, the number of possible reaction products is staggering; nevertheless, many of them have been identified.<sup>1,2,24,25</sup>

Product yields for reactions begun by  $\gamma$ -radiolysis of water can be expressed in terms of G-values; that is, the molecules or radicals formed per 100 eV of energy absorbed. A G-value also can be used as a measure of substrate reacted. In the reaction of D-glucose shown in Scheme 2 the G-value for consumption of starting material is 5.6.<sup>2</sup> The values for formation of products **11-13** are 0.95, 0.15, and <0.08, respectively. The G-values cited for D-glucose and compounds **11-13** were determined in the presence of N<sub>2</sub>O to maximize the formation of the hydroxyl radical.



#### 1. Low-Molecular-Weight Products

Although many low-molecular-weight products are formed in detectable amounts from reactions of simple sugars, the yields of most are quite low. Many of these compounds are produced by reactions of the first-formed radicals; for example, the major, low-molecular-weight product (**11**) from reaction of D-glucose is believed to arise by loss of the elements of water from the first-formed radical **10** (Scheme 2, path a).<sup>2</sup> Another reaction of **10** that forms a low-molecular-weight product is loss of a hydrogen atom to give D-glucono-1,5-lactone (**12**) (Scheme 2, path b), and a third reaction is opening of the pyranoid ring in **10** by fragmentation of the bond between C-5 and the ring oxygen atom to give, after hydrogen-atom abstraction, a carboxylic acid (**13**) (Scheme 2, path c).<sup>2</sup> All of the reactions of the radical **10** shown in Scheme 2 are driven, at least in part, by the stability gained from forming a C–O double bond.

#### 2. High-Molecular-Weight Products

The products **11-13** ( $\Box$  Scheme 2) and the other low molecular-weight products (more than twenty identified) account for less than half of the D-glucose consumed during  $\gamma$ -radiolysis because most products formed have high molecular weights. Little is known about either the structure of the high-molecular-weight materials or the mechanism of their formation. One proposal is that dimerization of radicals that have lost the elements of water may be the first step in formation of some high-molecular-weight products (eq 12).<sup>2</sup>



#### **B. Acid-Catalyzed Reactions**

Under strongly acidic conditions (pH = 1) four of the first-formed radicals generated from D-glucose eliminate the elements of water to give in each case a carbonyl-conjugated radical.<sup>6,26</sup> A proposed mechanism for this reaction, shown in Scheme 3, involves protonation of the hydroxyl group adjacent to a radical center in the first-formed radical **1** to produce an intermediate (**14**) with an excellent leaving group that departs to form a radical cation (**15**). This radical cation then deprotonates to give the carbonyl-conjugated radical **16**. Another mechanistic possibility for forming **16** is a concerted reaction beginning with the protonated radical **14** (Scheme 3). Forming carbonyl-conjugated radicals by acid-catalyzed reaction also has been studied in noncarbohydrate systems.<sup>5,27,28</sup>



The acid-catalyzed reactions of three first-formed radicals produced from D-glucose deserve further comment. Two of these radicals, **17** (Scheme 4) and **20** (Scheme 5), do not undergo the carbonyl-group-forming reaction characteristic of the other first-formed radicals (Scheme 3).<sup>6</sup> Although **17** could start along this pathway by producing the radical cation **18**, deprotonation of **18** to give a carbon-centered radical with an adjacent carbonyl group cannot take place. Formation of a carbonyl-conjugated radical from **18** would require opening of the pyranoid ring (Scheme 4). Evidence against such reaction is that **17** is less reactive than other first-formed radicals, and when it does react, no carbonyl-conjugated radical can be detected. The first-formed radical **20** also must undergo ring opening if a carbonyl-conjugated radical is to be produced; in fact, ring opening in this case is necessary to form the radical-cation **21** (Scheme 5). The radical **20**, which is the least reactive of the first-formed radicals derived from D-glucose, also gives no indication of forming a carbonyl-conjugated radical.6



The radical **22** is the third, first-formed radical produced from D-glucose that deserves further comment. This radical is noteworthy because it is the most reactive of the first-formed radicals. Protonation of **22** gives the intermediate **23** in which the leaving group

21



has an axial orientation and, therefore, the *p*-type orbitals on C-2 and the ring oxygen atom in **23** begin stabilizing the radical cation **24** as it starts to develop (Scheme 6).<sup>6</sup>



#### C. Base -Catalyzed Reaction

Proton abstraction from O-2 in the first-formed radical **25** begins a process that generates the ring-open radical anion **26** (Scheme 7). (Since an  $\alpha$ -hydroxy radical is far more acidic than its parent alcohol,<sup>2</sup> the proton attached to O-2 should be removed much more readily than any other proton in **25**.) The radical anion **26** rapidly undergoes a proton transfer to produce the semidone **27**, one of two semidiones formed from base-catalyzed reaction of a first-formed, D-glucopyranosyl radical.<sup>11,29</sup> The second of these two (**30**) is proposed to arise from the radical **28** according to the mechanism outlined in Scheme 8.<sup>11</sup> (Semidiones **27** and **30** are readily detected because for each of them the negative charge slows the rates of dimerization and reduction and thus leads to more prominent ESR spectra.<sup>11</sup>)



This page titled IV. Reactions of First-Formed Radicals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.

30



### V. Reactions of Carbonyl-Conjugated Radicals

In addition to dimerization ([] eq 12) carbonyl-conjugated radicals also can be reduced to anions in a pH-dependent reduction by Ti<sup>3+</sup> (eq 13).<sup>30</sup> At pH 1 the reaction shown in eq 13 is negligible, but at pH 7 this reaction becomes an important pathway for removing carbonyl-conjugated radicals from a reaction mixture.<sup>30</sup>

$$\begin{array}{c} O & O \\ \Pi & \Pi \\ Ti^{3+} + RCCH_2 & \longrightarrow Ti^{4+} + RCCH_2 \end{array} (13)$$

This page titled V. Reactions of Carbonyl-Conjugated Radicals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### VI. Oxidative Degradation of Carbohydrates

The oxidative degradation of carbohydrates in the presence of base is another reaction that involves radical intermediates. Such reaction of D-glucose begins with ring opening and deprotonation to give the enediolate anion **31** (Scheme 9).<sup>31,32</sup> Oxidation of this anion with O<sub>2</sub> produces the resonance stabilized radical **32**, which then is converted to the peroxy radical **33** by addition of O<sub>2</sub>. Subsequent reduction of **33** gives an anion that ultimately fragments the  $C_1$ – $C_2$  bond to give a five-carbon aldonic acid (Scheme 9). Fragmentation of other carbon–carbon bonds also takes place because base-catalyzed isomerization of the 1,2-enediolate anion **31** produces the 2,3-enediolate anion **34** (Scheme 10). Reaction of **34** with O<sub>2</sub> and fragmentation analogous to that shown in Scheme 9 cleaves the D-glucose structure into two-carbon-atom and four-carbon-atom carboxylic acids. Continued isomerization of this type (**31** to **34**) produces other enediolates that undergo similar fragmentation reactions.<sup>32</sup>



Scheme 10



This page titled VI. Oxidative Degradation of Carbohydrates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### VII. Reactions of Polysaccharides

Study of radical reactions of polymeric carbohydrates is a challenging undertaking. The reactions that occur are documented by changes in physical properties that come from polymer degradation (e.g., reduced solution viscosity, differences in solubility, and gel formation). Changes in physical properties have been recorded in the reactions of the hydroxyl radical with cellulose,<sup>8,32</sup> hemicellulose,<sup>32</sup> starch,<sup>16</sup> and various dextrans.<sup>33</sup>

Studies of dextrans [polymers of  $1\rightarrow 6$  linked  $\alpha$ -D-glucose with  $\alpha$ - $(1\rightarrow 3)$  linked side chains], for example, show essentially indiscriminate attack by hydroxyl radicals produced from reaction of Ti<sup>3+</sup> with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>.<sup>33</sup> (The polymers studied had molecular weights ranging from 10,000 to 500,000 Da) These reactions cause depolymerizations (as evidenced by reduced solution viscosity) and an increase in the number of carbonyl and carboxyl groups in the polymer fragments. Upon lowering or raising the solution pH, the first-formed radicals appear to rearrange in a manner similar to the rearrangement of first-formed radicals derived from D-glucose.

This page titled VII. Reactions of Polysaccharides is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### VIII. Summary

The hydroxyl radical and the sulfate radical anion both abstract hydrogen atoms from unprotected carbohydrates. In each case firstformed, carbon-centered radicals are produced. The hydroxyl radical is so reactive that it shows little regioselectivity when reacting with D-glucose; that is, spectroscopic evidence indicates that hydrogen-atom abstraction occurs from each of the six carbon atoms in this molecule. The hydroxyl radical remains unselective in reaction with other simple sugars that contain only pyranoid rings, but it does regioselectively abstract  $H_5$ ' from the furanoid ring in sucrose. The sulfate radical anion is a more selective abstracting agent. Hydrogen-atom abstraction occurs primarily from C-2, C-5, and C-6 in  $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranose and at C-1, C-5, and C-6 in  $\beta$ -Dglucopyranose.

First-formed radicals derived from D-glucose undergo acid-catalyzed rearrangement under strongly acidic conditions to produce carbonyl-conjugated radicals. Under basic conditions first-formed radicals produce radical anions that form semidiones. When oxygen is present in the reaction mixture, first-formed radicals react to give peroxy radicals.

This page titled VIII. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

### 8: Carboxylic Acids & Esters

Carbohydrates containing typical *O*-acyl groups are unreactive under the reduction conditions (AIBN initiation, Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, 80-110  $^{\circ}$ C) normally used for radical reactions. This lack of reactivity changes when *O*-acyl groups become part of the more complex structures found in  $\alpha$ -acyloxy ketones, methyl oxalyl esters, and *p*-cyanobenzoates. For such compounds radical reaction with Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH under normal reaction conditions replaces the acyloxy group with a hydrogen atom.

There are conditions under which a less complex *O*-acyl group (e.g., an *O*-acetyl or *O*-benzoyl group) is replaced with a hydrogen atom. One set of conditions includes raising the reaction temperature dramatically, a change with potentially destructive consequences for the compounds involved. A more attractive approach depends upon photochemically promoted electron transfer to an esterified carbohydrate. Electron transfer (both photochemical and nonphotochemical) permeates the radical reactions of carboxylic acid esters; that is, many of these reactions either involve (or may involve) electron transfer.

Another way in which *O*-acyl groups participate in radical reactions is by group migration. When a radical centered at C-1 in a pyranoid or furanoid ring has an *O*-acyl group attached to C-2, this group will migrate to C-1 when the conditions are properly selected. Such migration provides an effective method for producing 2-deoxy sugars.

Although esters of carboxylic acids are rich sources for substrates in radical-forming reactions, the acids themselves also can produce radicals. Under the proper conditions carboxylic acids generate carboxyl radicals, intermediates that lose carbon dioxide to form carbon-centered radicals. Carboxyl radicals are generated by electrolysis of carboxylate anions and by the reaction of carboxylic acids with hypervalent iodine compounds.

#### **Topic hierarchy**

II. Replacement of an Acyloxy Group with a Hydrogen Atom
III. Photochemical Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters
IV. Nonphotochemcal Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters
V. Acyloxy Group Migration
VI. Reactions of Carboxylic Acids
VII. Summary

This page titled 8: Carboxylic Acids & Esters is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### II. Replacement of an Acyloxy Group with a Hydrogen Atom

#### A. α-Acyloxy Ketones

 $\alpha$ -Acyloxy ketones react with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride by replacing the acyloxy group with a hydrogen atom (eq 1).<sup>1</sup> The importance of the carbonyl group to this replacement process is evident in the two reactions shown in eq 2. In the first of these a benzoate (1) containing a keto group forms a deoxy sugar in good yield, but in the second a benzoate (2) lacking such a group is unreactive.<sup>1</sup> Even though reactions of  $\alpha$ -acyloxy ketones lead to formation of deoxy sugars, the usefulness of such reactions is limited by the relatively small number of carbohydrates that either have the necessary substituents or easily can be converted into compounds that do.<sup>1,2</sup>



A proposed mechanism for group replacement in  $\alpha$ -acyloxy ketones is pictured in Scheme 1. Both addition/elimination and electron-transfer/elimination sequences are presented as possibilities for acyloxy group loss. The addition-elimination possibility was proposed at the time of the discovery of this reaction,<sup>1</sup> but the electron-transfer option was recognized as a viable alternative later when loss of the benzoyloxy group from  $\alpha$ -(benzoyloxy)acetophenone was shown to involve electron transfer from Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· to this  $\alpha$ -acyloxy ketone.<sup>3</sup> There is no decisive evidence favoring either mechanism.



#### **B. Methyl Oxalyl Esters**

Methyl oxalyl esters can be prepared easily by esterification of partially protected carbohydrates with methyl oxalyl chloride (Scheme 2).<sup>4</sup> These esters react with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride to replace the methyl oxalyloxy group with a hydrogen atom.<sup>4–19</sup> Studies of noncarbohydrate esters show that those derived from secondary and tertiary alcohols are suitable starting materials in this deoxygenation process, but esters of primary alcohols are not because they regenerate the alcohols from which they were synthesized.<sup>20</sup> Most of the reactions of methyl oxalyl esters of carbohydrates are of compounds in which a tertiary hydroxyl group



has been esterified. Many of these compounds are nucleosides.<sup>4,7–16</sup> One reason that most methyl oxalyl esters are formed from tertiary alcohols is that the *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds commonly used for deoxygenation in the Barton-McCombie reaction-(Section II in Chapter 12) sometimes have difficulty forming when an alcohol is tertiary.<sup>6</sup> Methyl oxalyl chloride typically esterifies tertiary alcohols without difficulty.<sup>4,6–19</sup>Another reason for selecting methyl oxalyl esters is that they are less likely to experience the thermal elimination (Chugaev reaction) that is common for tertiary *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds. In molecules with the proper structure cyclization can precede hydrogen-atom abstraction.<sup>13</sup>



A proposed mechanism for reaction of methyl oxalyl esters with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride is shown in Scheme 3. According to this mechanism the tri-*n*-butyltin radical transfers an electron to the  $\pi$  system of the ester to produce a highly stabilized radical anion (a semidione).<sup>20</sup> (Supporting the idea that such a transfer takes place is the observation that Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· reacts with oxalate esters to produce intermediates with ESR spectra characteristic of radical anions.<sup>21</sup>) Fragmentation of such a radical anion then generates a carbon-centered radical that abstracts a hydrogen atom from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH (Scheme 3).

Scheme 3  
CH<sub>3</sub>OC-COR 
$$\xrightarrow{Bu_3Sn^{\oplus}}$$
 CH<sub>3</sub>OC-COR  $\xrightarrow{CH_3OC-CO^{\oplus}}$  R  $\xrightarrow{Bu_3Sn^{\oplus}}$  RH  
a semidone R' = a carbohydrate radical

There are two significant problems associated with the synthesis and reaction of methyl oxalyl esters. One of these is the difficulty in starting- material purification that arises because these esters hydrolyze readily, in particular, during chromatography on silica gel.<sup>4,22</sup> A second problem has to do with alcohol regeneration, a significant side reaction from treatment of some methyl oxalyl esters with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride.<sup>5,20</sup>

#### C. Acetates and Trifluoroacetates

Acetylated carbohydrates do not react with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride under normal conditions (80-110 °C, 2 h, AIBN initiation), but under different, more vigorous conditions (triphenylsilane, 140 °C, 12 h, two equivalents of benzoyl peroxide) these compounds produce the corresponding deoxy sugars (eq 3).<sup>23</sup> These more vigorous conditions cause similar reaction in *O*-trifluoroacetyl substituted carbohydrates.<sup>24</sup> The need for two equivalents of benzoyl peroxide in the reaction shown in eq 3 indicates that a nonchain process is taking place.



#### D. p-Cyanobenzoates

Replacement of the benzoyl group in compound **2** with a *p*-cyanobenzoyl group converts an unreactive compound (**2**) into a reactive one (**3**) (eq 4).<sup>25</sup> One explanation for this difference in reactivity is that because a cyano group is quite effective at stabilizing a radical anion, electron transfer to compound **3** is taking place where analogous transfer to the unsubstituted benzoate **2** does not occur. Since radical anions can form by electron transfer from the tri-*n*-butyltin radical to easily reduced organic com-



pounds,<sup>21,26</sup> the electron-transfer mechanism pictured in Scheme 4 represents a possible pathway for replacement of a *p*-cyanobenzoyloxy group with a hydrogen atom.



This page titled II. Replacement of an Acyloxy Group with a Hydrogen Atom is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### III. Photochemical Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters

#### A. Acetates and Pivalates

Photochemical electron transfer from excited hexamethylphosphoramide (HMPA) to an *O*-acyl group in a carbohydrate begins a series of events that result in replacing each *O*-acyl group with a hydrogen atom. An example of a typical reaction is shown in eq  $5^{27}$  The temperature at which this reaction can be conducted (~25 °C) is synthetically far more attractive than the 140 °C needed for the corresponding thermal reaction of an acetylated carbohydrate ([] eq 3).<sup>23</sup> Photochemical electron transfer to acetates has been used for the synthesis of a number of deoxy sugars.<sup>27–34</sup> Esters of pivalic acid, which also can serve as substrates in this type of reaction,<sup>28,35–41</sup> sometimes give better yields than the corresponding acetates.<sup>28,35,36</sup>



#### 1. Reaction Mechanism

Photochemical electron transfer begins with absorption of light by HMPA to produce a highly reactive, electronically excited molecule that ejects an electron into the solution (Scheme 5).<sup>42.43</sup> The ejected electron is captured by the acylated carbohydrate to produce a radical anion that cleaves to give a carboxylate anion and a carbohydrate radical ( $\mathbb{R} \cdot$ ).<sup>43</sup> Hydrogen-atom abstraction by the carbohydrate radical then completes the replacement process (Scheme 5). The water present in the reaction mixture extends the lifetime of the solvated electron and, in so doing, increases the probability that this electron will be captured by a molecule of ester.<sup>43</sup> (The importance of water to the success of this process is demonstrated by the yields of the reactions shown in eq 6.<sup>44,45</sup>)



R<sub>1</sub>• = carbohydrate radical R<sub>2</sub> = CH<sub>3</sub> or C(CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>



#### 2. Alcohol Regeneration

Ester photolysis in aqueous HMPA sometimes regenerates the alcohol from which the ester was synthesized (eq 7).<sup>34</sup> In some instances, alcohol formation may be due to nonphotochemical ester hydrolysis. Nonphotochemical reaction provides a reasonable explanation for the easily hydrolyzed, anomeric acetate shown in eq 8 undergoing only hydrolysis (no deoxygenation) when photo-lyzed in aqueous HMPA.<sup>34</sup> Even though simple hydrolysis may be significant for some compounds, as described below, alcohol regeneration during photolysis of other, probably most, esters must occur in a different way.







Alcohol formation during ester photolysis cannot be explained, in general, by simple hydrolysis because, as is shown by the reaction pictured in Scheme 6, the yield of the alcohol can depend on the concentration of the starting ester.<sup>43</sup> One explanation for this dependence begins with the ester 5 capturing a solvated electron to form the radical anion **6**. This radical anion then abstracts a hydrogen atom from a second molecule of **5** to produce the anion **7**, which then forms an alkoxide ion that protonates to give the observed alcohol.<sup>43</sup> Since, according to this explanation, raising ester concentration should increase the rate of hydrogen-atom abstraction to give **7** but not the rate of the competing  $\beta$ -cleavage that forms R·, greater ester concentration should increase the amount of alcohol (ROH) produced at the expense of the deoxygenated product (RH).



A critical question about the mechanism for alcohol formation presented in Scheme 6 concerns whether the radical anion **6** can abstract a hydrogen atom from the ester **5**. The evidence found in eq 9 supports the idea that **5** can function as a hydrogen-atom donor. Irradiation of **5** in HMPA-d<sub>18</sub>/D<sub>2</sub>O gives a 27% yield of **8**, a reduction product that contains no deuterium. Since the only source for the second hydrogen atom at C-3 in **8** is one of the carbohydrates in the reaction mixture and since the ester **5** is the only carbohydrate present at the beginning of the reaction, abstraction from **5**, at least in the early stages of reaction, seems unavoidable. If **5** can act as a hydrogen-atom donor in the formation of **8**, it becomes a strong candidate for the same role in the conversion of the radical anion **6** into the alkoxide ion **7** (Scheme 6).



#### 3. Competition From Light-Absorbing Chromophores

If an ester contains a strongly absorbing chromophore, HMPA excitation will be effectively precluded because most of the incident light will be absorbed by the ester. Failure to excite HMPA will forestall replacement of the acyloxy group with a hydrogen atom by preventing electron transfer. The light absorbing properties of the benzoyloxy group, for example, render benzoates much less desirable participants in these electron-transfer reactions because far less incident light reaches the HMPA. This means that an important factor in reaction of simple acetates and pivalates is that these compounds contain no strongly absorbing chromophore.<sup>42</sup> An example of an ester that fails to undergo replacement of the acyloxy group due to the presence of a light-absorbing substituent (i.e., the 4,6-*O*-benzylidene group) is shown in eq 10.<sup>41</sup> Even though the benzylidene group is removed during photolysis, the aromatic chromophore remains in the solution and continues to absorb the incident light. Changing 4,6-*O*-benzylidene to 4,6-*O*-isopropylidene protection allows reaction to proceed in the normal fashion (eq 11).<sup>41</sup>





#### B. *m*-(Trifluoromethyl)benzoates

A *m*-(trifluoromethyl)benzoate will accept an electron from excited *N*-methylcarbazole (**11**) in a reaction that leads to replacement of the acyloxy group with a hydrogen atom; for example, photolysis of 2',3',5'-tri-O-[*m*-(trifluoromethyl)benzoyl]-adenosine (**9**) produces the 2',3'-dideoxyadenosine derivative **10** (eq 12).<sup>46</sup> (Most,<sup>46–52</sup> but not all,<sup>48</sup> compounds reported to undergo this type of reaction are nucleosides.) Reactions, such as the one shown in eq 12, are regioselective because the radical anion generated from a *m*-(trifluoromethyl)benzoyl group does not fragment to give a primary radical.



Photochemical electron transfer involving *m*-(trifluoromethyl)benzoates and *N*-methylcarbazole (**11**) has several advantages over electron transfer between HMPA and acetates or pivalates. One of these is that *N*-methylcarbazole has greater molar absorptivity than HMPA, a fact that renders the carbohydrate reactant less likely to stop the reaction by absorbing the incident light.<sup>52</sup> From a safety point of view, eliminating HMPA from the reaction mixture avoids handling a highly toxic, cancer-suspect agent. Because the *m*-(trifluoromethyl)benzoyl group is an effective electron acceptor (better than an acetyl or pivaloyl group) few substituents in the carbohydrate will compete with this group for an electron donated by excited *N*-methylcarbazole (**11**); consequently, reactions of *m*-(trifluoromethyl)benzoates usually are highly chemoselective. An example of this selectivity is shown in eq 13, where the benzoyl group remains bonded to C-3' while the *m*-(trifluoromethyl)benzoyl group at C-2' is replaced by a hydrogen atom.<sup>49</sup>



When reaction is conducted in the presence of  $Mg(ClO_4)_2$ , it is possible to replace even an unsubstituted benzoyloxy group with a hydrogen atom (eq  $14^{50}$ ).<sup>50–52</sup> Magnesium perchlorate affects this reaction by hindering back electron transfer, a process that competes with the fragmentation of the radical anion **13** (Scheme 7). Another factor that affects the reaction of a benzoyloxy group is the choice of the electron donor; thus, replacing *N*-methylcarbazole (**11**) with 3,6-dimethyl-9-ethylcarbazole (**12**) causes deoxygenation to take place more rapidly.<sup>50</sup> Compound **12** is superior to **11** because it forms a more stable radical cation upon electron transfer.<sup>50,53,54</sup>





This page titled III. Photochemical Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### IV. Nonphotochemcal Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters

Electron transfer to carboxylic acid esters also can occur via nonphotochemical reaction. Transfer of an electron from  $SmI_2$  to a carbohydrate *p*-methylbenzoate produces a radical anion that fragments to give a carbon-centered, carbohydrate radical and a *p*-methylbenzoate anion (Scheme 8).<sup>54.55</sup> The carbohydrate radical abstracts a hydrogen atom from a donor present in the solution to form a deoxy sugar. An example of such a reaction is shown in eq 15.



This page titled IV. Nonphotochemcal Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### V. Acyloxy Group Migration

Group migration in radical reactions follows one of two basic pathways. For aldehydo, cyano, and aryl groups, migration takes place by a sequence of elementary reactions consisting of cyclization and  $\beta$ -fragmentation steps. (An example of this type of reaction is shown in [] Scheme 8 of Chapter 10). Group migration in esters is governed by a different mechanism, one that has been the subject of considerable investigation. To follow the progress in understanding this reaction, it is useful to view the advances in mechanistic discovery in a chronological order.

This page titled V. Acyloxy Group Migration is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### VI. Reactions of Carboxylic Acids

Carboxylic acids cannot be converted directly into carboxyl radicals, but they can form these radicals indirectly. One method for indirect formation calls for converting the acid into its anion, which then is subjected to electrolysis (Scheme 22).<sup>95</sup> Other indirect methods require formation of carboxylic acid derivatives, such as esters of *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione, compounds that produce carboxyl radicals by photochemically initiated reaction (Scheme 23).<sup>96</sup> Carboxyl radicals expel carbon dioxide to produce carbon-centered radicals (eq 22).



This page titled VI. Reactions of Carboxylic Acids is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### VII. Summary

Carbohydrates with simple acyloxy groups are unreactive under conditions normally used in reduction reactions. Reduction does occur, however, if the reaction temperature is raised to 140 °C and the reaction time is greatly extended. Esters with special structural features undergo reduction at lower temperatures; thus, both  $\alpha$ -acyloxy ketones and methyl oxalyl esters react with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride at or below 110 °C.

Photochemical electron transfer provides a way for acyloxy groups to be replaced by hydrogen atoms under mild reaction conditions (at room temperature in neutral solution). Electron transfer occurs when either excited HMPA or *N*-methylcarbazole donates an electron to an ester to form a radical anion. Fragmentation of the radical anion generates a carbon-centered radical that then abstracts a hydrogen atom to produce a deoxygenated compound. Regeneration of the partially protected carbohydrate from which the ester was synthesized sometimes competes with deoxygenation.

Acyloxy group migration to a radical center on an adjacent carbon atom is a reaction that is useful in the synthesis of 2-deoxy sugars. Early proposals for the mechanism of this reaction turned out not to be correct. The considerable investigation that has taken place since then has shown that this reaction is likely to involve the formation of an intimate ion pair consisting of a carbox-ylate anion and a radical cation. Recombination of this pair produces a new radical, one that has undergone group migration.

Carboxylic acids produce carboxyl radicals by reaction with hypervalent iodine reagents or electrolysis of carboxylate anions. These radicals expel carbon dioxide to form carbon-centered radicals. Electrochemical reaction results in radical coupling, or if the radical is further oxidized, carbocation formation. Reaction of carboxylic acids with hypervalent iodine reagents often is conducted in the presence of heteroaromatic compounds, where radical addition to the aromatic ring takes place.

This page titled VII. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

### 9: Phosphoric Acid Esters

Two types of radical reaction of phosphoric acid esters are important in carbohydrate chemistry. One of these is migration of a phosphatoxy group from C-2 to C-1 in a pyranoid or furanoid ring (eq 1),<sup>1</sup> and the other is elimination of this group from C-3' in nucleotide derivatives (eq 2).<sup>2</sup> Even though these reactions are different in their outcome and very specific in terms of the type of structure undergoing reaction, they are mechanistically similar. An indication of this similarity is that each reaction begins by forming a radical in which a phosphatoxy group is  $\beta$ -related to the radical center (eq 3).



R = an aryl or alkyl group

#### **Topic hierarchy**

II. Phosphatoxy Group Migration

- III. Radical Cation Formation from Nucleotides
- IV. Migration Reactions in Other β-Ester Radicals

V. Summary

This page titled 9: Phosphoric Acid Esters is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### **II. Phosphatoxy Group Migration**

#### A. Reaction Mechanism

Initially two mechanisms were considered as possibilities for phosphatoxy group migration of the type shown in [] eq 1. (This same mechanistic choice exists for acyloxy group migration and is discussed in Section V.A of Chapter 8.) The first of these mechanisms consisted of a pair of competing, concerted reactions, each of which passed through a cyclic transition state (Scheme 1).<sup>3–7</sup> A basic difference between this pair was that in one reaction the same oxygen atom was bonded to the carbon-atom framework both before and after migration, but in the other the framework had a different oxygen atom attached after migration. Proposing migration via a combination of these two reactions made it possible to explain experiments with oxygen-labeled substrates in which only a portion of the labeled oxygen was attached to the carbon-atom framework after migration. The results from early studies favored this two-reaction explanation,<sup>3–7</sup> but those from later investigations required it to be changed because the later studies showed that ionic intermediates were involved in the migration process.



A mechanism that satisfies the ionic-intermediate requirement is shown in Scheme 2, where the  $\beta$ -phosphatoxy radical **1** fragments heterolytically to give the contact ion pair (CIP) **2**.<sup>8–13</sup> This ion pair recombines in low polarity solvents to form the group-migrated radical **3**, but in more polar solvents the CIP also can separate to become a solvent-separated ion pair (SSIP, **4**) and then free ions **5**.<sup>10</sup>



Critical support for the ion-pair mechanism for phosphatoxy group migration comes from laser-flash-photolysis (LFP) experiments. Both the SSIP **9** and the diffusively free radical cation **10** can be detected in studies where LFP generates the radical **6** (Scheme 3).<sup>12</sup> Evidence for the CIP in this reaction is indirect presumably because its lifetime is too short to permit direct detection. Study of reaction rates in solvents of different polarity supports the idea that the radical **6** is passing through a common intermediate in forming either the migrated radical **8** or the SSIP **9**. A reasonable conclusion is that the common intermediate is the contact ion pair **7** (Scheme 3).<sup>12</sup> Entropies of activation, which are the same for ion-pair formation in high polarity solvents and group migration in solvents of low polarity, also favor a common intermediate for which **7** is the prime candidate.<sup>10,12</sup> Generalizing these results leads to the reaction mechanism proposed in Scheme 2. (The wording in this paragraph also is found in Section V.A.5 of Chapter 8 because the information contained is pertinent to the mechanism of acyloxy group migration.)





Phosphatoxy group migrations are not wide-spread in carbohydrate chemistry; in fact, all reported reactions involve migration from C-2 to C-1 in a pyranoid or furanoid ring. This situation exists because the stabilization afforded by the ring oxygen atom is critical at the transition state leading to radical-cation formation. Examining the reactivity of the noncarbohydrate radicals shown in equations 4 and 5 is instructive. An oxygen atom must be fully able to participate in radical-cation stabilization for heterolytic bond breaking to occur (eq 4).<sup>14</sup> Replacing the methoxy group in the substrate in the reaction shown in eq 4 with an acetyl group, as is done in the reaction shown in eq 5, prevents radical-cation formation because an oxygen atom with an electron-withdrawing group attached is unable to stabilize sufficiently the transition state leading to the radical-cation intermediate.<sup>14</sup>



#### **B. Relative Reaction Rates**

Relative rate constants for phosphatoxy group migration in the reactions of the five hexopyranosyl bromides **11-15** are given in Table 1.<sup>15</sup> The rate constant for reaction of the 6-deoxy bromide **14** is substantially larger than those for the other bromides. Replacing the electron-withdrawing acyloxy group at C-6 with a hydrogen atom makes the radical cation **16** more stable and, in so doing, stabilizes the transition state leading to it (eq 6).







The rate constant for reaction of the D-mannopyranosyl bromide **15** is decidedly smaller than those for reactions of the bromides **11-14**. One factor that contributes to this reduced reactivity is the enhanced stability of the radical **17** when compared to the corresponding radicals derived from the other bromides (**11-14**). Only **17** remains in a relatively strain-free,  ${}^{4}C_{1}$  conformation while taking advantage of the stabilizing interaction of parallel  $p_{0}$ ,  $p_{c}$ , and  $\sigma^{*}$  orbitals (Table 2).<sup>15</sup> To benefit from parallel-orbital stabilization, the radicals derived from bromides **11-14** must assume less stable conformations; for example, the radical derived from **11** adopts the B<sub>2,5</sub> boat conformation **18**.<sup>15</sup> As migration takes place in each of the radicals **17-19**,  $p_{0}$ ,  $p_{c}$ ,  $\sigma^{*}$  orbital stabilization is lost, but for radicals **18** and **19** this loss is compensated for, at least in part, by movement toward a more stable,  ${}^{4}C_{1}$  conformation. Such compensation means that the transition states for radical-cation formation from **18** and **19** are not as high in energy as that for reaction of **17**; consequently, group migration for the radical **17** is slower than for **18** and **19**.



Table 2. Conformations of pyranos-1-yl radicals



Pertinent information about formation and reactivity of radical cations comes from the study of noncarbohydrate systems.<sup>16,17</sup> Nucleophilic trapping of the radical cation **21** by methanol (k< 1 x  $10^3$  M<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>) is slow compared to hydrogen-atom abstraction from 1,4-cyclohexadiene (k = 6 x  $10^5$  M<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>) (Scheme 4).<sup>17</sup> To the extent that this observation is a general one, radical cations can be expected to have greater radical reactivity than cationic reactivity.



#### C. Stereoselectivity

The reactions pictured in Schemes 5 and 6 show that phosphatoxy group migration is a stereospecific process; thus, the epimeric radicals **22** and **24** give the product radicals **23** and **25**, respectively.<sup>1,15</sup> Once migration has taken place, stereoselective deuterium abstraction completes the reaction. For the radical **23** abstraction is highly stereoselective, but it is much less so for the radical **25**. Shielding of the  $\alpha$  face of **23** by the axial phosphatoxy group causes deuterium to be abstracted from the  $\beta$  face of this radical (Scheme 5). The equatorial phosphatoxy group in **25** is not nearly as effective at forcing Bu<sub>3</sub>SnD to the opposite face of the pyranoid ring (Scheme 6).



Differential shielding of the faces of a pyranoid ring affects the ability of the phosphates **26** and **27** to undergo new ring formation (eq 7). The phosphate **26** gives a decidedly higher yield of the glycal **28** than does its epimer **27**.<sup>18</sup> The substantially lower product yield from reaction of **27** is attributed to steric hindrance by the nearby phosphate counter ion during cyclization of the radical



cation **29** (Scheme 7). When **29** is generated from **26**, however, the counter ion is on the opposite face of the ring and does not impede cyclization (Scheme 8).



This page titled II. Phosphatoxy Group Migration is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### III. Radical Cation Formation from Nucleotides

Addition of the phenylthiyl radical to the unsaturated nucleotide **30** produces the carbon-centered radical **31** (Scheme 9).<sup>2</sup> This radical (**31**) either abstracts a hydrogen atom to give an epimeric mixture of reduced nucleotides or fragments the C–O bond at C-3' heterolytically to give a phosphate anion and a radical cation.<sup>19</sup> Fragmentation is assisted by polar solvents.<sup>20</sup> Since heterolytic fragmentation of **31** also depends on the ability of the substituent at C-3' to stabilize a negative charge as the C–O bond breaks, forming a highly stabilized anion is critical; thus, fragmentation is competitive with hydrogen-atom abstraction when the anion produced is a phosphate (Scheme 9) but not a benzoate (eq 8).<sup>2</sup>



Additional details concerning ion-pair formation from the unsaturated nucleotide **30** are given in Scheme 10.<sup>21–24</sup> A contact ion pair (CIP), a solvent-separated ion pair (SSIP), and diffusively free ions all are included in this Scheme. Labeling experiments show how the various ion pairs participate in the reaction. Since no scrambling of the oxygen label in the phosphate group in the substrate **30** occurs after partial reaction, the CIP either cannot return to the radical **31** or if it does, no reorganization occurs within this ion pair.<sup>23</sup> Since oxygen scrambling can take place in the SSIP, the labeling experiments show that once this intermediate is reached, there is no return to the radical **31**.



Mechanistic studies using both alkyl- and arylthiols show that the equilibrium between the nucleotide **30** and the adduct radical **31** depends on the identity of the R group in the thiyl radical (Scheme 10). In this equilibrium alkylthiyl radicals favor adduct formation to a greater extent than do arylthiyl radicals. When the method of formation produces a low radical concentration, conditions can exist in which alkylthiyl radicals will form a sufficient concentration of adduct radicals (**31**) for reaction to proceed at an observable rate, but arylthiyl radicals do not produce the necessary radical concentration.<sup>22</sup>



Study of the rates of radical reaction of thymidine, cytidine, adenosine, and guanosine derivatives show that guanosines are by far the most reactive.<sup>23</sup> (The rate of reaction of guanosine derivatives is too fast to be measured.) This enhanced reactivity is attributed to rapid, internal electron transfer from the guanine moiety to the radical-cation portion of the molecule (Scheme 11).<sup>23,25–27</sup> Electron transfer of this type may be fast enough ( $k > 1 \ge 10^9 \text{ s}^{-1}$ ) to be taking place within the CIP.<sup>23</sup> One estimate of the rate constant for this type of electron transfer is 1.4 x 10<sup>8</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>.<sup>27</sup>



This page titled III. Radical Cation Formation from Nucleotides is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### IV. Migration Reactions in Other $\beta$ -Ester Radicals

Other groups (sulfonyloxy,<sup>28,29</sup> bromo,<sup>29</sup> nitroxy,<sup>28</sup> and protonated hydroxyl<sup>30</sup>) that are  $\beta$ -related to a carbon-centered radical can react to give radical cations. The migration of acyloxy groups, discussed in Section V of Chapter 8, also is likely to involve radical cations.

This page titled IV. Migration Reactions in Other  $\beta$ -Ester Radicals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### V. Summary

Under the proper conditions a phosphatoxy group that is  $\beta$ -related to a radical center will fragment to produce an ion pair consisting of a phosphate anion and a radical cation. This heterolytic fragmentation is favored by polar solvents and formation of radical cations at least as stable as those arising from enol ethers. When the radical center is at C-1 in a pyranoid or furanoid ring, the ion pair recombines to give a new radical in which phosphatoxy group migration to C-1 is accompanied by radical translocation to C-2. If the radical center in a nucleotide is at C-4' and a phosphatoxy group is located at C-3', heterolytic cleavage of the C<sub>3'</sub>-O bond does not lead to group migration; rather, products arising from hydrogen-atom abstraction, solvent capture, or proton loss are observed.

This page titled V. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

### 10: Aldehydes & Ketones

Aldehydes and, to a lesser extent, ketones participate in radical reactions of carbohydrates by generating intermediate, oxygencentered and carbon-centered radicals. The radical addition pictured below provides an example of conversion of a carbonyl compound into an oxygen-centered radical.

$$R \cdot + \bigvee_{C}^{O} \xrightarrow{O^{+}}_{I} - \stackrel{I}{C}_{I} - (1)$$

I. Introduction

II. Intramolecular Addition of Carbon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydo and Keto Groups

III. Migration of Aldehydo Groups

IV. Addition of Tin- and Silicon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydes

V. Reaction of Samarium(II) Iodide with Aldehydes and Ketones

VI. Ketone Photolysis

VII. Cyclization of Acylsilanes

VIII. Reactions of  $\alpha$ -Acyloxyketones

IX. Summary

This page titled 10: Aldehydes & Ketones is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### I. Introduction

Aldehydes and, to a lesser extent, ketones participate in radical reactions of carbohydrates by generating intermediate, oxygencentered and carbon-centered radicals. The radical addition pictured in eq 1 provides an example of conversion of a carbonyl compound into an oxygen-centered radical, while that in eq 2 involves transforming an aldehyde or ketone into a carbon-centered radical. [The radicals produced in the latter reaction (eq 2) are described as samarium ketyls in recognition of their partial radicalanion character.] Other reactions that generate radicals from aldehydes and ketones are photochemical bond homolysis (eq 3) and fragmentation of  $\alpha$ -acyloxy ketones (eq 4). The discussion in this chapter centers on the types of compounds that can be produced by these reactions and the mechanisms for their formation.

This page titled I. Introduction is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.


# II. Intramolecular Addition of Carbon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydo and Keto Groups

The possibility of isolating a product from intermolecular addition of a carbon-centered radical to an aldehyde or ketone is small due to the ready reversibility of this reaction ([] eq 1), but the possibility of product isolation increases considerably if the reaction becomes an intramolecular addition of a carbon-centered radical to an aldehydo or keto group to give a radical centered on an oxygen atom that is attached to a five- or six-membered ring.

An example of such a reaction is shown in Scheme 1, where the carbon-centered radical **2**, generated from 6-bromohexanal (**1**), is converted reversibly into the cyclic alkoxy radical **3**.<sup>1</sup> Hydrogen-atom abstraction by **3** from tri-*n*-butyltin hydride has a substantially larger rate constant than that for abstraction by **2**; consequently, even though ring opening is more rapid than ring closure, reaction produces cyclohexanol as the major product and hexanal as a minor one.



Intramolecular hydrogen-atom abstraction from the aldehydo group in **2** is a very minor process. The inability of this abstraction to compete with ring formation in a noncarbohydrate system is echoed in the reactions of carbohydrate radicals containing aldehydo groups. The reaction shown in Scheme 2 is one of several discussed in this chapter where hydrogen-atom abstraction from an aldehydo group is possible but does not take place.<sup>2</sup>



Even though ring opening always is a possibility for cyclic alkoxy radicals, this transformation sometimes does not take place; for example, the reaction producing the alkoxy radical **5** from the ring-open radical **4** is not reversible (Scheme 2).<sup>2,3</sup> Failure of the



cyclohexane ring in 5 to open is demonstrated by reaction of the nitrate ester **9** (Scheme 3).<sup>3</sup> Treatment of **9** with  $Bu_3SnH$  produces **5** (and ultimately the product **7**) but ring opening to give **4** does not happen. If the ring-open radical **4** were formed, the product **8** also would be produced in this reaction, but since no **8** could be detected, the conclusion is that the alkoxy radical **5** does not undergo ring opening.<sup>3</sup>



In contrast to cyclization of the aldehydo radical **4** ([] Scheme 2) the closely related keto radical **11** (Scheme 4) does not form a new ring system.<sup>4</sup> Either the greater steric hindrance inherent in producing a tertiary alkoxy radical or rapid ring opening of such a strained intermediate or both are sufficient to prevent **11** from forming a new ring system. These reasons for failure to form a new ring draw support from the reactions of noncarbohydrate radicals **13** and **14** (Scheme 5).<sup>5</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 5 where R is a methyl group, hydrogen-atom abstraction from tri-*n*-butyltin hydride is done exclusively by the open-chain radical **13**. When R is a hydrogen atom, abstraction from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH occurs only after conversion of the open-chain radical **12** into the cyclic alkoxy radical **14**.



Scheme 5



100%

R = H

 $R = CH_3$ 

99%



The reactivates of the aldehydo radical **4** ([] Scheme 2) and the keto radical **11** ([] Scheme 4) raise a number of questions (listed below) about participation of keto and aldehydo groups in radical cyclization reactions. Many of these questions have been answered by study of related compounds. Their answers provide insight into the factors that control the cyclization process. These questions and their answers are:







1. Roger W. Binkley (Cleveland State University) and Edith R. Binkley (Cleveland Heights-University Heights school system)

This page titled II. Intramolecular Addition of Carbon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydo and Keto Groups is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# III. Migration of Aldehydo Groups

A possible fate for an alkoxy radical formed by cyclization is ring opening to produce a radical different from the one that initially formed the ring.<sup>4,13–17</sup> A new direction in ring opening is likely if it produces a more stable radical. In the reaction shown in  $\Box$  Scheme 8 such a situation exists.<sup>14,15</sup> Ring opening of the alkoxy radical **20** gives the resonance-stabilized, benzylic radical **21** rather than the unstabilized radical **19** that reacted to produce the ring system. This alternative ring opening (**20** $\rightarrow$ **21**) completes an addition-fragmentation sequence that causes migration of the aldehydo group.

This page titled III. Migration of Aldehydo Groups is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# IV. Addition of Tin- and Silicon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydes

Although the reactions discussed thus far have involved addition of carbon-centered radicals to carbonyl groups, other types of radicals, including tin- and silicon-centered ones, also add to aldehydes and ketones. Reaction of the tri-*n*-butyltin radical with a carbonyl group generates a tin ketyl, a radical with considerable negative charge on the oxygen atom. As the reaction in Scheme 9<sup>18</sup> shows, tin ketyls undergo internal radical addition to electron-deficient, C–C multiple bonds.<sup>18–22</sup> These ketyls also react with C–N double bonds,<sup>23</sup> and they produce pinacols upon addition to carbonyl groups (eq 8).<sup>24</sup> Internal addition also can occur when a silicon-centered radical adds to an aldehydo group, as happens in the reaction shown in eq 9.<sup>25</sup>



This page titled IV. Addition of Tin- and Silicon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydes is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# V. Reaction of Samarium(II) Iodide with Aldehydes and Ketones

Reaction of an aldehyde or ketone with samarium(II) iodide produces a samarium ketyl.<sup>26–39</sup> These ketyls add intramolecularly to appropriately positioned carbon–carbon<sup>25–33</sup> (Scheme 10)<sup>26</sup> and carbon–nitrogen<sup>34–37</sup> (eq 10)<sup>34</sup> double bonds. Such reactions are reminiscent of the addition of typical carbon-centered radicals to multiple bonds.



When samarium(II) iodide reacts with compounds containing two aldehydo groups, the first is converted into a samarium ketyl that then adds to the second. This addition depends upon proper separation between the reacting groups;<sup>40–53</sup> accordingly, pinacols with five-membered<sup>40,49-53</sup> (eq 11)<sup>40</sup> and six-membered<sup>41–48</sup> (eq 12)<sup>41</sup> rings form easily. It is not necessary for both interacting groups in a molecule to be aldehydo groups; pinacols also arise when one<sup>49–52</sup> (eq 13, R = H)<sup>49</sup> or both (eq 13,  $R = CH_2SiMe_2C_6H_5$ )<sup>53</sup> are keto groups. Complexation of the ketyl and carbonyl oxygen atoms with SmI<sub>2</sub> forces a cis relation between the hydroxyl groups in the products (Scheme 11).<sup>42</sup> Pinacol formation and other reactions of aldehydes and ketones with samarium(II) iodide is revisited in Chapter 20, where a broader discussion of the interaction of SmI<sub>2</sub> with carbohydrate derivatives takes place.





Scheme 11 Cel HIO<sub>4</sub> нò ÓМе 12 Smill ÓМе - 2 HOSm<sup>III</sup>I<sub>2</sub> 2 H<sub>2</sub>O но C<sub>6</sub>H Ce нс но нò ÓМе ÓМе 44% 9%

This page titled V. Reaction of Samarium(II) Iodide with Aldehydes and Ketones is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VI. Ketone Photolysis

#### A. α-Cleavage Reactions

When photolysis of ketones causes homolytic cleavage of a bond between the carbonyl group and one of the  $\alpha$  carbon atoms either a pair of radicals or a diradical forms. (Such a reaction is known as an  $\alpha$ -cleavage or Norrish Type I reaction.)  $\alpha$ -Cleavage of simple ketones does not take place in solution, although it does occur in the gas phase. Cleavage in solution happens only when stabilized radicals are produced. This means that the reaction shown in [] eq 3 is successful for nonvolatile compounds such as carbohydrates only when the radical center in R $\cdot$  is stabilized in some way (e.g., by having an oxygen or nitrogen atom attached). Most carbohydrates that contain a keto group will have at least one pathway for forming an oxygen-stabilized radical by  $\alpha$ -cleavage.<sup>54</sup>

When the keto group in a carbohydrate is not part of a ring system,  $\alpha$ -cleavage produces a radical pair. Most reactions of this type involve derivatives of nucleosides, nucleotides, or oligonucleotides.<sup>55–67</sup> Scheme 12 describes such a reaction, one in which the nucleoside member (**22**) of the radical pair produced by  $\alpha$ -cleavage undergoes two characteristic radical reactions, namely, hydrogen-atom abstraction (when an effective donor, such as a thiol, is present) and addition of O<sub>2</sub> (when molecular oxygen is one of the reactants).<sup>61</sup>



Although  $\alpha$ -cleavage in nucleotides produces radicals that undergo typical radical reactions, such as those shown in Scheme 12, many of these radicals also undergo a heterolytic cleavage to form radical cations and phosphate anions. An example of such a reaction is shown in Scheme 13, where the radical **23** cleaves its C-3'–O bond to generate the radical cation **24** and a phosphate anion.<sup>56</sup> (Radical-cation formation of the type shown in Scheme 13 is discussed in Section III of Chapter 9.)



 $\alpha$ -Cleavage in a cyclic ketone, a reaction that occurs in many carbohydrates, is an internal process that produces a diradical.<sup>68</sup> Diradicals of this type usually reform a ring system, but often after the loss of carbon monoxide.<sup>68</sup> Scheme 14 describes formation of the diradical **25**, a reaction that is followed by loss of carbon monoxide to give a second diradical, one that produces a new ring system by radical combination.<sup>69</sup> The  $\alpha$ -cleavage shown in Scheme 14 is driven, at least in part, by transition-state stabilization due to the developing radical center at C-6 being stabilized by an attached oxygen atom.





#### **B. Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction Reactions**

Ketones that do not undergo  $\alpha$ -cleavage have another option for diradical formation, namely, internal abstraction that occurs when a hydrogen atom comes with bonding distance of an excited carbonyl group; thus, in the reaction is shown in Scheme 15, 1,6-hydrogen-atom abstraction produces a diradical that then forms a spiro compound by radical combination.<sup>70</sup> If a 1,5-hydrogen-atom transfer takes place, the resulting 1,4-diradical fragments as shown in Scheme 16.<sup>71</sup> (Many carbohydrates undergo this type of reaction, which is known as a Norrish Type II process.<sup>72</sup>)



If an excited ketone does not undergo internal abstraction or  $\alpha$ -cleavage, hydrogen-atom abstraction from another molecule sometimes takes place.<sup>73</sup> Such abstraction requires a transition state in which there is considerable radical stabilization. Hydrogen-atom abstraction by excited benzophenone from the benzylidene acetal **26** meets this requirement by producing the highly stabilized radical **27** (Scheme 17).<sup>74</sup> Radical combination completes this reaction.



Scheme 17

(C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>2</sub>C=O <u>hv</u> (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>2</sub>C=O<sup>\*</sup>



This page titled VI. Ketone Photolysis is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VII. Cyclization of Acylsilanes

Acylsilanes undergo radical cyclization that involves addition of a carbon-centered radical to the carbonyl carbon atom in the acylsilyl group (Scheme 18).<sup>75</sup> This reaction is unusual in that migration of the silyl group to the radical center on oxygen stops reaction that would reverse ring formation.



This page titled VII. Cyclization of Acylsilanes is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VIII. Reactions of α-Acyloxyketones

 $\alpha$ -Acyloxyketones are compounds that undergo replacement of the acyloxy group with a hydrogen atom upon reaction with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride. Reactions of these compounds are discussed in Section II.A of Chapter 8 along with other reactions of carboxylic acid esters.

This page titled VIII. Reactions of  $\alpha$ -Acyloxyketones is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# IX. Summary

Aldehydo and keto groups in carbohydrates react internally with carbon-centered radicals to form cyclic alkoxy radicals. Most of these reactions involve aldehydes; both five- and six-membered rings can be formed. When ring opening of the newly formed alkoxy radical takes place, it does so to produce the more stable of the two possible, carbon-centered radicals. Such ring opening can be part of a process that causes aldehydo group migration.

Tin-centered radicals add to aldehydes to generate tin ketyls, intermediates that can add to multiple bonds. Samarium ketyls, more common than their tin counterparts, undergo similar reaction. Reaction of samarium(II) iodide with carbohydrates containing two appropriately placed aldehydo groups converts one group to a ketyl that then adds to the second in route to formation of a pinacol.

Ketone photolysis forms carbon-centered radicals by breaking the bond between the carbonyl carbon atom and one of the  $\alpha$  carbon atoms (an  $\alpha$ -cleavage). Typical radical reactions then take place; in addition,  $\alpha$ -cleavage in some nucleotides and oligonucleotides is followed by radical cation formation.  $\alpha$ -Cleavage and hydrogen-atom abstraction take place in cyclic ketones to produce diradicals.

This page titled IX. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 11: Synthesis of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds

The first step in conducting most radical reactions is the preparation of a radical precursor. For many of such compounds (e.g., halides, esters, and acetals) this preparation needs little, if any, discussion, as the reactions involved are among the most common in organic chemistry. *O*-Thiocarbonyl compounds [xanthates, (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides, aryl thionocarbonates, cyclic thionocarbonates, and thionoesters] are different because their preparation is less common, and the potential difficulties in their formation less well known. Because these compounds are rich sources of carbon-centered radicals and because being able to prepare them efficiently is vital to their use, understanding the synthesis of *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds is integral to using them in radical formation. This chapter, targeted at the synthesis of these compounds, is a companion to the one that follows, where radical reactions of *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds are discussed.

Topic hierarchy
II. Xanthates
III. (Thiocarbonyl)imidazolides
IV. Aryl Thionocarbonates
V. Cyclic Thionocarbonates
VI. Thionoesters
VII. Factors Affecting O-Thiocarbonyl Compound Synthesis
VIII. Summary

This page titled 11: Synthesis of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### **II. Xanthates**

#### A. The Carbon Disulfide–Methyl Iodide Procedure (The Standard Procedure for Xanthate Synthesis)

The most common method for synthesizing *O*-[(alkylthio)thiocarbonyl] esters of carbohydrates (carbohydrate xanthates) begins by forming an alkoxide ion from reaction of sodium hydride with a compound containing an unprotected hydroxyl group.<sup>1</sup> (Imidazole usually is present in the reaction mixture to promote alkoxide ion formation.) Once formed, the alkoxide ion adds to carbon disulfide, and the resulting anion is alkylated by methyl iodide. This procedure, which is the standard one for xanthate synthesis, is summarized in Scheme 1.

Scheme 1 ROH  $\frac{NaH}{-H_2}$  RO<sup>O</sup> Na<sup>O</sup>  $\xrightarrow{CS_2}$  ROC  $-S^O$  Na<sup>O</sup>  $\frac{CH_{31}}{-Nal}$  ROC SMe

#### B. Modifications of the Standard Procedure

#### 1. Reagents and Reaction Conditions

Modification of the procedure outlined in Scheme 1 sometimes is necessary to improve reactant solubility and reactivity. Minor changes take the form of replacing the normal reaction solvent (THF) with *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide<sup>2,3</sup> or methyl sulfoxide.<sup>4–8</sup> When methyl sulfoxide is the reaction solvent, sodium hydroxide usually replaces sodium hydride as the deprotonating base.<sup>4,6,7</sup>

#### 2. Phase-Transfer Reaction

Phase-transfer reaction provides a way for synthesizing xanthates that are difficult or impossible to prepare by the standard procedure. Anomeric xanthates, compounds that provide a synthetic challenge due to their instability, can be produced by phase-transfer reaction (eq 1).<sup>9</sup> This reaction also demonstrates the potential of the phase-transfer procedure in preparing xanthates containing base-labile groups.



#### C. The Phenyl Chlorodithioformate Procedure

Esterification of an alcohol with an acid chloride provides another, but rarely used procedure for xanthate synthesis. Heating the partially protected disaccharide **1** with dibutyltin oxide produces a stannylene complex that then reacts regioselectively with phenyl chlorodithioformate to give the xanthate **2** (Scheme 2).<sup>10</sup> This reaction provides a route to carbohydrate xanthates that contain an O-[(arylthio)thiocarbonyl] group. These arylthio derivatives cannot be prepared by the iodide displacement that is part of the standard xanthate synthesis.





This page titled II. Xanthates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## III. (Thiocarbonyl)imidazolides

Formation of a (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide (3) generally involves heating a partially protected carbohydrate with *N*,*N*-thiocarbonyldiimidazole (4, TCDI) under reflux in tetrahydrofuran (or 1,2-dichloroethane) and isolating the reaction product by chromatography (eq 2).<sup>1,11</sup> Nearly every synthesis of a (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide follows this procedure, although acetonitrile,<sup>12–14</sup> toluene,<sup>15–17</sup> and *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide<sup>18,19</sup> occasionally are used as reaction solvents.

$$ROH + N = \frac{N}{C} = \frac{N}$$

There are scattered reports of (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides forming more slowly than might be expected under typical reaction conditions. One such report concerns the methyl glycoside **5**, a compound that reacts so slowly that prior activation with bis(tributyltin)oxide is necessary to increase the nucleophilicity of **5** to the point that (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide formation proceeds at an acceptable rate (Scheme 3).<sup>20</sup>



Reduced reactivity in nucleosides sometimes is brought about by *N*-benzoylation. The *N*-benzoylguanosine and adenosine derivatives **6** and **8** require treatment with TCDI (**4**) for 70 and 85 hours, respectively, for complete reaction to take place; in contrast, derivatives lacking the *N*-benzoyl group (**7** and **9**), need only four hours for reaction to reach completion (eq 3).<sup>21</sup>



Even though (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides (**3**) can be prepared readily by the reaction shown in [] eq 2, this procedure has several minor drawbacks. One of these is that *N*,*N*-thiocarbonyldiimidazole (**4**, TCDI) needs to be kept in a dry atmosphere because it is unstable in the presence of atmospheric moisture.<sup>22</sup> Another is that imidazole, produced as a byproduct in this reaction (eq 2), may catalyze unwanted transformation of some compounds.<sup>22</sup> Finally, the cost of TCDI (**4**) is high enough to be a factor in deciding upon its use, particularly in large-scale reactions.

In an effort to overcome possible disadvantages associated with use of (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides, some researchers have proposed switching to related compounds. Thionocarbamates formed from 1,1'-thiocarbonyldi-2,2'-pyridone (**10**), a reagent stable to



atmospheric moisture, are effective replacements for (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides (eq 4),<sup>22</sup> but detracting from the use of this new reagent (**10**) is its even greater cost that TCDI.



Some thionocarbamates synthesized from the inexpensive phenyl isothiocyanate (**11**) (eq 5) are capable of radical formation.<sup>23,24</sup> Although producing a thionocarbamate by reacting a partially protected carbohydrate with phenyl isothiocyanate (**11**) solves the "cost problem", it has the disadvantage that this reaction requires the presence of a strong base because hydroxyl group deprotonation is needed for this reaction to occur at an acceptable rate (eq 5). Also, not all thionocarbamates prepared from **11** form radicals under typical reaction conditions.<sup>25</sup> None of the alternatives to (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides have been widely adopted.



This page titled III. (Thiocarbonyl)imidazolides is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### IV. Aryl Thionocarbonates

#### A. Reaction with Phenoxythiocarbonyl Chloride

#### 1. DMAP-Catalyzed Reactions

The standard procedure for synthesis of phenyl thionocarbonates is illustrated by the reaction shown in eq  $6.^{26,27}$ Phenoxythiocarbonyl chloride (12) in the presence of the powerful, acylation catalyst 4-dimethylaminopyridine (13, DMAP) esterifies most carbohydrates with ease. Even though pyridine itself can be used in some situations, the superior catalytic effect of DMAP makes it the reagent of choice. In those rare instances when thionocarbonate formation by the standard procedure is too slow, switching the reaction solvent from acetonitrile to *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide or methyl sulfoxide often is sufficient to increase the rate of reaction to a synthetically acceptable level.<sup>28</sup>

$$i \cdot \Pr_{2}Si \longrightarrow O \to OH = Me_{2}N \longrightarrow MH_{2}$$

$$Ar = C_{6}H_{5} \quad B = \bigvee_{N \to N}^{N} \bigvee_{N \to N}^{H_{2}} DMAP = Me_{2}N \longrightarrow MK_{2}$$

$$M = Me_{2}N \longrightarrow MK_{2}$$

DMAP (13) causes acylation rates to increase by factors as large as 10,000 when compared to reactions catalyzed by pyridine.<sup>29</sup> One possibility for the greater catalytic effect of DMAP is that it is a stronger base than pyridine. (The  $pK_b$  for pyridine is 8.71 and that for DMAP is 4.30.<sup>29</sup>) This explanation for the difference in reactivity, however, is not sufficient to explain DMAP's superior catalytic ability because triethylamine ( $pK_b$  = 3.35), an even stronger base than DMAP, has a catalytic effect similar to that of pyridine.<sup>29</sup>

A better explanation for DMAP being such an effective catalyst is that it reacts with acid chlorides, such as **12**, to form high concentrations of *N*-acylpyridinium salts (eq 7).<sup>29</sup> These salts are better able to transfer an acyl group to a nucleophile than is the acid chloride itself. Resonance stabilization (two of the principal resonance contributors are shown in eq 7) increases the equilibrium concentration of an *N*-acylpyridinium salt, and charge delocalization increases the reactivity of this powerful acylating agent by creating loosely bound ion pairs.

The mildly basic conditions for thionocarbonate synthesis stand in contrast to the strongly basic ones used for xanthate preparation.<sup>26</sup> Avoiding strongly basic conditions often is necessary in nucleoside synthesis; for example, thionocarbonates such as **14** can be prepared without difficulty (by the procedure outlined in [] eq 6), but attempted synthesis of the corresponding xanthates results in starting material decomposition.<sup>27</sup> The specific reason xanthate synthesis fails in this case is that it requires conditions too basic for the stability of nucleosides protected by the **1**,**1**,**3**,**3**-tetraisopropyl-**1**,**3**-disiloxanediyl group, a common protecting group for nucleosides.

#### 2. N-Hydroxysuccinimide-Catalyzed Reactions

Although DMAP (**13**) is the catalyst of choice in most syntheses of phenyl thionocarbonates, sometimes, in an effort to avoid an undesired, competing reaction or to improve product yield, DMAP is replaced by another reagent. The most common replacement is *N*-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS, **15**).<sup>30–35</sup> In the reaction shown eq 8, the methyl pyranoside **16** gives a better yield of the corresponding phenoxythionocarbonate when NHS (**15**) is the catalyst rather than DMAP.<sup>16</sup>





There is a similarity in the mode of action of DMAP and NHS in that each of them typically reacts with an acid chloride to produce a better acylating agent. For DMAP (13) this agent is the *N*-acylpyridinium salt shown in [] eq 7, and for NHS (15) the new acylating agent is the ester 17 (eq 9). Because esters of NHS react unusually rapidly with nucleophiles, they are sometimes referred to as "activated esters".<sup>36</sup>



Extensive mechanistic study of esters of *N*-hydroxysuccinimide with amines has shown their reaction kinetics to be consistent with a process in which reversible formation of the zwitterionic intermediate **18** is followed by a rate-determining breakdown of this intermediate by either an uncatalyzed or base-catalyzed process (Scheme 4).<sup>37,38</sup> Since the hydroxyl group in NHS (**15**) is quite acidic ( $pK_a = 6.0^{39}$ ), its conjugate base (**19**) is more stable than most alkoxide ions. To the extent that the stability of the departing anion contributes to transition state stabilization (Scheme 4), esters derived from NHS should be particularly reactive.



The mechanism shown in Scheme 5 is based on the assumption that the findings from amine acylation (Scheme 4) can be extended to thioacylation of carbohydrates. Base-catalyzed reaction seems most reasonable, but the mechanism shown in Scheme 5 also includes an uncatalyzed process in which the initially formed, tetrahedral intermediate **20** undergoes proton transfer to give the zwitterion **21**. This intermediate eliminates separation of charge by expelling a tautomer of NHS to form the desired phenyl thiono-carbonate **22**.





#### B. Reaction with Thiophosgene and a Phenol

An alternative synthesis for an aryl thionocarbonate consists of treating a partially protected carbohydrate with thiophosgene and then reacting the product with a phenol (Scheme 6).<sup>40–47</sup> Since phenoxythiocarbonyl chloride (**12**) is commercially available, the thiophosgene procedure normally is reserved for preparing aryl thionocarbonates in which the aromatic ring contains one or more electron-withdrawing substituents. In direct reactivity comparisons, substituted aryl thionocarbonates usually give better product yields.<sup>40</sup> In some cases these substituents are necessary for reaction to take place.<sup>41</sup>



#### C. Reaction of (Thiocarbonyl)imidazolides with Phenols

Thionocarbonates are sometimes synthesized by reacting (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides with a substituted phenol. Such a reaction converts a less reactive *O*-thiocarbonyl derivative into a more reactive one (Scheme 7).<sup>48</sup> It also provides another method for synthesizing aryl thionocarbonates in which the aromatic ring contains one or more electron-withdrawing substituents. Affecting the change shown in Scheme 7 causes the deoxygenated product yield to rise from 38% (starting with **23**) to 70% (starting with **24**).



#### D. Reaction With Phenoxythiocarbonyltetrazole

The thioacylating agent **25** can be used to synthesize phenyl thionocarbonates under conditions that avoid the base-catalyzed side reactions that sometimes occur in the presence of DMAP (eq 10).<sup>49</sup>



This page titled IV. Aryl Thionocarbonates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# V. Cyclic Thionocarbonates

Two basic procedures for the synthesis of cyclic thionocarbonates are in common use. The first involves reacting a compound containing adjacent hydroxyl groups with *N*,*N*-thiocarbonyldiimidazole (eq 11).<sup>50</sup> Most cyclic thionocarbonates are synthesized by this procedure. The second approach involves initial formation of a stannylene complex and then treatment of this complex with thiophosgene (Scheme 8)<sup>51</sup> or phenoxythiocarbonyl chloride<sup>52–54</sup> (Scheme 9)<sup>54</sup>.



A third, but seldom used, reaction for cyclic thionocarbonate formation is one conducted under phase-transfer conditions. This synthesis is capable of producing either a bisxanthate<sup>55</sup> or a cyclic thionocarbonate (Scheme 10).<sup>56</sup> The critical factors in determining which type of product will be produced are the timing of reagent addition and the relative amounts of the reagents used. To maximize the cyclic-thionocarbonate yield, methyl iodide needs to be added to the reaction mixture after the other reagents; also, the phase-transfer catalyst, and the remaining reagents, need to be limited to molar amounts equal to that of the substrate (Scheme 10).<sup>56</sup>



<sup>a</sup>Used in molar amounts equal to the reactant sugar <sup>b</sup>Used in molar amounts greater than twice that of the reactant sugar



Synthesis of a cyclic thionocarbonate by initial stannylene complex formation can be complicated if more than one complex is possible because a dynamic equilibrium will exist between the possible structures.<sup>57–59</sup> The equilibrium population of the various complexes is determined by their stability, which is a function of factors such as ring strain, steric hindrance, and inductive effects. The relative amounts of the various complexes do not by themselves determine final product distribution because "the steric inaccessibility of the activated oxygen atoms may retard or prevent a major complex from reacting, thus allowing a minor complex to determine the product".<sup>57</sup> An illustration of how these factors can cause quite different cyclic thionocarbonates to form from structurally similar compounds is provided by the reactions shown in equations 12 and 13.<sup>57</sup>



Although there can be uncertainty about which cyclic thionocarbonate will form from compounds where more than one stannylene complex is possible, this uncertainty disappears for molecules with *cis*-related, vicinal hydroxyl groups. For such compounds the major (sometimes exclusive) product will come from a complex involving these *cis*-related groups (eq 12<sup>56</sup>).<sup>51,52,56</sup>

In some situations a competition exists between formation of cyclic and noncyclic thionocarbonates. In the reaction shown in Scheme 11 there is such a competition between the cyclic thionocarbonate **27** and the noncyclic thionocarbonate **26**.<sup>57</sup> Complete cyclic thionocarbonate formation is only temporarily delayed if reaction is allowed to continue because compound **26** is converted into **27** under the reaction conditions.



This page titled V. Cyclic Thionocarbonates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### VI. Thionoesters

The standard synthesis of thionoesters is shown in eq 14. Scheme 12, which contains a more detailed picture of this sequence, includes a proposed mechanism for this reaction.<sup>1</sup> Although this method of thionoester preparation is effective, it requires handling the toxic gases phosgene and hydrogen sulfide.<sup>27</sup> This added difficulty in preparation is a factor in thionoesters being used less frequently than other, *O*-thiocarbonyl carbohydrate derivatives.



Thionobenzoates are used for radical formation more often than other thionoesters. Although conditions for preparation of thionobenzoates make them less attractive starting materials that other *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds, these esters become more desirable reactants if the *O*-thiobenzoyl group has an additional role in the reaction. In the transformation shown in Scheme 13 the 2-*O*-thiobenzoyl group anchimerically assists glycoside formation prior to participating in radical reaction.<sup>60,61</sup>





This page titled VI. Thionoesters is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## VII. Factors Affecting O-Thiocarbonyl Compound Synthesis

#### A. The Strength of the Participating Nucleophile

Some compounds do not form every type of *O*-thiocarbonyl derivative. The tetrasaccharide **28**, for example, does not produce a (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide (**31**) but does form a xanthate (**30**) (Scheme 14).<sup>62</sup> A possible explanation for this difference in behavior is based upon the reactivity of the nucleophiles involved in preparation of each derivative. The first step in xanthate formation is conversion of **28** into the powerful nucleophile **29** by deprotonation of the C-2' hydroxyl group with sodium hydride. These reaction conditions stand in contrast to those for (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide synthesis, which depends upon the less effective nucleophile **28**. (The small equilibrium concentration of the alkoxide ion **29**, produced by DMAP deprotonation of **28**, is insufficient to cause the (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide **31** to form in detectable amounts).



Another example illustrating the role of nucleophilicity in producing *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds concerns the phenoxythionocarbonate **34**, which cannot be prepared from the diol **32**, even though the xanthate **35** easily forms from this compound (**32**) by way of the alkoxide ion **33** (Scheme 15).<sup>63</sup> Once again, greater ease in xanthate formation can be linked to greater nucleophilicity of an alkoxide ion when compared to its corresponding alcohol.



A method for increasing the nucleophilicity of a partially protected carbohydrate without converting it into a fully ionic compound consists of forming a derivative containing a tin–oxygen bond. This is the approach adopted in several of the reactions (Schemes [] 2, [] 3, [] 8, and [] 11 and equations [] 12 and [] 13) discussed thus far. In the derivatization shown in Scheme 3, for example,



combining the methyl glycoside **5** with bis(tributyltin)oxide forms a nucleophile able to produce a (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide, but reaction of **5** without increasing its nucleophilicity is unsuccessful.<sup>20</sup>

Another advantage of the nucleophilicity of an alkoxide ion when participating in xanthate synthesis is that reaction can take place at low temperatures.<sup>64,65</sup> Reaction occurring under these conditions is particularly important for forming tertiary xanthates (eq 15<sup>64</sup>) because these compounds readily undergo thermal rearrangement and elimination reactions.<sup>66</sup>



#### B. Protecting-Group Migration and Loss

Although increasing the nucleophilicity of a hydroxyl group by deprotonation is sometimes helpful in forming an *O*-thiocarbonyl compound, deprotonation also promotes protecting group migration. Compound **36**, for example, forms a (thiocarbonyl)imidazo-lide with the silyl group remaining in place, but attempted synthesis of the corresponding xanthate causes complete O-2' to O-3' silyl-group migration (Scheme 16).<sup>67</sup> In another example, compound **37** forms a xanthate in only 31% yield, but (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide formation is quantitative (Scheme 17).<sup>68</sup> Group migration (Scheme 16) and reduced product yield (Scheme 17) (possibly through benzoyl group loss or migration or both) are linked to the nucleophilicity of the alkoxide ions formed during xanthate synthesis.



Even though the absence of a strong base during (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide formation reduces the likelihood of group migration, it does not eliminate this possibility entirely. Whenever a carbon atom bearing a hydroxyl group has an acyloxy or silyloxy group on a neighboring (or nearby) atom, group migration is a possibility<sup>15,69,70</sup> because the organic base (and catalyst) imidazole is generated as the reaction proceeds ([] eq 2). An example of a migration reaction that takes place during (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide synthesis is shown in eq 16, where the benzoyl group at O-3 in the starting material migrates to O-4 in forming the minor product.<sup>15</sup>



The possibility that imidazole causes group migration during (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide formation garners support from the observation that DMAP causes such reaction during thionocarbonate synthesis. Phenyl thionocarbonates **40** and **41** both form when



either nucleoside **38** or **39** reacts with phenoxythiocarbonyl chloride (**12**) (Scheme 18).<sup>71</sup> The formation of this mixture of products (**40** and **41**) is the result of DMAP-catalyzed, silyl-group migration in compounds **38** and **39** prior to esterification (Scheme 18).



Group migration sometimes can be avoided by modification in the reaction conditions. The xanthate **42**, for instance, cannot be synthesized by the standard procedure, but it forms in excellent yield when carbon disulfide is the reaction solvent (Scheme 19).<sup>72</sup> When carbon disulfide is present in large excess, the increased rate of xanthate formation suppresses competing, unimolecular reactions such as group migration.



#### C. Displacement Reactions

O-Thiocarbonyl groups can function as nucleofuges in displacement reactions. They are not particularly effective in this role; consequently, their participation is limited to internal reaction in which the nucleophile is created by deprotonation and is held in an advantageous position for reaction. An example of internal displacement of this type is shown in Scheme 20 where the thionocarbonate **44** forms in good yield from reaction of the nucleoside **43** with phenoxythiocarbonyl chloride (**12**) in the presence of pyridine, but when the stronger base DMAP (**13**) is used, internal S<sub>N</sub>2 displacement produces the anhydro nucleoside **45**.<sup>73</sup> Support for the idea that **44** is an intermediate in this reaction comes from its quantitative conversion into **45** by reaction with DMAP.



Cyclic thionocarbonates also can be substrates in nucleophilic substitution reactions.<sup>74,75</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 21, for example, formation of the 2',3'-O-thiocarbonyl derivative **46** places nucleofuges at C-2' and C-3'. The C-2' substituent then is



displaced by an oxygen atom in the nitrogenous base portion of the molecule.<sup>74</sup>



Another example of nucleophilic substitution involving an *O*-thiocarbonyl compound is found in Scheme 22, where attempted acetylation of the disaccharide **47** causes replacement of the *O*-imidazol-1-ylthiocarbonyl group with an acetyl group.<sup>10</sup> A reasonable assumption is that the desired acetate **48** actually forms, but the *O*-imidazol-1-ylthiocarbonyl group is a sufficiently good nucleofuge that it is displaced by the neighboring *O*-acetyl group in a reaction that leads to the pentaacetate **49**. Acetylation of the closely related xanthate **50** (eq 17) without internal displacement indicates that the *O*-[(phenylthio)thiocarbonyl] group is a less effective nucleofuge.<sup>10</sup>



#### **D. Regioselective Reactions**

In a carbohydrate with more than one unprotected hydroxyl group, it is sometimes possible to predict which group will react preferentially with a limited amount of a thioacylating agent. For example, reaction of the less hindered of two hydroxyl groups will occur if there is a substantial difference in their steric shielding; thus, in the reaction shown in eq 18, regioselective thioacyl-ation takes place at the primary, rather than the secondary, hydroxyl group.<sup>76</sup>

4





Even if there is little difference in steric shielding of two hydroxyl groups, site selectivity sometimes can be predicted if one of the groups is attached to C-2 and deprotonation is the first step in the reaction. Under these conditions the typically greater acidity of the C-2 hydroxyl group determines which of the two possible alkoxide ions will form to a greater extent. This preferential formation leads to regioselective reaction at C-2 ( $\Box$  Scheme 15<sup>63</sup> and eq 19<sup>30</sup>). Comparing the reaction shown in eq 19<sup>30</sup> with that in  $\Box$  eq 14<sup>1</sup> demonstrates that predicting regioselective reaction at C-2 must be done cautiously. In these two reactions the same compound exhibits different selectivity when the reagents and the reaction conditions change.



Regioselectivity extends to reactions where esterification is preceded by formation of a stannylene complex (equations [12] and [13]). Since this selectivity is dependent upon the stability and reactivity of the various stannylene complexes that are in equilibrium in the reaction mixture, predicting or even rationalizing the formation of reaction products is complicated by esterification being a two-step process with selectivity involved in each step. Although regioselective reaction of stannylene complexes is often high, it is far from assured, as is illustrated by the nearly unselective reaction of the methyl glycoside **51** (eq 20).<sup>52</sup> The difficulty in predicting site selectivity is underscored when comparing the reaction shown in eq 20 with that in eq 21, where an essentially unselective reaction becomes highly selective upon changing the configuration of the methoxy group at C-1.<sup>52</sup> Under carefully selected conditions reaction of organotin complexes of a variety of unprotected methyl glycosides with phenoxythiocarbonyl chloride leads to highly regioselective thionocarbonate formation.<sup>53</sup>



This page titled VII. Factors Affecting O-Thiocarbonyl Compound Synthesis is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VIII. Summary

Synthesis of *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds [(xanthates, (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides, aryl thionocarbonates, cyclic thionocarbonates, thionoesters)] is the first step in using them to generate carbon-centered radicals.

Xanthates usually are prepared by deprotonating a partially protected carbohydrate and then reacting the resulting alkoxide ion with carbon disulfide and methyl iodide. The primary limitation of this approach is that it involves conditions in which base-sensitive compounds are unstable. Xanthate synthesis by phase-transfer reaction or by reaction with phenyl chlorodithioformate avoids this difficulty.

(Thiocarbonyl)imidazolides are formed by reacting a partially protected carbohydrate with *N*,*N*-thiocarbonyldiimidazole. These conditions for synthesis are much less basic that those used for preparing xanthates.

Aryl thionocarbonates typically come from reaction of a partially protected carbohydrate with phenoxythiocarbonyl chloride in the presence of DMAP (4-dimethylaminopyridine). Side reactions are rare and tend to arise when DMAP promotes base-catalyzed reactions that compete with thionocarbonate formation. Phenyl thionocarbonates also can be prepared in reactions catalyzed by *N*-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS). This alternative procedure normally is implemented to improve product yields or avoid side reactions caused by DMAP. An additional option for phenyl thionocarbonate preparation consists of reacting a partially protected sugar with thiophosgene and treating the product with a phenol. This procedure is useful in preparing phenyl thionocarbonates with groups, usually electron-withdrawing ones, in the aromatic ring.

If a partially protected carbohydrate has vicinal, cis-related hydroxyl groups, reaction with *N*,*N*-thiocarbonyldiimidazole will form a cyclic thionocarbonate. A second procedure for synthesis of these compounds consists of formation of a stannylene complex of a carbohydrate, and then reaction of this complex with thiophosgene or phenoxythiocarbonyl chloride.

Thionoesters are less frequently used in deoxygenation reactions than other *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds, in part, due to the difficulty in their preparation. The only thionoesters used to a significant extent in deoxygenation are thionobenzoates.

When *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds are unable to form under the standard reaction conditions, sometimes they can be synthesized by converting the partially protected carbohydrate reactant into its corresponding alkoxide ion. Forming an alkoxide ion also increases the possibility that group migration will compete with formation of an *O*-thiocarbonyl, carbohydrate derivative.

This page titled VIII. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 12: Reactions of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds

Reaction of an *O*-thiocarbonyl derivative of a carbohydrate with a tin- or silicon-centered radical generates a carbon-centered radical that undergoes reactions typical of such an intermediate. These reactions include abstracting a hydrogen atom from a donor molecule (almost always a tin or silicon hydride), adding to a compound containing a multiple bond, or forming a new ring system by adding internally to a multiple bond within the radical. These reactions place *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds among the most useful substrates for radical formation from carbohydrates. The current chapter, where the reactions of these compounds are discussed, is a close companion to the preceding one (Chapter 11), where synthesis of *O*-thiocarbonyl carbohydrate derivatives is described.

#### **Topic hierarchy**

- II. Deoxygenation: The Barton-McCombie Reaction
- III. Radical Addition
- **IV. Radical Cyclization**
- V. Comparing the Reactivity of O-Thiocarbonyl and O-Carbonyl Carbohydrates
- VI. Summary

This page titled 12: Reactions of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# II. Deoxygenation: The Barton-McCombie Reaction

#### A. A Two-Step Sequence

In 1975 Barton and McCombie reported a two-step sequence for hydroxyl-group replacement by a hydrogen atom.<sup>1</sup> The first step in this process was the conversion of the hydroxyl group into an *O*-thiocarbonyl group, and the second step (the Barton-McCombie reaction) was a free-radical chain reaction that replaced the *O*-thiocarbonyl group with a hydrogen atom. A typical example of this widely used, reaction sequence is shown in Scheme 1.<sup>2</sup>



Various types of *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds undergo the Barton-McCombie reaction. Initially this group consisted of xanthates (1), thionobenzoates (2), thiocarbonylimidazolides (3), and thionoformates (4) (Figure 1).<sup>1</sup> Subsequently, this list was expanded to contain phenyl thionocarbonates (5),<sup>3,4</sup> including those with electron-withdrawing substituents in the aromatic ring (6-8),<sup>5,6</sup> and cyclic thionocarbonates (9).<sup>7,8</sup>



Figure 1. O-Thiocarbonyl derivatives that undergo the Barton-McCombie reaction

#### **B.** Proposed Reaction Mechanisms

A proposed mechanism for the Barton-McCombie reaction is shown in Scheme 2.<sup>1,9</sup> In the initiation phase of this reaction thermal decomposition of 2,2'-azobis(isobutyronitrile) (AIBN) (eq 1), the most common initiator for the Barton-McCombie reaction, produces a radical that abstracts a hydrogen atom from tri-*n*-butyltin hydride (eq 2). In the first propagation step the tri-*n*-butyltin radical adds to a carbon–sulfur double bond to create the adduct radical **10** (eq 3). Reaction reaches a critical stage at this point because its success requires **10** to fragment to give the radical **11** (eq 4) before competing reactions can intervene. Once fragmentation takes place, hydrogen-atom abstraction by **11** from tri-*n*-butyltin hydride completes the overall reaction and generates a new, chain- carrying, tri-*n*-butyltin radical (eq 5). (Equations 1-5 are found in Scheme 2.)



Scheme 2 Initiation Steps  $\begin{array}{ccc} CN & CN \\ CH_3C - N = N - CH_3 \\ CH_3 & CH_3 \end{array} \xrightarrow{\Delta} 2 (CH_3)_2C \end{array}$ (1)  $(CH_3)_2CCN + Bu_3SnH \longrightarrow (CH_3)_2CHCN + Bu_3Sn \cdot$ (2) Propagation Steps Bu₃Sn• + ROCX ROCX (3) 10 SSnBu SSnBu ROĊX R۰ o=ċx (4) 10 12 11 + Bu₃SnH RH Bu₃Sn (5) R٠ 11 13 Termination Steps Radical combination reactions such as 2 Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn• ---- Bu<sub>3</sub>SnSnBu<sub>3</sub> 2R. \_\_\_\_ RR  $X = SMe, C_{6}H_{5}, OC_{6}H_{5}, -N$ R = carbohydrate moiety

The propagation steps for a revised mechanistic proposal for the Barton-McCombie reaction are shown in Scheme 3.<sup>10</sup> (The initiation and termination steps for this mechanism are the same as those pictured in Scheme 2.) The primary change introduced in the revised mechanism (Scheme 3) is that  $Bu_3Sn$  does not add to the thiocarbonyl group but rather abstracts the SCH<sub>3</sub> group. Identification of the radical **15** in the ESR spectrum of the reaction mixture supports the revised mechanism; however, an argument against mechanistic significance of **15** is that this intermediate is observed under conditions quite different from those of the Barton-McCombie reaction (e.g., no effective hydrogen-atom donor (Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH) was present in the reaction mixture because the tri*n*-butyltin radicals were generated from photolysis of  $Bu_3SnSnBu_3$ .<sup>10</sup>)

Scheme 3 Propagation Steps  $Bu_3Sn. + ROCSMe \longrightarrow Bu_3SnSMe + ROC^{H}$   $S \qquad 14 \qquad 15$   $ROC \cdot \longrightarrow R. + COS$   $15 \qquad 16$   $R. + Bu_3SnH \longrightarrow RH + Bu_3Sn.$  $R = CH_3. -(CH_2)_5CH_3. -(CH_2)_7CH_3$ 

Subsequent competition experiments returned support to the original mechanism ( $\Box$  Scheme 2).<sup>11–13</sup> In addition to these experiments, <sup>119</sup>Sn NMR identification of the intermediate **12** (R = SCH<sub>3</sub>) in a Barton-McCombie reaction mixture provided evidence for the addition of Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· to the thiocarbonyl group, as proposed in Scheme 2, rather than abstraction of SCH<sub>3</sub>, as proposed in Scheme 3.<sup>13</sup> Further mechanistic analysis led to the conclusion that the tri-*n*-butyltin radical must be adding reversibly to the thiocarbonyl group to give the radical **10**, which then fragments as shown in eq 4 (Scheme 2). Additional support for this mechanism is based on a ring-forming reaction that is described at the end of this chapter, after cyclization reactions have been discussed.

#### C. Hydrogen-Atom Donors/Chain-Transfer Agents

Critical to the success of the Barton-McCombie reaction is the compound that donates a hydrogen atom to the carbohydrate radical ([] eq 5) to complete the propagation sequence. Tri-*n*- butyltin hydride is particularly well suited for this role because it rapidly donates a hydrogen atom to a carbon-centered radical, and in the same reaction generates the chain-carrying radical Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn·, an



intermediate needed to begin a new sequence of propagation steps (eq 3). (A critical feature of the reactivity of  $Bu_3Sn$  is that it does not cause side reactions by abstracting hydrogen atoms from carbon-hydrogen bonds.)

Although use of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride has significant advantages, it also suffers from substantial drawbacks. There are serious problems associated with the toxicity of tin-containing compounds and the difficulty in removing residues of these compounds from reaction products. A variety of solutions to these problems have been proposed. Because these solutions apply not just to *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds but also to a broad range of carbohydrate derivatives, they will not be discussed here; rather, they have been gathered together and are found in Appendix I.

#### D. The Scope and Reactivity of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds

The number of *O*-thiocarbonyl carbohydrate derivatives that undergo the Barton-McCombie reaction is large and continues to grow. Although all of these compounds react basically in the same way, some are better suited than others for particular situations. The following several sections focus on the scope and special reactivity of various *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds. To emphasize their broad range of reactivity, references are provided to Barton-McCombie reaction taking place at various positions in substituted carbohydrates. These references are not meant to represent the total number that exists, but rather to provide examples of the reactions possible in cyclic and open-chain carbohydrates.

#### 1. Xanthates

A striking feature of xanthate reactivity is the number and variety of carbohydrates that can be deoxygenated by xanthate formation followed by Barton-McCombie reaction. This sequence replaces hydroxyl groups at the 2-,<sup>14,15</sup> 3-,<sup>16,17</sup> 4-,<sup>2,18</sup> and 6-<sup>19,20</sup> positions with hydrogen atoms in compounds containing pyranoid rings, as well as the 1-,<sup>21</sup> 2-,<sup>22,23</sup> 3-,<sup>24,25</sup> 5-,<sup>26</sup> and 6-<sup>27</sup> positions in those with furanoid rings. Equations 6<sup>15</sup> and 7<sup>28</sup> provide typical examples of reactions of carbohydrates containing pyranoid and furanoid rings, respectively. (Hypophosphorous acid, one of the substitutes for tri-*n*-butyltin hydride mentioned in Appendix I, is the hydrogen-atom donor in the reaction shown in eq 6.) Xanthates also are used in Barton-McCombie reaction of alditols,<sup>29,30</sup> cyclitols,<sup>31,32</sup> and nucleosides.<sup>33,34</sup>



#### 2. Thionocarbamates

Among thionocarbamates the (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides (**3**,  $\Box$  Figure 1) are easily the most frequently used substrates for the Barton-McCombie reaction. The range of types of compounds involved is broad and includes (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides formed from carbohydrates with hydroxyl groups at the 2-,<sup>35</sup> 3-,<sup>36–38</sup> 4-,<sup>39–41</sup> and 6-<sup>42</sup> positions in compounds with pyranoid rings, and at the 2-,<sup>43,44</sup> 3-,<sup>45,46</sup> and 5-<sup>47,48</sup> positions in compounds with furanoid rings. There also are numerous reports of Barton-McCombie reactions of nucleosides with *O*-imidazol-1-ylthiocarbonyl groups at C-2'-<sup>49,50</sup> and C-3'.<sup>51,52</sup>

#### 3. Thionocarbonates

#### a. Phenyl Thionocarbonates

Phenyl thionocarbonates are yet another *O*-thiocarbonyl, carbohydrate derivative that undergoes the Barton-McCombie reaction. These derivatives participate in reaction at C-2,<sup>53,54</sup> C-3,<sup>55,56</sup> C-4,<sup>57,58</sup> and C-6<sup>59,60</sup> in compounds with pyranoid rings, and C-1,<sup>61,62</sup> C-2,<sup>63,64</sup> C-3,<sup>65,66</sup> and C-5<sup>67,68</sup> in compounds with furanoid rings. Further, phenyl thionocarbonates are the preferred intermediates for nucleoside deoxygenation. They are involved in reaction at the 2'-position not only for a large number of 1,1,3,3-tetraisopropyl-1,3-disiloxanediyl-protected nucleosides,<sup>69,70</sup> but also for compounds protected by benzyl,<sup>71</sup> benzoyl,<sup>72,73</sup>t-butyldimethylsilyl,<sup>74</sup> and pivaloyl groups.<sup>75</sup> Similar reactions take place at the 3'- and 5'-positions.<sup>65,76</sup>


### b. Substituted Phenyl Thionocarbonates

Phenyl thionocarbonates typically undergo a Barton-McCombie reaction that produces deoxygenated products in good yield; however, when product yields are low, introducing one or more electron-withdrawing substituents into the aromatic ring often raises these yields.<sup>77–80</sup> Two examples illustrate the effect of these substituents. First, attempted Barton-McCombie reaction of the phenyl thionocarbonate **17** produces a complex mixture of products, but the 2,4-dichlorophenyl analog **18** forms the desired dideoxy nucleoside (Scheme 4).<sup>77</sup> In the second example, the phenyl thionocarbonate **19** is unreactive under typical Barton-McCombie conditions, but its pentafluorophenyl analog **20** reacts with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride to give the corresponding deoxy nucleoside **21** (eq 8).<sup>78</sup>



In light of the better yields produced by the substituted phenyl thionocarbonates **18** and **20**, it is surprising to find that the *p*-fluoro-, pentafluoro-, *p*-chloro-, 2,4,6-trichloro-, and pentachlorophenoxythiocarbonyl derivatives of cyclododecanol all react more slowly than the unsubstituted compound.<sup>6</sup> In attempting to understand such a finding it is useful to consider the various ways in which ring substituents might influence reactivity. Evidence from the study of *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds suggests that the formation of the radical **23** (eq 9) is a reversible process and that the rate-determining step in this reaction sequence (equations 9 and 10) is the fragmentation of **23** shown in eq 10.<sup>9</sup> An aromatic ring substituent is likely to impact this process in several ways. These include altering the radicophilicity of **22**, the stability of **23**, and the strength of the carbon–oxygen bond being broken to produce  $\mathbb{R} \cdot$  and **24** (eq 10); therefore, since an aromatic-ring substituent can exert influence on reactivity in several ways, understanding and predicting the overall effect that such a substituent will have on a reaction can be difficult.



### c. Cyclic Thionocarbonates

Cyclic thionocarbonates undergoing Barton-McCombie reaction include compounds in which 2,3-*O*-thiocarbonyl,<sup>81–83</sup> 3,4-*O*-thiocarbonyl,<sup>53,84</sup> and 4,6-*O*-thiocarbonyl<sup>85</sup> groups are attached to pyranoid rings. This reaction also takes place with 2,3-*O*-thiocarbonyl<sup>7,8</sup> and 5,6-*O*- thiocarbonyl<sup>67,86</sup> groups in compounds with furanoid rings. Cyclic thionocarbonates, formed from acyclic structures, also undergo the Barton-McCombie reaction.<sup>87</sup>

Reaction of a cyclic thionocarbonate is more complex than reaction of other *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds because it also involves ring opening. Since ring opening potentially can place a radical center on either of two carbon atoms, reaction often produces a mixture of products (eq 11).<sup>7,8</sup> Formation of this mixture not only can reduce the amount of the desired product but also can complicate its isolation.





A proposed mechanism for reaction of a cyclic thionocarbonate with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride is given in Scheme 5.<sup>8</sup> A "key" intermediate in this reaction is the radical **25**, formed by addition of the tri-*n*-butyltin radical to the thiocarbonyl group. Radical stability usually controls the direction of ring opening; thus, even though **25** can produce either a primary or a secondary radical by ring opening, the pathway followed leads exclusively to the secondary radical (Scheme 5).<sup>7,8,88,89</sup>



Although radical stability normally controls the direction of ring opening in a cyclic thionocarbonate, relief of angle strain in the transition state sometimes is the major factor.<sup>90</sup> Ring opening of compound **26**, for example, leads to the product derived from a secondary, rather than a tertiary, radical (eq 12).<sup>91</sup> (A mechanism for this reaction is shown in Scheme 6.) Molecular mechanics calculations on noncarbohydrates indicate that fragmentation to give a less stable radical will occur if relief of ring strain in the transition state is great enough (eq 13).<sup>90</sup> This relief of strain provides an explanation for the unexpected conversion of **26** into **27** rather than **28** (eq 12).







There is a concentration effect associated with the reaction of the cyclic thionocarbonate **26**. In concentrated Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH solution only the kinetically favored product **27** is formed, but in dilute solution some of the thermodynamically favored isomer **28** is produced (Scheme 6). One explanation for this behavior is based on reversible formation of the secondary radical **30** from the cyclic radical **29**. In concentrated solution **30** abstracts a hydrogen atom rapidly enough from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH to prevent significant return to **29**. Under these conditions only the product **27** is formed. In dilute solution hydrogen-atom abstraction by **30** is slowed to the point that reversible formation of **29** becomes significant and creates greater opportunity for **29** to be converted (irreversibly) into the thermo-dynamically favored tertiary radical **31**. Since in dilute Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH solution both kinetically and thermodynamically favored pathways are followed, a mixture of the products **27** and **28** is produced.

#### 4. Thionoesters

Primarily because their synthesis is more challenging, thionoesters are selected less frequently as starting materials for the Barton-McCombie reaction than are other *O*-thiocarbonyl derivatives. Thionoesters with *O*-thiocarbonyl groups at C-2<sup>92</sup> and C-3<sup>1</sup> in pyranoid rings and C-2<sup>28</sup> in furanoid rings are known substrates for deoxy sugar formation. A typical example is shown in eq 14.<sup>1</sup> The thionoesters that undergo reaction are, with rare exception,<sup>93</sup> thionobenzoates.<sup>28,92,94–101</sup>





## E. Competing Reactions

Frequent application of the Barton-McCombie reaction in carbohydrate chemistry occurs because this reaction has a variety of attractive features. These include the broad range of compounds that undergo this reaction, the generally good product yields, and the freedom, in most cases, from significant, competing reactions. Even though side reactions usually do not represent a major concern, Barton-McCombie reaction has been conducted on so many compounds that quite a number of these reactions have been identified. They range in importance from alcohol regeneration, a common but usually minor side reaction, to phenyl-group migration, a rare event.

### 1. Alcohol Regeneration

Regenerating the alcohol from which an *O*-thiocarbonyl compound originally was synthesized is a side reaction sometimes accompanying deoxygenation. An example of such a reaction is shown in eq 15.<sup>102</sup> In rare instances alcohol regeneration is the major reaction pathway (eq 16).<sup>42</sup>



Not all *O*-thiocarbonyl derivatives of carbohydrates are equally prone to alcohol regeneration. One of the advantages initially associated with phenyl thionocarbonates was that they did not undergo this reaction.<sup>3,4</sup> Continued study of these compounds, however, showed that they are not immune to the alcohol-reforming process (eq 17).<sup>103</sup>

$$BZOCH_{2} \bigoplus H_{2} OC(=S)CI \\ OBZ \\ OH \\ OH \\ OH \\ H_{2} Bu_{3}SnH, AIBN \\ C_{6}H_{5}CH_{3}, 110^{\circ}C \\ H_{2} \\ H_{2} \\ H_{3}Ch_{4}CH_{3}OH \\ C_{6}H_{5}CH_{3}, 110^{\circ}C \\ 50\% \\ 30\% \\ B = \underbrace{\left(\begin{array}{c} N \\ N \\ N \\ N \\ H_{2} \\ H_{3} \\ H$$

### a. Proposed Reaction Mechanisms

Although alcohol regeneration is the most common competing process during Barton-McCombie reaction, there is not general agreement on how the regeneration process proceeds. The two most frequently cited possibilities are both multi-step processes with many intermediates in common. The difference between these two rests with thiocarbonyl group reduction, one mechanism (Scheme 7) involves radical intermediates and the other (Scheme 8) does not.









### (1). A Radical-Based Process

If one assumes that the radical **10** is an intermediate in the Barton-McCombie reaction ([] Scheme 2, X = SCH<sub>3</sub>), the possibility exists that before this radical fragments, it could abstract a hydrogen atom. Such a reaction would produce the intermediate **32** ([] Scheme 7).<sup>1,9</sup> Formation of **32** not only would reduce the deoxygenated product yield, but it also could provide an explanation for the formation of the regenerated alcohol **36** as a side-product in the reaction.<sup>1,9</sup> When viewed in this way, **32** is the beginning point in a series of events that leads first to the thionoformate **33**, which reacts with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride to give the tin-containing intermediate **34**, a substance that hydrolyzes during workup to the hemithioacetal **35**. Compound **35** then decomposes spontaneously to give the alcohol **36** and thioformaldehyde (Scheme 7).<sup>9</sup>

### (2). A Hydride-Transfer-Based Reaction Sequence

The conditions originally used for the Barton-McCombie reaction did not include an added initiator; rather, reaction depended upon adventitious initiation. Within a few years, however, adding 2,2'-azobis(isobutyronitrile) (AIBN) became standard procedure because dependable initiation was recognized as a significant factor in maximizing deoxygenation.<sup>4,13</sup> The reaction shown in eq 18 is one that provides an illustration of the improvement in product yield brought about by an added initiator.<sup>104</sup> The observation that alcohol regeneration occurs in the absence of an initiator in the reaction shown in eq 18, supports the idea that a radical reaction may not be involved in the alcohol-reforming process.<sup>4</sup>



When the Barton-McCombie reaction is initiated by  $Et_3B-O_2$ ,<sup>105,106</sup> it can take place at temperatures much lower than those required for AIBN initiation (eq 19).<sup>21</sup> Because it was originally thought that reducing the temperature of a Barton-McCombie reaction to about 80 °C caused alcohol regeneration to begin to become important,<sup>12</sup> further lowering the reaction temperature would be expected to increase alcohol formation. When reactions were conducted at lower temperature using  $Et_3B-O_2$  initiation, Barton-McCombie reaction took place with little or no alcohol regeneration. This finding was not consistent with the idea that **10** ( $\Box$  Scheme 7) was increasingly likely to abstract a hydrogen atom from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH as the reaction temperature decreased.<sup>13</sup> If the conversion of **10** into **32** by hydrogen-atom abstraction were not taking place, it raised the possibility that **32** was formed in a different, perhaps nonradical, reaction ( $\Box$  Scheme 8).



Several investigators have proposed that hydride transfer may be responsible for alcohol regeneration.<sup>13,107,108</sup> As a part of the most detailed of these proposals, it was suggested that nonradical addition of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride to an *O*-thiocarbonyl group occurs in the first step in alcohol regeneration, and it occurs later in the reaction sequence when the thionoformate **33** is converted into the thioacetal **34** ([] Scheme 8).<sup>108</sup>



### b. Alcohols from Dimeric Esters

The observation that minor amounts of "dimeric' esters were formed during the phenyl thionocarbonate synthesis shown in eq 20 raised the possibility that if these esters were not removed prior to Barton-McCombie reaction, an alcohol could be formed because each dimeric ester reasonably could be expected to react with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride to give a molecule of a deoxygenated compound and one of the starting alcohol.<sup>103</sup> This expectation was confirmed when the dimeric ester **37** was found to undergo the reaction shown in eq 21.<sup>109</sup>



### c. Minimizing Alcohol Regeneration

The rate determining step in the Barton-McCombie reaction is believed to be the unimolecular fragmentation of the radical **10** to give the carbon-centered radical  $\mathbb{R}$  (Scheme 9).<sup>9</sup> For alcohol regeneration, however, the rate is more likely to depend upon a bimolecular reaction involving Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH. This analysis (Scheme 9) is consistent with the finding that keeping the concentration of Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH at a low level during reaction (i.e., adding the tin hydride slowly as the reaction proceeds) is associated with maximizing deoxygenation; for example, the xanthate shown in eq 22 reacts to give a deoxy sugar in 54% yield when all the Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH is present at the beginning of the reaction, but the yield rises to 85% when Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH is added over a period of 1.5 h.<sup>36</sup> Part of the reduced deoxy sugar yield in the reaction where all the Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH was added at the beginning is due to recovery of the alcohol from which the xanthate was synthesized.<sup>36</sup>



### 2. O-Thionocarbonyl Group Conversions and Rearrangements



### a. Conversion of a Xanthate into a Dithiocarbonate

When  $Bu_3SnH$  is the hydrogen-atom donor in the reaction shown in eq 23,<sup>1</sup> a deoxy sugar forms in the normal manner, but if a less effective donor is used, xanthate conversion to a dithiocarbonate competes with the deoxygenation process. This conversion-becomes significant when reaction is conducted with 2-propanol serving as both solvent and hydrogen-atom donor. When benzene is the solvent, dithiocarbonate formation is the major reaction pathway.<sup>110</sup> Benzene is, in fact, such a poor hydrogen-atom donor that any carbohydrate present in solution is a more likely hydrogen-atom source for the small amount of deoxy sugar formed.



The reaction shown in eq 23 begins with formation of the carbohydrate radical  $\mathbb{R}$ . As pictured in Scheme 10, this radical ( $\mathbb{R}$ ) then either adds to a molecule of starting material, leading to a dithiocarbonate, or abstracts a hydrogen atom, producing a deoxy sugar. The data presented in eq 23 confirm the expectation from the proposed mechanism (Scheme 10) that deoxy sugar formation is favored when effective hydrogen-atom donors are used, and dithiocarbonates form more easily in reactions run at high xanthate concentrations in the presence of poor hydrogen-atom donors.<sup>110</sup>



#### b. Thionocarbonate-Thiocarbonate Rearrangement

A reaction closely related to the xanthate-dithiocarbonate rearrangement just discussed is the conversion of a thionocarbonate into a thiocarbonate. When a hydrogen-atom donor is present in a reaction mixture in an amount less than that needed to supply a hydrogen atom to each carbohydrate radical, thionocarbonate to thiocarbonate rearrangement can take place.<sup>82,88,89,111,112</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 11 this rearrangement represents the major reaction pathway when the amount of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride is significantly less than that required for complete reduction.<sup>111</sup> Rearrangement is, of course, undesirable when simple reduction is the goal of a reaction, but it can be useful if the purpose of the reaction is to convert a sugar into a thiosugar.<sup>112</sup>





### c. Conversion of an S-Alkyl Xanthate into an O-Alkyl Xanthate

Reaction of the carbohydrate xanthate **39** (an *S*-alkyl xanthate) with the triphenyltin radical is the first step in a propagation sequence (Scheme 12) that converts **39** into a xanthate with the carbohydrate portion of the molecule bonded to sulfur (**40**, an *O*-alkyl xanthate).<sup>113,114</sup> The second step in this sequence is reaction of the carbohydrate radical with triphenyltin xanthate to produce **40** and the chain-carrying, triphenyltin radical. This second step must be reversible in order to account for the epimers **41** and **42** being interconverted under the reaction conditions (eq 24).<sup>114</sup> Effective hydrogen-atom donors, such as triphenyltin hydride, must be excluded to prevent simple reduction. Excluding triphenyltin hydride but still having the triphenyltin radical needed to initiate the reaction is accomplished by photolysis of bis(triphenyltin) (Scheme 12).



### 3. Reaction With Molecular Oxygen

Reaction conducted in the presence of molecular oxygen leads to rapid capture of  $O_2$  by carbon-centered radicals. This capture is faster than hydrogen-atom abstraction from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH. Radical capture of  $O_2$  is suppressed by the normal procedure of excluding oxygen from the reaction mixture, but when  $O_2$  is deliberately added, its combination with a carbohydrate radical becomes a major or even the exclusive reaction pathway (eq 25).<sup>89</sup>



#### 4. Elimination Reactions

### a. Reactions of Compounds with Two O-Thiocarbonyl Groups

If there are two *O*-thiocarbonyl groups in the same molecule, their physical separation affects whether or not Barton-McCombie reaction will take place.<sup>1,115–134</sup> In the reaction of compound **43**, for example, the substituents are sufficiently well separated to allow replacement of each group by a hydrogen atom to proceed in the normal manner (eq  $26^{115}$ ).<sup>115,130</sup> When *O*-thiocarbonyl groups are attached to adjacent carbon atoms, reaction of one of these groups produces a carbon-centered radical that forms a double bond by elimination of the second group.<sup>117–129,131,133</sup> An example is shown in eq 27.<sup>117–119</sup> As indicated in Scheme 13, elimination takes place when R = OC<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub> or SCH<sub>3</sub>, but in the rare event that R = C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>, the elimination pathway leads to the unstable phenyl radical; as a consequence, radical cyclization takes place instead of elimination (eq 28).<sup>1</sup> If two *O*-thiocarbonyl groups are not on adjacent carbon atoms, but the radical produced by reaction of the first is centered on an atom in close proximity to the second, internal addition will take place.<sup>115,116,132,134</sup> Because the new radical formed by this reaction does not have a clear path to an elimination product, more complex reaction, such as that shown in eq 29,<sup>115</sup> is likely to take place.





### b. Reactions of Compounds with a Single O-Thiocarbonyl Group

As described in the previous section, elimination reactions take place when compounds with *O*-thiocarbonyl groups on adjacent carbon atoms react with tin or silicon hydrides. Similar reaction takes place when an *O*-thiocarbonyl group is attached to a carbon atom that has an azido, <sup>135</sup> bromo, <sup>135–137</sup> chloro, <sup>135,138,139</sup> iodo, <sup>135</sup> isocyano, <sup>140</sup> methylthio, <sup>135</sup> or phenylthio, <sup>141</sup> substituent bonded to an adjacent carbon atom. An example is given in eq 30.<sup>135</sup> This process begins with formation of a carbon-centered radical and ends with radical expulsion from an adjacent carbon atom (Scheme 14). In some instances it is reaction of the *O*-thiocarbonyl group that generates the carbon-centered radical, but in others, particularly those involving compounds containing bromine and iodine, halogen-atom abstraction is the first reaction to take place.







### c. Use of Sacrificial Olefins

One of the difficulties associated with the synthesis of unsaturated compounds by radical reaction is that a radical intermediate may add to a recently formed double bond in a product molecule. When such an unwanted addition occurs, it may be reduced in importance to an acceptable level by adding an alkene such as 1-dodecene to the reaction mixture. This alkene, a compound described as a "sacrificial olefin", protects the elimination product by scavenging radicals before they add to product molecules.<sup>142</sup>

### d. Cyclic Thionocarbonates

One way to view cyclic thionocarbonates is as compounds that have adjacent *O*-thiocarbonyl groups and, consequently, might undergo radical elimination. Since Barton-McCombie reactions of cyclic thionocarbonates generally give good yields of deoxy compounds, an elimination reaction can be expected only if such a reaction benefits from a special driving force. This driving force can come from reaction producing an unsaturated compound with a double bond stable enough that its formation significantly lowers transition-state energy. Consistent with this idea is formation of the glycal **46** as the only product from reaction of the cyclic thionocarbonate **45** with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride (eq 31).<sup>143</sup> 2',3'-*O*-Thiocarbonyl nucleoside derivatives undergo similar reaction to give unsaturated nucleosides, but only as minor products.<sup>144–146</sup>



### e. Preventing Thermal Elimination

The Barton-McCombie reaction of xanthates is most successful when these compounds are prepared from secondary alcohols. Xanthates formed from tertiary alcohols are prone to thermal elimination (eq 32, Chugaev elimination<sup>147</sup>) at temperatures normally used in the Barton-McCombie reaction. When reaction is initiated by triethylboron–oxygen, however, it can be conducted at room temperature, where reaction of tertiary xanthates occurs without competing elimination.<sup>106,148</sup>

#### 5. Reversible Addition to an O-Thiocarbonyl Group

Xanthates synthesized from primary alcohols usually require higher temperatures in the Barton-McCombie reaction and often give lower product yields.<sup>149,150</sup> These problems can be overcome in some instances by changing the hydrogen-atom donor from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH to (Me<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>SiH. Tri-*n*-butyltin hydride is a less effective donor than tris(trimethylsilyl)silane in these reactions due to greater reversibility of Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· addition to a thiocarbonyl group (Scheme 15).<sup>149</sup> Because the S–Si bond [90 kcal mol<sup>-1</sup> (377 kJ mol<sup>-</sup> 1)]<sup>151</sup> is stronger than the S–Sn bond [65 kcal mol<sup>-1</sup> (272 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>)],<sup>151</sup> reversal of addition of (Me<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>Si· is less likely to occur. Reduced reversibility means that once a silyl radical has added to an *O*-thiocarbonyl group, a difficult forward reaction (e.g., one producing a primary radical<sup>149</sup> and, sometimes, one producing a secondary radical<sup>152,153</sup> ) can compete more effectively with reverse reaction to give the starting materials. Limiting reversibility is even more effective when reaction take place under the low temperature conditions made possible by Et<sub>3</sub>B–O<sub>2</sub> initiation.<sup>33</sup>



Scheme 15 more reversible addition CH₃SĊOR CH<sub>3</sub>SCOR + • SnBu<sub>3</sub> - CH<sub>3</sub>SC=O + R -Ś -SnBu<sub>3</sub> . SSnBu₃ 1 weaker bond less reversible addition Si(SiMe<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> CH<sub>3</sub>SCOR CH<sub>3</sub>SCOR → CH<sub>3</sub>SC=O + R -Si(SiMe<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> SSi(SiMe<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub> stronger R · = a carbohydrate radical

### 6. Reduction of a Thiocarbonyl Group to a Methylene Group

Conversion of a thiocarbonyl group into a methylene group represents a rare type of competition for the Barton-McCombie reaction. This transformation changes the *O*-phenylthiocarbonyl group in **47** into an *O*-benzyl group (eq 33),<sup>28</sup> and it is responsible for a similar change in the cyclic thionocarbonate **38** (eq 34).<sup>89,111</sup> The reaction shown in eq 34 occurs in much higher yield when a large excess of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride is present. One effect of a large excess of Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH is to increase the rate of hydrogen-atom abstraction by the radical **48** (Scheme 16) to the point that ring opening by this radical is too slow to be detected.



### 7. Phenyl-Group Migration

Compound **49**, a xanthate with an *O*-[(alkylthio)thiocarbonyl] group at C-4 and 2,3-*O*-diphenylmethylene protection, undergoes phenyl group migration and ring opening during reaction (eq 35).<sup>154</sup> According to the mechanism proposed in Scheme 17, this reaction depends upon the presence of substituents in the protecting group that can undergo migration by an addition-elimination process. Consistent with this mechanistic proposal is the observation that if the 2,3-*O*-diphenylmethylene group is replaced by a 2,3-*O*-isopropylidene group, normal reaction occurs (eq 36).<sup>155</sup>







## F. Influence of Steric Effects on Reactivity

Reaction of the epimeric thionocarbamates **51** and **52** with Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH illustrates the role that steric effects play in the Barton-McCombie reaction (eq 37).<sup>156</sup> The dramatically different steric environment for the C-3 substituents in **51** and **52** does not have a substantial impact on their reactivity; specifically, the difference of a factor of four in reaction times (reaction rates were not measured) is consistent with only minor influence by steric effects. A possible explanation for this modest difference in reactivity is that although the steric congestion around C-3 in compounds **51** and **52** is substantially different, it is not dramatically different in the area of the sulfur atom, where the reaction is taking place. Comparing the reactivity of the xanthates **53** and **54** provides another example of the modest role of steric effects in the Barton-McCombie reaction. The decidedly more hindered *O*-[(methylthio)thio-carbonyl] group in **54** renders this xanthate (**54**) only about five times less reactive than its epimer **53**.<sup>157</sup>



## G. Regioselectivity

One of the characteristics of the Barton-McCombie reaction is that when it is conducted in the normal manner (i.e., with Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH as the hydrogen-atom donor and AIBN as the initiator), higher temperature is required for reaction of a primary *O*-phenoxythiocarbonyl group than a secondary one.<sup>76,158</sup> This difference in reactivity can become the basis for regioselective reaction; thus, as pictured in Scheme 18, group replacement takes place only at the 3'-position in the nucleoside **55**.<sup>76</sup>





### H. Chemoselectivity

Chemoselectivity in reactions of compounds containing *O*-thiocarbonyl groups is discussed in Section II.B of Chapter 9 in Volume I.

## I. The $\beta$ -Oxygen Effect

An observation about the Barton-McCombie reaction is that some carbohydrates react more easily than would be expected on the basis of model compound behavior. This greater reactivity is observed when the carbon atom in a C–O bond is  $\beta$ -related to a carbon atom bearing an *O*-thiocarbonyl group.<sup>93</sup> Comparison of the reactivities of **56** and **57** illustrates this difference. Compound **56** does not react with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride at 110 °C (it does at 130 °C),<sup>93</sup> but **57**, which also is a primary (thiocarbonyl)imidazolide, does react under these conditions<sup>42,93</sup> This and similar observations led to the proposal that "oxygen bonded to the  $\beta$ -carbon of a carbon radical has a marked stabilizing effect; this permits radical reactions not seen, except at much higher temperatures, in non-oxygenated model compounds."<sup>93</sup> When first proposed, this " $\beta$ -oxygen effect" represented a potentially important factor in carbo-hydrate chemistry because many carbon-centered radicals would be stabilized by its existence.



Considerable effort has been invested in studying the  $\beta$ -oxygen effect. This work has established that the presence of a  $\beta$ -related, carbon–oxygen bond does not necessarily increase the rate of formation of a developing, carbon–centered radical. For example, reaction of a mixture of the xanthates **58** and **59** with a limited amount of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride gave products **60** and **61** in approximately equal amounts (Scheme 19).<sup>159,160</sup> Since this result meant that xanthates **58** and **59** were reacting at essentially the same rate, a  $\beta$ -related, carbon–oxygen bond was providing little, if any, transition-state stabilization for the developing radical **63**.<sup>160</sup>

 $\begin{array}{c} \text{Substituting 13} \\ \text{S}\\ \text{RXCH}_2\text{CH}_2\text{CCSMe} \xrightarrow[-Bu_3\text{SnSCSMe}]{} \text{-} \text{RXCH}_2\text{CH}_2 \xrightarrow[-Bu_3\text{SnH}]{} \text{-} \text{RXCH}_2\text{CH}_3 \\ \hline \text{58} \text{ X} = \text{CH}_2 & \begin{array}{c} \text{Bu}_3\text{Sn} \xrightarrow{} \text{-} \text{RXCH}_2\text{CH}_3 \\ \text{-} Bu_3\text{SnSCSMe} \xrightarrow{} \text{-} \text{CH}_2 \xrightarrow{} \text{CH}_2 \\ \hline \text{59} \text{ X} = \text{O} & \begin{array}{c} \text{61} \text{ X} = \text{O} \\ \text{61} \text{ X} = \text{O} \\ \end{array} \end{array}$ 

A related experiment involved the thionocarbonate **64**, which could react along either of two competing pathways (Scheme 20). If the  $\beta$ -oxygen effect existed, reaction by path b would be favored. Experimentation showed that reaction along each pathway was equally likely; consequently, the conclusion again was that no evidence existed for a  $\beta$ -oxygen effect.<sup>149</sup>





Although these experiments dispelled the idea that a  $\beta$ -related oxygen atom generally provides stabilization to a radical center, they did not explain why the carbohydrate derivative **57** is more reactive than the model compound **56**. An explanation for this behavior, however, does come from study of the equatorial and axial isomers **65** and **66**, respectively. The axial epimer (**66**) with its gauche (synclinal) dipoles is more reactive than the equatorial epimer (**65**) with trans dipoles (Figure 2). The greater reactivity of compound **66** is attributed to eliminating an unfavorable dipole-dipole interaction during bond breaking. Removing such an interaction then appears to be the primary reason for the rate differences that originally were attributed to the  $\beta$ -oxygen effect.<sup>149</sup>



Figure 2. Relative reactivity of axial and equatorial substituents in xanthates 65 and 66

This page titled II. Deoxygenation: The Barton-McCombie Reaction is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **III. Radical Addition**

Addition reactions can be organized on the basis of the process that follows the initial reaction of a carbon-centered radical with a multiple bond to form an adduct radical. For an adduct radical that traces it beginning back to an *O*-thiocarbonyl compound, observed further reactions include atom abstraction and radical elimination. Chapter 18 contains a more general discussion of radical addition reactions, one that focuses more on the compound to which addition is occurring rather than on the radical precursor.

This page titled III. Radical Addition is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **IV. Radical Cyclization**

It is convenient to organize cyclization reactions on the basis of the locations of the reacting multiple bond and the radical center. These two can be either in the carbohydrate framework or in a substituent group. More information about radical cyclization is found in Chapter 19, which is devoted entirely to ring-forming reactions.

This page titled IV. Radical Cyclization is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# V. Comparing the Reactivity of O-Thiocarbonyl and O-Carbonyl Carbohydrates

When one considers the success of *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds as substrates in the Barton- McCombie reaction, a reasonable question to ask is "Why don't *O*-carbonyl carbohydrate derivatives (in particular, *O*-acylated compounds) exhibit similar reactivity?" An answer to this question can be framed in terms of the reactions shown in Scheme 28.<sup>223–225</sup> According to this explanation, the equilibrium involving addition of Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· to a compound with an *O*-thiocarbonyl group produces a far greater concentration of the adduct radical **77** than the concentration of the radical **76** produced by addition of Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· to the corresponding *O*-carbonyl carbohydrate. The dramatically greater equilibrium concentration of **77** leads to a corresponding increased rate of carbohydrate radical (CARB·) formation.<sup>223–225</sup>



Detectable reaction of simple esters with  $Bu_3Sn$  becomes possible only if the low equilibrium concentration of **76** can be increased in some manner or compensated for by rapid further reaction of this radical ( $k_1$  large). Due to these requirements, no reaction takes place under normal Barton-McCombie conditions, but replacement of an acyloxy group with a hydrogen atom does occur when acylated carbohydrates react with ( $C_6H_5$ )<sub>3</sub>Si · under vigorous conditions [( $C_6H_5$ )<sub>3</sub>SiH, 140 °C, 12 h, benzoyl peroxide].<sup>226</sup> Also, under quite different conditions (HMPA,  $H_2O$ , UV light, room temperature) photochemical electron transfer leads to reduction of acylated carbohydrates to the corresponding deoxy compounds.<sup>227</sup> These and other reactions of esterified carbohydrates are discussed in detail in Chapter 8.

This page titled V. Comparing the Reactivity of O-Thiocarbonyl and O-Carbonyl Carbohydrates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VI. Summary

An effective procedure for deoxygenation begins with the conversion of a hydroxyl group in a carbohydrate into an *O*-thiocarbonyl group and ends with a radical reaction (the Barton- McCombie reaction) that replaces the *O*-thiocarbonyl group with a hydrogen atom. Xanthates, (thiocarbonyl)imidazolides, and thionocarbonates are the most common substrates for the Barton- McCombie reaction. Although a number of hydrogen-atom donors can be used in this reaction, the usual choice is tri-*n*-butyltin hydride. Safety concerns about tin hydrides and problems with product purification have caused chemists to turn increasingly to other hydrogen atom sources, in particular, tris(trimethylsilyl)silane. Barton-McCombie reaction is sometimes complicated by competing reactions, the most common of which regenerates the partially protected carbohydrate from which the *O*-thiocarbonyl-containing substrate was synthesized.

Differences in reactivity sometimes favor selecting a particular type of *O*-thiocarbonyl compound. Phenyl thionocarbonates are particularly valuable for hydroxyl group replacement by a hydrogen atom during nucleoside synthesis, and they are the least likely *O*-thiocarbonyl derivative to undergo alcohol regeneration. If reaction of a xanthate is attempted with a hydrogen-atom donor much less effective than tri-*n*-butyltin hydride, xanthate-dithiocarbonate rearrangement can take place. Reactions of tertiary xanthates can be complicated by Chugaev elimination unless these reactions are conducted at low temperature.

Deoxygenation involving cyclic thionocarbonates differs from that of other *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds because reaction involves ring opening. The direction of ring opening determines which of the two carbon atoms in the ring system will become the radical center. A high yield of a single product, therefore, depends on high regioselectivity in the ring-opening process. Cyclic thionocarbonates generally react to give deoxy compounds resulting from formation of the more stable intermediate radical. In some instances release of ring strain during ring opening becomes a factor in determining where the radical center will be located. Mixtures of products are a common result when the two radicals produced by ring opening are comparable in stability.

Radicals produced by reaction of *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds undergo addition reactions when a compound with a reactive multiple bond is present, and they undergo cyclization when the radical itself has a properly positioned multiple bond. In either situation the reactions that take place are of the addition-abstraction or addition-elimination type. The latter includes reactions with double bond migration and those without. Observed radical cyclizations are all addition- abstraction reactions. Most of these involve addition of a framework radical to either a framework multiple bond or to a substituent multiple bond.

This page titled VI. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 13: Carboxylic Acid Esters of N-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione

The discussion in Chapter 12 focused on reactions of *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds prepared by derivatization of hydroxyl groups in partially protected carbohydrates. The current chapter is concerned with reactions of another type of thiocarbonyl compound, one prepared by carboxyl group esterification. The compounds of interest are esters of *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione, sometimes referred to as *O*-acyl-*N*-hydroxy-2-thiopyridones or "Barton esters".

Barton esters generate carbon-centered radicals in photochemically initiated reactions in which the esters themselves produce the chain-carrying radicals needed for the chain reaction to continue (Scheme 1).<sup>1–4</sup> Radical formation from these esters is followed by loss of carbon dioxide and, in the absence of additional reactants (e.g., a compound with an electron-deficient double bond), formation of a product with a sulfur atom bonded to the carbon atom in the carbohydrate framework where the radical was centered (eq 1).<sup>5</sup> The carbon–sulfur bond in the product from Barton ester reaction provides greater flexibility in further synthetic transformation than does the carbon–hydrogen bond that forms when tin or silicon hydrides are present. The synthetic potential of this type of reaction is greater than that indicated in eq 1 because the intermediate, carbon– centered radical also can add to a multiple bond (eq 2),<sup>6,7</sup> abstract a hydrogen atom from a suitable donor (eq 3),<sup>8</sup> or undergo other radical reactions. In effect, through formation and reaction of *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione esters it is possible to replace a carboxyl group in a molecule with a carbon-atom chain or with one of a variety of functional groups.



Propagation Steps



R · = a carbohydrate radical







Since relatively few carbohydrates contain the carboxyl group needed for radical formation by Barton ester photolysis, the requirement that a carbohydrate first be converted into a carboxylic acid places a barrier to the general usefulness of this procedure. In spite of this limitation a number of addition and group replacement reactions exist that are based on radical formation from *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione esters of carbohydrates that have been modified to contain a carboxyl group.

### **Topic hierarchy**

II. Reaction Mechanism

III. Group Replacement Reactions

IV. Addition Reactions

V. Cyclization Reactions

VI. Generating Methyl Radicals

VII. Summary

This page titled 13: Carboxylic Acid Esters of N-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **II. Reaction Mechanism**

The mechanism proposed in Scheme 1 for reaction of an *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione ester is supported by a number of experimental observations. The carbon-centered radical  $R \cdot$  is detectable by ESR spectroscopy,<sup>9</sup> and flash photolysis experiments identify the 2-pyridylthiyl radical (PyS·) as one of the transients formed by ester photolysis.<sup>10,11</sup> Also, the radical-chain nature of the reaction is attested to by quantum yields that range between 6 to 35, depending upon the reaction conditions.<sup>12</sup>

There are several characteristics of reactions of *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione esters that have "come to light" as a result of mechanistic studies. One of these is that addition of R· to the carbon–sulfur double bond is reversible (Scheme 1).<sup>13</sup> Another is that the 2-pyridylthiyl radical, produced by photolysis in the first initiation step (Scheme 1), can add to a molecule of the starting ester in the second initiation step to provide another pathway for acyloxy radical formation.<sup>14</sup>

Several factors contribute to the driving force for the rate-determining step in the reaction shown in Scheme 1. One of these is conversion of a nonaromatic starting material into an aromatic product.<sup>15,16</sup> Another is that a weak N–O bond (BDE = 43 kcal mole<sup>-1</sup>)<sup>17</sup> in the substrate is being replaced with a stronger N–C bond (BDE  $\cong$  76 kcal mole<sup>-1</sup> for the second bond between carbon and nitrogen atoms)<sup>18</sup> in the product.

This page titled II. Reaction Mechanism is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **III. Group Replacement Reactions**

Since the reaction pictured in Scheme 1 depends upon R· adding to a molecule of the starting ester, one way to change the course of this reaction is to introduce a compound that will react more rapidly with R· than does the ester. Thiols meet this requirement.<sup>8,19–25</sup> Hydrogen-atom abstraction by a carbon-centered radical from a thiol is rapid enough ( $k_{\rm H} = 1.4 \times 10^8 \, \text{M}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$  at 25 °C for abstraction from C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>SH by Bu·)<sup>26</sup> to occur in preference to radical reaction with the starting ester.

This page titled III. Group Replacement Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **IV. Addition Reactions**

## A. A Competition Always Present

The rate constant for addition of a typical carbon-centered radical to an ester of *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione ( $k_r \cong 2 \ge 10^6 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$  at 50 °C)<sup>29,30</sup> is large enough that competing addition of such a radical to a reactant with a carbon–carbon multiple bond occurs only for compounds with the most reactive bonds (i.e., those with electron-withdrawing substituents attached.) (The rate constants for addition to these unsaturated reactants are approximately  $1 \ge 10^6 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$  at 20 °C<sup>31</sup>) In practice this means that unless the multiple bond has an electron-withdrawing substituent, the rate of addition of a carbon-centered radical will be too slow to compete effectively with addition to a Barton ester. As is emphasized in Scheme 4, a similarity in rate constants means that the competition between addition of a radical to the unsaturated compound 5, as opposed to addition to a second molecule of the Barton ester 4, depends heavily upon the relative concentrations of these two reactants (4 and 5).



Examples of the competition between radical addition to a molecule with an electron deficient double bond or to a molecule of unreacted starting ester are found in the reactions shown in equations 4-7. In the first of these (eq 4) acrylamide is present in two-fold excess; yet, products from addition of  $\mathbb{R}$  to the amide and to the starting ester are formed in essentially equal amounts.<sup>32</sup> In the second reaction (eq 5) a good yield of the product from radical addition to methyl acrylate requires a five-fold excess of the unsaturated ester.<sup>33</sup> In the reaction shown in eq 6 even a six-fold excess of phenyl vinyl sulfone does not suppress completely addition to the starting ester of some of the carbohydrate radicals.<sup>34</sup> Radical addition to 2-nitropropene is similar to addition to other unsaturated compounds (eq 7).<sup>35,36</sup>







## B. Compounds With Electron-Deficient Multiple Bonds

Generalizing the information in equations 4-7 leads to the conclusion that carbohydrate radicals formed from esters of *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione add to compounds with electron- deficient multiple bonds; specifically, these reactions include radicals combining with  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated amides^{32,37,38} and esters<sup>33,35,39–41</sup> as well as with compounds in which a double bond has either a phenylsulfonyl <sup>34,39,42</sup> or nitro<sup>35,36</sup> substituent. Among reactive compounds addition to the carbon–carbon double bond in ethyl  $\alpha$ -(trifluoroacetoxy)acrylate (**6**)<sup>32,35,43–47</sup> is reported more often than addition to any other compound (Scheme 5). One reason for this is that the resulting adduct (**7**) hydrolyzes under very mild conditions to give an  $\alpha$ -keto ester; thus, radical addition extends the carbon chain by two atoms and introduces easily manipulated functional groups (Scheme 5).<sup>47</sup>



### C. Heteroaromatic Compounds

As the reaction in eq 8 shows, radicals generated from *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione esters also add to aromatic amines.<sup>34,42,48,49</sup> Since this type of reaction occurs only when an acid such at trifluoroacetic acid is present in the reaction mixture, the assumption is that the radical is adding to the protonated amine. [In the absence of an acid only RSPy (eq 8) is formed.] Such an assumption is reasonable because a nucleophilic radical would be expected to react more rapidly with an electron-deficient  $\pi$  system.



## D. Carbohydrates as Chiral Auxiliaries

One synthetic application of carbohydrate-containing esters of *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione uses the carbohydrate moiety as a chiral auxiliary during radical addition.<sup>35,36,40,41,43</sup> The reaction shown in eq 9 illustrates the diastereoselectivity possible in this type of



process.<sup>35</sup> Selectivity in this case results primarily from steric interactions between methyl acrylate and the C-6 substituent in the reactant sugar.<sup>35</sup>



This page titled IV. Addition Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# V. Cyclization Reactions

A radical generated from a Barton ester undergoes cyclization if it contains a properly positioned multiple bond (eq 10<sup>50</sup>).<sup>50,51</sup> Such reactions are not common because unless the needed carboxylic acid is readily available, the steps involved in its synthesis often make this process less attractive than others for generating the carbohydrate radical needed for ring formation.



This page titled V. Cyclization Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VI. Generating Methyl Radicals

Photolysis of acetylated *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione produces a methyl radical (Scheme 6).<sup>52</sup> Methyl radicals generated in this way react with tellurium-containing nucleosides to generate the corresponding, carbon-centered radicals.<sup>52–56</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 6, radical formation from photolysis of *O*-acetyl-*N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione is the first step in producing a new ring system.<sup>52</sup>



This page titled VI. Generating Methyl Radicals is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VII. Summary

Radical reaction of a carboxylic acid ester of *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione causes the weak N–O bond to fragment to produce acyloxy and 2-pyridylthiyl radicals. The acyloxy radical then loses carbon dioxide to form a carbon-centered, carbohydrate radical. Carbon-centered radicals produced in this way abstract hydrogen atoms from highly reactive donors, such as thiols, and they combine with 2-pyridylthiyl radicals formed in the initial N–O bond homolysis. These carbohydrate radicals also can add to  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ - unsaturated esters and amides, to compounds with phenylsulfonyl- or nitro-substituted multiple bonds, and to protonated aromatic amines. Photolysis of acetylated *N*-hydroxypyridine-2-thione provides a source of methyl radicals that react readily with tellurium-containing carbohydrates to produce carbohydrate radicals.

This page titled VII. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 14: Nitro Compounds

Carbohydrates contain two types of nitro groups. The first type has the nitrogen atom in this group attached to a carbon atom in the carbohydrate framework (creating a deoxynitro or *C*-nitro carbohydrate) and the second has the nitrogen atom bonded to an oxygen atom in the carbohydrate structure (making an *O*-nitro carbohydrate or a carbohydrate nitrate). Radical reactions of nitro compounds are highly dependent upon the atom to which the nitro group is bonded.

Topic hierarchy
II. Reaction Mechanisms
III. C-Nitro Carbohydrates
IV. O-Nitro Carbohydrates
V. Reactions of Nitro Compounds with Silanes
VI. Summary

This page titled 14: Nitro Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.





## **II. Reaction Mechanisms**

## A. Addition-Elimination Reaction

The first step in the reaction of the tri-*n*-butyltin radical with a nitro compound is the addition of the radical to one of the oxygen atoms in the nitro group. The reaction that takes place after this initial addition depends upon whether the reactant is an *O*-nitro or a *C*-nitro compound. *O*-Nitro carbohydrates fragment to give alkoxy radicals (Scheme 1). *C*-Nitro carbohydrates have more varied possibilities. The adduct radical either breaks the C–N bond to give a carbon-centered radical, cleaves an O–N bond to form a nitroso compound, or abstracts a hydrogen atom from an available donor, usually Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH (Scheme 2).



R · = a carbon-centered,carbohydrate radical

## **B. Electron Transfer**

Early investigations raised the possibility that reaction of a *C*-nitro compound with the tri-*n*-butyltin radical could involve electron transfer (Scheme 3).<sup>1–3</sup> Later investigation, however, did not support this possibility because the electron transfer between Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn and (CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CHNO<sub>2</sub> (Scheme 3) was found to be endothermic by at least 12 kcal mol<sup>-1</sup>. This endothermic electron transfer was inconsistent with the large rate constant (k = 9.5 x  $10^7 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$ ) observed for reaction between this pair [Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· and (CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CHNO<sub>2</sub>].<sup>4</sup> The conclusion from this latter study was that the addition-elimination mechanism (Scheme 2)<sup>5–8</sup> provided a better explanation for the reaction between Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· and a *C*-nitro compound. The possibility that electron transfer could be involved in reaction of *O*-nitro compounds (Scheme 4) has not been addressed and, thus, remains open.

Scheme 3  

$$\begin{array}{c} & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ \end{array}$$
 $R \cdot \begin{array}{c} & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ \end{array}$ 
 $R \cdot \begin{array}{c} & & \\$ 

R · = a carbon-centered, carbohydrate radical

Scheme 4

$$RONO_2 \xrightarrow{Bu_3Sn} RO - N^{V'}_{O} \xrightarrow{-NO_2^{\Theta}} RO \cdot \xrightarrow{Bu_3SnH} ROH$$

RO · = an oxygen-centered, carbohydrate radical

### C. Photochemical Reaction

Photolysis of an *O*-nitrocarbohydrate fragments the N–O bond in the nitro group to produce nitrogen dioxide and the corresponding alkoxy radical (| Scheme 1).

This page titled II. Reaction Mechanisms is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## III. C-Nitro Carbohydrates

## A. Group Replacement

Since in the reaction of a *C*-nitro compound the stability of the developing radical ( $\mathbb{R}$ ·) affects the ease of cleavage of the carbonnitrogen bond ( $\begin{bmatrix} \text{Scheme 2} \end{pmatrix}$ , group replacement occurs more easily for tertiary nitro compounds<sup>9–14</sup> than for secondary<sup>15–19</sup> and, especially, primary ones.<sup>20–22</sup> Reaction of Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH with a compound containing a tertiary nitro group is given in eq 1.<sup>9</sup> If the nitro group in the substrate is secondary, reaction usually follows the same pathway and replaces this group with a hydrogen atom,<sup>15–18</sup> but sometimes breaking a C–O bond leading to a nitroso compound (which isomerizes to an oxime) offers significant competition (Schemes 2 and 5).<sup>19</sup> When a nitro group is primary, the elimination phase of the reaction is more likely to produce only the nitroso compound (eq 2),<sup>20,21</sup> even though replacement of a primary nitro group with a hydrogen atom has been observed (eq 3).<sup>22</sup>



Scheme 5



### B. Addition Reactions

A nitro group in a reactant molecule can be involved in radical addition in several ways. First, denitration can produce a carboncentered radical that undergoes typical addition to an electron-deficient multiple bond (eq 4).<sup>3</sup> In a different role, nitro groups activate multiple bonds toward addition by nucleophilic radicals and affect the regioselectivity of such reactions (eq 5).<sup>23</sup> Deprotonation of a carbon atom bearing a nitro group creates an unsaturated system to which a carbon-centered radical can add to form a new, C–C bond (Scheme 6<sup>24</sup>).<sup>24–26</sup> Finally, the electron-withdrawing character of a nitro group can contribute to turning a normally nucleophilic radical into one that is electrophilic; thus, the philicity of the radical **1**, which has both nitro and ethoxycarbonyl groups attached to the radical center, is reflected in its ability to add to the electron-rich double bond in the glycal **2** (Scheme 7).<sup>27</sup>





## C. Cyclization Reactions

A cyclization reaction that begins with a *C*-nitro carbohydrate is shown in eq 6.<sup>28</sup> The high yield of this reaction, which involves a radical centered on a tertiary carbon atom adding to a multiple bond, illustrates that radical addition can be relatively insensitive to steric congestion at the radical center.<sup>28,29</sup>





## **D. Elimination Reactions**

A deoxynitro sugar can undergo an elimination reaction, if a radical center develops on a carbon atom adjacent to that bearing the nitro group.<sup>30–32</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 8,<sup>30</sup> such a radical forms and then eliminates nitrogen dioxide to give an unsaturated compound.



This page titled III. C-Nitro Carbohydrates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# IV. O-Nitro Carbohydrates

Reaction of an *O*-nitro carbohydrate with a tri-*n*-butyltin radical or with ultraviolet light produces the corresponding alkoxy radical, an intermediate that is reactive enough to abstract a hydrogen atom from most C–H bonds. Also characterizing the reactivity of alkoxy radicals is rapid carbon–carbon bond cleavage to produce both a compound with a carbonyl group and a carbon-centered radical. Examples of these reactions are discussed in the next several sections.

This page titled IV. O-Nitro Carbohydrates is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# V. Reactions of Nitro Compounds with Silanes

Concerns with the toxicity of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride and the purification problems that accompany its use have spawned a variety of attempts to replace this reagent with a less troublesome one (see Appendix I). Tris(trimethylsilyl)silane normally is an attractive alternative to Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH, but it fails completely in this role in group replacement reactions in nitro compounds. The reason for failure is that the radical formed by addition of (Me<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>Si· to a nitro group does not break the carbon–nitrogen bond required for group replacement but rather cleaves a nitrogen–oxygen bond to begin a sequence of reactions leading to a complex reaction mixture (Scheme 13).<sup>48</sup>



A more effective procedure for reducing the amount of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride needed for nitro-group replacement with a hydrogen atom consists of regenerating  $Bu_3SnH$  from the  $Bu_3SnNO_2$  formed during the substitution process. A pair of reactions that achieve group replacement and regenerate  $Bu_3SnH$  are given in equations 11 and 12. This alternative method requires only 10% of the tri-*n*-butyltin hydride needed in the standard procedure.<sup>49</sup>

$$RNO_2$$
 +  $Bu_3SnH$   $\longrightarrow$   $RH$  +  $Bu_3SnONO$  (11)  
 $Bu_3SnONO$  +  $C_6H_5SiH_3$   $\longrightarrow$   $Bu_3SnH$  +  $C_6H_5SiH_2ONO$  (12)

This page titled V. Reactions of Nitro Compounds with Silanes is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VI. Summary

The type of radical produced by reaction of a nitro group in a carbohydrate depends upon whether this group is bonded to a carbon or an oxygen atom. A nitro group bonded to an oxygen atom invariably fragments to produce an alkoxy radical, but a nitro group attached to a carbon atom either fragments to generate a carbon-centered radical, expels an oxygen-centered radical to form a nitroso compound, or abstracts a hydrogen atom.

The alkoxy radicals produced from *O*-nitro carbohydrates rapidly abstract hydrogen atoms either internally or from molecules present in solution. Competing with or, in some instances, superseding hydrogen-atom abstraction is carbon–carbon bond cleavage to give a carbonyl group and a carbon-centered radical.

The carbon-centered radicals derived from reaction of *C*-nitro carbohydrates form most readily if the radical being produced is tertiary. These radicals undergo typical replacement, addition, and cyclization reactions. Primary radicals are much less likely to form from *C*-nitro carbohydrates; instead, these carbohydrate derivatives usually produce nitroso compounds.

This page titled VI. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.


# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 15: Azides & Azo Compounds

Radicals are involved in both the synthesis and reactions of carbohydrate azides and, to a much lesser extent, azo compounds. The primary contribution of radicals to azide synthesis is in the formation of 2-azido-2-deoxy sugars by addition of azide radicals to glycals. The principal radical reaction of azides is their conversion to amines by reduction with an organotin hydride, often tri*n*-butyltin hydride. The most important contribution of azo compounds to radical chemistry is in their role as reaction initiators.

## **Topic hierarchy**

II. Azides

III. Azo Compounds

IV. Summary

This page titled 15: Azides & Azo Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## II. Azides

## A. Reactions

## 1. Reduction

Azides are reduced to tin-substituted amines by reaction with tin hydrides.<sup>1–9</sup> These tin-containing compounds generally are not isolated; rather, each is converted into either the corresponding amine or an amine derivative. Amine derivatives include compounds formed by reaction of a tin-containing product with an acid halide,<sup>1,2</sup> anhydride,<sup>3</sup> or ester.<sup>4</sup> Free amines are liberated from tin-containing products by a hydrolysis that often takes place during chromatographic purification.<sup>5–9</sup> Examples of reactions producing amine and amine derivatives are found in equations 1<sup>7</sup> and 2,<sup>1</sup> respectively. Conversion of an azide into the corresponding amine also can take place when tri-*n*-butyltin hydride is replaced by tris(trimethylsilyl)silane.<sup>10</sup>



Treatment of azides with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride does not always cause reaction of the azido group.<sup>11–13</sup> Carbohydrates containing *O*-thiocarbonyl substituents (eq 3)<sup>11,12</sup> or iodine atoms (eq 4)<sup>13</sup> undergo chemoselective reaction that leaves the azido group intact. If the amount of  $Bu_3SnH$  is sufficient and the conditions are conducive, azido groups will react after the replacement of more reactive groups is complete.<sup>13</sup>



The tri-*n*-butyltin radical potentially can add to either  $N_{\alpha}$  or  $N_{\gamma}$  in an azido group (Scheme 1), but since the intermediate radical **1** is thought to be a precursor to the tin-containing product **2**, it is assumed that the initial addition of  $Bu_3Sn$  is to  $N_{\alpha}$ .<sup>14–16</sup> As mentioned above and indicated in Scheme 1, normal procedure calls for either hydrolysis or derivatization prior to product isolation.





#### 2. Bromination

Free-radical bromination of a glycosyl azide produces the corresponding *N*-bromoglycosylimine.<sup>17,18</sup> The reaction shown in Scheme 2 begins such a process when H-1 is abstracted regioselectively to give the radical **3**, an intermediate that is stabilized by both the ring oxygen atom and the azido group. Loss of molecular nitrogen, followed by bromine-atom abstraction, completes the reaction.



## 3. Nitrile Formation

If an oxygen-centered radical and an azido group are attached to adjacent carbon atoms, the bond between the carbon atoms cleaves in a reaction leading to a nitrile.<sup>19</sup> In the example shown in Scheme 3, the alkoxy radical **4** fragments to open a six-membered ring; a sequence of steps then leads to the nitrile **5**. Similar ring opening occurs in compounds with five-membered rings.<sup>19</sup>



## **B.** Synthesis

#### 1. Carbohydrate Radical Addition to Ethanesulfonyl and Benzenesulfonyl Azides

It is possible to synthesize a carbohydrate azide by reaction of the corresponding xanthate with ethanesulfonyl azide<sup>20</sup> or benzenesulfonyl azide<sup>20,21</sup> (eq 5<sup>21</sup>). The propagation steps for this type of reaction are outlined in Scheme 4.<sup>21</sup> As shown in eq 6, the presence of an acetoxy group at C-2 reduces product yield when compared to reaction in which such a group is absent (eq 5). The intermediate pyranos-1-yl radical **6**, which adopts a  $B_{2,5}$  boat conformation, is more hindered at C-1 than the pyranos-1-yl radical **7**, which lacks a C-2 substituent and has a chair conformation. (Section IV of Chapter 6 in Volume I contains more information about the conformation of pyranos-1-yl radicals.) In addition to being more hindered at C-1, the radical **6** is less nucleophilic due to the electron-withdrawing nature of the C-2 acetoxy group.







R · = a carbohydrate radical



### 2. Azide Radical Addition to an Unsaturated Carbohydrate

#### a. Azide Radicals

Azide ion is converted into azide radical by reaction with oxidizing agents that include ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate (eq 7)<sup>22</sup> and (diacetoxyiodo)benzene (eq 8).<sup>23</sup> The electrophilic nature of the azide radical is attested to by its addition to electron-rich double bonds such as those found in glycals.<sup>24–47</sup> Atomic orbital coefficients can be critical in determining regioselectivity in a reaction with an early transition state because the rate constant for the bond-forming process between two atoms depends in its early stages on the magnitude of the coefficients of the interacting frontier orbitals.<sup>28,29</sup> In the azide radical addition pictured in Scheme 5, the frontier orbitals are the SOMO of the azide radical and the HOMO of the D-galactal **8**. The more reactive position for addition to the double bond in **8** is at C-2 because, based on simple model systems,<sup>30</sup> the atomic orbital coefficient for the HOMO is larger at C-2 than at C-1 (Figure 1).



 $C_{\theta}H_{\theta}(OAc)_2 + 2NaN_3 \longrightarrow C_{\theta}H_{\theta} + 2NaOAc + 2N_3 \cdot (8)$ 

Scheme 5







## b. Azidonitration

Azidonitration takes place when the azide radical is produced by oxidation of the azide ion by ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate in the presence of a glycal.<sup>24–27,31–39</sup> The stereoselectivity of azide radical addition is dependent on glycal structure; thus, N<sub>3</sub>· adds in a highly selective fashion to the  $\alpha$  face of the D-galactal **8** because the  $\beta$  face is well protected by ring substituents (eq 9).<sup>24</sup> Less effective protection of the  $\beta$  face, which occurs when **8** is replaced by the D-glucal **9**, leads to stereoselectivity that varies as the reaction conditions change (eq 10).<sup>37</sup> When a 4,6-*O*-isopropylidene group is incorporated into the D-glucal structure, it creates a compound that is conformationally less mobile. With this reduction in conformational mobility comes greater stereoselectivity in addition of the azide radical to the D-glucal derivative (eq 11).<sup>37</sup>



## c. Azidophenylselenylation

When azide ion is oxidized by (diacetoxyiodo)benzene, the resulting azide radical will add to a glycal to produce a phenyl selenide if diphenyldiselenide is present in the reaction mixture (eq  $12^{40}$ ).<sup>39–48</sup> The normal solvent for this reaction is dichloromethane, but due to limited solubility of sodium azide in this solvent, reaction usually is heterogeneous, a situation that causes product yields to suffer except in quite dilute solutions. If, however, the azide radical is generated from trimethylsilyl azide, solutions are homogeneous and good product yields are realized (eq 13).<sup>49</sup>



#### d. Azidohalogenation

The azide radical also forms by photolysis of chloroazide (eq 14). When this reaction takes place in the presence of a glycal, azidochlorination results (eq 15).<sup>50</sup> The stereoselectivity of glycal addition by the azide radical formed from photolysis is similar to that observed when this radical is generated by azide ion oxidation. The photochemical reaction is different, however, in that a small amount (13%) of addition occurs in which the positions of the azido and chloro substituents are interchanged. Since photolysis of



chloroazide also produces the electrophilic chlorine atom (eq 14), it is reasonable to expect that sometimes a chlorine atom would add to a glycal at C-2.

 $CI-N_3 \xrightarrow{hv} CI_1 + N_3.$  (14)

## 3. Atom Replacement by an Azido Group

Reaction between iodoazide and a carbohydrate containing a benzyloxy group leads to hydrogen atom replacement by an azido group (eq 16).<sup>51</sup> In this reaction the azide radical abstracts one of the reactive hydrogen atoms from the benzyloxy group to form a benzylic radical. The azido group then can be introduced by one of the proposed pathways shown in Scheme 6.



This page titled II. Azides is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## III. Azo Compounds

Azo compounds, in particular 2,2'-azobis(isobutyronitrile), are ubiquitous initiators in radical reactions, but they rarely participate in these reactions in other ways. One reaction that includes an azo compound in a role other than that as an initiator is shown in eq 17, where the imine **11** is produced by reaction of a carbohydrate radical with an azo compound.<sup>52,53</sup> The dimer **12** is a suggested intermediate in the proposed mechanism for this reaction, which is pictured in Scheme 7.<sup>52,53</sup> After radical reaction is complete, the imine **11** can be hydrolyzed to produce an aminodeoxy sugar.



It is also possible to synthesize an azo compound in a radical reaction. Such a compound is formed when a carbohydrate radical, generated from a deoxyiodo sugar, adds to a diazonium salt (eq 18).<sup>54</sup> The propagation steps for a proposed mechanism for this reaction are shown in Scheme 8.<sup>54</sup>





This page titled III. Azo Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **IV. Summary**

The principal radical reaction of carbohydrate azides is reduction to tin-substituted amines by reaction with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride. Products from this reaction are isolated either as free amines or amine derivatives. Three radical reactions for synthesis of carbohydrate azides are known. One of these involves the addition of a carbohydrate radical to ethanesulfonyl azide. A second is the azidonitration that takes place when an azide radical adds to a glycal in the presence of ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate. Finally, reaction of a glycal with an azide radical and diphenyldiselenide, results in azidophenylselenylation.

This page titled IV. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 16: Nitriles & Isonitriles

Radical reactions of carbohydrate nitriles and isonitriles are not widespread. Isonitrile reactions are rare because these compounds themselves are not common. Their primary reaction is replacement of the isocyano group with a hydrogen atom. Nitriles are more plentiful than isonitriles but less reactive in radical reactions. They typically are involved in radical cyclization. Both nitriles and isonitriles can be synthesized by radical reaction.

- II. Isonitriles
- III. Nitriles
- **IV. Summary**

This page titled 16: Nitriles & Isonitriles is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.





## II. Isonitriles

## A. Reactions

1. Group Replacement

#### a. Isocyano Groups

Reaction of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride with carbohydrates containing isocyano groups replaces each of these groups with a hydrogen atom. Such replacement is known to occur when isocyano groups are attached to anomeric,<sup>1,2</sup> secondary,<sup>3–9</sup> and primary<sup>7–9</sup> carbon atoms. An example of replacement at an anomeric carbon atom is shown in eq 1,<sup>5</sup> while both primary and secondary groups are replaced in the reaction described in Scheme 1.<sup>7,9</sup>



Isocyano group replacement is remarkably temperature sensitive. Reaction of the secondary groups in **1** takes place at 70 °C, but the primary isocyano group is unreactive (Scheme 1).<sup>7,9</sup> When the temperature of the reaction mixture is raised to 80 °C, both groups are replaced. This temperature dependence provides a basis for regioselective reaction.

A mechanism for isocyano group replacement with a hydrogen atom is pictured in Scheme 2.<sup>10</sup> In the first step of this process the tri-*n*-butyltin radical adds to the carbon atom of the isocyano group to produce an imidoyl radical (2). Fragmentation of this radical (2) then generates the carbon-centered radical R·, which abstracts a hydrogen atom from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH to complete the reaction sequence. If R represents a phenyl or substituted-phenyl group, fragmentation to give an aryl radical does not occur; rather, an addition reaction takes place.<sup>11</sup> When tris(trimethylsilyl)silane replaces tri-*n*-butyltin hydride in reduction of isonitriles, compounds containing primary, secondary, or tertiary isocyano groups all are reactive.<sup>12</sup>



## b. Sulfhydryl Groups

An isonitrile can participate in replacement of a sulfhydryl group by a hydrogen atom.<sup>13</sup> Such a reaction is pictured in Scheme 3, where replacement begins when the sulfur-centered radical **4** forms from the thiol **3** by hydrogen-atom abstraction. Addition of **4** to *t*-butyl isocyanide gives the adduct radical **5**, which then fragments to produce the pyranos-1-yl radical **6**. Hydrogen-atom abstraction by **6** from another molecule of the starting thiol (**3**) completes the cycle and begins a new reaction sequence. Sulfhydryl group replacement represents another pathway for generating carbon-centered, carbohydrate radicals.



Scheme 3



# 2. Elimination Reactions

Reaction of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride with a carbohydrate that has adjacent isocyano and *O*-thiocarbonyl groups generates a product with a C–C double bond (Scheme 4).<sup>4</sup> In this reaction radicals **7** and **8** are both possible intermediates. Study of the diisonitrile **9** provides information helpful in choosing between **7** and **8**. Reaction of **9** with  $Bu_3Sn$ · produces a carbon-centered radical (**10**) with an isocyano group attached to the carbon atom adjacent to the radical center (Scheme 5).<sup>8</sup> The intermediate **10** does not expel a cyano radical to form a multiple bond but rather abstracts a hydrogen atom from tri-*n*-butyltin hydride. Extrapolating the behavior of **10** to the reaction shown in Scheme 4 leads to the conclusion that the radical **8** is an unlikely intermediate in this process.





## 3. Addition Reactions

As a part of the replacement process shown in Scheme 2, an isonitrile reacts with  $Bu_3Sn$  to produce an intermediate, carboncentered radical R·. Normal completion of this reaction involves hydrogen-atom abstraction by R· from  $Bu_3SnH$ ; however, if R· is formed without a hydrogen-atom transfer present, it will add to a molecule of isonitrile (Scheme 6). A specific example of this type of reaction is found in eq 2, which describes the  $\alpha$  addition of a pyranos-1-yl radical, formed from a carbohydrate telluride, to an aromatic isonitrile.<sup>14</sup>



## **B.** Synthesis

It is possible to produce isonitriles from isothiocyanates by radical reaction (eq 3).<sup>2</sup> A proposed mechanism for such a structural change is shown in Scheme 7. Isonitrile formation results when reaction is conducted at room temperature (eq 3), but if the reaction temperature is raised to 110 °C, the isonitrile is not isolated because it undergoes isocyano group replacement by a hydrogen atom (eq 4).<sup>2,15</sup>



RN=C=S + Bu₃Sn → RN=C-SSnBu₃

 $RN=C-SSnBu_3 \longrightarrow RN=C: + Bu_3SnS \cdot$ 

Bu₃SnS• + Bu₃SnH ---- Bu₃SnSH + Bu₃Sn•



This page titled II. Isonitriles is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## III. Nitriles

## A. Synthesis

When *t*-butyl isonitrile reacts with a carbon-centered radical, an addition-elimination process takes place that results in the formation of a nitrile (Scheme 8).<sup>16–23</sup> This type of nitrile synthesis is illustrated by the reaction shown in eq 5.<sup>20</sup> ( $\Box$  Scheme 10 in Chapter 2 describes another example of this type of reaction.<sup>22</sup>)



## **B.** Reactions

## 1. Addition to a Cyano Group

Radical reactions of carbohydrate nitriles usually involve internal addition in which a carbon-centered radical generated in close proximity to a cyano group forms a new ring system.<sup>24–31</sup> An example is shown in Scheme 9, where the radical centered on C-6 in **11** adds to the cyano group as a part of this sequential process.<sup>24</sup> Carbohydrate radical formation in this type of reaction typically begins with the tri-*n*-butyltin radical abstracting a halogen atom or an *O*-thiocarbonyl group. After cyclization, the radical abstracts a hydrogen atom from  $Bu_3SnH$  to produce an imine, which in some cases is isolated and in others is hydrolyzed to the corresponding carbonyl compound before isolation.

Scheme 9



## 2. Cyano Group Migration

When a cyclic imino radical forms during carbon-centered radical addition to a cyano group, the possibility exists that ring opening will lead to cyano group migration (Scheme 10).<sup>32–34</sup> Such a reaction is shown in Scheme 11, where migration accompanies ring opening of a benzylidene acetal.<sup>32</sup>







This page titled III. Nitriles is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# IV. Summary

When compared to reactions of halogenated carbohydrates or *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds, radical reactions of nitriles and isonitriles are few in number. The primary reaction for isonitriles is isocyano group replacement by a hydrogen atom. For nitriles the only reaction of significance is internal addition of a carbon-centered radical to a cyano group to form a cyclic imino radical.

Radical reactions can be involved in nitrile and isonitrile synthesis. Isonitriles are formed from reaction of isothiocyanates with tri*n*-butyltin hydride. Nitriles are produced by addition of a carbon-centered radical to *t*-butyl isonitrile and subsequent elimination of the *t*-butyl radical.

This page titled IV. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 17: Oxime Ethers & Related Compounds

Carbon-centered radicals add to compounds containing carbon–nitrogen double bonds. Most reactions of this type are internal additions involving oxime ethers, but similar transformations of hydrazones, ketonitrones, and protonated heteroaromatics also take place.<sup>1,2</sup> When compared to addition to carbon–carbon double bonds, reactions of their carbon–nitrogen counterparts are similar in that they are rarely reversible<sup>1</sup> but different in that the rate constants for addition are larger. Also, the final products from addition to carbon–nitrogen double bonds contain functional groups that more easily undergo further modification.<sup>1</sup>

II. Oximes III. Hydrazones and Imines IV. Ketonitrones V. Protonated Heteroaromatics VI. Protected Amines VII. Summary

This page titled 17: Oxime Ethers & Related Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.





## II. Oximes

## A. Addition Reactions

A carbon-centered radical adds preferentially to the carbon atom in the carbon–nitrogen double bond of an oxime ether (Scheme 1). The regioselectivity of this reaction is consistent with a radical adding to the oxime ether to produce the more stable of the two possible adduct radicals; that is, the radical stabilized by an oxygen atom attached to the radical center. Examples of this type of reaction are found in the addition of a pyranos-1-yl radical to *O*-benzylformaldoxime (eq 1),<sup>3</sup> and reaction of a nucleoside radical center at C-3' to a nucleoside-containing oxime ether (eq 2).<sup>4,5</sup>

Scheme 1



R · = carbohydrate radical



The carbon-centered radicals that add to oxime ethers typically are formed from the corresponding iodides and bromides by reaction with  $Bu_3Sn$ . Because simple reduction offers significant competition to radical addition,  $Bu_3SnH$  is not the best source for the tin-centered radicals participating in these reactions. Addition is more successful when  $Bu_3Sn$  is generated from bis(tri-*n*-butyltin)benzpinacolate (**2**), a compound that produces  $Bu_3Sn$  but suppresses simple reduction by not introducing an effective hydrogen-atom transfer into the reaction mixture (Scheme 2).<sup>3</sup> In the absence of such a donor the radical phase of this reaction is thought to produce the tin-containing compound **4**, which then is hydrolyzed to the benzyloxyamine **5** in a nonradical reaction (Scheme 2).



#### Scheme 2

radical reaction Bu<sub>3</sub>SnO **OSnBu** C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub> C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub> C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub> C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub> 3 2 (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>2</sub>COSnBu<sub>3</sub> → Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn + (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>2</sub>C=O RBr + Bu₃Sn• ----→ R• + Bu<sub>3</sub>SnBr R∙ + `N=C′ − -R + (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>2</sub>ĊOSnBu<sub>3</sub> -(C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>6</sub>)<sub>2</sub>COSnBu<sub>3</sub> nonradical reaction N-C-R -H20 -R + Bu<sub>3</sub>SnOH + (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>2</sub>C=O (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>2</sub>COSnBu<sub>3</sub> R · = carbohydrate radical

## **B.** Cyclization Reactions

## 1. Regioselectivity

An example of regioselective radical cyclization involving an oxime ether is shown in Scheme 3.<sup>6</sup> One factor important in determining regioselectivity in this type of reaction is the energetically favored addition of a radical to the carbon atom of the carbon–nitrogen double bond ( $\Box$  Scheme 1). Also of importance is the preference during radical cyclization of oxime ethers for forming five-membered rather than six-membered rings when both are possible and six-membered rather than seven-membered rings when either one could be formed.<sup>7</sup>





#### 2. Stereoselectivity

Radical cyclization converts open-chain oxime ethers into highly substituted, alkoxyamino cyclopentanes<sup>6,8–14</sup> and cyclohexanes.<sup>7,15–17</sup> As is often the case in radical cyclization reactions, stereoselectivity can be understood, if one assumes that the lowest energy transition state is a chair-like structure that maximizes the number of pseudoequatorial substituents. The reaction shown in Scheme 3, for example, generates compounds with two new chiral centers but produces only two (**9** and **10**) of the four possible stereoisomers.<sup>6</sup> These two isomers arise from the chair-like transition states **7** and **8**, respectively. The transition state **8**, leading to the major product **10** has the greater number of pseudoequatorial substituents.

In light of the reaction of the oxime ether **6** (Scheme 3) one might expect the structurally similar oxime ether **11** (eq 3) also to produce only the two stereoisomers **14** and **15**, that is, the products expected from reaction via chair-like transition states. Actually, **11** produces all four possible stereoisomers (eq 3), and neither **14** nor **15** is the major product.<sup>11</sup> The major product (**12**) arises from reaction involving the boat-like transition state **16** (Scheme 4). Similar amounts of energy often are required to reach chair-like and boat-like transition states in radical cyclization reactions (Section IV.A in Chapter 11 of Volume I); consequently, differences in structure near the reactive centers can affect product distribution significantly.







One difference between the substrates **6** and **11** is that **6** has a benzyloxy group at C-2 ([] Scheme 3), and **11** has an acetamido group at this position (Scheme 4). The possibility exists that hydrogen bonding involving the acetamido group stabilizes the transition state **16** to the point that the reaction pathway containing this boat-like structure (**16**) becomes the lowest energy one (Scheme 4).

An *O*-isopropylidene group that is close to the reactive centers in a cyclization reaction has a pronounced effect of stereoselectivity.<sup>17–24</sup> This effect is illustrated by the reaction shown in Scheme 5, where the sole product has the NHOBn substituent on the side of the newly formed ring that is opposite to the *O*-isopropylidene group.<sup>18</sup> In this reaction the chair-like conformation (**17**) of the intermediate radical is greatly favored over its boat-like counterpart (**18**) due, in large measure, to destabilizing steric interactions that involve the *O*-isopropylidene group.



#### 3. Radical Forming Reactions

Carbohydrate radicals that add internally to carbon–nitrogen double bonds come from a variety of sources. Such radicals often form by reaction of *O*-thiocarbonyl compounds<sup>6,8-11,20,21,23</sup> or bromides<sup>15-19</sup> with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride. Reactions of Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH with



carbonyl compounds<sup>12</sup> and dithioacetals<sup>13</sup> represent two less common ways for generating radicals that then undergo ring formation. The necessary radicals also can be formed by electron-transfer reaction.

## 4. Preserving the Double Bond

Normally, the double bond in an oxime ether is converted into a single bond during ring formation, but when an *O*-trityl oxime undergoes cyclization, the carbon–nitrogen double bond is preserved in the product. A proposed mechanism for this type of reaction is shown in Scheme 6, and the preferred reagents, all of which are critical to the success of the reaction, are given in eq  $4^{24}$  Slow addition of Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH and the initiator ABC also are necessary for synthetically useful reaction. The persistent radical  $(C_{6}H_{5})_{3}C$  hinders chain propagation by its slow reaction with Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH; consequently, to avoid buildup of  $(C_{6}H_{5})_{3}C$ , diphenyl diselenide, a convenient precursor for the very reactive hydrogen-atom transfer  $C_{6}H_{5}$ SeH, can be added to the reaction mixture. This addition replaces a slow reaction (eq 5) with two rapid ones (eq 6 and eq 7).<sup>24</sup> Although the carbohydrates that have been studied thus far give good product yields without addition of diphenyl diselenide, other compounds do not; consequently, the selenide inclusion in the reaction mixture is now part of the recommended procedure.



#### 5. Enhanced Reactivity of Vinylic Radicals

Attempted cyclization of the radical generated from the bromide **21** produces only the simple-reduction product **22** (eq 8), but reaction of the related vinylic bromide **23** gives both a cyclic product and a simple-reduction product (eq 9).<sup>25</sup> One factor that may contribute to the difference in ability of compounds **21** and **23** to undergo radical cyclization is the considerable reactivity of vinylic radicals. This reactivity may be sufficient to cause new ring formation during reaction of **23**.







In addition to halogen-atom abstraction, vinylic radicals also form by reaction of a tin-centered radical with a compound containing a carbon–carbon triple bond.<sup>26–30</sup> When a radical formed in this way adds internally to a carbon–nitrogen double bond, it produces a cyclic, tin-containing product (eq 10).<sup>26</sup> The triple bond in such reactions usually is a terminal one, but internal bonds, particularly those in conjugation with radical-stabilizing groups, also undergo reaction.<sup>30</sup>



## C. Electron-Transfer Reaction

Electron transfer provides another means for generating a ring-forming radical from an oxime ether. The electron donor in such reactions typically is samarium(II) iodide and the electron acceptor often is an oxime ether containing a halogen atom. A typical reaction is shown in Scheme 7,<sup>31</sup> where dissociative electron transfer involving the carbon–iodine bond in **24** leads to formation of the carbon-centered radical **25**. Cyclization and hydrogen-atom abstraction complete this reaction by forming the cyclopentylamine derivative **27** in a process that passes through the boat-like transition state **26**. Although chair-like transition states typically are favored in cyclization reactions, in this case chair-like structures have destabilizing interaction between C-1 and C-2 substituents; furthermore, the other boat-like transition state (**28**) has reduced stability due to the interaction between the C-1 and C-6 substituents (Scheme 7). If excess SmI<sub>2</sub> is present during reaction, dissociative electron transfer breaks the N–O bond in **27** to produce, after hydrogen-atom abstraction, the corresponding cyclopentylamine **29** (Scheme 8). Nonradical migration of the acyl group from oxygen to nitrogen then forms the final product (**30**).<sup>31</sup> (Samarium(II) iodide also cleaves N–O bonds that are not formed from reaction of oxime ethers.<sup>32</sup>)







Electron transfer to an aldehydo or keto group in a oxime ether also can be the initial step in ring formation.<sup>33–38</sup> When  $SmI_2$  is the electron-donor, the first reactive intermediate is a samarium ketyl formed by one-electron reduction of the carbonyl group.<sup>1</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 9, the carbon atom on which the radical in the samarium ketyl **31** is centered adds internally to the carbon–nitrogen double bond leading to the cyclic product **32**. When excess  $SmI_2$  is present, electron transfer to **32** causes N–O bond cleavage and ultimate replacement of the *O*-benzyl group attached to nitrogen with a hydrogen atom (Scheme 9).<sup>36</sup> Similar cyclization has been observed when the tri-*n*-butyltin radical reacts with a oxime ether containing an aldehydo or keto group.<sup>39</sup>





## D. Oxime Esters as Radical Sources

The signature event of the cyclization reactions discussed thus far is a carbon-centered radical adding to a carbon–nitrogen double bond in an oxime ether. The majority of ring-forming reactions involving oxime derivatives take place in this way, but a change occurs in the reaction shown in Scheme 10, where the adding radical (**34**) is generated from an *O*-benzoyloxime.<sup>40</sup> In general, adding  $Bu_3Sn$  to an *O*-benzoyl group is an inauspicious beginning for a radical reaction because such addition reverses rapidly, nearly always before any other reaction can occur. Further reaction is possible in this case (Scheme 10) due primarily to rapid fragmentation of the weak N-O bond in the initially formed radical **33**.<sup>40</sup>





## E. Oxime Synthesis

Oximes can be the products of radical reaction.<sup>41,42</sup> When the cobalt-containing, D-glucopyranosyl derivative **35** is photolyzed, the radical produced adds to a molecule of nitric oxide to give a nitroso compound. This compound then tautomerizes to form the corresponding oxime **36** (eq 11).<sup>41</sup>



This page titled II. Oximes is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## III. Hydrazones and Imines

Radical reactions of carbohydrate hydrazones<sup>2,43–46</sup> are less common than those of oxime ethers; reactions of imines<sup>43</sup> are still more rare. The reported reactions of hydrazones, such as that shown in eq 12,<sup>43</sup> all involve radical cyclization. The substrates in most of these reactions are esters derived from (2,2-diphenylhydrazono)acetic acid (eq 13).<sup>44,45</sup>



The reaction shown in eq 14 pictures a highly stereoselective cyclization involving a carbohydrate hydrazone.<sup>46</sup> Stereoselectivity in this reaction is determined by the preferred conformation (**37**, Figure 1) of the intermediate produced by a phenylthiyl radical adding to the carbon–carbon double bond in the substrate. Conformation **37** has the carbon–nitrogen bond *anti* to the adjacent carbon–oxygen bond. The conformation **38**, expected to be more stable because it has more pseudoequatorial substituents, is destabilized by dipole-dipole interactions arising from a gauche relation between the neighboring C=N and C–O bonds.<sup>46</sup>



This page titled III. Hydrazones and Imines is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **IV. Ketonitrones**

The ketonitrone **39** undergoes radical cyclization when treated with excess SmI<sub>2</sub> (Scheme 11).<sup>47</sup> This reaction is similar to that shown in [] Scheme 9 for a related ketooxime. Both reactions depend upon electron transfer from SmI<sub>2</sub>, and each produces a new five-membered ring. These reactions are stereoselective but their selectivity is controlled in different ways. In the reaction of the ketonitrone, samarium remains coordinated with the oxygen atoms in the two developing substituent groups during reaction. This coordination insures the stereoselective formation of a cyclopentane ring in which the OH and N(OH)Bn groups are cis-related (Scheme 11). Since similar coordination does not occur during ketooxime reaction (Scheme 9), the emerging OH and NHOBn groups are not held on the same side of the ring; in fact, due to the steric size of the groups attached to the bonding carbon atoms in the radical **31**, OH and NHOBn groups become trans-related in the product **32**.



This page titled IV. Ketonitrones is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# V. Protonated Heteroaromatics

Pyranos-1-yl and furanos-1-yl radicals add to protonated heteroaromatics to produce *C*-nucleoside derivatives.<sup>48–54</sup> A proposed mechanism for this type of reaction is given in Scheme 12.<sup>50</sup> Protonation dramatically increases the rate of addition of a carbon-centered radical to a heteroaromatic compound; in fact, the rate is so fast that it is not necessary to conduct the reaction in an inert atmosphere. Not only does reaction take place in the presence of molecular oxygen but oxygen is a likely participant in the rearomatization stage of this process (Scheme 12). In reactions of this type the initially formed radical (R·) usually is generated by photolysis of an *O*-acyl-*N*-hydroxy-2-thiopyridone (eq 15).<sup>48</sup> (Reactions of *O*-acyl-*N*-hydroxy-2-thiopyridones are discussed in Chapter 13.)



This page titled V. Protonated Heteroaromatics is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **VI. Protected Amines**

The benzyloxycarbonyl protected amine **40** reacts with (diacetoxyiodo)benzene–iodine to give a product (**41**) that contains a new ring system (eq 16).<sup>55</sup> The proposed mechanism for this reaction (Scheme 13) involves internal hydrogen-atom abstraction by a nitrogen-centered radical. Similar internal hydrogen-atom abstraction takes place when a nitrogen-centered radical is generated from a sulfonamidate.<sup>56</sup> Such reactions are reminiscent of the hydrogen-atom abstraction by alkoxy radicals described in Chapter 6.



This page titled VI. Protected Amines is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VII. Summary

Carbon-centered radicals add to carbon–nitrogen double bonds in oxime ethers, hydrazones, ketonitrones, and protonated heteroaromatics. These reactions are regiospecific with addition occurring to the carbon atom in the double bond. The majority of such reactions involve oxime ethers and usually result in formation of a new ring. These cyclization reactions often are quite stereoselective. This is particularly true if an *O*-isopropylidene group is near the reactive center, in which case the nitrogencontaining substituent and the *O*-isopropylidene group in the product are on opposite sides of the new ring. Radical addition to protonated heteroaromatics is different from addition to other compounds containing carbon–nitrogen multiple bonds because addition is always followed by hydrogen-atom abstraction that rearomatizes the ring.

This page titled VII. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 18: Compounds with Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds I: Addition Reactions

Earlier chapters in this book describe radical formation from reaction of various carbohydrate derivatives. Among the reactions of these radicals is addition to unsaturated compounds. The current chapter builds on earlier ones in that the discussion of radical addition reactions continues, but the focus in the present chapter is less on how radicals are formed and more on the process of their addition to compounds with carbon–carbon multiple bonds.

## **Topic hierarchy**

II. Defining Characteristics of Radical Addition Reactions

- **III. Chain Reactions**
- IV. Nonchain Reactions: Radical Formation by Electron Transfer
- V. Summary

This page titled 18: Compounds with Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds I: Addition Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# II. Defining Characteristics of Radical Addition Reactions

## A. Reaction Mechanisms

Radical addition can take place by either chain or nonchain reaction. For each of these there are two variations on the basic reaction mechanism. For chain reactions (Schemes 1 and 2) each variation has a different type of chain-transfer step. For nonchain reactions both mechanisms involve electron transfer. They differ in that the transfer is either from (Scheme 3) or to (Scheme 4) an organometallic complex.

Scheme 1 RX + Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn · ---- R · + Bu<sub>3</sub>SnX R + CH2=CHE - RCH2CHE RCH<sub>2</sub>CHE + Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH → RCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>E + Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn chain-transfer step R · = carbohydrate radical X = reactive group or atom E = an electron-withdrawing group Scheme 2 RX + Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn · ---- R · + Bu<sub>3</sub>SnX R+ + CH<sub>2</sub>=CHCH<sub>2</sub>SnBu<sub>3</sub> ----- RCH<sub>2</sub>CHCH<sub>2</sub>SnBu<sub>3</sub> RCH<sub>2</sub>CHCH<sub>2</sub>SnBu<sub>3</sub> → RCH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub> + Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn · chain-transfer step R · = carbohydrate radical X = reactive group or atom Scheme 3 RX + Cp2Ti<sup>III</sup>CI ----- R· + Cp2Ti<sup>IV</sup>CIX R. + CH2=CHE - RCH2CHE Cp<sub>2</sub>Ti<sup>IV</sup>CI RCH2CHE + CP2TIIICI ----- RCH2CHE R• = carbohydrate radical X = a reacting group or atom E = an electron-withdrawing group Scheme 4 RH + Mn<sup>III</sup>(OAc)<sub>3</sub> - R· + Mn<sup>II</sup>(OAc)<sub>2</sub> + HOAc R + CH2=CHOCARB ---- RCH2CHOCARB RCH2CHOCARB + Mn(OAc)3 - RCH2CHOCARB + Mn(OAc)2 + OAc RH = a CH-acidic compound R · = an electron-deficient radical CARB = carbohydrate moiety

## 1. Chain Reactions

Both mechanisms for radical addition by chain reaction have a propagation phase that begins with group or atom abstraction (Schemes [] 1 and [] 2). In each of these mechanisms Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· is shown as the abstracting radical, although other radicals [e.g., (Me<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>Si·] are capable of filling this role. The defining difference between these two mechanisms is the chain-transfer step. In the reaction shown in Scheme 1 it is bimolecular, and in that in Scheme 2 it is unimolecular.

## a. Bimolecular Chain Transfer

The distinguishing feature of a chain reaction that takes place by bimolecular chain-transfer is an elementary reaction between a radical and a nonradical that ends one propagation sequence and creates the radical that begins a new sequence. In the reaction shown in  $\Box$  Scheme 1, chain transfer occurs when the adduct radical abstracts a hydrogen atom from Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH to form the addition product RCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>E and generate the chain-carrying radical Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn·.



## b. Unimolecular Chain Transfer

Unimolecular chain transfer describes a reaction in which the chain-transfer step in a propagation sequence is an elementary reaction with a single reactant. The propagation steps for a typical, unimolecular, chain-transfer reaction are shown in  $\Box$  Scheme 2, where the transfer step is a  $\beta$ -fragmentation that produces an unsaturated compound and a chain-carrying radical.

## 2. Nonchain Reactions

Schemes 3 and 4 each describe a mechanism for a reaction that has no repeating cycle. In the first of these ( $\Box$  Scheme 3) the carbohydrate radical R· forms by electron transfer from a transition-metal complex (Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl) to a carbohydrate derivative. (Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl is one of several transition-metal complexes known to function as an electron donor in this type of reaction.) Radical reaction ends when a second molecule of Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl combines with an adduct radical to produce an unstable, carbometallic product. Products of this type undergo rapid, nonradical reaction (e.g., elimination of the elements of Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl to form a double bond).

In the second type of nonchain reaction ([] Scheme 4) radical formation occurs when the transition-metal complex donates an electron to a CH-acidic compound. The radical phase of the reaction ends with a second electron transfer, one that produces a carbocation. This cation undergoes rapid, nonradical reaction, such as capture by a molecule of solvent.

## **B. Selectivity in Addition Reactions**

## 1. Chemoselectivity

Chemoselectivity is of consequence at two stages in a radical addition reaction. The first is in the radical forming step, where selectivity is determined by the reactivity of the functional groups present in a molecule of substrate. Forming the desired radical is accomplished at this stage by insuring that the radical precursor has the most reactive substituent attached to the carbon atom where the radical center is to be located. The next place at which selectivity potentially is of significance is during radical addition to the multiple bond. Chemoselectivity is meaningful at this time if there are two or more multiple bonds to which addition can occur.

## 2. Regioselectivity

Most radical addition reactions involving carbohydrates are regiospecific. Addition occurs exclusively at the less substituted carbon atom in a multiple bond. The way in which the pyranos-1-yl radical **2** adds to acrylonitrile is typical (Scheme 5).<sup>1,2</sup> The reactions in Tables [] **1** and [] **2** document a similar regiospecificity in the addition of **2** to other unsaturated compounds. The data in Tables 3-5 show that reactions of other pyranos-1-yl radicals exhibit similar reactivity. (All of these tables are located at the end of this chapter.)



Both steric and polar effects have a role in determining regiospecificity in addition reactions. Steric effects become progressively more important as the effective size of the substituents near a multiple bond in an unsaturated compound increases and as the effective size of the adding radical increases. Polar effects exert themselves whenever a nucleophilic radical adds to an electron-deficient multiple bond, or an electrophilic radical adds to an electron-rich multiple bond. The extent of the influence of each effect depends upon the point at which the transition state is reached as a reaction progresses. For example, because addition of a nucleophilic radical to an electron-deficient multiple bond (the most common type of addition reaction) is exothermic, such a reaction should have an early (reactant-like) transition state<sup>11</sup> with minimal, new bond formation. When there is little new bond formation at the transition state, there is a diminished opportunity for steric interactions to affect regioselectivity. The situation with



polar effects is different because, as described in the next paragraph, they can exert considerable regioselective control in a reaction that has an early transition state.

For a reaction with an early transition state the molecular orbitals in the reactants do not change greatly by the time the transition state is reached. In such a situation frontier-orbital interactions are helpful not only in understanding why a reaction takes place but also in explaining reaction regioselectivity. Briefly, reaction occurs readily because the SOMO of the carbohydrate radical and the LUMO of the unsaturated reactant are energetically close enough for significant stabilizing interaction between the two at the transition state (Figure 1).<sup>12,13</sup> The extent of early bonding between a radical and the carbon atoms in a reacting multiple bond is a function of the magnitude of the atomic orbital coefficient at each carbon atom in the LUMO of the unsaturated reactant. Attaching an electron-withdrawing or electron-donating substituent to a multiple bond such as that found in an  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated nitrile or carbonyl compound, regiospecific addition to the  $\beta$ -carbon atom reflects the greater magnitude of the atomic orbital coefficient at this atom in the LUMO when compared to the magnitude of the coefficient at the  $\alpha$  carbon atom (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Frontier orbital interactions for addition of an unsubstituted, carbon-centered radical to an electron-deficient double bond

## 3. Stereoselectivity

As described in the next several sections, stereoselectivity in radical addition reactions is determined by a combination of steric and stereoelectronic effects. The stereoelectronic effect of primary importance is the kinetic anomeric effect. Steric effects that have an impact on reaction stereoselectivity have various names, but they all depend on steric interactions favoring a particular approach of an unsaturated compound or a hydrogen-atom transfer to a radical center.

#### a. The Kinetic Anomeric Effect

The reaction between the pyranos-1-yl radical **2** and an unsaturated compound with an electron-deficient double bond is highly stereoselective ( $\Box$  Scheme 5). Preferential reaction on the  $\alpha$  face of the pyranoid ring in **2** is due, in large part, to the kinetic anomeric effect (discussed in Chapter 11 of Volume I). Stereoselectivity in the addition reactions of **2** also is affected by reaction conditions. The information in  $\Box$  Table 1 includes several sets of conditions suitable for highly stereoselective reaction with little, competing simple reduction.

The selectivity observed in reactions of **2** extends to other D-hexopyranos-1-yl radicals. Reactions of the D-galacto- and D-mannopyranosyl bromides **8** (eq 1) and **11** (eq 2), respectively, are at least as stereoselective as those of the corresponding D-glucopyranosyl bromide **1**. The data in Tables [] 3 and [] 4 confirm that reactions of **8** and **11** occur preferentially on the  $\alpha$  face of the pyranoid ring.





## b. Steric Effects

## (1). Group Shielding

Group shielding causes preferential addition to the less-hindered face of a ring system. In the reaction shown in eq 3 the 2,3-O-isopropylidene group shields the  $\alpha$  face of the radical centered at C-4 in the pyranoid ring from approach by the unsaturated reactant.<sup>14</sup>



## (2). Size of the Unsaturated Reactant

The reaction shown in Scheme 6 illustrates the combined effect of steric size of the unsaturated reactant and group shielding of a radical by ring substituents.<sup>15</sup> In this reaction the amount of addition to the better shielded,  $\beta$  face of the pyranoid ring in the radical **13** decreases as the effective size of the unsaturated reactant increases. The data in Scheme 6 show that, even in a reaction with an early transition state, steric effects can have a significant role in determining reaction stereoselectivity if these effects are large enough.



## (3). Size of the Hydrogen-atom transfer

Sometimes a reaction forms the less stable of two possible stereoisomers due to restricted approach of a hydrogen-atom transfer to a radical center in the product-forming step. In the reaction shown in Scheme 7, for example, the less hindered approach of sodium hypophosphite to the  $\beta$  face of the furanoid ring produces the less stable stereoisomer in greater the 95% yield.<sup>16</sup>





This page titled II. Defining Characteristics of Radical Addition Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.


# **III. Chain Reactions**

Radical addition that takes place by chain reaction naturally divides into three categories. These three are reactions in which (a) a carbohydrate radical adds to an unsaturated noncarbohydrate, (b) a noncarbohydrate radical adds to an unsaturated carbohydrate, and (c) both reaction participants are carbohydrates. Each group can be further divided into mechanistic type, a distinction based upon whether a reaction has a bimolecular or a unimolecular chain-transfer step.

This page titled III. Chain Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## IV. Nonchain Reactions: Radical Formation by Electron Transfer

## A. Transition-Metal Complexes as Electron Donors

As is indicated in  $\Box$  Scheme 3, radical formation in a nonchain reaction often occurs by dissociative electron transfer from a transition-metal complex (e.g., Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl) to a halogenated carbohydrate. An example of such a reaction is shown in eq 38, where electron donation by Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl enables a pyranos-1-yl radical to be formed from the glycosyl bromide 1; this radical then adds to methyl vinyl ketone.<sup>181</sup> Other reactions of this type, all of which are nonchain and involve pyranos-1-yl radicals generated from glycosyl bromides, are listed in  $\Box$  Table 6.



Although the reactions shown in [] Table 6 are nonchain in nature and, thus, do not require the typical addition of a catalytic amount of an initiator, they can be made catalytic in the transition-metal complex, if the metal ion in the complex is returned to its original oxidation state quickly after electron transfer. An example of a reaction taking place by such a process is found in Scheme 27, where Ni(I) is proposed to be continuously formed by reaction of Ni(II) with manganese metal.<sup>25</sup>



```
\begin{split} \text{Ni}^{il}(\text{tmc})_2 + \text{RBr} &\longrightarrow \text{Ni}^{il}(\text{tmc})_2\text{Br} + \text{R} \cdot \\ \text{R} \cdot + \text{CH}_2\text{=}\text{CHCN} &\longrightarrow \text{RCH}_2\dot{\text{CHCN}} \\ \text{RCH}_2\dot{\text{CHCN}} + \text{HP}(\text{C}_6\text{H}_5)_2 &\longrightarrow \text{RCH}_2\text{CH}_2\text{CN} + \cdot \text{P}(\text{C}_6\text{H}_5)_2 \\ 2 \text{Ni}^{il}(\text{tmc})_2 + \text{Mn} &\longrightarrow 2 \text{Ni}^{il}(\text{tmc})_2 + \text{Mn}^{ill} \\ \text{R} \cdot = \overbrace{\text{AcO}}^{\text{CH}_2\text{OAc}} \cdot \text{tmc} = \overbrace{N}^{\text{N}} \underset{N}{N} \underset{N}{N} \end{split}
```

Cobalt is another transition metal capable of forming carbohydrate radicals by electron transfer.<sup>183–187</sup> An overall reaction showing electron donation by a cobalt complex is given in eq 39, but the transfer actually takes place in two, distinct steps (equations 40 and 41). Because many cobalt complexes of carbohydrates are stable enough to be isolated, the radical forming step for reactions of such compounds is carbon–cobalt bond homolysis (eq 41). Eq 42 describes a reaction in which a pyranos-1-yl radical, produced by C–Co bond homolysis, adds to a molecule of styrene.<sup>184</sup>

$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{RBr} + {}^{\circ}\operatorname{Co}^{I}(\operatorname{dmgH})py \longrightarrow \operatorname{R}^{\circ} + \cdot \operatorname{Co}^{II}(\operatorname{dmgH})py + \operatorname{Br}^{\circ} \quad (39) \\ \operatorname{RBr} + {}^{\circ}\operatorname{Co}^{I}(\operatorname{dmgH})py \longrightarrow \operatorname{RCo}^{III}(\operatorname{dmgH})py + \operatorname{Br}^{\circ} \quad (40) \\ \operatorname{RCo}^{III}(\operatorname{dmgH})py \longrightarrow \operatorname{R}^{\circ} + \cdot \operatorname{Co}^{II}(\operatorname{dmgH})py \quad (41) \\ \operatorname{CH}_{2}\operatorname{Co}(\operatorname{dmgH})_{2}py \qquad \qquad \operatorname{CH}_{2}\operatorname{CH}_{2}\operatorname{CH}_{6}\operatorname{H_{6}} + \operatorname{CH}_{2}\operatorname{CH}_{6}\operatorname{H_{6}} + \operatorname{CH}_{2}\operatorname{CH}_{6}\operatorname{H_{6}} + \operatorname{HCo}(\operatorname{dmgH})_{2}py \quad (42) \\ \operatorname{HO} \qquad \qquad \operatorname{CH}_{2}\operatorname{CH}_{2}\operatorname{CH}_{6}\operatorname{H_{6}} + \operatorname{HCo}(\operatorname{dmgH})_{2}py \quad (42) \end{array}$$

## B. Transition-Metal Complexes as Electron Acceptors

Reaction of a CH-acidic compound such as  $CH_2(CO_2CH_3)_2$  with  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$  [or  $Mn(OAc)_3$ ] transfers an electron to the transition-metal complex to produce  $\cdot CH(CO_2CH_3)_2$ , an electron-deficient radical ( $\Box$  Scheme 4).<sup>188–192</sup> This radical then adds to an electron-rich double bond, such as that found in a typical glycal (eq 43).<sup>189</sup> A similar glycal addition takes place with the electrophilic radical  $CH_3NO_2$ , which is formed by electron transfer from  $CH_3NO_2$  to  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$ .<sup>193</sup>





This page titled IV. Nonchain Reactions: Radical Formation by Electron Transfer is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# V. Summary

Radical addition to compounds with carbon–carbon multiple bonds can take place by several reaction mechanisms. The most common of these is a chain reaction that is characterized by a bimolecular, chain-transfer step. This type of reaction governs addition to unsaturated compounds of radicals centered on various carbon atoms in pyranoid and furanoid rings. These reactions are regiospecific and often highly stereoselective. Since most carbon-centered radicals, including those derived from carbohydrates, are nucleophilic, successful addition requires an electron-withdrawing substituent attached to one of the carbon atoms of the multiple bond. The primary limitation placed on this type of addition reaction is that it is in competition with a hydrogen-atom abstraction reaction that causes simple reduction of the carbohydrate derivative.

Addition reactions also can occur by unimolecular chain-transfer. This type of reaction also takes place with radicals centered on various carbon atoms in pyranoid and furanoid rings. Most of these reactions involve addition of a carbohydrate radical to an allylic or vinylic stannane followed by loss of a tin-containing substituent. An advantage to this type of reaction is that competition with simple reduction can be largely avoided. A disadvantage is that 1,3-tin migration can occur in allylic stannanes; such migration places a synthetic limitation on the usefulness of the reaction.

Although the unsaturated compound in a typical addition reaction is a noncarbohydrate, addition also occurs to unsaturated carbohydrates. The carbon–carbon double bond in such reactions usually is part of an enol ether or an  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated ketone or lactone and the product is often a *C*-disaccharide.

Most addition reactions to carbon–carbon triple bonds involve a tri-*n*-butyltin radical adding to a triple bond in a carbohydrate. The structures of the carbohydrates are such that the vinylic radicals produced often undergo a cyclization reaction.

CH <sub>2</sub> OAc			CH <sub>2</sub> C	DAC	СН	<sub>2</sub> OAc
OAc + C	H <sub>2</sub> =CHX	Bu <sub>3</sub> SnH	OAc	, t		
ACO BI OAc		ACC	,	OAc	AUO	OAc
1	R <sub>1</sub> = H, F	$R_2 = CH_2CH_2C$	N 5			7
	$R_1 = CH_2$	$CH_2CN, R_1 =$	H 6			
initiator	solvent	temp( <sup>0</sup> C)	pro	duct yiek	ds(%)	ref
X = CN			5	6	7	
hv	Et <sub>2</sub> O	35	55	5	21	1
AIBN, hv	t-BuOH	35	79	т	6	3, 4
AIBN	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>6</sub>	78	32	2	18	5, 6
V-70(1.2eq)	Et <sub>2</sub> O	25	68	ND	т	5,6
V-70(0.1eq)	Et <sub>2</sub> O	25	41	ND	27	5,6
Et <sub>3</sub> B	Et <sub>2</sub> O	25	18	ND	т	5,6
X = CO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>3</sub>						
hν			41	4	4	5, 6
V-70			59	ND	т	5, 6
V-70	Et <sub>2</sub> O	25	30	ND	т	5,6
X = C(=O)CH <sub>3</sub>						
AIBN	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>6</sub>		80	40	24	7
$X = P(=O)(OEt)_2$						
AIBN, $h\nu$	t-BuOH	35	70	ND	ND	3, 4
X = P(=O)(OMe) <sub>2</sub>						
hν	Et <sub>2</sub> O	35	44	3	а	9
T = trace ND = not detected <sup>a</sup> present but yield	not reported	V-70 = CH <sub>3</sub> (	сн₃ оссн; сн₃	CH₃ C ₂ĊN=NC ĊN C	сн₃ сн ссн₂сс сп сн	3 ICH3 3

Table 1. Addition reactions of the D-glucopyranosyl bromide 1





 $\alpha = \text{adduct from } \alpha \text{-face addition} \qquad \beta = \text{adduct from } \beta \text{-face addition}$ 

ND = not detected

Table 2. Addition reactions of the D-glucopyranosyl bromide 1









Table 4. Addition reactions of the D-mannopyranosyl bromide 11

Table 5. Addition reactions of the bromide 16 to acrylonitrile



$\begin{array}{c} CH_2OAc\\ OAc\\ OAc\\ H_2OAc\\ H_2OAc\\ H_2OAc\\ H_2OAc\\ AcO\\ OAc\\ OAc\\ OAc\\ H_2OAc\\ OAc\\ OAc\\ OAc\\ OAc\\ S_1 = CO_2Me, C\\ CH_2OAc\\ OAc\\ CH_2OAc\\ OAc\\ S_2 = CO_2Me, C\\ CH_2OAc\\ OAc\\ S_2 = CO_2Me, C\\ CH_2OAc\\ S_2 = CO_2Me, C\\ C$	$CH_2OAc$ $CH_2OAc$ $R_2$ $CAC$ $R_2$ $R_2$ $CAC$ $CACC$ $CAC$ $CACC$ $CAC$	2X H CH2C Acc 11	$x = CO_2M$	CH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> OAc CH <sub>2</sub> OAc		CH <sub>2</sub> O/ OAc 8	Ac Br Ac
starting materials	reagents and conditions		prod	uct yie	ld(%)		ref
	2+	3	4	5	9	12	
1 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCN	Ni <sup>∠™</sup> /Mn/THF	76	ND	ND			25
1 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	Ni <sup>∠+</sup> /Mn/THF	69	ND	ND			25
1 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCN	Cp <sub>2</sub> TiCl/THF	62	ND	ND			181
$1 + CH_2 = CHCO_2Me$	Cp <sub>2</sub> TiCI/THF	55	ND	а			181
1 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	Cp <sub>2</sub> TiCl/THF	75	ND	ND			181
1 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCN Fe	Cp <sub>2</sub> (CO) <sub>4</sub> /THF	50	7	ND			182
8 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	Ni <sup>2+</sup> /Mn/THF				69		25
8 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCN	Cp <sub>2</sub> TiCI/THF				52		181
8 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCN Fe	Cp <sub>2</sub> (CO) <sub>4</sub> /THF				53		182
11 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCN	Ni <sup>2+</sup> /Mn/THF					49	25
11 + CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	Ni <sup>2+</sup> /Mn/THF					62	25
<sup>a</sup> present but yield	I not reported	ND	= not dete	cted			

Table 6. Addition reactions promoted by transition-metal complexes

This page titled V. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 19: Compounds With Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds II: Cyclization Reactions

The structural requirements for a molecule destined to undergo radical cyclization are that it contain a substituent from which a radical (almost always a carbon-centered one) can be generated and that it have a properly positioned multiple bond. Carbohydrates that meet these requirements include unsaturated iodides, bromides, thionocarbonates, cyclic thionocarbonates, xanthates, and phenyl selenides. Ring formation in the reactions of these compounds usually is regiospecific and often highly stereoselective.

## **Topic hierarchy**

- II. Ease of Reaction between a Carbon-Centered Radical and a Multiple Bond
- **III. Reaction Selectivity**
- IV. Unsaturated Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization
- V. An Organization for Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization
- VI. Summary

This page titled 19: Compounds With Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds II: Cyclization Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# II. Ease of Reaction between a Carbon-Centered Radical and a Multiple Bond

Once structural requirements have been met, successful radical cyclization depends on reaction rates. The basic question is "Will ring formation occur before competing reactions intervene?" The answer to this question depends upon the nature of the radical center and multiple bond and on the separation between these two. The ability of a radical to add to a multiple bond to form a new ring will be addressed first; then, the effect of the separation between the radical center and the multiple bond will be considered.

A beginning point for discussing reactivity between a radical center and a multiple bond during internal addition is to recall some of the findings in Chapter 18 about addition reactions that are not internal. Such reactions take place rapidly when a radical is nucleophilic (as are most carbon-centered radicals) and a multiple bond is electron-deficient. This description fits the reaction shown in eq 1.<sup>1,2</sup> If a multiple bond is not electron-deficient, radical addition normally is too slow to compete with hydrogen-atom abstraction; however, minimizing or eliminating effective hydrogen-atom transfers from a reaction mixture can enable addition to occur even when the multiple bond is not electron-deficient. An example of this type of reaction is shown in eq 2, where Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH is not present in the reaction mixture even though Bu<sub>3</sub>Sn· is there and acts as the chain-carrying radical.<sup>3,4</sup>



Addition of a radical to a multiple bond is potentially much faster when the reaction is intramolecular. If a radical center and a multiple bond in a molecule are positioned so that they frequently come within bonding distance, the rate of internal addition increases to the point that even for a multiple bond that is not electron-deficient, cyclization competes effectively with hydrogenatom abstraction. In the reaction shown in eq 3, internal addition to a double bond that is not electron-deficient takes place even in the presence of Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH.<sup>5</sup>



This page titled II. Ease of Reaction between a Carbon-Centered Radical and a Multiple Bond is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **III. Reaction Selectivity**

Chemoselectivity, regioselectivity, and stereoselectivity are defining characteristics of radical reactions. Nowhere are they more important (particularly the latter two) than when a new ring is being formed. Understandably then when regioselectivity and stereoselectivity were broached in Chapters 10 and 11, discussion often turned to cyclization reactions. Some of the ideas and topics from these chapters are revisited here but now with an exclusive focus on their importance to new ring formation.

Chapters 10 and 11 of Volume I - pdf

This page titled III. Reaction Selectivity is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# IV. Unsaturated Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization

The unsaturated carbohydrates that undergo radical cyclization are an eclectic mixture of compounds in which the reactive multiple bond in each typically is electron-deficient. Reduced electron density in the multiple bond can be caused either by conjugation of this bond with a carbonyl group or by having an electronegative substituent attached to it. Ring formation still can occur when a double or triple bond is not electron-deficient, but as described earlier in this Chapter (Section II), in such a situation cyclization is slower and less able to compete with other radical reactions.

This page titled IV. Unsaturated Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# V. An Organization for Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization

It is useful in organizing radical cyclization reactions to divide them into groups that have common features. One method for doing this places radicals of similar structure together. Where carbohydrates are concerned, such a plan can be based on the location of the radical center and the multiple bond. A radical center can exist on an atom that is part of the molecular framework (Figure 1) or part of a substituent group. The same possibilities exist for the multiple bond. Cyclization reactions of carbohydrates then naturally divide into the four basic types shown in Figure 2. (A short-hand terminology describing these four types has been proposed<sup>45</sup> and is included in Figure 2.) This division provides the basis for constructing Tables 1-4. In addition to these four tables, two smaller ones are included in recognition of the importance of radical cyclization reactions in the synthesis of nucleosides (Table 5) and carbon-linked disaccharides (Table 6.)



Figure 2. Possible types of cyclization reaction for carbohydrate derivatives



#### Table 1. Framework Radical Reacting With a Framework Multiple Bond

radical forming substituent	type of multiple bond	number of atoms in the new ring	references
I.	-CH=CHCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	164, 182
I.	CH2=CHCH-O-	- 5	54, 55
I	сн <sub>2</sub> =снсн-о-	- 6	168
1	сн₂=снсн-о-	- 7	61, 168
I.	–сн=снсн-о-	5	49
I	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> R	5	60, 64, 68, 69, 85, 92, 164
I.	-CH=CHCO2Et	6	91, 92
I.	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	7	61
I.	нс≡ссн−о–	5	171, 172, 185
I	нс≡ссн−о–	6	186
I.	нс≡ссн−о–	7	61
I	C6H5C≡CCH-O-	6	171, 174
1	C6H2C≡CCH−O−	7	61
I	Me <sub>2</sub> SiC≡CC-O-	5	172
I	-C≡CCO₂Me	5	172
Br	–C=CHCO <sub>2</sub> R	5	62, 66, 67, 69, 70, 84, 91, 93
Br	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	5	87, 89
Br	-N- -CH=CH-CO	5	166
MeSC(=S)O-	$CH_2 = CHCH_2 -$	5	208, 210
MeSC(=S)O-	CH2=CCH-O-	6	22
MeSC(=S)O-	CH2=CHCH=CH	H— 5	207
MeSC(=S)O-	-CH=CH-O-	5	210



#### Table 1. Framework Radical Reacting With a Framework Multiple Bond (Continued)

radical forming substituent	type of multiple bond	number of atoms in the new ring	references
MeSC(=S)O-	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	5	210
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> OC(=S)O—	CH2=CCH-O-	5	22, 201
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> OC(=S)O-	CH2=CCH-O-	6	22, 201
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> OC(=S)O-	нс≡ссн−о-	5	178, 181
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> OC(=S)O—	НС≡ССН−О−	6	179, 180, 219
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> OC(=S)O-	C <sub>6</sub> H₅C≡CCH−	6	175, 176
ImC(=S)O-	сн <sub>2</sub> =снсн-о-	5	51, 160, 213
ImC(=S)O-	-OCH=CH-	5	51, 160, 213
ImC(=S)O-	нс≡ссн−о–	5	181
∑_o>=s	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	5	57, 63, 65, 83
_s, _s´∖	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> R	5	70, 89
	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	6	88
	HC≡CCH₂-	5	202
0=0	−CH=CCO <sub>2</sub> t-Bu	6	86
_Ён	-CH=CHCH=CH <sub>2</sub>	5	207
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> S-	СH2=СНСН-О-	5	158
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> S-	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> -	6	158

# Table 1. Framework Radical Reacting With a Framework Multiple Bond (Continued)

radical forming substituent	type of multiple bond	number of atoms in the new ring	references
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> S –	-c≡ccH-o-	5	158
MeOC <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub> Te –	-CH=CHCO2Et	5	77
$H_2C = C -$	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> R	5	75, 76
HC≡C-	-сн=снсн-о-	- 6	166
HC≡C-	CH2=CHCO-	6	22
HC≡C-	CH2=CHCH-O-	- 6	196, 20
HC≡C-	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	7	61



#### Table 2. Framework Radical Reacting With a Substituent Multiple Bond

radical for substitue	ming type of ni ent multiple bond i	umber of atoms n the new ring	references
I.	сн₂=снсн−о-	5	5, 136, 144, 189
I.	сн₂=снсн−о−	6	206
T	CH2=CHCH2O-	6	5, 152
1	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> -	6	204
I.	Me₃SiCH=CHCH-O-	- 5	189
1	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHSiO-	5	114
I	(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> CCH=CHCH <sub>2</sub> O-	- 5	9
I.	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> CH=CHCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	9, 144, 169, 170
I.	-CH=CHCO2Et	4	27
I.	-CH=CHCO2Et	5	91
I.	-CH=CHCO2Et	6	60, 91
T	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Et	5 + 6	82
I.	-CH=CHCO2-	5	112
1	-CH=CHC(=O)NH-	6	96, 97, 99, 100
I	-CH=CHC=CHC(=O)NH	I- 5	107
T	HC≡CCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	5, 152
I.	$C_6H_5C\equiv CCH_2-$	6	152
I.	Me₃SiC≡CCH-O-	5	177, 189
T	-C≡CCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	152
Br	CH2=CHCH2O-	5	143, 144, 145, 149
Br	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> -	6	203, 206, 209
Br	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHC(Me) <sub>2</sub> O-	5	148
Br	CH2=CHSIO-	5 + 6	123
	1		



Table 2.	Framework Radical Multiple Bond	Reacting With a (Continued)	Substituent
radical formi substituent	ng type of n t multiple bond	umber of atoms in the new ring	references
Br	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> -	5	143
Br	-CH=CHCO2Et	5	27
Br	$-CH=CHCO_2R$	6	27, 203
Br	-CH=CHCO2Et	7	27
Br	-C=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	5	84
Br	HC≡CCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	143, 148, 151
Br	$HC \equiv CCH_2 -$	6	143, 151
Br	-C≡CCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	143
Br	-С≡ССНО	5	109
Br — G	N(O=)OHO=CHC	NH- 5	102-106, 108
Br	-CH=CC(=O)NH-	6	99
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se		5 + 6	11, 12, 113-116
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHSiO-	5	115, 116, 119
C <sub>6</sub> H₅Se	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHSiO-	6	13, 28, 118
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHSiO-	8	36
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> SiO-	7	24, 28, 29
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> SiO-	9	36
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	сн₂=снсн_о-	5	161
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> O-	6	140, 157
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se		5	139, 140
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	58, 134, 135, 138, 139, 146, 157
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	-C=CHCH <sub>2</sub> NH-	5	10



Table 2. Framework Radical Read Multiple Bond (Co	ting With a ntinued)	a Substituent
radical forming type of numbe substituent multiple bond in the	r of atoms new ring	references
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> NH-	5	10, 167
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se -CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> -	6	140
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se -CH=CHC(=O)N-	6	95
C <sub>6</sub> H₅Se Me₃SiC≡CSi-	5	121
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se Me <sub>3</sub> SiC≡CCH <sub>2</sub> O−	5	134
$C_6H_5Se$ $HC\equiv CCH_2O-$	5	58, 134, 135, 138, 139, 146, 157
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se RC≡CCH <sub>2</sub> O-	7	173
CH <sub>3</sub> SC(=O)O CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	141, 142
CH <sub>3</sub> SC(=O)O CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH-O-	5	165
CH <sub>3</sub> SC(=O)O HC≡CCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	149, 150, 154, 155
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> OC(=S)O CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	157
$C_6H_5OC(=S)O CH_2=CHC=N-$	6	220
ImC(=S)O -CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> -	5	72, 73, 74
ArSO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> =CHSiO-	5	117
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> SO <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub> =CHCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	137
ArSO <sub>2</sub> RC≡CSiO−	5	117
C≡CH -OCH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Et	5	199
CECH -OCH=CHCO2Et	6	199
C=CH -OCH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Et	7	199
C=CH -OCH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Et	8	199
NO2 HCECCH2O-	5	153
C(=O)H -CH=CC(=O)NH-	6	101



#### Table 3. Substituent Radical Reacting With a Framework Multiple Bond

radical forming substituent	type of multiple bond	number of atoms in the new ring	references
I.	-CH=CHCH-O-	5	21, 6, 7,109, 159
1	-CH=CHCO2Et	6	6, 7
I.	нс≡ссн−о−	5	185
Br	-сн=снсн-о-	5	21, 81, 109,124-127, 129,132, 159, 163
Br	сн₂=снсн−о-	- 6 + 7	184
Br	СH2=СНСН-О-	- 8	37
Br	-CH=CCH-O-	6	130
Br	-C=C-O-	5	124, 133, 183, 211, 212, 214, 218
Br	-CH=C-O-	6	23
Br	-N- -C=C-O-	5 + 6	23, 215, 217
Br	-N- -C=Ċ-O-	5	23, 216
Br	I —CH=CCO <sub>2</sub> Me	5	71
Br	-CH=CHCO2Et	6	7
Br	CH2=CCO2Me	9	94
Br	CH <sub>2</sub> =CCN	9	94
Br	-сн=ссно	5	109
CI	-CH=CHCH-O-	5	152, 162
-C≡CH	-CH=CHCH-O-	5	21, 190-193, 195
-C≡CH	-C=C-O-	5	192, 214
-CH <sub>2</sub> C≡CH	–сн=снсн-о-	- 5	195
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> C(=S)O	– – CH=CHCO-	5	221

#### Table 4. Substituent Radical Reacting With a Substituent Multiple Bond

radical forming substituent	type of multiple bond	number of atoms in the new ring	references
1	-CH=CC=0	5	110, 111
1	CH2=CH-	5	111
1 -	-CH=CC(=O)NH-	5	98
1	-CH=CHCO2-	10	44
Br	CH2=CHCH2O-	11	45
Br	CH2=CHC-	6	111, 205
Br	HC≡CCH <sub>2</sub> O-	5	156
HC≡C-	CH2=CHCH2O-	5 + 6	194
HC≡C-	-CH=CHC-	5	197, 198
HC≡C-	–сн≡снс	5	197
HC≡C-	(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> C=CHCH <sub>2</sub> O	- 5+6	194
HC≡C-	-CH=CHC(=O)N-	- 6	200
HC=O	CH2=CHCH-	6	147

radical forming substituent	Table 5. Nucleosi type of multiple bond	ide Synthesis number of atoms in the new ring	references
Br	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Et	5	80
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	-CH=CHCO <sub>2</sub> Me	5	50
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> OC(=S)O	-CH=CHCO2Et	5	79



Tab	le 6. Carbon-Linl	ked Saccharides	
radical forming substituent	type of multiple bond	number of atoms in the new ring	references
T	-сн=снсн-о	- 5	9
I.	CH2=CO-	8	33
I.	$CF_2 = CO -$	8	31
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	$CH_2 = CCH - O -$	7	30
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	CH2=CCH-O-	8	31, 32, 35, 38, 43
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	СН2=ССН-О-	9	38-41, 43, 46
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	CH <sub>2</sub> =CCH-O-	- 11	38
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> Se	CH2=CO-	8	33, 34
C6H5SO2	CH2=CCH-O-	9	42
C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub> NSO <sub>2</sub>	–SiC≘CCH−O–	- 5	117

This page titled V. An Organization for Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VI. Summary

Forming a new ring by internal addition of a carbon-centered radical to a multiple bond is a powerful tool in carbohydrate synthesis. Regioselectivity and stereoselectivity are vital aspects of this type of reaction. Being able to predict regioselectivity is critical because a cyclization reaction potentially can form rings of two sizes. Since the newly formed ring nearly always has an additional chiral center (sometimes two), understanding stereoselectivity is essential in predicting stereochemistry in the cyclic product.

Compounds with five-membered rings are the ones most often produced by radical cyclization. Reactions that form five-membered rings are capable of generating six-membered rings also, but rarely do so because the transition state leading to the larger ring has greater ring strain. Compounds with six-membered rings are the major products when cyclization is capable of forming either six-or seven-membered rings consisting only of second row elements. Larger rings (seven or more members) are created when a radical center and a distant multiple bond are linked by a tether, usually one containing a silicon–oxygen bond.

The stereoselectivity of reactions that produce five- and six-membered rings usually can be rationalized by assuming that the reaction passes through a chair-like transition state. The lowest energy transition state for such a reaction has as many substituents as possible in pseudoequatorial positions. A variety of factors (pseudo-1,3-diaxial interaction, allylic strain, hydrogen bonding, conformation of an existing ring) affect transition-state energy and can, on occasion, cause a boat-like transition state to be more stable than a chair-like one.

Various types of unsaturated carbohydrates, often  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated esters, undergo radical cyclization. Also prominent among reactive compounds are those in which the radical-forming part of the molecule and the portion containing the multiple bond are connected by a silicon–oxygen tether. A third group of compounds that cyclize readily includes allyl and propargyl ethers and related compounds.

This page titled VI. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

## 20: Reactions of Samarium(II) Iodide With Carbohydrate Derivatives

Samarium(II) iodide (SmI<sub>2</sub>) reacts with a variety of carbohydrate derivatives (including halides, sulfones, aldehydes, ketones,  $\alpha$ -acyloxy esters, and  $\alpha$ -acyloxy lactones) to generate carbon-centered radicals by nonchain, electron-transfer reaction.<sup>1–9</sup> These radicals undergo reactions that include hydrogen-atom abstraction and ring formation, and they combine with SmI<sub>2</sub> to produce organosamarium compounds (Scheme 1). Organosamarium compounds are quite reactive and easily undergo elimination and protonation reactions, as well as addition to aldehydes and ketones.



#### **Topic hierarchy**

II. Radical Formation

III. Formation of Organosamarium Compounds

IV. Reactions of Organosamarium Compounds

V. Cyclization Reactions

VI. Radical Addition and Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction

VII. Comparison of Reactions of Chromium(II) Reagents With Those of Samarium(II) Iodide

VIII. Summary

This page titled 20: Reactions of Samarium(II) Iodide With Carbohydrate Derivatives is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# II. Radical Formation

## A. Reaction Mechanism

Radical formation begins when SmI<sub>2</sub> coordinates with a substituent in a carbohydrate derivative ([] Scheme 1), that is, when a carbohydrate derivative replaces a solvent molecule within the coordination sphere of samarium(II) iodide. Within this new complex an electron is transferred from SmI<sub>2</sub> to the carbohydrate derivative to produce a radical anion. This radical anion dissociates rapidly to give a carbohydrate radical and an anion complexed with SmI<sub>2</sub>. It is possible in some instances that the radical anion never actually forms; instead, the bond between the carbohydrate and the functional group breaks during electron transfer.<sup>3</sup> [Section II.C.3 of Chapter 3 in Volume I contains additional information about samarium(II) iodide and the complexes it forms.]

## B. Effect of HMPA

Reaction with  $SmI_2$  typically is conducted in tetrahydrofuran (THF). Adding the cosolvent hexamethylphosphoramide (HMPA) to the reaction mixture dramatically increases the rate constant for samarium(II) iodide reaction.<sup>10,11</sup> Since the redox potential (E°) of  $Sm^{2+}/Sm^{3+}$  increases from -1.33 V to -2.05 V with the addition of four equiv of HMPA to a THF solution of  $SmI_2$ ,<sup>12</sup> the rate enhancement brought about by added HMPA can be attributed to the substantially increased ability of  $SmI_2$  to donate an electron. (Addition of HMPA beyond four equivalents does not further increase reaction rates.<sup>10</sup>)

One explanation for the effect of HMPA on the reactivity of  $\text{SmI}_2$  is based on the energies of the highest occupied (HOMO) and lowest unoccupied (LUMO) molecular orbitals pictured in Figure 1.<sup>13</sup> (In the reaction represented in this diagram it is assumed that the substrate is a phenyl sulfone.) When HMPA complexes with  $\text{SmI}_2$ , it raises the HOMO energy of the resulting complex and, in so doing, reduces the energy required for electron transfer to the  $\sigma^*$  orbital (LUMO) of the sulfone (Figure 1). This energy reduction translates into a larger rate constant for reaction. HMPA also increases the rate of reaction of  $\text{SmI}_2$  with halogenated compounds by elongating the carbon–halogen bond.<sup>11b</sup>



Figure1. Effect of HMPA on the HOMO energy of Sml2

Radical formation by reaction of samarium(II) iodide with carbohydrate derivatives has been conducted under a variety of conditions.<sup>14–18</sup> In addition to HMPA, other additives used are DMPU (**1**),<sup>14</sup> ethylene glycol,<sup>19</sup> and visible light.<sup>17</sup> Alternative conditions also include reaction with HMPA in the presence of a proton donor<sup>14–18</sup> or a catalytic amount of nickel(II) halide.<sup>9,17</sup> Motivation for trying new reaction conditions comes from the possibilities of gaining greater understanding of the reaction mechanism, improving product yields, developing greater stereoselectivity, and finding a promoter for SmI<sub>2</sub> reaction that is safer than HMPA.



This page titled II. Radical Formation is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# III. Formation of Organosamarium Compounds

At some point after its formation a carbohydrate radical will combine with a molecule of SmI<sub>2</sub> to produce an organosamarium compound. The radical combining with SmI<sub>2</sub> sometimes is the one initially formed and other times is one produced by reaction of the initially formed radical. Because carbon-centered radicals react rapidly with SmI<sub>2</sub> (k = 7.0 x  $10^6$  M<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> for reaction of the 5-hexenyl radical with SmI<sub>2</sub> at 25 °C in the presence of five equiv of HMPA),<sup>10</sup> only a limited number of radical reactions are fast enough to take place before an organosamarium compound forms. (Even those that are fast enough produce new radicals that are destined to be captured by SmI<sub>2</sub>.) Organosamarium compounds are quite reactive and, consequently, rarely isolated. Evidence for their existence takes the form of characteristic reactions (e.g., proton transfer,  $\beta$  elimination, and addition to a carbonyl compound). To understand the outcome of reactions begun by transfer of an electron from SmI<sub>2</sub> to a carbohydrate derivative, it is necessary to be familiar with the reactions of organosamarium compounds.

This page titled III. Formation of Organosamarium Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## IV. Reactions of Organosamarium Compounds

## A. Protonation

Accepting a proton from a suitable donor is a characteristic reaction of an organosamarium compound.<sup>19–28</sup> Lactones with  $\alpha$  substituents<sup>19–23</sup> and esters that are similarly substituted<sup>22,25</sup> are common substrates in this type of reaction. Equation 1 describes a typical example.<sup>22</sup> A mechanism for the reaction shown in eq 1 is proposed in Scheme 2. Tosylates<sup>26</sup> and sulfones<sup>27</sup> also form organosamarium compounds that readily protonate.



## B. β Elimination

Another characteristic reaction of organosamarium compounds is eliminating a samarium-containing group along with a substituent on a neighboring carbon atom to form a compound with a carbon–carbon double bond.<sup>19,20,27,29–32</sup> An example of a reaction in which this happens is shown in Scheme 3, where the glycosyl phenyl sulfone **2** reacts with SmI<sub>2</sub> to give the organosamarium intermediate **3**, from which  $\beta$  elimination produces the corresponding glycal.<sup>27</sup>



In the reactions of glycosyl phenyl sulfones with SmI<sub>2</sub> the amount of glycal formed depends upon how well the departing, C-2 substituent supports a negative charge. In the reaction shown in eq 2 the compound with the *O*-acetyl group at C-2 gives a far higher yield of glycal than does the substrate with the *O*-benzyl group in the 2-position.<sup>27,32</sup> The primary process competing with glycal formation in this reaction is proton transfer to the organosamarium intermediate from the trace amount of water present in the reaction mixture. For the substrate with the *O*-acetyl group, proton transfer from water is too slow to be of consequence, but for that with the *O*-benzyl group proton transfer is significant and becomes the major reaction pathway when greater than trace amounts of water are present (eq 2).





## C. Addition to a Carbonyl Compound

Scheme 4 describes a reaction between samarium(II) iodide and a carbohydrate with an arylsulfonyl group to give an organosamarium compound that then adds to cyclohexanone.<sup>33</sup> Addition to aldehydes and ketones is another characteristic reaction of an organosamarium intermediate. In Scheme 4 the overall reaction is given first, and then a mechanism for the radical and nonradical phases of the reaction is proposed.



### 1. The Samarium-Barbier Reaction

Because in the reaction shown in Scheme 4 the sulfone **4** and cyclohexanone both are present in the reaction mixture from the outset, the reaction is described as a Barbier-type<sup>2</sup> or samarium-Barbier<sup>3,34</sup> reaction. The mechanism pictured in Scheme 4 is a widely accepted one for this type of process.<sup>1–9,34–37</sup> The carbohydrate reactant frequently is a glycosyl sulfone,<sup>28-30,32,33,37-43</sup> but it also can be a glycosyl halide<sup>31,32,37,44-46</sup> or phosphate.<sup>47</sup> Possibilities for the carbonyl compound include ketones,<sup>2,28,32,39,42,43,46</sup> aldehydes,<sup>2,28–30,32,38–46</sup>, and lactones.<sup>45, 48–50</sup> Usually the carbonyl compound is a simple organic molecule, but sometimes the carbonyl group is part of the more complex structure found in a carbohydrate.<sup>38–40,42–44</sup>

### 2. The Samarium-Grignard Reaction

The defining characteristic of the samarium-Barbier reaction is that all of the reactants are present in the reaction mixture at the outset. If an intermediate organosamarium compound is sufficiently stable, it can be formed prior to adding the carbonyl compound. When reaction takes place using such a procedure, it is described as a Grignard-type or samarium-Grignard reaction.<sup>3,34</sup> Many organosamarium compounds are not stable enough to undergo reaction in this way; in particular, the reaction shown in [] Scheme 4 is only successful when run under samarium-Barbier conditions.<sup>33</sup>



## D. Formation and Reaction of Samarium Ketyls

Reaction of samarium(II) iodide with aldehydes and ketones produces ketyl radical anions, sometimes referred to as samarium ketyls (eq 3). These intermediates, each of which has considerable radical character on the former carbonyl carbon atom, form reversibly and have longer lifetimes than typical radical anions and most carbon-centered radicals.

$$R_1R_2C=O+SmI_2$$
  $R_1R_2C-OSmI_2$   $R_1R_2C-O^{\Theta} SmI_2$  (3)

#### 1. Internal Addition to a Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bond

A samarium ketyl that contains a properly positioned multiple bond readily forms a new ring system.<sup>51–62</sup> Examples indicating the range of reactivity of these ketyl intermediates are found in the reactions shown in equations 4 and 5 and Scheme 5. In the reaction pictured in eq 4, an unsaturated aldehyde forms a samarium ketyl that cyclizes and then reacts with cyclohexanone.<sup>60</sup> Eq 5 describes the reaction of an unsaturated carbonyl compound that has a substituent on the carbon atom  $\alpha$  to the carbonyl group. If the substituent is a poor leaving group [e.g., (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>3</sub>CO], ring formation takes place, but when a better leaving group [e.g., (CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>CCO<sub>2</sub>] is present, cyclization is replaced by elimination of the corresponding anion [e.g., (CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>CCO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>] followed by hydrogen-atom abstraction.<sup>62</sup> The highly stereoselective cyclization shown in Scheme 5 is an internal addition of a samarium ketyl to a triple bond.<sup>51</sup> The resulting cyclic intermediate (7) either can react with another molecule of samarium(II) iodide or, since 7 is a highly reactive radical, abstract a hydrogen atom from the solvent (THF). Either reaction can be part of a two-step sequence leading to the final product (Scheme 5).



## 2. Internal Addition to a Carbon–Oxygen Double Bond (Pinacol Formation)

Reaction of samarium(II) iodide with a compound that has 1,4-,<sup>63</sup> 1,5-,<sup>64–68</sup> or 1,6-<sup>69–77</sup> related aldehydo or keto groups produces a samarium ketyl that then forms a cyclic pinacol. A typical example of such a reaction is shown in eq 6,<sup>64</sup> and a general mechanism



for pinacol formation is proposed in Scheme 6.<sup>78</sup> Based on this proposal, one would expect that the two hydroxyl groups in a pinacol should be found on the same side of the newly formed ring system because during reaction the oxygen atoms in these two groups interact simultaneously with a single samarium ion. Further, one also would anticipate that reaction should place the hydroxyl groups stereoselectively on the less-hindered face of the new ring. Both of these expectations are realized not only in the reaction shown in eq 6 but in other, similar reactions, where the major products always are *cis* diols formed by minimizing steric interactions during ring construction.<sup>63,65–77</sup>





### 3. Internal Addition to a Carbon–Nitrogen Double Bond

Reaction analogous to pinacol formation occurs when one of the carbonyl groups in a reactant molecule is replaced by a group with a C–N double bond (eq 7<sup>79</sup>).<sup>79–83</sup> A significant stereochemical difference between this type of reaction and pinacol formation is that the hydroxyl and substituted amino groups produced during cyclization are on opposite faces of the newly formed ring. This result indicates that complexation between the carbonyl groups and the samarium ion during pinacol formation has no analogous interaction in reactions of keto-oximes.



Sometimes the cyclization of a keto-oxime produces an amine rather than a substituted amine (eq 7).<sup>79,84</sup> This occurs when samarium(II) iodide, in excess of that needed for cyclization, transfers an electron to the N–O bond in the cyclic product leading to replacement of the amine substituent with a hydrogen atom. This reaction is accelerated by addition of water to the reaction mixture.

#### 4. Ring-Contraction Reactions

Scheme 7 describes a reaction in which a samarium ketyl is involved in ring contraction. This process begins with electron transfer from  $\text{SmI}_2$  to the carbohydrate iodide **8** to generate the radical **9**.<sup>85</sup> Reaction of **9** with a second molecule of  $\text{SmI}_2$  produces the organosamarium compound **10**. Elimination of the elements of  $\text{MeOSmI}_2$  from **10** causes the pyranoid ring to open to give the unsaturated aldehyde **11**, which reacts with  $\text{SmI}_2$  to form a samarium ketyl that then cyclizes to give the substituted cyclopentanes **12** and **13**. Similar ring contractions occur when 6-aldehydo hexopyranosyl derivatives react with  $\text{SmI}_2$ .<sup>86,87</sup>







This page titled IV. Reactions of Organosamarium Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## V. Cyclization Reactions

## A. Substrates for Radical Cyclization

Radicals capable of cyclization can be generated from reaction of  $SmI_2$  with unsaturated carbohydrate sulfones<sup>13,27,88–91</sup> or halides.<sup>14–18,92,93</sup> Internal addition is possible to either a C–C<sup>14–18</sup> (Scheme 8)<sup>14</sup> or C–N<sup>92,93</sup> (eq 8)<sup>92</sup> double bond. Glycosyl phenyl sulfones are often the starting materials of choice for forming pyranos-1-yl radicals because not only are such sulfones more stable<sup>32</sup> than the corresponding iodides and bromides, but they also produce radicals readily upon reaction with SmI<sub>2</sub> in the presence of HMPA ([] Scheme 3). HMPA is critical to phenyl sulfone reactivity because in the absence of this cosolvent these sulfones are unreactive.<sup>13,91</sup>



In contrast to phenyl sulfones, HMPA is not required for reaction of 2-pyridyl sulfones. This contrasting behavior is attributed to the effect of the 2-pyridyl group on sulfone MO energy levels. Because the LUMO energy of a 2-pyridyl sulfone is lower than that of a phenyl sulfone, transfer of an electron to the 2-pyridyl derivative occurs more easily (Figure 2); as a result, reaction can take place without HMPA being present (Scheme 9).<sup>13,91</sup>



Eet = minimum energy needed for electron transfer

Figure 2. Difference in LUMO ( $\sigma^*$ ) energy levels between phenyl and 2-pyridyl sulfones





## B. Radical Cyclization Versus Cyclization of an Organosamarium Compound

When single-electron transfer takes place from  $\text{SmI}_2$  to a substrate molecule, it often is not clear whether the reactive species is a radical, an organosamarium compound, or even an anion.<sup>94</sup> In the reaction shown in Scheme 10, for example, radical cyclization and organosamarium compound formation are both possible from the radical **19**.<sup>27</sup> Since neither protonation nor  $\beta$  elimination, characteristic reactions of an organosamarium intermediate, is observed, the indication is that the radical **19** undergoes cyclization before formation of the organosamarium compound **20** can take place.



The reaction pictured in  $\Box$  Scheme 8<sup>14</sup> is similar to the one shown in Scheme 10 in that ring formation occurs without the simple reduction or  $\beta$  elimination that characterize organosamarium intermediates. In this reaction (Scheme 8) stereoselectivity is highly dependent on the reaction conditions. For the AIBN initiated reaction of **14** with tri-*n*-butyltin hydride, there is little doubt that radical cyclization is taking place. The similarity in product ratios between this reaction and that caused by SmI<sub>2</sub> (in the absence of HMPA) supports the idea that both reactions involve radical cyclization.

There is a dramatic change in stereoselectivity when HMPA is added to the reaction shown in  $\Box$  Scheme 8.<sup>14</sup> This change has been attributed to an HMPA-complexed samarium ion becoming associated with the carbonyl group in **15**. The size of this group is believed to be sufficient to create severe steric interaction with the isopropylidene group, an interaction that forces these two groups to opposite faces of the newly formed ring.<sup>14</sup> It is also possible, however, that the large change in stereoselectivity signals a new reaction mechanism. Cyclization may occur from the organosamarium intermediate **16**. For this to happen, however, it would require **16** to be formed faster than internal radical addition to an activated double bond. It also would require cyclization of the organosamarium compound to be faster than protonation or  $\beta$  elimination from **16**. The available information does not provide a definitive, mechanistic choice for this reaction, that is, the radical cyclization shown in Scheme 8 when HMPA is present.<sup>14</sup>

This page titled V. Cyclization Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VI. Radical Addition and Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction

The reaction shown in Scheme 11 describes the formation of the *C*-glycoside **25** by addition of the oxygen-stabilized radical **21** or the organosamarium compound **22** (or both) to a molecule of acetone.<sup>95</sup> There is evidence for participation of both of these intermediates at some stage in this reaction. Conducting the reaction in the presence of *t*-BuSH quenches the addition process and dramatically increases the yield of the reduction product **23**. Such a change would be expected from hydrogen-atom abstraction by the radical **21**. In the absence of *t*-BuSH, formation of **23** and the elimination product **24** provide evidence for the organosamarium compound **22** also being present in the reaction mixture. Since conducting the reaction in the presence of D<sub>2</sub>O decreases the yield of the *C*-glycoside **25** in favor of the reduction and elimination products **23** and **24**, respectively, the organosamarium compound **22** appears to be a likely intermediate in the addition process, but since a large excess of D<sub>2</sub>O only modestly reduces the yield of **25**, radical addition remains a possible (perhaps major) pathway to *C*-glycoside formation.



The radical-addition pathway shown in Scheme 11 involves the nucleophilic, carbon-centered radical **21** adding to the carbonyl carbon atom in acetone. The carbonyl carbon atom is rendered quite electron deficient by complexation of acetone with  $SmI_2$ . This combination of a reactive radical adding to a double bond with a decidedly electron-deficient atom is found in other reactions promoted by  $SmI_2$ .<sup>96,97</sup>

This page titled VI. Radical Addition and Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VII. Comparison of Reactions of Chromium(II) Reagents With Those of Samarium(II) Iodide

Chromium(II) reagents participate in radical reactions<sup>98-104</sup> that are similar both mechanistically and in terms of product formation to those occurring when samarium(II) iodide reacts with carbohydrate derivatives. Radical formation from reaction of chromium compounds with carbohydrate derivatives is far less common than radical formation from reaction with samarium(II) iodide. An example of a reaction involving a chromium(II) complex is given in Scheme 12 where  $[Cr^{II}(EDTA)]^{2-}$  reacts with a glycosyl halide to produce a pyranos-1-yl radical that then combines with additional  $[Cr^{II}(EDTA)]^{2-}$  to generate a glycosylchromium complex.<sup>98,99</sup> This complex undergoes  $\beta$  elimination to give a glycal.



Radicals generated by chromium(II) reagents also undergo cyclization reactions such as that occurring when the bromide **26** reacts with chromium(II) acetate (eq 9).<sup>103</sup> The presence of a carbon–carbon double bond in the final product (**27**) indicates that a transient organochromium complex forms during this reaction but then reacts to give the unsaturated, bicyclic carbohydrate **27**.



This page titled VII. Comparison of Reactions of Chromium(II) Reagents With Those of Samarium(II) Iodide is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VIII. Summary

Transfer of an electron from samarium(II) iodide to a carbohydrate with an electron-accepting substituent produces a radical anion. Dissociation of this radical anion generates a carbohydrate radical along with an anion derived from the substituent group. A carbohydrate radical formed in this way reacts rapidly with a second molecule of SmI<sub>2</sub> to produce an organosamarium compound. This organometallic compound can undergo reactions that include addition to a compound containing a carbohydrate derivative with SmI<sub>2</sub> to avoid immediate reaction with a second molecule of SmI<sub>2</sub>, a rapid, radical process must intervene. The one of greatest interest is radical cyclization; thus, a carbohydrate derivative that has a properly placed multiple bond and an electron-accepting substituent reacts with samarium(II) iodide to a form radical that cyclizes. Carbohydrates that contain a pair of properly positioned aldehydo or keto groups cyclize to form pinacols. The intermediate in the cyclization step leading to a pinacol is a radical anion. Organochromium complexes form and react in a manner similar to organosamarium compounds.

This page titled VIII. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.

# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 21: Reactions of Radicals Produced by Electron Transfer to Manganese(III) Acetate & Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate

Manganese(III) acetate and ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate each react with CH-acidic compounds to produce carbon-centered radicals.<sup>1–12</sup> These radicals add preferentially to compounds with electron-rich multiple bonds. The role of a carbohydrate in a reaction of this type is to provide the multiple bond to which addition occurs.

- II. Manganese(III) Acetate
- III. Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate
- IV. Summary

This page titled 21: Reactions of Radicals Produced by Electron Transfer to Manganese(III) Acetate & Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# II. Manganese(III) Acetate

Manganese(III) acetate has a more complicated structure than the formula  $Mn(OAc)_3$  indicates. It is an oxo-centered trimer of three manganese ions held together by six bridging acetates.<sup>10,13</sup> Three representations for this structure are shown in Figure 1. It is often convenient in discussing reactions of this compound to use one of the abbreviated structures [frequently  $Mn(OAc)_3$ ]



Figure 1. Three representations for maganese(III) acetate

This page titled II. Manganese(III) Acetate is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## III. Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate

## A. Addition of CH-Acidic Compounds to D-Glycals

#### 1. Dimethyl Malonate

#### a. Regioselectivity

In a manner similar to manganese(III) acetate reaction, ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate promotes regioselective addition of CHacidic compounds to carbohydrates with electron-rich double bonds.<sup>6–9,15,16,19–22</sup> Examples of such reactions are given in equations 3 and 4, and a mechanism for the addition process is proposed in Scheme 7.<sup>6–9</sup> Reactions of glycals with  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$  (eq 3 and eq 4) can be conducted at lower temperatures than those with  $Mn(OAc)_3$  ([] eq 1 and [] eq 2). These milder conditions completely suppress formation of the Ferrier rearrangement product **8**, a compound formed in the reaction given in eq 1 but absent in that shown in eq 3.



CH<sub>2</sub>(CO<sub>2</sub>Me)<sub>2</sub> + (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>Ce<sup>IV</sup>(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>6</sub>  $\xrightarrow{-HNO_3}$  · CH(CO<sub>2</sub>Me)<sub>2</sub> + (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>Ce<sup>III</sup>(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>5</sub>



 $CAN = Ce^{IV} = (NH_{4})_{2}Ce^{IV}(NO_{3})_{6}$ 

radical formation

 $Ce^{III} = (NH_4)_2 Ce^{III} (NO_3)_5$  R = CH(CO\_2Me)\_2

If water is present, even in small amounts, a new compound (**29**) is produced in the reaction shown in Scheme 7.<sup>22</sup> How is this compound formed? Direct reaction between the cation **27** and the nitrate anion is one possibility, but if this pathway is the correct one, addition of sodium nitrate to the reaction mixture should increase the yield of **29**. It does not.<sup>7</sup> Ligand transfer from  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$  to the radical **26** also is possible,<sup>6,7</sup> but it is difficult to see why such a process should be dependent on the amount of water present in the reaction mixture. Both of these possibilities [reaction of **27** with NaNO<sub>3</sub> or ligand transfer from  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$ ] appear more likely to produce the anomer of **29** rather than **29** itself. The data in Scheme 7 do show that formation of the nitrate **29** comes at the expense of the  $\beta$ -glycoside **24**. Conversion of **24** into **29** could result from reaction of **24** 



with the nitric acid produced by interaction of  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$  with water. This possibility is supported by the reaction shown in Scheme 8, where a drop of water apparently reacts with  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$  to create the nitric acid needed for an acid-catalyzed ring opening.<sup>23</sup>



#### b. Stereoselectivity

Reaction stereoselectivity improves when  $(NH_4)_2$ Ce $(NO_3)_6$  replaces  $Mn(OAc)_3$  in the addition of dimethyl malonate to 3,4,6-tri-*O*-acetyl-D-glucal (7). The ratio of  $\alpha$ -face to  $\beta$ -face addition at C-2 by the malonyl radical changes from 52:14 ([] eq 1, [] Scheme 4)<sup>6</sup> to 80:15 ([] eq 3, [] Scheme 7).<sup>22</sup> The difference in the temperature of these reactions [95 °C (eq 1) to 0 °C (eq 3)] is a likely cause for this increase in stereoselectivity.

A second, stereoselective step in the reactions shown in Schemes [] 3 and [] 7 occurs during solvent capture by intermediate cations. Methanol reacts with the cations **27** and **28** exclusively from the face of the ring opposite to the malonyl group and produces a single stereoisomer in each case (Scheme 7). The capture of acetic acid pictured in Scheme 3 also is stereoselective but less so because each intermediate cation reacts to give a mixture of stereoisomers. Once again, greater reaction stereoselectivity correlates with lower reaction temperature.

Stereoselectivity in malonyl-radical addition also increases when approach to one face of a ring becomes more difficult due to a change in substrate structure. Such a change occurs when 3,4,6-tri-*O*-acetyl-D-glucal (7) ([] eq 3) is replaced by 3,4,6-tri-*O*-acetyl-D-glactal (**30**) ([] eq 4).<sup>7</sup> Projection of the C-4 acetoxy group onto the  $\beta$  face of the pyranoid ring in **30** makes this face more congested than the  $\beta$  face of the pyranoid ring in **7**.

#### c. Reactivity

#### (1). Effect of C-1 Substituents on Glycal Reactivity Ortho-Ester Formation

The products formed from addition of the malonyl radical **9** to C-1 substituted glycals depend on the structure of the C-1 substituents (Scheme 9).<sup>24</sup> When R is H or C(=O)NH<sub>2</sub>, the glycoside **35** forms, but when R is CO<sub>2</sub>Me or CN, the products are the orthoesters **36**. An explanation for this difference in reactivity is that when R is highly electron-withdrawing (e.g., CN or CO<sub>2</sub>Me), the oxidation potential of the radical **31** is high enough that its conversion to the cation **33** by reaction with  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$  is suppressed (Scheme 9).<sup>24,25</sup> When this suppression occurs, cyclization of **31** produces **32**, a radical that now can be oxidized easily to the corresponding cation (**34**). Reaction of this cation with methanol then gives the orthoesters **36**.




#### (2). Effect of a C-3 Substituent of Glycal Reactivity

The importance of electron-withdrawing substituents to glycal reactivity also is apparent when different substituents are attached to C-3 (eq 5).<sup>25</sup> The reactions shown in eq 5 confirm the previously mentioned findings (Sections III.A.1.a and III.A.1.b) about regioselectivity (the malonyl radical **9** adds exclusively to C-2) and stereoselectivity (**9** adds preferentially to the face of the pyranoid ring opposite to that containing the C-3 substituent). These reactions also demonstrate the effect of the electron-withdrawing character of a C-3 substituent on reaction rate (eq 5). Since the reactions involve the electrophilic malonyl radical adding to an electron-rich double bond, increasing the electron-withdrawing character of the R group decreases the reaction rate by reducing the electron density in the double bond; thus, an *O*-benzoyl group, which is more electron-withdrawing than an *O*-acetyl group, causes a slower rate of reaction. The reaction rate of an *O*-benzoyl-substituted glycal can be increased by placing an electron-donating methoxy group in the benzene ring. Reaction can be made even faster by eliminating any electron-withdrawing group from C-3 (eq 5).



#### 2. Ethyl Nitroacetate

When ethyl nitroacetate reacts with  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$  in the presence of the D-glucal 7 (eq 6),<sup>20</sup> a transformation takes place that is similar in its early stages to the dimethyl malonate reaction shown in [] eq 3. These two processes follow different pathways once the adduct radical has been oxidized to a cation. In the ethyl nitroacetate reaction, cyclization occurs (Scheme 10) rather than the solvent capture that characterizes reaction with dimethyl malonate ([] Scheme 7).



Scheme 10





#### 3. Nitromethane

Nitromethane is a CH-acidic compound that reacts with potassium hydroxide to form a nitronate anion. Oxidation of this anion with ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate produces the electrophilic radical  $\cdot$ CH<sub>2</sub>NO<sub>2</sub> (Scheme 11). If a compound with an electron-rich double bond is present in the reaction mixture, radical addition takes place (eq 7).<sup>26</sup>



Scheme 11



### B. Addition of the Azide Radical to a D-Glycal

Reaction of ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate with sodium azide in the presence of the D-galactal **30** produces the diastereometric azido nitrates **37-39** (eq 8).<sup>27</sup> There is convincing evidence that  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$  oxidizes NaN<sub>3</sub> to produce the azide radical (Scheme 12).<sup>28</sup> Highly stereoselective addition of this radical to **30** gives adduct radicals **40** $\alpha$  and **40** $\beta$ in a ratio of 75:8. The azido nitrates **37-39** then form either indirectly by reaction of nitrate ion with the cations produced by oxidation of **40** $\alpha$  and **40** $\beta$  or directly by ligand transfer from (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>Ce(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>6</sub> to these radicals.<sup>29</sup> (Section II.B.2 of Chapter 15 contains more information on azidonitration and additional references to this reaction.)



Scheme 12

 $(NH_4)_2Ce^{IV}(NO_3)_6$  +  $N_3^{\Theta}$   $\longrightarrow$   $(NH_4)_2Ce^{III}(NO_3)_5$  +  $N_3^{*}$  +  $NO_3^{\Theta}$ 



 $40\alpha/40\beta = 75/8$  (This ratio is based on the yields shown in eq 8.)

#### C. Addition of a Phosphonyl Radical to a D-Glycal

Dimethyl phosphite reacts with  $(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$  to produce the phosphorous-centered radical **41** (eq 9).<sup>30</sup> This radical then adds to D-glycals in a regiospecific, highly stereoselective manner (eq 10).





This page titled III. Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## **IV. Summary**

Manganese(III) acetate and ammonium cerium(IV) nitrate react with CH-acidic compounds to produce carbon-centered radicals that add to carbohydrates with electron-rich double bonds. The resulting adduct radicals usually undergo oxidation to produce cations, each of which captures a nucleophile and then deprotonates to complete the reaction. Most reported reactions of this type involve the malonyl radical adding to an unsaturated carbohydrate. When the carbohydrate is a glycal, this reaction is a regio-specific addition to C-2. Such an addition takes place stereoselectively from the less hindered face of the ring system. Radical addition also occurs to less electron-rich double bonds, but the adduct radical is not oxidized to a cation; instead, it abstracts a hydrogen atom. Manganese(III) acetate also reacts with unsaturated carbohydrates to produce lactones.

This page titled IV. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

### 22: Reactions of Carbohydrate Derivatives With Titanocene(III) Chloride

Titanocene(III) chloride [Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl, bis(cyclopentadienyl)titanium(III) chloride] is an oxygen-sensitive compound that is prepared by reaction of Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl<sub>2</sub> with metals such as zinc, aluminum, or manganese. Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl exists as a dimer in the solid state, but coordinating solvents (e.g., tetrahydrofuran) dissociate the dimer into a reactive monomer (eq 1).<sup>1,2</sup> (Although the monomer is coordinated with a solvent molecule, it usually is represented simply as Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl; more generally, Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl can be looked upon as representing all the Ti(III) species present in a solution of titanocene(III) chloride.<sup>1–3</sup>)

#### **Topic hierarchy**

II. Reactions

III. Electron Donation by a Ruthenium Complex

**IV. Summary** 

This page titled 22: Reactions of Carbohydrate Derivatives With Titanocene(III) Chloride is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### **II. Reactions**

Three types of carbohydrate derivatives form carbon-centered radicals upon reaction with Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl. Halogen-atom abstraction from glycosyl halides produces furanos-1-yl and pyranos-1-yl radicals.<sup>1,4–11</sup> Radicals also can be generated by abstractive ring opening of epoxides.<sup>12–19</sup> Finally, Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl produces pyranos-1-yl radicals when it reacts with glycosyl 2-pyridyl sulfones.<sup>7</sup> An example of the first type of reaction is found in eq 2,<sup>5,6</sup> one of the second type in eq 3,<sup>16</sup> and one of the third in eq 4.<sup>7</sup> These radical-forming reactions have the attractive, chemoselective feature that Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl does not affect acetal, ester, or silyl ether protection.<sup>5,6</sup>



This page titled II. Reactions is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# III. Electron Donation by a Ruthenium Complex

Ruthenium is a transition metal that, like titanium, can transfer an electron to a glycosyl halide. Photochemical reaction of  $[Ru(bpy)_3]^{2+}$  with a tertiary amine produces  $[Ru(bpy)_3]^+$ , a complex that then donates an electron to a glycosyl bromide to form a pyranos-1-yl radical (Scheme 10).<sup>29,30</sup> The radical formed in this way from the bromide **20** is capable of adding to a variety of electron-deficient alkenes (eq 13). The role of the additive in this reaction is to improve product yield by suppressing oligmerization.<sup>29</sup>

Scheme 10  

$$[Ru(bpy)_{3}]^{2+} \xrightarrow{hv} [Ru(bpy)_{3}]^{\frac{2+}{2}}, [Ru(bpy)_{3}]^{\frac{2+}{2}}, [Ru(bpy)_{3}]^{\frac{2+}{2}}, R_{3}N \rightarrow [Ru(bpy)_{3}]^{+} + R_{3}N, [Ru(bpy)_{3}]^{+} + R_{3}N, [Ru(bpy)_{3}]^{+} + R_{3}N, [Ru(bpy)_{3}]^{2+} + R_{3}N, [Ru(bpy)_{3}]^{2+} + R_{3}N, R_{$$

This page titled III. Electron Donation by a Ruthenium Complex is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **IV. Summary**

Titanocene(III) chloride reacts with glycosyl halides and with epoxides to generate carbon-centered radicals. The primary reaction of these radicals is combination with another molecule of  $Cp_2TiCl$ . These radicals also can abstract hydrogen atoms from the solvent or other hydrogen-atom transfers in the reaction mixture or undergo radical addition and cyclization reactions. If a radical combines with a second molecule of titanocene(III) chloride, the resulting organotitanium compound typically undergoes a  $\beta$ -elimination reaction. The result of such a reaction usually is formation of a glycal.

This page titled IV. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

# 23: Organocobalt & Organomercury Compounds

- I. Organocobalt Compounds
- II. Organomercury Compounds
- III. Summary

This page titled 23: Organocobalt & Organomercury Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# I. Organocobalt Compounds

An organometallic complex that contains a carbon–cobalt bond can function as a radical precursor because such a bond is easily broken homolytically. Facile cleavage occurs because carbon–cobalt bonds are significantly weaker than most covalent bonds:<sup>1,2</sup> in fact, the C–Co bond in coenzyme  $B_{12}$  (1, Figure 1) is one of the weakest covalent bonds known (BDE = 31.5 kcal mol<sup>-1</sup>).<sup>3</sup> Enzymatic reaction, mild heating, and photolysis with visible light all cause homolysis of C–Co bonds. Adding to the usefulness of organocobalt complexes as radical precursors is the fact that, despite their considerable reactivity, many of these complexes can be handled in the laboratory.



Figure 1. The structure of coenzyme B<sub>12</sub> (5'-adenosylcobalamin)

Although C–Co bond homolysis takes place at relatively low temperatures, photolysis is the method of choice for radical formation in reactions conducted outside biological settings.<sup>4–9</sup> The reason for this choice is that C–Co bond fragmentation occurs with low-energy (visible) light at temperatures that avoid possible side reactions from even mild heating of complex, cobalt-containing compounds.

Coenzyme  $B_{12}$  (1, [] Figure 1) provided the original stimulus for using carbon–cobalt bond homolysis to form carbon-centered radicals.<sup>7–11</sup> The enzyme-induced homolysis of the C–Co bond in 1 produced the 5-deoxyadenosyl radical 2 and the cobalt-containing radical 3 (eq 1). The discovery that carbon-centered radicals could be produced in this way led to interest in finding simpler molecules that would mimic such behavior.



 $[Co^{III}]$  and  $[\cdot Co^{II}]$  are general formulas for cobalt complexes in different oxidation states. In this reaction these symbols represent the portion of coenzyme B<sub>12</sub> (see Figure 1) that does not include an adenosyl group.

Among the several types of organocobalt complexes found to be useful in generating carbon-centered radicals, cobaloximes [bis(dimethylglyoximato)cobalt complexes] (Figure 2) are the most widely used in carbohydrate chemistry.<sup>11-15</sup> Many reactions of cobalt-containing carbohydrates and much of the mechanistic information about reactions caused by C–Co bond homolysis come from study of cobaloximes.



Figure 2. General structure for a cobaloxime derivative

This page titled I. Organocobalt Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## II. Organomercury Compounds

There are similarities between the reactivities of carbon–cobalt and carbon–mercury bonds. Both are strong enough to exist in stable structures that can be isolated and both readily cleave upon heating or photolysis. The result in each case is formation of a metal-centered and a carbon-centered radical. Carbon-centered radicals produced by carbon–mercury bond homolysis undergo typical radical reactions, such as hydrogen-atom abstraction (Scheme  $6^{27}$ ),<sup>27,28</sup> addition to a multiple bond (eq 9),<sup>29</sup> and combination with molecular oxygen (eq  $10^{30}$ ).<sup>30,31</sup> Although organomercury compounds can be effective sources of carbon-centered radicals, their use in this role is limited by toxicity and environmental concerns.



Two basic methods exist for generating radicals from organomercury compounds. The first, photochemical homolysis of a carbonmercury bond, is illustrated by the reaction shown in  $\Box$  Scheme 6.<sup>27</sup> The second is more complicated and consists of initially converting an organomercury compound into the corresponding mercury hydride by reaction with NaBH<sub>4</sub> (Scheme 7).<sup>32</sup> The hydride then produces a carbon-centered radical capable of reactions such as the addition to acrylonitrile shown in  $\Box$  eq 9.<sup>29</sup> Adventitious initiation is credited with beginning this reaction.

> Scheme 7 mercury hydride formation RHgX + NaBH4  $\longrightarrow$  RHgH + NaBH<sub>3</sub>X X = CI, OAc R = carbohydrate moiety initiation phase RHgH + In  $\longrightarrow$  RHg + Hin RHg  $\longrightarrow$  R + Hg propagation phase R + CH<sub>2</sub>=CHZ  $\longrightarrow$  RCH<sub>2</sub>ĊHZ RCH<sub>2</sub>ĊHZ + RHgH  $\longrightarrow$  RCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>Z + RHg  $\cdot$ RHg  $\longrightarrow$  R + Hg Z = an electron-withdrawing group

This page titled II. Organomercury Compounds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### **III.** Summary

Organocobalt complexes are sources of free radicals because heating, photolysis, or enzymatic reaction cleaves a carbon–cobalt bond homolytically to produce carbon-centered and cobalt-centered radicals. Cleaving the carbon–cobalt bond in this way changes the oxidation state of cobalt from Co(III) to Co(II). Complexes with cobalt in the Co(II) oxidation state exhibit radical reactivity. Cobalt-containing carbohydrates easily undergo epimerization reactions because the radicals formed by bond fragmentation readily recombine. Carbon-centered radicals produced from organocobalt complexes also undergo the characteristic radical reactions of addition and cyclization.

Organocobalt and organomercury compounds have a similarity in reactivity because each contains a carbon-metal bond that is easily cleaved by heating or photolysis. Carbon-centered radicals produced from organomercury compounds undergo hydrogenatom abstraction and radical addition reactions. Concern about the toxicity of organomercury compounds reduces their usefulness as radical precursors.

This page titled III. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# **CHAPTER OVERVIEW**

### 24: Redox Couples

The previous four chapters describe electron-transfer reactions between carbohydrate derivatives and transition-metal ions. Some ions [chromium(II), samarium(II), and titanium(III)] are electron donors and others [cobalt(III), cerium(IV), manganese(III), and mercury(II)] are electron acceptors. Another form in which a transition-metal ion can participate in a radical reaction is as a part of a redox couple. (A redox couple is a combination of a transition metal and an ion from a different transition metal that act together in donating electrons to organic compounds.) Redox couples promote the addition of halogenated carbohydrates to electron-deficient double bonds, and they participate in the conversion of glycosyl halides into glycals and simple reduction products.

#### **Topic hierarchy**

- II. Electron Transfer from a Redox Couple
- III. Reactions with Redox Couples
- IV. Reaction Mechanism
- V. Summary

This page titled 24: Redox Couples is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### II. Electron Transfer from a Redox Couple

#### A. Direct Electron Donation

Electron donation from the metal in a redox couple to a halogenated carbohydrate can occur either directly or indirectly. With direct reaction the role of the metal ion is primarily to prepare the surface of the metal for interaction with the halogenated compound. This is believed to be the purpose of the copper ion in a zinc–copper couple, a reagent that has been described as an active form of zinc metal.<sup>1</sup> Equation 1 pictures an addition reaction in which the adding radical is generated by reaction of a deoxyiodo sugar with a zinc–copper couple (Zn and CuI) suspended in an ethanol-water solution.<sup>2</sup>



#### **B. Indirect Electron Donation**

Indirect electron donation from the metal in a redox couple occurs when the metal ion is actively involved in the transfer process.<sup>3–</sup> <sup>5</sup> An example of this type of participation is shown in eq 2, where Ni(I) is oxidized to Ni(II) during reaction with a halogenated carbohydrate, and Ni(II) then is reduced to Ni(I) by the manganese metal.<sup>3</sup> Since the electrons being transferred to the carbohydrate are coming indirectly from manganese, the nickel ion performs a delivery role in the reaction and the manganese is the stoichiometric reactant (Scheme 1). In reactions of this type the metal ion need be present in only catalytic amounts; for example, in the glycal formation pictured in eq 3, the complex containing the titanium ion is added in as little as 10 mol%.<sup>4</sup>



This page titled II. Electron Transfer from a Redox Couple is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### **III. Reactions with Redox Couples**

### A. Addition Reactions

The total number of reactions of carbohydrate derivatives with redox couples is modest; among these addition reactions are reported more often than any other type.<sup>2,3,5–9</sup> Addition processes often involve a couple formed by combining zinc metal with a copper salt.<sup>2,6,7,9</sup> Such a reactions is illustrated in [] eq 1, where a zinc–copper couple participates in the addition of a halogenated carbohydrate to a compound with an electron-deficient double bond.

Since reaction between a zinc–copper couple and a carbohydrate is a heterogeneous process that takes place on the surface of finely divided zinc, efficient mixing during reaction is essential. Sonication, which often is used during redox-couple preparation and reaction, is believed to aid electron transfer indirectly by increasing mixing and improving metal-surface cleaning and directly by promoting electron transfer through the influence of ultrasonic waves.<sup>10</sup>

#### B. Elimination and Hydrogen-atom abstraction Reactions

The idea that a copper ion is not directly involved in electron transfer from a zinc–copper couple garners some support from the reaction shown in eq 4, where zinc metal alone is able to act as the electron source in generating a pyranos-1-yl radical.<sup>11</sup> After formation, this radical undergoes further reaction that leads to the D-glucal **3**. Support for the intermediacy of a pyranos-1-yl radical in this reaction comes from conducting reaction in the presence of 1-dodecanethiol ( $C_{12}H_{25}SH$ ), an excellent hydrogenatom transfer. When this thiol is present, a substantial amount of hydrogen-atom abstraction by the pyranos-1-yl radical takes place to produce the simple-reduction product **4**. Proton transfer (the competing, nonradical possibility) does not appear to be involved in formation of **4** because when methanol replaces 1-dodecanethiol in the reaction mixture, none of this simple-reduction product is formed (eq 4).<sup>11</sup>



This page titled III. Reactions with Redox Couples is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### **IV. Reaction Mechanism**

Although the radical mechanism shown in [] Scheme 1 offers a reasonable explanation for the reactions pictured in [] eq 2, there is uncertainty in some reactions involving redox couples about whether a free-radical is ever produced. This uncertainty is reflected in the reaction mechanism shown in Scheme 2, which describes two possible pathways for participation of a zinc–copper couple in an addition reaction. One pathway involves radical formation by electron transfer, and the second describes formation of an organozinc intermediate. The stereochemical evidence and solvent effects described in the next two sections offer insight into the nature of the reactive species generated by a typical redox couple.



This page titled IV. Reaction Mechanism is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# V. Summary

A redox couple is a combination of a transition metal with an ion from another transition metal. These couples serve as electron donors in addition of halogenated carbohydrates to compounds with electron-deficient double bonds. There is some uncertainty as to whether a free radical or an organometallic compound is the intermediate in this type of reaction. Stereochemical evidence supports the radical pathway, but solvent effects indicate a more complicated situation.

This page titled V. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# Appendix I: Hydrogen-Atom Donors

Hydrogen-atom donors are widely used in radical reactions because hydrogen-atom abstraction is the final step in most radical chain processes. Donors can have a hydrogen atom bonded to a tin, silicon, sulfur, selenium, boron, phosphorous, or carbon atom. Most reactions involve organotin compounds, usually tri-*n*-butyltin hydride (Bu<sub>3</sub>SnH). Some organosilanes, in particular tris(trimethylsilyl) silane [(Me<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>SiH], are effective enough as hydrogen-atom transfers to serve as replacements for organotin hydrides. Most other hydrogen-atom transfers are either so reactive or so unreactive that they typically are used only in special situations.

This page titled Appendix I: Hydrogen-Atom Donors is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.





# II. Organotin Hydrides

Organotin hydrides are the most frequently employed hydrogen-atom donors in radical reactions of carbohydrates. Clearly, the compound of choice is tri-*n*-butyltin hydride (Section II.A). Phenyl-substituted compounds, such as triphenyltin hydride, can serve in the same role, but they offer no advantage and are rarely used. Polymer-supported (Section II.B) and fluorous (Section II.C) tin hydrides have been used as replacements that avoid some of the difficulties inherent in the use of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride.

This page titled II. Organotin Hydrides is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### **III.** Organosilanes

Difficulties associated with use of tri-*n*-butyltin hydride have prompted chemists to search for alternative, hydrogen-atom sources, ones that avoid the problems associated with organotin compounds. Most attention has focused on organosilanes, compounds that do not have the toxicity associated with organotin reagents.<sup>4</sup> Initially, the outlook was not promising because simple organosilanes are poor hydrogen-atom transfers when reacting with alkyl radicals and do not support chain reactions under normal conditions.<sup>4</sup> Innovative ideas, however, have overcome these problems.

This page titled III. Organosilanes is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## IV. Compounds with Phosphorous–Hydrogen Bonds

The search for less problematic hydrogen-atom transfers for use in the Barton-McCombie reaction has led to compounds with phosphorus–hydrogen bonds. These include dialkylphosphine oxides (**11**), alkyl phosphites (**12**), hypophosphorous acid (**13**), and salts of hypophosphorous acid (**14**) (Figure 2). All of these compounds can function as inexpensive, nontoxic hydrogen-atom transfers that form the chain-carrying radicals needed for reaction and do not produce byproducts difficult to remove.<sup>3,10,57</sup> An example of a reaction in which hydrogen donation is from a P–H bond is shown in eq 13.<sup>58</sup>





Alkyl phosphites (**12**) are excellent hydrogen-atom transfers, but reactions involving these compounds have the disadvantage of not being able to be initiated by 2,2'-azobis(isobutyronitrile); benzoyl peroxide usually is the initiator.<sup>3,10</sup> Reactions in which the hydrogen-atom transfer is a dialkylphosphine oxide (**11**), hypophosphorous acid (**13**), or a salt of hypophosphorous acid (**14**) can be initiated by AIBN.<sup>9,57</sup> Because it is difficult to completely remove water from hypophosphorous acid and its salts, these donors are less attractive choices when moisture sensitive compounds are reacting.<sup>9</sup>

This page titled IV. Compounds with Phosphorous–Hydrogen Bonds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



## V. Compounds with Boron–Hydrogen Bonds

Phosphine-boranes (15) ([] Figure 2) are a group of compounds that have the ability to react selectively with xanthates in the presence of compounds containing bromine or chlorine (but not iodine).<sup>11</sup> For example, cyclohexyl bromide is recovered without change when it is added to the reaction shown in eq 14; in contrast, tri-*n*-butyltin hydride and most other hydrogen-atom transfers used in radical reactions readily dehalogenate bromides. If this lack of reactivity between alkyl bromides and phosphine-boranes extends to halogenated carbohydrates, it will make possible their chemoselective deoxygenation without dehalogenation.



This page titled V. Compounds with Boron–Hydrogen Bonds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



### VI. Compounds with Carbon–Hydrogen Bonds

### A. 2-Propanol

Few compounds in which a carbon–hydrogen bond must serve as the hydrogen-atom source are reactive enough to function as hydrogen-atom transfers in radical reactions of carbohydrates. The reason for this is that when less reactive donors are used, other reactions become competitive. Even compounds with quite reactive C–H bonds are poor hydrogen-atom transfers when compared to tri-*n*-butyltin hydride or tris(trimethylsilyl)silane. One compound that does have the necessary reactivity, but just barely, is 2-propanol. When reaction of the xanthate **16** is conducted with 2-propanol as the solvent, hydrogen-atom abstraction is in spirited competition with xanthate-dithiocarbonate rearrangement (eq 15).<sup>59</sup> This competition exists because hydrogen-atom abstraction by the carbohydrate radical R· is slow enough that addition of R· to another molecule of the xanthate **16** has a comparable rate (Scheme 5). The adduct radical formed by this addition fragments to give the dithiocarbonate **18** and a carbohydrate radical (R·).



### B. Cyclohexane

The xanthate **19** reacts to form the corresponding deoxy sugar in 85% yield (eq 16).<sup>60</sup> In this reaction cyclohexane functions as the hydrogen-atom transfer. Since cyclohexane is not a noticeably better hydrogen-atom transfer than 2-propanol, it is initially surprising that no dithiocarbonate is formed from **19** even though (as described in the previous section) dithiocarbonate formation is significant in reaction of the xanthate **16** ( $\parallel$  eq 15). The structural difference between the starting materials (**16** and **19**) in these two reactions accounts for their difference in reactivity. Unlike **16**, the xanthate **19** has a sulfur atom directly attached to the carbohydrate portion of the molecule. This means that when the carbohydrate radical R· adds to **19**, the options available to the adduct radical **20** are either regenerating the starting materials or expelling an unstabilized, primary radical (Scheme 6). Not surprisingly, no dithiocarbonate from primary radical expulsion is observed; therefore, the only operative pathway for the radical **20** is reforming of R· and the xanthate **19**. Each regeneration of R· creates a new opportunity for it to abstract a hydrogen atom. With these multiple opportunities even a marginally effective hydrogen-atom transfer eventually is able to react with R· to produce the hydrogen-abstraction product RH.





Even though the yield is good, the reaction shown in [] eq 16 is not an attractive option for deoxy sugar synthesis because it requires reaction of the carbohydrate to replace a C–O bond with a C–S bond before conducting the Barton-McCombie reaction. The additional steps necessary for this conversion add to the effort required for deoxygenation.

### C. Silylated Cyclohexadienes

Silylated cyclohexadienes, such as **21**, are effective hydrogen-atom transfers in Barton-McCombie reactions (eq 17).<sup>61</sup> Compound **21** has the advantage of being a solid material that can be easily stored and handled. Although this compound **(21)** is an order of magnitude less reactive than (Me<sub>3</sub>Si)<sub>3</sub>SiH **(3)**, it is able to support chain reactions. The propagation steps in a proposed mechanism for replacement of an *O*-phenoxythiocarbonyl group with a hydrogen atom supplied by **21** are given in Scheme 7.



This page titled VI. Compounds with Carbon–Hydrogen Bonds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VII. Compounds with Sulfur–Hydrogen or Selenium–Hydrogen Bonds

The rate constants for hydrogen-atom abstraction from sulfur–hydrogen and selenium–hydrogen bonds are so rapid [ $k_{SH} = 1.5 \text{ x}$   $10^8 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$  (from C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>SH) and  $k_{SeH} = 2.1 \text{ x} 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$  (from C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>SeH)] that abstraction typically will take place before other radical reactions (e.g., addition, cyclization, and rearrangement) can occur. (Rate constants for hydrogen-atom abstraction from various, hydrogen-atom donors, as well as rate constants for other radical reactions are given in Chapter 8 of Volume I.)

This page titled VII. Compounds with Sulfur–Hydrogen or Selenium–Hydrogen Bonds is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.



# VIII. Summary

Since some tin-containing compounds are toxic and can cause purification problems, procedures have been developed both to minimize the amount of these materials needed for successful reaction and to make their removal easier and more complete. Another solution to toxicity and purification problems created by tin-containing compounds is to replace them with less offensive reagents. An effective replacement is tris(trimethylsilyl)silane. For reactive carbohydrate iodides cyclohexane also can be used.

This page titled VIII. Summary is shared under a All Rights Reserved (used with permission) license and was authored, remixed, and/or curated by Roger W. Binkley and Edith R. Binkley.

# Index

### E Epimerization

I. Organocobalt Compounds



### **Detailed Licensing**

### Overview

Title: Radical Reactions of Carbohydrates II: Radical Reactions of Carbohydrates

#### Webpages: 167

#### All licenses found:

- Other: 94.6% (158 pages)
- Undeclared: 5.4% (9 pages)

#### By Page

- Radical Reactions of Carbohydrates II: Radical Reactions of Carbohydrates *Other* 
  - Front Matter Undeclared
    - TitlePage Undeclared
    - InfoPage Undeclared
    - Table of Contents *Undeclared*
    - Licensing Undeclared
  - 1: Advantages & Disadvantages of Radical Reactions *Other* 
    - II. Advantages of Radical Reactions Other
    - III. Disadvantages of Radical Reactions Other
    - IV. Looking Ahead Other
  - 2: Halogenated Compounds Other
    - I. Introduction *Other*
    - II. Radical Formation by Dehalogenation Other
    - III. Radical Reactions Other
    - IV. Halogenation Other
    - V. Summary Other
  - 3: Compounds with Carbon–Sulfur Single Bonds Other
    - I. Introduction Other
    - II. Reaction Mechanisms Other
    - III. Alkylthio and Arylthio Substituted Carbohydrates and Related Compounds - Other
    - IV. Dithioacetals Other
    - V. Thiocarbonates and Dithiocarbonates Other
    - VI. O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds Other
    - VII. Sulfones Other
    - VIII. Thiols and Thiyl Radicals Other
    - IX. Summary Other
  - 4: Selenides & Tellurides Other
    - II. Selenides Other
    - III. Tellurides Other
    - IV. Summary Other
  - 5: Acetals & Ethers Other
    - II. Bromination of Acetals and Ethers Other
    - III. Thiol-Catalyzed Reactions of Acetals: Polarity-Reversal Catalysis - Other

- IV. Ring Opening of Specially Designed Acetals *Other*
- V. Internal Hydrogen-atom abstraction in Acetals and Ethers *Other*
- VI. Radical Cyclization: The Role of Ethers and Acetals *Other*
- VII. Silyl Ether Rearrangement Other
- VIII. Summary Other
- 6: Alkoxy Radicals Other
  - Front Matter Other
    - TitlePage Other
    - InfoPage Other
  - II. Alkoxy Radicals Other
  - III. Summary Other
  - Back Matter Other
    - Index Other
- 7: Unprotected Carbohydrates Other
  - II. Radicals That Abstract Hydrogen Atoms from Unprotected Carbohydrates *Other*
  - III. First Formed Radicals: Radicals Produced by Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction from Unprotected Carbohydrates - Other
  - IV. Reactions of First-Formed Radicals Other
  - V. Reactions of Carbonyl-Conjugated Radicals *Other*
  - VI. Oxidative Degradation of Carbohydrates Other
  - VII. Reactions of Polysaccharides Other
  - VIII. Summary Other
- 8: Carboxylic Acids & Esters Other
  - II. Replacement of an Acyloxy Group with a Hydrogen Atom *Other*
  - III. Photochemical Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters - *Other*
  - IV. Nonphotochemcal Electron Transfer to Carboxylic Acid Esters *Other*
  - V. Acyloxy Group Migration Other
  - VI. Reactions of Carboxylic Acids Other
  - VII. Summary Other



- 9: Phosphoric Acid Esters Other
  - II. Phosphatoxy Group Migration Other
  - III. Radical Cation Formation from Nucleotides *Other*
  - IV. Migration Reactions in Other β-Ester Radicals -Other
  - V. Summary Other
- 10: Aldehydes & Ketones Other
  - I. Introduction Other
  - II. Intramolecular Addition of Carbon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydo and Keto Groups - *Other*
  - III. Migration of Aldehydo Groups Other
  - IV. Addition of Tin- and Silicon-Centered Radicals to Aldehydes *Other*
  - V. Reaction of Samarium(II) Iodide with Aldehydes and Ketones *Other*
  - VI. Ketone Photolysis Other
  - VII. Cyclization of Acylsilanes Other
  - VIII. Reactions of α-Acyloxyketones *Other*
  - IX. Summary Other
- 11: Synthesis of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds Other
  - II. Xanthates Other
  - III. (Thiocarbonyl)imidazolides Other
  - IV. Aryl Thionocarbonates Other
  - V. Cyclic Thionocarbonates Other
  - VI. Thionoesters Other
  - VII. Factors Affecting O-Thiocarbonyl Compound Synthesis *Other*
  - VIII. Summary Other
- 12: Reactions of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds *Other* 
  - II. Deoxygenation: The Barton-McCombie Reaction *Other*
  - III. Radical Addition Other
  - IV. Radical Cyclization Other
  - V. Comparing the Reactivity of O-Thiocarbonyl and O-Carbonyl Carbohydrates *Other*
  - VI. Summary Other
- 13: Carboxylic Acid Esters of N-Hydroxypyridine-2thione - *Other* 
  - II. Reaction Mechanism Other
  - III. Group Replacement Reactions Other
  - IV. Addition Reactions Other
  - V. Cyclization Reactions Other
  - VI. Generating Methyl Radicals Other
  - VII. Summary Other
- 14: Nitro Compounds Other
  - II. Reaction Mechanisms Other
  - III. C-Nitro Carbohydrates Other
  - IV. O-Nitro Carbohydrates Other

- V. Reactions of Nitro Compounds with Silanes *Other*
- VI. Summary Other
- 15: Azides & Azo Compounds Other
  - II. Azides Other
  - III. Azo Compounds Other
  - IV. Summary Other
- 16: Nitriles & Isonitriles Other
  - II. Isonitriles Other
  - III. Nitriles Other
  - IV. Summary Other
- 17: Oxime Ethers & Related Compounds Other
  - II. Oximes Other
  - III. Hydrazones and Imines Other
  - IV. Ketonitrones *Other*
  - V. Protonated Heteroaromatics Other
  - VI. Protected Amines Other
  - VII. Summary Other
- 18: Compounds with Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds I: Addition Reactions *Other* 
  - II. Defining Characteristics of Radical Addition Reactions *Other*
  - III. Chain Reactions Other
  - IV. Nonchain Reactions: Radical Formation by Electron Transfer *Other*
  - V. Summary Other
- 19: Compounds With Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds II: Cyclization Reactions - *Other* 
  - II. Ease of Reaction between a Carbon-Centered Radical and a Multiple Bond *Other*
  - III. Reaction Selectivity Other
  - IV. Unsaturated Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization *Other*
  - V. An Organization for Carbohydrates That Undergo Radical Cyclization *Other*
  - VI. Summary Other
- 20: Reactions of Samarium(II) Iodide With Carbohydrate Derivatives *Other* 
  - II. Radical Formation Other
  - III. Formation of Organosamarium Compounds *Other*
  - IV. Reactions of Organosamarium Compounds *Other*
  - V. Cyclization Reactions Other
  - VI. Radical Addition and Hydrogen-Atom Abstraction *Other*
  - VII. Comparison of Reactions of Chromium(II) Reagents With Those of Samarium(II) Iodide - Other
  - VIII. Summary Other



- 21: Reactions of Radicals Produced by Electron Transfer to Manganese(III) Acetate & Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate - *Other* 
  - II. Manganese(III) Acetate Other
  - III. Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate Other
  - IV. Summary Other
- 22: Reactions of Carbohydrate Derivatives With Titanocene(III) Chloride *Other* 
  - II. Reactions Other
  - III. Electron Donation by a Ruthenium Complex *Other*
  - IV. Summary Other
- 23: Organocobalt & Organomercury Compounds Other
  - I. Organocobalt Compounds Other
  - II. Organomercury Compounds Other
  - III. Summary Other
- 24: Redox Couples Other
  - II. Electron Transfer from a Redox Couple Other
  - III. Reactions with Redox Couples Other

- IV. Reaction Mechanism Other
- V. Summary Other
- Appendix I: Hydrogen-Atom Donors Other
  - II. Organotin Hydrides Other
  - III. Organosilanes Other
  - IV. Compounds with Phosphorous–Hydrogen Bonds *Other*
  - V. Compounds with Boron–Hydrogen Bonds Other
  - VI. Compounds with Carbon–Hydrogen Bonds *Other*
  - VII. Compounds with Sulfur–Hydrogen or Selenium– Hydrogen Bonds - Other
  - VIII. Summary Other
- Back Matter Undeclared
  - Index Undeclared
  - Glossary Undeclared
  - Detailed Licensing Undeclared
  - References Other



### References

#### Chapter 1: Advantages and Disadvantages of Radical Reactions

- 1. Walling, C. Tetrahedron1985, 41, 3887.
- 2. Jasperse, C. P.; Curran, D. P.; Fevig, T. L. Chem. Rev. 1991, 91, 1237.
- 3. Curran, D. P. Synthesis **1988**, 417.
- 4. Audin, C.; Lancelin, J.-M.; Beau, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 3691.
- 5. De Mesmaeker, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Winkler, T.; Waldner, A. Synlett 1990, 201.
- 6. Gómez, A. M.; Company, M. D.; Uriel, C.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1645.
- 7. Zhang, W. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 7237.
- 8. Gilbert, B. C.; Parsons, A. F. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2002, 367.
- 9. López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. Chem. Commun. 1997, 2251.
- 10. Giese, B. Radicals in Organic Synthesis: Formation of Carbon–Carbon Bonds; Pergamon Press: New York, 1986.
- 11. a) Gurjar, M. K.; Ravindranadh, S. V.; Karmakar, S. *Chem. Commun.* **2001**, 241; b) Gurjar, M. K.; Ravindranadh, S. V.; Sankar, K.; Karmakar, S.; Cherian, J.; Chorghade, M. S. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2003**, *1*, 1366.
- 12. Martín, A.; Pérez-Martín, I.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 4781.
- 13. Lin, T.-S.; Yang, J.-H.; Liu, M.-C.; Zhu, J.-L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 3829.
- 14. López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3871.
- 15. De Mesmaeker, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Ernst, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 57.
- 16. Gotanda, K.; Matsugi, M.; Suemura, M.; Ohira, C.; Sano, A.; Oka, M.; Kita, Y. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 10315.
- 17. de Pouilly, P.; Chénedé, A.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 8065.
- 18. de Pouilly, P.; Chénedé, A.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Bull. Chem. Soc. Fr. 1993, 130, 256.
- 19. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Griller, D.; Lesage, M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2492.
- 20. Chatgilialoglu, C. Acc. Chem. Res. 1992, 25, 188.
- 21. Ballestri, M.; Chatgilialoglu, C.; Clark, K. B.; Griller, D.; Giese, B.; Kopping, B. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 678.
- 22. SanMartin, R.; Tavassoli, B.; Walsh, K. E.; Walter, D. S.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 4051.
- 23. Abe, H.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 11870.
- 24. Giese, B.; Gröninger, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 2743.
- 25. Garner, P.; Anderson, J. T.; Cox, P. B.; Klippenstein, S. J.; Leslie, R.; Scardovi, N. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 6195.
- 26. Tsuruta, O.; Yuasa, H.; Kurono, S.; Hashimoto, H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1999, 9, 807.
- 27. Rubinstenn, G.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3697.
- 28. Berkin, A.; Szarek, W. A.; Kisilevsky, R. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 37.
- 29. Lindhorst, T. K.; Braun, C.; Withers, S. G. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 268, 93.
- 30. Yamazaki, O.; Togo, H.; Nogami, G.; Yokoyama, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1997, 70, 2519.
- 31. Giese, B.; Kopping, B.; Göbel, T.; Dickhout, J.; Thoma, G.; Kulicke, K. J.; Trach, F. Org. React. 1996, 48, 301.
- 32. Postema, M. H. D. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 8545.
- 33. Togo, H.; Matsubayashi, S.; Yamazaki, O.; Yokoyama, M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 2816.
- 34. Gómez, A. M.; López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 4048.
- 35. Giese, B.; Dupuis, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1983, 22, 622.
- 36. Kita, Y.; Gotanda, K.; Sano, A.; Oka, M.; Murata, K.; Suemura, M.; Matsugi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8345.
- 37. Gotanda, K.; Matsugi, M.; Suemura, M.; Ohira, C.; Sano, A.; Oka, M.; Kita, Y. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 10315.
- 38. SanMartin, R.; Tavassoli, B.; Walsh, K. E.; Walter, D. S.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 4051.

### **Chapter 2: Halogenated Compounds**

- 1. Roe, B. A.; Boojamra, C. G.; Griggs, J. L.; Bertozzi, C. R. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6442.
- 2. Hanessian, S.; Pleassas, N. R. J. Org. Chem. 1969, 34, 1035.
- 3. Kuivila, H. G.; Menapace, L. W.; Warner, C. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1962, 84, 3584.
- 4. Menapace, L. W.; Kuivila, H. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 3047.
- 5. Kuivila, H. G. Acc. Chem. Res. 1968, 1, 299.
- 6. Kuivila, H. G. *Synthesis* **1970**, 499.
- 7. Kuivila, H. G.; Menapace, L. W. J. Org. Chem. 1963, 28, 2165.



- 8. Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R.; Gröninger, K. S.; Witzel, T.; Giese, B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II 1986, 1461.
- 9. Carlsson, D. J.; Ingold, K. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 1055.
- 10. Carlsson, D. J.; Ingold, K. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 7047.
- 11. Ingold, K. U.; Lusztyk, J.; Scaiano, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 343.
- 12. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Ferreri, C. Res. Chem. Intermed. 1993, 19, 755.
- 13. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Griller, D.; Lesage, M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2492.
- 14. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Pigou, P. E. Aust. J. Chem. 1986, 39, 77.
- 15. Beckwith, A. L. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1993, 22, 143.
- 16. Arita, H.; Fukukawa, K.; Matsushima, Y. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1972, 45, 3614.
- 17. Schiesser, C. H.; Wild, L. M. Tetrahedron, 1996, 52, 13265.
- 18. Schiesser, C. H.; Smart, B. A.; Tran, T.-A. *Tetrahedron* **1995**, *51*, 3327.
- 19. Curran, D. P.; Jasperse, C. P.; Toteben, M. J. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 7169.
- 20. Hay, R. S.; Roberts, B. P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II 1978, 770.
- 21. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Ingold, K. U.; Scaiano, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 5123.
- 22. Blackburn, E. V.; Tanner, D. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 692.
- 23. Lindhorst, T. K.; Braun, C.; Withers, S. G. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 268, 93.
- 24. Schäfer, A.; Klich, G.; Schreiber, M.; Paulsen, H.; Theim, J. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 313, 107.
- 25. Verheggen, I.; Van Aerschot, A.; Toppet, S.; Snoeck, R.; Janssen, G.; Balzarini, J.; De Clercq, E.; Herdewijn, P. J. Med Chem. **1993**, *36*, 2033.
- 26. Danishefsky, S. J.; Selnick, H. G.; Armistead, D. M.; Wincott, F. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 8119.
- 27. Tatsuta, K.; Fujimoto, K.; Kinoshita, M. Carbohydr. Res. 1977, 54, 85.
- 28. Blattner, R.; Furneaux, R. H.; Mason, J. M.; Tyler, P. C. Pestic. Sci. 1991, 31, 419.
- 29. Lehmann, J.; Moritz, A. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 239, 317.
- 30. Toshima, H.; Watanabe, A.; Sato, H.; Ichihara, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 9223.
- 31. Bazin, H. G.; Wolff, M. W.; Linhardt, R. J. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 144.
- 32. Fauré, R.; Shiao, T. C.; Damerval, S.; Roy, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 2385.
- 33. Koto, S.; Kusunoki, A.; Hirooka, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 2000, 73, 967.
- 34. Iyer, R. P.; Phillips, L. R.; Egan, W. Syn. Commun. 1991, 21, 2053.
- 35. Mikhailopulo, I. A.; Pricota, T. I.; Poopeiko, N. E.; Klenitskaya, T. V.; Khripach, N. B. Synthesis 1993, 700.
- 36. Gurjar, M. K.; Mainkar, P. S. Indian J. Chem. 1990, 29B, 1081.
- 37. Zur, C.; Miethchen, R. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 531.
- 38. Marco-Contelles, J.; Rodríguez-Fernández, M. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 3717.
- 39. Hřebabecký, H.; Dočkal, J.; Holý. A. Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1994, 59, 1408.
- 40. Wang, Z.; Rizzo, C. J. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 227.
- 41. Cui, Z.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 561.
- 42. Takamatsu, S.; Maruyama, T.; Katayama, S.; Hirose, N.; Naito, M.; Izawa, K. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 7469.
- 43. Postigo, A.; Kopsov, S.; Ferreri, C.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 5159.
- 44. Robins, M. J.; Sporns, P.; Muhs, W. H. Can. J. Chem. 1979, 57, 274.
- 45. Gurjar, M. K.; Kunwar, A. C.; Reddy, D. V.; Islam, A.; Lalitha, S. V. S.; Jagannadh, B.; Rama Rao, A. V. *Tetrahedron* **1993**, *49*, 4373.
- 46. Kawashima, E.; Aoyama, Y.; Sekine, T.; Miyahara, M.; Radwan, M. F.; Nakamura, E.; Kainosho, M.; Kyogoku, Y.; Ishido, Y. J. Org. Chem. **1995**, 60, 6980.
- 47. Robins, M. J.; MacCoss, M.; Wilson, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 4660.
- 48. Robins, M. J.; Wilson, J. S.; Hansske, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 4059.
- 49. Frank, M.; Meithchen, R.; Degenring, D. Carbohydr. Res. 1999, 318, 167.
- 50. (a) Frank, M.; Meithchen, R.; Reinke, H. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **1999**, 1259; (b) Hager, C.; Meithchen, R.; Reinke, H. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **2000**, *19*, 997.
- 51. Werz, D. B.; Adibekian, A.; Seeberger, P. H. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 1976.
- 52. Meithchen, R. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 2003, 22, 801.
- 53. Karst, N.; Jacquinet, J.-C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 2709.
- 54. Belot, F.; Otter, A.; Fukuda, M.; Hindsgaul, O. Synlett 2003, 1315.
- 55. Takeda, Y.; Horito, S. Carbohydr. Res. 2005, 340, 211.



- 56. Vocadlo, D. J.; Withers, S. G. Carbohydr. Res. 2005, 340, 379.
- 57. Bélot, F.; Guerreiro, C.; Baleux, F.; Mulard, L. A. Chem. Eur. J. 2005, 11, 1625.
- 58. Mulard, L. A.; Clément, M.-J.; Segat-Dioury, F.; Delepierre, M. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 2593.
- 59. Miethchen, R.; Sowa, C.; Frank, M.; Michalik, M.; Reinke, H. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 1.
- 60. Bélot, F.; Costachel, C.; Wright, K.; Phalipon, A.; Mulard, L. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 8215.
- 61. Giese, B.; Gröninger, K. S.; Witzel, T.; Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1987, 26, 233.
- 62. Giese, B.; Gilges, S.; Gröninger, K. S.; Lamberth, C.; Witzel, T. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1988, 615.
- 63. Hirota, K.; Onogi, S.; Maki, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1991, 39, 2702.
- 64. Jung, M. E.; Nichols, C. J.; Kretschik, O.; Xu, Y. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 541.
- 65. Tsuruta, O.; Yuasa, H.; Kurono, S.; Hashimoto, H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1999, 9, 807.
- 66. Praly, J.-P.; Ardakani, A. S.; Bruyère, I.; Marie-Luce, C.; Qin, B. B. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 1623.
- 67. Kita, Y.; Gotanda, K.; Sano, A.; Oka, M.; Murata, K.; Suemura, M.; Matsugi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8345.
- 68. Wakabayashi, T.; Shiozaki, M.; Kurakata, S. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 97.
- 69. Ferritto, R.; Vogel, P. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2077.
- 70. Bimwala, R. M.; Vogel, P. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 2076.
- 71. Giese, B.; Witzel, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 450.
- 72. Giese, B.; Hoch, M.; Lamberth, C.; Schmidt, R. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 1375.
- 73. Junker, H.-D.; Phung, N.; Fessner, W.-D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 7063.
- 74. Junker. H.-D.; Fessner, W.-D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 269.
- 75. Hart, D. J.; Krishnamurthy, R.; Pook, L. M.; Seely, F. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 7819.
- 76. Hart, D. J.; Seely, F. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 1631.
- 77. Debart, F.; Vasseur, J.-J.; Sanghvi, Y. S.; Cook P. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 2645.
- 78. Motherwell, W. B.; Ross, B. C.; Tozer, M. J. Synlett 1989, 68.
- 79. Herpin, T. F.; Motherwell, W. B.; Tozer, M. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2269.
- 80. Drescher, M.; Hammerschmidt, F. Synthesis 1996, 1451.
- 81. Blattner, R.; Ferrier, R. J.; Renner, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1007.
- 82. Giese, B.; Dupuis, J.; Nix, M. Org. Syn. 1987, 65, 236.
- 83. Araki, Y.; Endo, T.; Tanji, M.; Arai, Y.; Ishido, Y.; Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2335.
- 84. Herpin, T. F.; Motherwell, W. B.; Tozer, M. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2269.
- 85. Caddick, S.; Wilden, J. D.; Bush, H. D.; Wadman, S. N.; Judd, D. B. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2549.
- 86. Caddick, S.; Hamza, D.; Wadmam, S. N.; Wilden, J. D. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1775.
- 87. Keck, G. E.; Tafesh, A. M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5845.
- 88. Walczak, K.; Pupek, K.; Pedersen E. B. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1991, 1041.
- 89. Blanchard, P.; El Kortbi, M. S.; Fourrey, J.-L.; Robert-Gero, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 3319.
- 90. Maria, E. J.; da Silva, A. D.; Fourrey, J.-L. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 627.
- 91. Spencer, R. P.; Schwartz, J. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 4204.
- 92. Du, Y.; Linhardt, R. J. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 9913.
- 93. Praly, J.-P.; Chen, G.-R.; Gola, J.; Hetzer, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 2831.
- 94. Chen, G.-R.; Fei, Z. B.; Huang, X.-T.; Xie, Y.-Y.; Xu, J.-L.; Gola, J.; Steng, M.; Praly, J.-P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 2939.
- 95. Kelly, D. R.; Mahdi, J. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 511.
- 96. Ethève-Quelquejeu, M.; Valéry, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 4807.
- 97. Gómez, A. M.; López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 4048.
- 98. Yu, D.; d'Alarcao, M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 3240.
- 99. Le Guyader, F.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Seguin, S.; Zard, S. Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7410.
- 100. Bertrand, F.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1943.
- 101. Bennett, S. M.; Biboutou, R. K.; Zhou, Z.; Pion, R. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 4761.
- 102. Hersant, G.; Ferjani, M. B. S.; Bennett, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 8123.
- 103. a) Gimisis, T.; Chatgilialoglu, C. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1908. b) Chatgilialoglu, C.; Gimisis, T.; Spada, G. P. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 2866.
- 104. a) Ferjani, M. B. S.; Zhou, Z.; Bennett, S. M. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, 8113. b) Zhou, Z.; Bennett, S. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 1153.
- 105. Ferrier, R. J.; Hall, D. W.; Petersen, P. M. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 239, 143.



- 106. Wilcox, C. S.; Thomasco, L. M. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 546.
- 107. Roberts, S. M.; Shoberu, K. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 2625.
- 108. Bennett, S. M.; Biboutou, R. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 7075.
- 109. Wilcox, C. S.; Gaudino, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3102.
- 110. Matsugi, M.; Gotanda, K.; Ohira, C.; Suemura, M.; Sano, A.; Kita, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 6928.
- 111. Papchikhin, A.; Agback, P.; Plavec, J.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 329.
- 112. Marco-Contelles, J.; Sánchez, B. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4293.
- 113. Sviridov, A. F.; Frolov, A. B.; Kochetkov, N. K. Russ. Chem. Bull. 1993, 42, 1906.
- 114. Marco-Contelles, J.; de Opazo, E. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 3705.
- 115. Ingall, A. H.; Moore, P. R.; Roberts, S. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 83.
- 116. Grové, J. J. C.; Holzapfel, C. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 7429.
- 117. Marco-Contelles, J.; Martínez, L.; Martínez-Grau, A.; Pozuelo, C.; Jimeno, M. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 6437.
- 118. Alonso, R. A.; Burgey, C. S.; Rao, B. V.; Vite, G. D.; Vollerthun, R.; Zottola, M. A.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 6666.
- 119. Fraser-Reid, B.; Burgey, C. S.; Vollerthun, R. Pure Appl. Chem. 1998, 70, 285.
- 120. Marco-Contelles, J.; Martínez-Grau, A.; Martinez-Ripoll, M.; Cano, H.; Foces-Foces, C. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 403.
- 121. Yeung, B.-W. A.; Contelles, J. L. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1160.
- 122. Sharma, G. V. M.; Krishnudu, K. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 268, 287.
- 123. Marco-Contelles, J.; Martínez-Grau, A. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 7663.
- 124. Jarreton, O.; Skrydstrup, T.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1661.
- 125. Jung, M. E.; Choe, S. W. T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 6247.
- 126. Kittaka, A.; Tanaka, H.; Odanaka, Y.; Ohnuki, K.; Yamaguchi, K.; Miyasaka, T. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 3636.
- 127. Kittaka, A.; Tsubaki, Y.; Tanaka, H.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1996, 15, 97.
- 128. Kittaka, A.; Asakura, T.; Kuze, T.; Tanaka, H.; Yamada, N.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 7801.
- 129. Chatgilialoglu, C. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 547.
- 130. Kittaka, A.; Tanaka, H.; Yamada, N.; Kato, H.; Miyasaka, T. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1997, 16, 1423.
- 131. Kittaka, A.; Tanaka, H.; Yamada, N.; Miyasaka, T. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 2801.
- 132. Pedretti, V.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 244, 247.
- 133. Mayon, P.; Chapleur, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 3703.
- 134. Bonnert, R. V.; Davies, M. J.; Howarth, J.; Jenkins, P. R.; Lawrence, N. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 27.
- 135. Gómez, A. M.; López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3859.
- 136. López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. Aust. J. Chem. 1995, 48, 333.
- 137. Augustyns, K.; Rozenski, J.; Van Aerschot, A.; Busson, R.; Claes, P.; Herdewijn, P. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 1189.
- 138. Doboszewski, B.; Blaton, N.; Rozenski, J.; De Bruyn, A.; Herdewijn, P. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 5381.
- 139. Yoshimura, T.; Bando, T.; Shindo, M.; Shishido, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 9241.
- 140. Vauzeilles, B.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 7269.
- 141. McDonald, C. E.; Dugger, R. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2413.
- 142. Rao, A. V. R.; Yadav, J. S.; Rao, C. S.; Chandrasekhar, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1990, 1211.
- 143. Wee, A. G. H. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 5065.
- 144. Kim, K. S.; Kim, J. H.; Kim, Y. K.; Park, Y. S.; Hahn, C. S. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 194, c1.
- 145. Lopez, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 3450.
- 146. Gómez, A. M.; Casillas, M.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 2175.
- 147. Chapleur, Y.; Moufid, N. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 39.
- 148. Ferrier, R. J.; Hall, D. W.; Petersen, P. M. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 239, 143.
- 149. de Oliveira, R. B.; de Souza Filho, J. D.; Prado, M. A. F.; Eberlin, M. N.; Meurer, E. C.; Santos, L. S.; Alves, R. J. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, 9901.
- 150. David, S.; de Sennyey, G. Carbohydr. Res. 1980, 82, 45.
- 151. a) Lin, T.-S.; Yang, J.-H.; Liu, M.-C.; Zhu, J.-L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 3829; b) Lin, T.-S.; Luo, M.-Z.; Liu, M.-C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 3477.
- 152. a) Serafinowski, P. Synthesis 1990, 411; b) Dorland, E.; Serafinowski, P. Synthesis 1992, 477.
- 153. Parrish, J. D.; Little, R. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 7371.



- 154. a) Brevet, D.; Mugnier, Y.; Samreth, S.; Dellis, P. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2003**, *338*, 1543; b) Somsák, L.; Madaj, J.; Wísniewski, A. J. *Carbohydr. Chem.* **1997**, *16*, 1075.
- 155. Gurjar, M. K.; Chakrabarti, A.; Rao, B. V.; Kumar, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6885.
- 156. Gurjar, M. K.; Ravindranadh, S. V.; Sankar, K.; Karmakar, S.; Cherian, J.; Chorghade, M. S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 1366.
- 157. Gurjar, M. K.; Ravindranadh, S. V.; Kumar, P. Chem. Commun. 2001, 917.
- 158. Brunckova, J. Crich, D.; Yao, Q. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6619.
- 159. Yamazaki, N.; Eichenberger, E.; Curran, D. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6623.
- 160. Sakaguchi, N.; Hirano, S.; Matsuda, A.; Shuto, S. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3291.
- 161. Giese, B.; Rückert, B.; Gröninger, K. S.; Muhn, R.; Linder, H. J. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1988, 997.
- 162. Alberti, A.; Della Bona, M. A.; Macciantelli, D.; Pelizzoni, F.; Sello, G.; Torri, G.; Vismara, E. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 10241.
- 163. a) Alberti, A.; Bertini, S.; Comoli, M.; Guerrini, M.; Mele, A.; Vismara, E. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 6291; b) Guerrini, M.; Guglieri, S.; Santarsiero, R. Vismara, E. *Tetrahedron: Asym.* **2005**, *16*, 243.
- 164. Mayer, S. Prandi, J.; Bamhaoud, T.; Bakkas, S.; Guillou, O. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 8753.
- 165. a) Nakamura, E.; Inubushi, T.; Aoki, S.; Machii, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 8980; b) Yorimitsu, H.; Murakami, Y.; Takamatsu, H.; Nishimura, S.; Nakamura, E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 2708; c) Kittaka, A.; Tsubaki, Y.; Tanaka, H.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1996, 15, 97.
- 166. a) Moutel, S.; Prandi, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 8163; b) Mayer, S.; Prandi, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 3117.
- 167. Ziegler, F. E.; Wang, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 7920.
- 168. Salom-Roig, X. J.; Dénès, F.; Renaud, P. Synthesis 2004 1903.
- 169. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Ferreri, C.; Bazzanini, R.; Guerra, M.; Choi, S.-Y.; Emanuel, C. J.; Horner, J. H.; Newcomb, M. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 9525.
- 170. Fossey, J.; Lefort, D.; Sorba, J. Free Radicals in Organic Chemistry; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1995, p 95.
- 171. Burgey, C. S.; Vollerthun, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1609.
- 172. Fraser-Reid, B.; Burgey, C. S.; Vollerthun, R. Pure Appl. Chem. 1998, 70, 285.
- 173. Bamhaoud, T.; Prandi, J. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1229.
- 174. Désiré, J.; Prandi, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6189.
- 175. Désiré, J.; Prandi, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 3075.
- 176. Light, J.; Breslow, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 2957.
- 177. Yamazaki, O.; Togo, H.; Nogami, G.; Yokoyama, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1997, 70, 2519.
- 178. Hanessian, S.; Pleassas, N. R. J. Org. Chem. 1969, 34, 1045.
- 179. Hanessian, S.; Pleassas, N. R. J. Org. Chem. 1969, 34, 1053.
- 180. Hullar, T. L.; Siskin, S. B. J. Org. Chem. 1970, 35, 225.
- 181. Chana, J. S.; Collins, P. M.; Farnia, F.; Peacock, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 94.
- 182. Collins, P. M.; Manro, A.; Opara-Mottah, E. C.; Ali, M. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 272.
- 183. Collins, P. M.; Ali, M. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 4517.
- 184. Myers, A. G.; Gin, D. Y.; Rogers, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 2036.
- 185. Myers, A. G.; Gin, D. Y.; Rogers, D. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 4697.
- 186. Binkley, R. W.; Goewey, G. S.; Johnston, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 992.
- 187. Binkley, R. W. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1985, 4, 227.
- 188. Adinolfi, M.; Barone, G.; Corsaro, M.; Lanzetta, R.; Mangoni, L.; Monaco, P. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1995, 14, 913.
- 189. Han, O.; Liu, H. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 1073.
- 190. BeMiller, J. N.; Muenchow, H. L. Carbohydr. Res. 1973, 28, 253.
- 191. BeMiller, J. N.; Wing, R. E.; Meyers, C. Y. J. Org. Chem. 1968, 33, 4292.
- 192. Riley, J. G.; Grindley, T. B. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 2001, 20, 159.
- 193. Binkley, R. W.; Hehemann, D. G. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 378
- 194. Binkley, R. W. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1990, 9, 507.
- 195. Giuliano, R. M.; Villani, F. J., Jr. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 202.
- 196. Cettour, P.; Descotes, G.; Praly, J.-P. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1995, 14, 445.
- 197. Somsák, L.; Ferrier, R. J. Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. 1991, 49, 37.
- 198. Somsák, L.; Batta, G.; Farkas, I. Carbohydr. Res. 1983, 124, 43.
- 199. Somsák, L.; Batta, G.; Farkas, I. Carbohydr. Res. 1982, 106, C4.
- 200. Czifrák, K.; Somsák, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 8849.



- 201. Lamberth, C.; Blarer, S. Synthetic Commun. 1996, 26, 75.
- 202. Harrington, P. M.; Jung, M. E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 5145.
- 203. Lichtenthaler, F. W.; Lergenmüller, M.; Schwidetzky, S. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 3094.
- 204. Ferrier, R. J.; Tyler, P. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1978, 1019.
- 205. Blattner, R.; Ferrier, R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I 1980, 1523.
- 206. a) Ferrier, R. J.; Tyler, P. C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I 1980, 1528; b) Ferrier, R. J.; Tyler, P. C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I 1980, 2767.
- 207. Czifrák, K.; Somsák, L.; Carbohydr. Res. 2009, 344, 269.
- 208. Ichikawa, Y.; Kuzuhara, H. Carbohydr. Res. 1983, 115, 117.
- 209. Yu, H. N.; Furukawa, J.-I.; Ikeda, T.; Wong, C.-H. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 723.
- 210. Ferrier, R. J.; Furneaux, R. H. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1997, 332.
- 211. Ferrier, R. J.; Haines, S. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I 1984, 1675.
- 212. Ferrier, R. J.; Furneaux, R. H. Aust. J. Chem. 1980, 19, 1025.
- 213. Ohrui, H.; Horiki, H.; Kishi, H.; Meguro, H. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1983, 47, 1101.
- 214. Hori, H.; Nakajima, T.; Nishida, Y.; Ohrui, H.; Meguro, H. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1986, 585.
- 215. Vogel, C.; Liebelt, B.; Steffan, W.; Kristen, H. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1992, 11, 287.
- 216. Blattner, R.; Ferrier, R. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1986, 150, 151.
- 217. Newcombe, N. J.; Mahon, M. F.; Molloy, K. C.; Alker, D.; Gallagher, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1993, 115, 6430.

#### Chapter 3: Compounds with Carbon–Sulfur Single Bonds

- 1. Schiesser, C. H.; Wild, L. M. Tetrahedron1996, 52, 13265.
- 2. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Pigou, P. E. Aust. J. Chem. 1986, 39, 77.
- 3. Schiesser, C. H. Chem. Commun. 2006, 4055.
- 4. Lyons, J. E.; Schiesser, C. H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1992, 1655.
- 5. Smart, B. A.; Schiesser, C. H. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 2 1994, 2269.
- 6. Schiesser, C. H.; Wild, L. M. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 1131.
- 7. de Pouilly, P.; Chénedé, A.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 8065.
- 8. Ravishankar, R.; Surolia, A.; Vijayan, M.; Lim, S.; Kishi, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 11297.
- 9. Kahne, D.; Yang, D.; Lim, J. J.; Miller, R.; Paguaga, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 8716.
- 10. Wang, Y.; Babirad, S. A.; Kishi, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 468.
- 11. Haneda, T.; Goekjian, P. G.; Kim, S. H.; Kishi, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 490.
- 12. Jung, M. E.; Xu, Y. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1517.
- 13. Belhadj, T.; Goekjian, P. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 46, 8117.
- 14. Vejcik, S. M.; Horton, D. Carbohydr. Res. 2007, 342, 806.
- 15. Plavec, J.; Tong, W.; Chattopadhyaya, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 9734.
- a) Beigelman, L.; Karpeisky, A.; Usman, N. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 1994, *4*, 1715; b) Beigelman, L.; Karpeisky, A.; Matulic-Adamic, J.; Gonzalez, C.; Usman, N. *Nucleosides Nucleotides* 1995, *14*, 907.
- 17. Hou, D.; Lowary, T. L. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 2278.
- 18. Roush, W. R.; Lin, X.-F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2236.
- 19. Kondo, T.; Abe, H.; Goto, T. Chem. Lett. 1988, 1657.
- 20. Nicolaou, K. C.; Hummel, C. W.; Iwabuchi, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 3126.
- 21. Ercégovic, T.; Magnusson, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 831.
- 22. Ercégovic, T.; Magnusson, G. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 179.
- 23. Ito, Y.; Ogawa, T. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 89.
- 24. Ikeda, K.; Nagao, Y.; Achiwa, K. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 224, 123.
- 25. López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Valverde, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 613.
- 26. Mathé, C.; Périgaud, C.; Gosselin, G.; Imbach, J.-L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 1019.
- 59. Mazéas, D.; Skrydstrup, T.; Doumeix, O.; Beau, J.-M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1383.
- 60. Skrydstrup, T.; Mazéas, D.; Elmouchir, M.; Doisneau, G.; Riche, C.; Chiaroni, A.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 1342.
- 61. Bols, M.; Skrydstrup, T. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 1253.
- 62. Dalko, P. I. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 7579.
- 63. Chénedé, A.; Perrin, E.; Rekaï, E. D.; Sinaÿ, P. Synlett 1994, 420.


- 64. Doisneau, G.; Beau, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3477.
- 65. a) Collins, P. M.; Whitton, B. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 1974, 1069; b) Collins, P. M.; Whitton, B. R. Carbohydr. Res. 1974, 36, 293.
- 66. Micskei, K.; Juhász, Z.; Ratkovíc, Z. R.; Somsák, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 6117.
- 67. Lesueur, C.; Nouguier, R.; Bertrand, M. P.; Hoffmann, P.; De Mesmaeker, A. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 5369.
- 68. Nouguier, R.; Lesueur, C.; De Riggi, E.; Bertrand, M. P.; Virgili, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 3541.
- 69. Bertrand, M. P.; De Riggi, E.; Lesueur, C.; Gastaldi, S.; Nouguier, R.; Jaime, C.; Virgili, A. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6040.
- 70. Franz, J. A.; Bushaw, B. A.; Alnajjar, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 268.
- 71. Knapp, S.; Gonzalez, S.; Myers, D. S.; Eckman, L. L.; Bewley, C. A. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4337.
- 72. de Souza, A. C.; Kuil, J.; Maljaars, C. E, P.; Halkes, K. M.; Vliegenthart, J. F. G.; Kamerling, J. P. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2004, 2, 2972.
- 73. Ramos, D.; Rollin, P.; Klaffke, W. Angew Chem. Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 396 and J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2948.
- 74. Nelson, A.; Stoddart, J. F. Carbohydr. Res. 2004, 339, 2069.
- 75. Motherwell, W. B.; Ross, B. C.; Tozer, M. J. Synlett 1989, 68.
- 76. Müller, B.; Blaukoph, M.; Hofinger, A.; Zamyatina, A.; Brade, H.; Kosma, P. Synthesis 2010, 3143.
- 77. Fiore, M.; Marra, A.; Dondoni, A. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 4422.
- 78. Staderini, S.; Chambery, A.; Marra, A.; Dondoni, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2012, 53, 702.
- 79. Fiore, M.; Lo Conte, M.; Pacifico, S.; Marra, A.; Dondoni, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2011, 52, 444.
- 80. Lo Conte, M.; Pacifico, S.; Chambery, A.; Marra, A.; Dondoni, A. J.Org. Chem. 2010, 75, 4644.
- 81. Dondoni, A.; Marra, A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012, 41, 573.
- 82. a) Buskas, T.; Söderberg, E.; Konradsson, P.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 958; b) van Seeventer, P. B.; van Dorst, J. A. L. M.; Siemerink, J. F.; Kamerling, J. P.; Vliegenthart, J. F. G. Carbohydr. Res. 1997, 300, 369.
- 83. Lázár, L.; Csávás, M.; Herczeg, M.; Herczegh, P.; Borvás, A. Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 4650.
- 84. Mugunthan, G.; Sriram, D.; Yogeeswari, P.; Kartha, K. P. R. Carbohydr. Res. 2011, 346, 2401.
- 85. Malone, A.; Scanlan, E. M., Org. Lett. 2013, 15, 504.
- 86. Haque, M. B.; Roberts, B. P.; Tocher, D. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 2881.
- 87. Dang, H.-S.; Kim, K.-M.; Roberts, B. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 501.

#### Chapter 4: Selenides and Tellurides

- 1. Chatgilialoglu, C. Acc. Chem. Res. 1992, 25, 188.
- 2. Ballestri, M.; Chatgilialoglu, C.; Clark, K. B.; Griller, D.; Giese, B.; Kopping, B. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 678.
- 3. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Griller, D.; Lesage, M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2492.
- 4. Giese, B.; Rückert, B.; Gröninger, K. S.; Muhn, R.; Linder, H. J. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1988, 997.
- 5. Giese, B.; Gilges, S.; Gröninger, K. S.; Lamberth, C.; Witzel, T. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1988, 615.
- 6. Schiesser, C. H.; Wild, L. M. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 13265.
- 7. Jaurand, G.; Beau, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1981, 572.
- 8. Wessel, H. P.; Trumtel, M. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 16, 1345.
- 9. Roush, W. R.; Lin, X.-F. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 5740.
- 10. Ito, Y.; Ogawa, T. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 89.
- a) Roush, W. R.; Hartz, R. A.; Gustin, D. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 1990; b) Roush, W. R.; Lin, X.-F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2236.
- 12. Ercegovic, T.; Nilsson, U. J.; Magnusson, G. Carbohydr. Res. 2001, 331, 255.
- 13. Guo, Y.; Sulikowski, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1392.
- 14. Perez, M.; Beau, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 75.
- 15. El-Laghdach, A.; Matheu, M. I.; Castillón, S. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 12219.
- 16. Uriel, C.; Santoyo-González, F. Synthesis 1999, 2049.
- 17. Gemmell, N.; Meo, P.; Osborn, H. M. I. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1649.
- 18. Crich, D.; Sun, S. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 7200.
- 19. Liu, Y.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2445.
- 20. Yamazaki, O.; Togo, H.; Yokoyama, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1999, 2891.
- 21. Nicolaou, K. C.; Pastor, J.; Barluenga, S.; Winssinger, N. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1947.



- 22. Nicolaou, K. C.; Fylaktakidou, K. C.; Mitchell, H. J.; van Delft, F. L.; Rodríguez, R. M.; Conley, S. R.; Jin, Z. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2000**, *6*, 3166.
- 23. Díaz, Y.; El-Laghdach, A.; Castillón, S. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 10921.
- 24. Poopeiko, N.; Fernández, R.; Barrena, M. I.; Castillón, S.; Forniés-Cámer, J.; Cardin, C. J. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 1375.
- 25. Beach, J. W.; Kim, H. O.; Jeong, L. S.; Nampalli, S.; Islam, Q.; Ahn, S. K.; Babu, J. R.; Chu, C. K. J. Org. Chem. **1992**, 57, 3887.
- 26. Chu, C. K.; Babu, J. R.; Beach, J. W.; Ahn, S. K.; Huang, H.; Jeong, L. S.; Lee, S. J. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 1418.
- 27. Wnuk, S. F. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 9877.
- 28. Gimisis, T.; Ialongo, G.; Zamboni, M.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 6781.
- 29. Wolff-Kugel, D.; Halazy, S. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1993, 12, 279.
- 30. Wackernagel, F.; Schwitter, U.; Giese, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 2657.
- 31. a) Kawashima, E.; Toyama, K.; Ohshima, K.; Kainosho, M.; Kyogoku, Y.; Ishido, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 6699. b) Kawashima, E.; Toyama, K.; Ohshima, K.; Kainosho, M.; Kyogoku, Y.; Ishido, Y. *Chirality* **1997**, *9*, 435.
- 32. Audat, S. A. S.; Love, C. T.; Al-Oudat, B. A. S.; Bryant-Friedrich, A. C. J. Org. Chem. 2012, 77, 3829.
- 33. Young, R. J.; Shaw-Ponter, S.; Thomson, J. B.; Miller, J. A.; Cumming, J. G.; Pugh, A. W.; Rider, P. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1995**, *5*, 2599.
- 34. Haraguchi, K.; Nishikawa, A.; Sasakura, E.; Tanaka, H.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3713.
- 35. Haraguchi, K.; Shiina, N.; Yoshimura, Y.; Shimada, H.; Hashimoto, K.; Tanaka, H. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2645.
- 36. Adlington, R. M.; Baldwin, J. E.; Basak, A.; Kozyrod, R. P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1983, 944.
- 37. Grant, L.; Liu, Y.; Walsh, K. E.; Walter, D. S.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4623.
- 38. SanMartin, R.; Tavassoli, B.; Walsh, K. E.; Walter, D. S.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 4051.
- 39. Haraguchi, K.; Tanaka, H.; Saito, S.; Kinoshima, S.; Hosoe, M.; Kanmuri, K.; Yamaguchi, K.; Miyasaka, T. *Tetrahedron* **1996**, 52, 9469.
- 40. De Mesmaeker, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Ernst, B.; Hug, P.; Winkler, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 6307.
- 41. De Mesmaeker, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Ernst, B.; Hug, P.; Winkler, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 6311.
- 42. De Mesmaeker, A.; Waldner, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Winkler, T. Synlett 1994, 330.
- 43. De Mesmaeker, A.; Waldner, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Mindt, T.; Hug, P.; Winkler, T. Synlett 1990, 687.
- 44. Stork, G.; Suh, H. S.; Kim, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 7054.
- 45. Shuto, S.; Yahiro, Y.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5547.
- 46. Shuto, S.; Terauchi, M.; Yahiro, Y.; Abe, H.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 4151.
- 47. Rekaï, E. D.; Rubinsteen, G.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Synlett, 1998, 831.
- 48. Rubinstenn, G.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3697.
- 49. Xin, Y. C.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 864.
- 50. Sinaÿ, P. Pure Appl. Chem. 1987, 69, 459.
- 51. Abe, H.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 2391.
- 52. Abe, H.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 4315.
- 53. Rubinsteen, G.; Esnault, J.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron: Asym. 1997, 8, 1327.
- 54. Vauzeilles, B.; Cravo, D.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Synlett 1993, 522.
- 55. Xi, Z.; Glemarec, C.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron, 1993, 49, 7525.
- 56. Kim, G.; Kim, H. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 225.
- 57. Xi, Z.; Agback, P.; Sandström, A.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 9675.
- 58. Wu, J.-C.; Xi, Z.; Gioeli, C.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 2237.
- 59. Zhang, J.; Clive, D. L. J. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 770.
- 60. Clive, D. L. J.; Zhang, J. Chem. Commun. 1997, 549.
- 61. Kovensky, J.; Burrieza, D.; Colliou, V.; Fernández Cirelli, A.; Sinaÿ, P. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 2000, 19, 1.
- 62. Xi, Z.; Rong, J.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron, 1994, 50, 5255.
- 63. Ueno, Y.; Nagasawa, Y.; Sugimoto, I.; Kojima, N.; Kanazaki, M.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 63, 1660.
- 64. Shuto, S.; Kanazaki, M.; Ichikawa, S.; Minakawa, N.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 746.
- 65. Sukeda, M.; Shuto, S.; Sugimoto, I.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 8988.
- 66. Xi, Z.; Agback, P.; Plavec, J.; Sandström, A.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 349.
- 67. Kodama, T.; Shuto, S.; Nomura, M.; Matsuda, A. J. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 2332.
- 68. Sugimoto, I.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 7153.



- 69. Kanazaki, M.; Ueno, Y.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 2422.
- 70. Kumamoto, H.; Ogamino, J.; Tanaka, H.; Suzuki, H.; Haraguchi, K.; Miyasaka, T.; Yokomatsu, T.; Shibuya, S. *Tetrahedron* **2001**, *57*, 3331.
- 71. Kim, K. S.; Kim, J. H.; Kim, Y. K.; Park, Y. S.; Hahn, C. S. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 194, c1.
- 72. Giese, B.; Linker, T.; Muhn R. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 935.
- 73. a) Schiesser, C. H.; Zheng, S.-L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5095; b) Lucas, M. A.; Nguyen, O. T. K.; Schiesser, C. H.; Zheng, S.-L. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 3995.
- 74. Jung, M. E.; Xu, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 4199.
- 75. Jung, M. E.; Nichols, C. J.; Kretschik, O.; Xu, Y. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 541.
- 76. Crich, D.; Suk, D.-H.; Sun, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 2861.
- 77. Giese, B.; Beyrich-Graf, X.; Burger, J.; Kesselheim, C.; Senn, M.; Schäfer, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1742.
- 78. Giese, B.; Dussy, A.; Elie, C.; Erdmann, P.; Schwitter, U. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1861.
- 79. Yamago, S.; Kokubo, K.; Masuda, S.; Yoshida, J.-I. Synlett 1996, 929.
- 80. He, W.; Togo, H.; Yokoyama, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 5541.
- 81. He, W.; Togo, H.; Waki, Y.; Yokoyama, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 2425.
- 82. Yamago, S. Synlett, 2004, 1875.
- 83. Yamago, S.; Miyazoe, H.; Yoshida, J.-I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2339.
- 84. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M.; Vincent, C. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 9383.
- 85. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Holliday, P.; Qunclet-Sire, B. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 8233.
- 86. Barton, D. H. R.; Ramesh, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 891.
- 87. Yamago, S.; Miyazoe, H.; Yoshida, J.-I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2343.
- 88. Yamago, S.; Miyazoe, H.; Goto, R.; Hashidume, M.; Sawazaki, T.; Yoshida, J.-I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3697.
- 89. He, W.; Togo, H.; Ogawa, H.; Yokoyama, M. Heteroatom Chem. 1997, 8, 411.
- 90. Schiesser, C. H.; Smart, B. A.; Tran, T.-A. *Tetrahedron* 1995, *51*, 3327.

#### Chapter 5: Acetals and Ethers

- 1. Roberts, B. P.; Smits, T. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 137.
- 2. Roberts, B. P.; Smits, T. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 3663.
- 3. Cai, Y.; Dang, H.-S.; Roberts, B. P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2002, 2449.
- 4. Dang, H.-S.; Franchi, P.; Roberts, B. P. Chem. Commun. 2000, 499.
- 5. Dang, H.-S.; Roberts, B. P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2002, 1161.
- 6. Dang, H.-S.; Roberts, B. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 41, 8595.
- 7. Dang, H.-S.; Roberts, B. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 40, 4271.
- 8. Dang, H.-S.; Roberts, B. P.; Tocher, D. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2001, 2452.
- 9. Cole, S. J.; Kirwan, J. N.; Roberts, B. P.; Willis, C. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 103.
- 10. Roberts, B. P. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1999, 28, 25.
- 11. Luo, Y.-R. Handbook of Bond Dissociation Energies in Organic Compounds; CRC Press: Boca Raton, 2003, pp 11, 274, 275, 297, and 299.
- 12. Jeppesen, L. M.; Lundt, I.; Pedersen, C. Acta Chem. Scand. 1973, 27, 3579.
- 13. Ziegler, F. E.; Zheng, Z. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 1416.
- 14. Crich, D.; Banerjee, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 8078.
- 15. Crich, D.; Bowers, A. A. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4327.
- 16. Crich, D.; Bowers, A. A. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 3452.
- 17. Crich, D.; Yao, Q. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 2189.
- 18. Crich, D.; Yao, Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 8282.
- 19. Praly, J.-P.; Descotes, G.; Grenier-Loustalot, M.-F.; Metras, F. Carbohydr. Res. 1984, 128, 21.
- 20. Madsen, J.; Viuf, C.; Bols, M. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 1140.
- 21. Boto, A.; Hernández, D.; Hernández, R.; Suárez, E. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3785.
- 22. Boto, A.; Hernández, D.; Hernández, R.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 1938.
- 23. Francisco, C. G.; Herrera, A. J.; Kennedy, A. R.; Melián, D.; Suárez, E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 856.
- 24. Kittada, A.; Kato, H.; Tanaka, H.; Nonaka, Y.; Amano, M.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 5319.
- 25. Kittada, A.; Tanaka, H.; Kato, H.; Nonaka, Y.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6421.



- 26. Robertson, J.; Pillai, J.; Lush, R. K. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2001, 30, 94.
- 27. De Mesmaeker, A.; Waldner, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Winkler, T. Synlett 1994, 330.
- 28. Malanda, J.-C.; Doutheau, A. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1993, 12, 999.
- 29. Rochigneux, I.; Fontanel, M.-L.; Malanda, J.-C.; Doutheau, A. Tetrahderon Lett. 1991, 32, 2017.
- 30. a) Murali, C.; Gurale, B. P.; Shashidhar, M. S. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2010**, 755; b) Gurale, B. P.; Vanka, K.; Shashidhar, M. S. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2012**, 351, 26.
- 31. Ferrier, R. J.; Hall, D. W.; Petersen, P. M. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 239, 143.
- 32. Shuto, S.; Terauchi, M.; Yahiro, Y.; Abe, H.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 4151.
- 33. Chapleur, Y.; Moufid, N. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 39.
- 34. De Mesmaeker, A.; Waldner, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Hug, T.; Winkler, T.; Synlett 1992, 285.
- 35. Ueno, Y.; Nagasawa, Y.; Sugimoto, I.; Kojima, N.; Kanazaki, M.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 1660.
- 36. Yahiro, Y.; Ichikawa, S.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5527.
- 37. Shuto, S.; Kanazaki, M.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 5676.

#### Chapter 6: Alkoxy Radicals

- 1. Praly, J.-P.; Descotes, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1982, 23, 849.
- 2. Descotes, G. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1988, 7, 1.
- 3. Majetich, G.; Wheless, K. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 7095.
- 4. Kittada, A.; Kato, H.; Tanaka, H.; Nonaka, Y.; Amano, M.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 5319.
- 5. Madsen, J.; Viuf, C.; Bols, M. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 1140.
- 6. Varvoglis, A. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 1179.
- 7. Dorta, R. L.; Francisco, C. G.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 2049.
- 8. Martín, A.; Salazar, J. A.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 3999.
- 9. Martín, A.; Salazar, J. A.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 4489.
- 10. Francisco, C. G.; Martín, C. G.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 2099.
- 11. Armas, P.; Francisco, C. G.; Suárez, E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 7331.
- 12. Armas, P.; Francisco, C. G.; Suárez, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 8865.
- 13. Francisco, C. G.; Freire, R.; González, C. C.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1997, 8, 1971.
- 14. Inanaga, J.; Sugimoto, Y.; Yokoyama, Y.; Hanamoto, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 8109.
- 15. Francisco, C. G.; Freire, R.; Rodríguez, M. S.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 2141.
- 16. Francisco, C. G.; González, C. C.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 1687.
- 17. Hernández, R.; León, E. I.; Moreno, P.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 8974.
- 18. Mehta, G.; Mohal, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5791.
- 19. González, C. C.; Kennedy, A. R.; León, E. I.; Riesco-Fagundo, C.; Suárez, E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2001, 40, 2326.
- 20. Dorta, R. L.; Martín, A.; Salazar, J. A.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 6021.
- 21. Dorta, R. L.; Martín, A.; Salazar, J. A.; Suárez, E.; Prangé, T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 2251.
- 22. Francisco, C. G.; Freire, R.; Herrera, A. J.; Pérez-Martín, I.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 63, 8910.
- 23. Francisco, C. G.; Herrera, A. J.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 7439.
- 24. Boto, A.; Hernández, D.; Hernández, R.; Suárez, E. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 3785.
- 25. Boto, A.; Hernández, D.; Hernández, R.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 1938.
- a) Francisco, C. G.; Herrera, A. J.; Kennedy, A. R.; Melián, D.; Suárez, E. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2002, *41*, 856; b) Francisco,
   C. G.; Herrera, A. J.; Kennedy, A. R.; Martín, A.; Melián, D.; Pérez-Martín, I.; Quintanal, L. M.; Suárez, E. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2008, *14*, 10369.
- 27. Kittada, A.; Tanaka, H.; Kato, H.; Nonaka, Y.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6421.
- 28. Francisco, C. G.; Freire, R.; Herrera, A. J.; Peréz-Martín, I.; Suárez, E. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1959.
- 29. Honeyman, J.; Stenig, T. C. J. Chem. Soc. 1958, 537.
- 30. Binkley, R. W.; Koholic, D. J. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1984, 3, 85.
- 31. Binkley, R. W.; Abdulaziz, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 4713.
- 32. Binkley, R. W.; Koholic, D. J. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 2047.
- 33. a) Vite, G. D.; Fraser-Reid, B. Synthetic Commun. **1988**, *18*, 1339; b) Walton, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, *113*, 5791.
- 34. Kim, S.; Lee, T. A.; Song, Y. Synlett 1998, 471.



- 35. Martín, A.; Peréz-Martín, I.; Quintanal, L. M.; Suárez, E. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 1785.
- 36. Martín, A.; Quintanal, L. M.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 5507.
- 37. León, E. I.; Martín, A.; Peréz-Martín, I.; Quintanal, L. M.; Suárez, E. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 5248.
- 38. Francisco, C. G.; León, E. I.; Martín, A.; Moreno, P.; Rodriguez, M. S.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 2001,66, 6967.
- 39. Guo, Z.; Samano, M. C.; Krzykawski, J. W.; Wnuk, S. F.; Ewing, G. J.; Robins, M. J. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 5705.
- 40. Robins, M. J.; Guo, Z.; Samano, M. C.; Wnuk, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 1425.
- 41. Robins, M. J.; Guo, Z.; Samano, M. C.; Wnuk, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 11317.
- 42. a) Robins, M. J. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 779; b) Robins, M. J.; Guo, Z.; Wnuk, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3637.
- 43. Robins, M. J.; Ewing, G. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5823.
- 44. Litwinienko, G.; Bechwith, A. L. J.; Ingold, K. U. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2011, 40, 2157.
- 45. Francisco, C. G.; León, E. I.; Moreno, P.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 2975.
- 46. Batsanov, A. S.; Begley, M. J.; Fletcher, R. J.; Murphy, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 1281.
- 47. a) Alonso-Cruz, C. R.; Kennedy, A. R.; Rodríguez, M. S.; Suárez, E. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3729. b) Alonso-Cruz, C. R.; Kennedy, A. R.; Rodríguez, M. S.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 7207. b) Paz, N.R.; Santana, A. G.; Francisco, C. G.; Suárez, E.; González, C. C. Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 3388.
- Boto, A.; Hernández, D.; Hernández, R. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 5287. b) Boto, A.; Hernández, D.; Hernández, R.; Alvarez, E. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 9523. c) Boto, A.; Hernández, D.; Hernández, R. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 4116. d) Miguélez, J.; Rao Batchu, V.; Boto, A. J. Org. Chem. 2012, 77, 7652.
- 49. Hernández-Garcia, L.; Quintero, L.; Sánchez, M.; Sartillo-Piscil, F. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 8196.
- 50. Fraser-Reid, B.; Vite, G. D.; Yeung, B.-W. A.; Tsang, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 1645.
- 51. Čeković, Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 59, 8073.
- 52. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Gimisis, T.; Spada, G. P. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 2866.
- 53. de Armas, P.; García-Tellado, F.; Marrero-Tellado, J. J.; Robles, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8081.
- 54. Francisco, C. G.; González, C. C.; Kennedy, A. R.; Paz, N. R.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 35.
- 55. Francisco, C. G.; Martín, C. G.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 8029.
- 56. Francisco, C. G.; González, C. C.; Kennedy, A. R.; Paz, N. R.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Asym. 2004, 15, 11.
- 57. Foldiak, G.; Schuler, R. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1978, 82, 2756.
- 58. Dneprovskii, A. S.; Eliseenkov, E. V.; Chulkova, T. G. Russ. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 38, 360.
- 59. Wessig, P.; Muehling, O. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 2219.
- 60. Lenz, R.; Giese, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 2784.
- 61. Von Sonntag, C. Advan. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. 1980, 37, 7.
- 62. Lopez, J. C.; Alonso, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 6471.
- 63. Lopez, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. Chem. Commun. 1997, 2251.

## Chapter 7: Unprotected Carbohydrates

- 1. Phillips, G. O. In The Carbohydrates; Pigman, W.; Horton, D., Eds; Academic Press: New York, 1980, 1217-1297.
- 2. Von Sonntag, C. Advan. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. 1980, 37, 7.
- 3. Schuchmann, M. N.; von Sonntag, C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans II 1977, 1958.
- 4. Ulanski, P.; von Sonntag, C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2000, 2022.
- 5. Walling, C.; Johnson, R. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 2405.
- 6. Gilbert, B. C.; King, D. M.; Thomas, C. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin 2 1981, 1186.
- 7. Gilbert, B. C.; King, D. M.; Thomas, C. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin 2 1980, 1821.
- 8. Park, J. S. B.; Wood, P. M.; Gilbert, B. C.; Whitwood, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin 2 1999, 923.
- 9. Fenton, H. J. H.; Jackson, H. J. Chem. Soc. 1899, 1.
- 10. Gilbert, B. C.; Smith, J. R. L.; Taylor, P.; Ward, S.; Whitwood, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1999, 1631.
- 11. Gilbert, B. C.; King, D. M.; Thomas, C. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin 2 1982, 169.
- 12. Gilbert, B. C.; King, D. M.; Thomas, C. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1983, 675.
- 13. Malatesta, V.; Scaiano, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 1455.
- 14. Malatesta, V.; Ingold, K. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 609.
- 15. Sweigart, D. A. J. Chem. Ed. 1973, 50, 322.
- 16. Gilbert, B. C.; Smith, J. R. L.; Taylor, P.; Ward, S.; Whitwood, A. C. J. Chem Soc. Perkin Trans. 2, 2000, 2001.



- 17. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Easton, C. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 615.
- 18. Hayday, K.; McKelvey, R. D. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41, 2222.
- 19. McKelvey, R. D.; Iwamura, H. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 402.
- 20. Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R.; Dupuis, J.; Giese, B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1986, 1453.
- 21. Sustmann, R.; Korth, H.-G. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 1 1987, 83, 95.
- 22. Dupuis, J.; Giese, B.; Rüegge, D.; Fischer, H.; Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1984, 23, 896.
- 23. Fitchett, M.; Gilbert, B. C.; Willson, R. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin 2 1988, 673.
- 24. Dizdaroglu, M.; Henneberg, D.; Schomburg, G.; von Sonntag, C. Z. Naturforsch., B 1975, 30b, 416.
- 25. Phillips, G. O. Radiation Res. 1963, 18, 446.
- 26. Norman, R. O. C.; Pritchett, R. J. J. Chem. Soc. (B) 1967, 1329.
- 27. Steenken, S.; Davies, M. J.; Gilbert, B. C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II 1986 1003.
- 28. Buley, A. L.; Norman, R. O. C.; Pritchett, R. J. J. Chem. Soc. (B) 1966, 849.
- 29. West, P. R.; Schnarr, G. W.; Sitwell, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1977, 3869.
- 30. Gilbert, B. C.; Norman, R. O. C.; Sealy, R. C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1973, 2174.
- 31. Vuorinen, T. Carbohydr. Res. 1985, 141, 319.
- 32. Arts, S. J. H. F.; Mombarg, E. J. M.; van Bekkum, H.; Sheldon, R. A. Synthesis 1997, 597.
- 33. Gilbert, B. C.; King, D. M.; Thomas, B. Carbohydr. Res. 1984, 125, 217.

#### Chapter 8: Carboxylic Acids and Esters

- 1. Redlich, H.; Neumann, H.-J.; Paulsen, H. Chem. Ber. 1977, 110, 2911.
- a) Ferrier, R. J.; Lee, C.-K.; Wood, T. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 690; b) Rauter, A. P.; Fernandes, A. C.; Czernicki, S.; Valery, J.-M. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 3594.
- 3. Li, X.; Chen, J. J.; Tanner, D. D. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 4314.
- 4. Matsuda, A.; Takenuki, K.; Sasaki, T.; Ueda, T. J. Med. Chem. 1991, 34, 234.
- 5. Czernecki, S.; Horns, S.; Valéry, J.-M. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1995, 14, 157.
- 6. Verduyn, R.; van Leeuwen, S. H.; van der Marel, G. A.; van Boom, J. H. Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 1996, 115, 67.
- 7. a) Iino, T.; Yoshimura, Y.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 10397. b) Iino, T.; Shuto, S.; Matusda, A. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1996, 15, 169.
- 8. Matusda, A.; Takenuki, K.; Itoh, H.; Sasaki, T.; Ueda, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1987, 35, 3967.
- 9. Ueda, T.; Matsuda, A.; Yoshimura, Y.; Takenuki, K. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1989, 8, 743.
- 10. Li, N.-S.; Lu, J.; Piccirilli, J. A. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 2227.
- 11. Awano, H.; Shuto, S.; Baba, M.; Kira, T.; Shigeta, S.; Matsuda, A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1994, 4, 367.
- 12. Yoshimura, Y.; Saitoh, K.; Ashida, N.; Sakata, S.; Matsuda, A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1994, 4, 721.
- 13. Karimiahmadabadi; M.; Erfan, S.; Főldesi, A.; Chattopadhyaya, J. J. Org. Chem. 2012, 77, 6855.
- 14. Buff, R.; Hunziker, J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 521 and Synlett 1999, 905.
- 15. McEldoon, W. L.; Wiemer, D. F. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 7131.
- 16. Kakefuda, A.; Yoshimure, Y.; Sasaki, T.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 8513.
- 17. Kværnø, L.; Kumar, R.; Dahl, B. M.; Olsen, C. E.; Wengel, J. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5167.
- 18. Lavaire, S.; Plantier-Royon, R.; Portella, C. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1996, 15, 361.
- 19. Serra, C.; Dweynter, G.; Montero, J.-L; Imbach, J.-L. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 8427.
- 20. Dolan, S. C.; MacMillan, J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 1588.
- 21. Cooper, J.; Hudson, A.; Jackson, R. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1973, 1933.
- 22. Ichikawa, Y.; Igarashi, Y.; Ichikawa, M.; Suhara, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 3007.
- 23. Sano, H.; Takeda, T.; Migita, T. Synthesis 1988, 402.
- 24. Jang, D. O.; Kim, J.; Cho, D. H.; Chung, C.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 1073.
- 25. Redlich, H.; Neumann, H.-J.; Paulsen, H. J. Chem. Research (S) 1982, 36.
- 26. Tanner, D. D.; Blackburn, E. V.; Diaz, G. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1557.
- 27. Thiem, J.; Meyer, B. Chem. Ber. 1980, 113, 3058.
- 28. Collins, P. M.; Munasinghe, V. R. Z. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1977, 927.
- 29. Pète, J.-P.; Portella, C.; Scholler, D. J. Photochem. 1984, 27, 128.
- 30. Bonjouklian, R.; Ganem, B. Carbohydr. Res. 1979, 76, 245.
- 31. Kiss, J.; D'Souza, R. J. Carbohydr., Nucleosides, Nucleotides 1980, 7, 141.



- 32. Miyashita, M.; Chida, N.; Yoshikohsi, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1982, 1354.
- 33. Angyal, S. J.; Odier, L. Carbohydr. Res. 1982, 101, 209.
- 34. Pete, J.-P.; Portella, C. Synthesis 1977, 774.
- 35. Klausener, A.; Müller, E.; Runsink, J.; Scharf, H.-D. Carbohydr. Res 1983, 116, 295.
- 36. Jütten, J.; Scharf, H.-D. Carbohydr. Res. 1991, 212, 93.
- 37. Jütten, P.; Scharf, H.-D. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1990, 9, 675.
- 38. Klausener, A.; J. Runsink, J.; Scharf, H.-D. Liebigs Ann. Chem., 1984, 783.
- 39. Dornhagen, J.; Klausener, A.; Runsink, J.; Scharf, H.-D. Liebigs Ann. Chem., 1985, 1838.
- 40. Rainer, H.; Scharf, H.-D.; Runsink, J. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1992, 103.
- 41. Dornhagen, J.; Scharf, H.-D. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1986, 5, 115.
- 42. Portella, C.; Deshayes, H.; Pète, J.-P.; Scholler, D. Tetrahedron 1984, 40, 3635.
- 43. Klausener, A.; Beyer, G.; Leismann, H.; Scharf, H.-D.; Müller, E.; Runsink, J.; Görner, H. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 4989.
- 44. Deshayes, H.; Pète, J. P.; Portella, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1976, 2019.
- 45. Deshayes, H.; Pète, J.-P.; Portella, C.; Scholler, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1975, 439.
- 46. Saito, I.; Ikehira, H.; Kasatani, R.; Watanabe, M.; Matsuura, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3115.
- 47. a) Almond, M. R.; Collins, J. L.; Reitter, B. E.; Rideout, J. L.; Freeman, G. A.; St Clair, M. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1991, 32, 5745;
  b) Huang, Z.; Schneider, K. C.; Benner, S. A. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 3869.
- 48. Bordoni, A.; de Lederkermer, R. M.; Marino, C. Tetrahedron, 2008, 64, 1703.
- 49. Park, M.; Risso, C. J. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6092.
- 50. Prudhomme, D. R.; Wang, Z.; Rizzo, C. J. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 8257.
- 51. Wang, Z.; Rizzo, C. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8177.
- 52. Wang, Z.; Prudhomme, D. R.; Buck, J. R.; Park, M.; Rizzo, C. J. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5969.
- 53. Park, M.; Buck, J. R.; Rizzo, C. J. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 12707.
- 54. Shen, B.; Bedore, N.W.; Sniday, A.; Jamison, T. F. Chem. Commun .2012, 48, 7444.
- 55. Lam, K.; Markó, I. E. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 2773.
- 56. a) Surzur. J.-M.; Teissier, P. C. R. Hebd. Seances Acad. Ser C 1981, 264C, 1981. b) Surzur, J.-M.; Teissier, P. Bull. Soc. Chim. France, 1970, 3060.
- 57. Tanner, D. D.; Law, F. C. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1969, 91, 7535.
- 58. Giese, B.; Gröninger, K. S.; Witzel, T.; Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1987, 26, 233.
- 59. Giese, B.; Gilges, S.; Gröninger, K. S.; Lamberth, C.; Witzel, T. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1988, 615.
- 60. Giese, B.; Gröninger, K. S. Org. Syn. 1990, 69, 66.
- 61. Giese, B.; Kopping, B.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 681.
- 62. Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R.; Gröninger. K. S.; Leisung, M.; Giese, B. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 4364.
- 63. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Thomas, C. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 2 1973, 861.
- 64. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Tindal, P. K. Aust. J. Chem. 1971, 24, 2099.
- 65. Barclay, L. R. C.; Griller, D.; Ingold, K. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 4399.
- 66. Jung, M. E.; Xu, Y. Org. Lett. 1999, 10, 1517.
- 67. Barclay, L. R. C.; Lusztyk, J.; Ingold, K. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 1793.
- 68. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Duggan, P. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 2 1992, 1777.
- 69. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Duggan, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 2 1993, 1673.
- 70. Crich, D.; Yao, Q.; Filzen, G. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 11455.
- 71. Crich, D.; Yao, Q. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 5677.
- 72. Crich, D.; Yao, Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2631.
- 73. Crich, D.; Jiao, X.-Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 6666.
- 74. Choi, S.-Y.; Crich, D.; Horner, J. H.; Huang, X. H.; Martinez, F. N.; Newcomb, M.; Wink, D. J.; Yao, Q. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 211.
- 75. Sprecher, M. Chemtracts 1994, 7,120.
- 76. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Duggan, P. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 12838.
- 77. Crich, D.; Suk, D.-H. Can. J. Chem. 2004, 82, 75.
- 78. Crich, D.; Yao, Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1165.
- 79. Bagnol, L.; Horner, J. H.; Newcomb, M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 5055.
- 80. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Crich, D.; Duggan, P. J.; Yao, Q. Chem. Rev. 1997, 97, 3273.



- 81. Koch, A.; Lamberth, C.; Wetterich, F. Giese, B. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 1083.
- 82. Newcomb, M.; Horner, J. H.; Whitted, P. O.; Crich, D.; Huang, X.; Yao, Q.; Zipse, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10685.
- 83. Whitted, P. O.; Horner, J. H.; Newcomb, M.; Huang, X.; Crich, D. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 153.
- 84. Hormer, J. H.; Bagnol, L.; Newcomb, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 14979.
- 85. Praly, J. P.; Ardakani, A. S.; Bruyère, I.; Marie-Luce, C.; Qin, B. B. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 1623.
- 86. Crich, D.; Jiao, X.-Y.; Yao, Q.; Harwood, J. S. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 2368.
- 87. Alberti, A.; Bertini, S.; Comoli, M.; Guerrini, M.; Mele, A.; Vismara, E. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 6291.
- 88. Jung, M. E.; Nichols, C. J.; Kretschik, O.; Xu, Y. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 541.
- 89. Schleyer, P. v. R.; Jemmis, E. D.; Spitznagel, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 6393.
- 90. Itoh, Y.; Haraguchi, K.; Tanaka, H.; Matsumoto, K.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 3867.
- 91. Gimisis, T.; Ialongo, G.; Zamboni, M.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 6781.
- 92. Gimisis, T.; Ialongo, G.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 573.
- 93. Chatgilialoglu, C. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 547.
- 94. Haraguchi, K.; Itoh, Y.; Matsumoto, K.; Hashimoto, K.; Nakamura, K. T.; Tanaka, H. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 2006.
- 95. Schäfer, H. J. Angew Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1981, 20, 911.
- 96. Crich, D.; Quintero, L. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1413.
- 97. Weiper, A.; Schäfer, H. J. Angew Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1990, 29, 195.
- 98. Harenbrock, M.; Matzeit, A.; Schäfer, H. J. Liebigs Ann. 1996, 55.
- 99. Utley, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1997, 26, 157.
- 100. Vismara, E.; Torri, G.; Pastori, N.; Marchiandi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 7575.
- 101. Togo, H.; Aoki, M.; Yokoyama, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 6559.
- 102. Togo, H.; Aoki, M.; Kuramochi, T.; Yokoyama, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1993, 2417.
- 103. Francisco, C. G.; González, C. C.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 4141.
- 104. Concepción, J. I.; Francisco, C. G.; Freire, R., Hernández, R.; Salazar, J. A.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 402.
- 105. Foldiak, G.; Schuler, R. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1978, 82, 2756.
- 106. Dneprovskii, A. S.; Eliseenkov, E. V.; Chulkova, T. G. Russ. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 38, 360.

## Chapter 9: Phosphoric Acid Esters

- 1. Koch, A.; Lamberth, C.; Wetterich, F.; Giese, B. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 1083.
- 2. Giese, B.; Burger, J.; Kang, T. W.; Kesselheim, C.; Wittmer, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7322.
- 3. Crich, D.; Yao, Q.; Filzen, G. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 11455.
- 4. Crich, D.; Yao, Q. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 5677.
- 5. Crich, D.; Yao, Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2631.
- 6. Crich, D.; Jiao, X.-Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 6666.
- 7. Choi, S.-Y.; Crich, D.; Horner, J. H.; Huang, X. H.; Martinez, F. N.; Newcomb, M.; Wink, D. J.; Yao, Q. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, *120*, 211.
- 8. Sprecher, M. Chemtracts 1994, 7,120.
- 9. Crich, D.; Yao, Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1165.
- 10. Whitted, P. O.; Horner, J. H.; Newcomb, M.; Huang, X.; Crich, D. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 153.
- 11. Newcomb, M.; Horner, J. H.; Whitted, P. O.; Crich, D.; Huang, X.; Yao, Q.; Zipse, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 10685.
- 12. Bagnol, L.; Horner, J. H.; Newcomb, M. Org. Lett. 2003, 5055.
- 13. Crich, D.; Suk, D.-H. Can. J. Chem. 2004, 82, 75.
- 14. Müller, S. N.; Batra, R.; Senn, M.; Giese, B.; Kisel, M.; Shadyro, O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 119, 2795.
- 15. Koch, A.; Giese. B. Helv. Chim. Acta 1993, 76, 1687.
- 16. Horner, J. H.; Bagnol, L.; Newcomb, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 14979.
- 17. Bales, B. C.; Horner, J. H.; Huang, X.; Newcomb, M.; Crich, D.; Greenberg, M. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3623.
- 18. Crich, D.; Suk, D.-H.; Sun, S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 2861.
- 19. Giese, B.; Beyrich-Graf, X.; Burger, J.; Kesselheim, C.; Senn, M.; Schäfer, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1742.
- 20. Glatthar, R.; Spichty, M.; Gugger, A.; Batra, R.; Damm, W.; Mohr, M.; Zipse, H. Giese, B. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 4117.
- 21. Crich, D.; Mo, X.-S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 249.
- 22. Crich, D.; Huang, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9239.
- 23. Crich, D.; Suk, D.-H.; Hao, X. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 5789.



- 24. Peukert, S.; Giese, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 4365.
- 25. Spormann, M.; Giese, B. Synthesis 2001, 2156.
- 26. Kendrick, T.; Giese, B. Chem. Commun. 2002, 2016.
- 27. Meggers, E.; Dussy, A.; Schäfer, T.; Giese, B. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 485.
- 28. Crich, D.; Filzen, G. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 3225.
- 29. Taxil E.; Bagnol, L.; Horner, J. H.; Newcomb, M. 2003, 5, 827.
- 30. Steenken, S.; Davies, M. J.; Gilbert, B. C. J. Chem Soc., Perkin Trans. II 1986, 1003.

## Chapter 10: Aldehydes and Ketones

- 1. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Hay, B. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 2674.
- 2. Tsang, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2116.
- 3. Fraser-Reid, B.; Vite, G. D.; Yeung, B.-W. A.; Tsang, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 1645.
- 4. Tsang, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 8102.
- 5. Devin, P.; Fensterbank, L.; Malacria, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5511.
- 6. Tsang, R.; Dickson, J. K.; Pak, H.; Walton, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3484.
- 7. Dickson, J. K., Jr.; Tsang, R.; Llera, J. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5350.
- 8. Yeung, B.-W. A.; Contelles, J. L. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1160.
- 9. Sharma, G. V. M.; Chander, A. S.; Reddy, V. G.; Krishnudu, K.; Ramana Rao, M. H. V.; Kunwar, A. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 1997.
- 10. Yeung, B.-W. A.; Alonso, R.; Vite, G. D.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1989, 8, 413.
- 11. Yadav, J. S.; Maiti, A.; Sankar, A. R.; Kunwar, A. C. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 8370.
- 12. Devin, P.; Fensterbank, L.; Malacria, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5511.
- 13. a) Jung, M. E.; Choe, S. W. T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 6247. b) Choe, S. W. T.; Jung, M. E. Carbohydr. Res. 2000, 329, 731.
- 14. Jarreton, O.; Skrydstrup, T.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1661.
- 15. Jarreton, O.; Skydstrup, T.; Espinosa, J.-F.; Jiménez-Barbero, J.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 430.
- 16. Hsu, N.-Y.; Chang, C.-C. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 658.
- 17. Skrydstrup, T.; Beau, J.-M.; Mazéas, D. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 909.
- 18. Pandey, G.; Hajra, S.; Ghorai, M. K.; Kumar, K. R. 1997, 62, 5966.
- 19. Romieu, A.; Gasparutto, D.; Cadet, J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 1257.
- 20. Tadano, K.; Isshiki, Y.; Minami, M.; Ogawa, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 7899.
- 21. Yadav, J. S.; Maiti, A.; Sankar, R.; Kunwar, A. C. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 8370.
- 22. Mach, M.; Jarosz, S. Polish J. Chem. 1997, 71, 936.
- 23. Kiguchi, T.; Tajiri, K.; Ninomiya, I.; Naito, T. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 5819.
- 24. Lagoja, I. M.; Pochet, S.; Boudou, V.; Little, R.; Lescrinier, E.; Rozenski, J.; Herdewijn, P. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 1867.
- 25. Navacchia, M. L.; Manetto, A.; Montevecchi, P. C.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 4640.
- 26. Enholm, E. J.; Satici, H.; Trivellas, A. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5841.
- 27. Enholm, E. J.; Trivellas, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 6463.
- 28. Tadano, K.-I.; Isshiki, Y.; Minami, M.; Ogawa, S. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6266.
- 29. Grové, J. J. C.; Holzapfel, C. W.; Williams, D. B. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 5817.
- 30. Grové, J. J. C.; Holzapfel, C. W.; Williams, D. B. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 1305.
- 31. Kan, T.; Nara, S.; Ozawa, T.; Shirahama, H.; Matsuda, F. Angew Chem. Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 355.
- 32. Chiara, J. L.; Martínez, S.; Bernabé, M. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6488.
- 33. Enholm, E. J.; Trivellas, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 1627.
- 34. Chiara, J. L.; Marco-Contelles, J.; Khiar, N.; Gallego, P.; Destabel, C.; Bernabé, M. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6010.
- 35. Marco-Contelles, J.; Gallego, P.; Rodríguez-Fernández, M.; Khiar, N.; Destabel, C.; Bernabé, M.; Martínez-Grau, A.; Chiara, J. L. J. Org. Chem. **1997**, 62, 7397.
- 36. Storch de Garcia, I.; Bobo, S.; Martín-Ortega, M. D.; Chiara, J. L. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1705.
- 37. Boiron, A.; Zillig, P.; Faber, D.; Giese, B. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5877.
- 38. Lucas, M. A.; Nguyen, O. T. K.; Schiesser, C. H.; Zheng, S.-L. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 3995.
- 39. Schiesser, C. H.; Zheng, S.-L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5095.
- 40. Jenkins, D. J.; Potter, B. V. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 41.
- 41. Kornienko, A.; d'Alarcao, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6497.



- 42. Chiara, J. L.; Cabri, W.; Hanessian, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 1125.
- 43. Chiara, J. L.; Valle, N. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1995, 6, 1895.
- 44. Carpintero, M.; Fernández-Mayoralas, A.; Jaramillo, C. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 1916.
- 45. Chiara, J. L.; Martín-Lomas, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 2969.
- 46. Kornienko, A.; Turner, D. I.; Jaworek, C. H.; d'Alarcao, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 2783.
- 47. Carpintero, M.; Jaramillo, C.; Fernández-Mayoralas, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 1285.
- 48. Guidot, J. P.; Le Gall, T.; Mioskowski, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6671.
- 49. Adinolfi, M.; Barone, G.; Iadonisi, A.; Mangoni, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 2021.
- 50. Storch de Gracia, I.; Dietrich, H.; Bobo, S.; Chiara, J. L. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5883.
- 51. Adinolfi, M.; Barone, G.; Iadonisi, A.; Mangoni, L.; Manna, R. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 11767.
- 52. Chiara, J. L.; Storch de Gracia, I.; Bastida, Á. Chem. Commun. 2003, 1874.
- 53. Chiara, J. L.; García, Á.; Sesmilo, E.; Vacas, T. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3935.
- 54. Binkley, E. R.; Binkley, R. W. Carbohydrate Photochemistry; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1998; pp 21-23.
- 55. Goodman, B. K.; Greenberg, M. M. J. Org. Chem. 1966, 61, 2.
- 56. Peukert, S.; Giese, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 4365.
- 57. Giese, B.; Imwinkelried, P.; Petretta, M. Synlett 1994, 1003.
- 58. Giese, B.; Dussy, A.; Elie, C.; Erdmann, P.; Schwitter, U. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1861.
- 59. Dussy, A.; Meggers, E.; Giese, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 7399.
- 60. Strittmatter, H.; Dussy, A.; Schwitter, U.; Giese, B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 135.
- 61. Emanuel, C. J.; Newcomb, M.; Ferreri, C.; Chatgilialoglu, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 2927.
- 62. Chatgilialoglu, C. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 547.
- 63. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Ferreri, C.; Bazzanini, R.; Guerra, M.; Choi, S.-Y.; Emanuel, C. J.; Horner, J. H.; Newcomb, M. J. Am. *Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 9525.
- 64. Bryant-Friedrich, A. C. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2329.
- 65. Kendrick, T.; Giese, B. Chem. Commun. 2002, 2016.
- 66. Meggers, E.; Dussy, A.; Schäfer, T.; Giese, B. Chem. Eur. J. 2000, 6, 485.
- 67. Körner, S.; Bryant-Friedrich, A.; Giese, B. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 1559.
- 68. Binkley, E. R.; Binkley, R. W. Carbohydrate Photochemistry; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1998; Chapter 2.
- 69. Collins, P. M.; Gupta, P. J. Chem. Soc. (C) 1971, 1965.
- 70. Remy G.; Descotes, G. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1983, 2, 159.
- 71. Cottier, L.; Remy, G.; Descotes, G. Synthesis 1979, 711.
- 72. Binkley, E. R.; Binkley, R. W. Carbohydrate Photochemistry; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1998; Chapter 3.
- 73. Binkley, E. R.; Binkley, R. W. Carbohydrate Photochemistry; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1998; Chapter 5.
- 74. Suzuki, M.; Inai, T.; Matsushima, R. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1976, 49, 1585.
- 75. Chang, C.-C.; Kuo, Y.-H.; Tsai, Y. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2009, 50, 3805.

Chapter 11: Synthesis of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds

- 1. Barton, D. H. R.; McCombie, S. W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1975, 1574.
- 2. Patroni, J. J.; Stick, R. V. Aust. J. Chem. 1985, 38, 947.
- 3. Rosen, T.; Taschner, M. J.; Heathcock, C. H. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 3994.
- 4. Thiem, J.; Karl, H. Chem. Ber. 1980, 113, 3039.
- 5. Defaye, J.; Driguez, H.; Henrissat, B.; Bar-Guilloux, E. Nouv. J. Chim. 1980, 4, 59.
- 6. Witczak, Z. J.; Whistler, R. L. Carbohydr. Res. 1982, 110, 326.
- 7. Inokawa, S.; Mitsuyoshi, T. Kawamoto, H.; Yamamoto, H. Carbohydr. Res. 1985, 142, 321.
- 8. Copeland, C.; Stick, R. V. Aust. J. Chem. 1977, 30, 1269.
- 9. Endo, T.; Araki, Y. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 16, 1393.
- 10. Zhang, Z.; Magnusson, G. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 7304.
- 11. Rasmussen, J. R.; Slinger, C. J.; Kordish, R. J.; Newman-Evans, D. D. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 4843.
- 12. Wessel, H. P.; Minder, R. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 16, 807.
- 13. Wessel, H. P.; Trumtel, M. Carbohydr. Res. 1997, 297, 163.
- 14. Ravn, J.; Freitag, M.; Nielsen, P. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 811.
- 15. Mulard, L. A.; Ková\_, P.; Glaudemans, C. P. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1994, 251, 213.



- 16. Petráková, E.; Ková\_, P.; Glaudemans, C. P. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 233, 101.
- 17. Zhang, J.; Ková\_, P. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1998, 17, 341.
- 18. Jiang, C.; Moyer, J. D.; Baker, D. C. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1987, 6, 319.
- 19. Johnson, S. C.; Dahl, J.; Shih, T.-L.; Schedler, D. J. A.; Anderson, L.; Benjamin, T. L.; Baker, D. C. J. Med. Chem. 1993, 36, 3628.
- 20. Lin, T.-H.; Ková\_, P.; Glaudemans, C. P. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 188, 228.
- 21. Ogilvie, K. K.; Hakimelahi, G. H.; Proba, Z. A.; Usman, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 865.
- 22. Kim, S.; Yi, K. Y. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 2613.
- 23. Oba, M.; Nishiyama, K. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 10193.
- 24. Oba, M.; Kawahara, Y.; Yamada, R.; Mizuta, H.; Nishiyama, K. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1996, 1843.
- 25. Sato, T.; Koga, H.; Tsuzuki, K. Heterocycles 1996, 42, 499.
- 26. Robins, M. J.; Wilson J. S.; J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 932.
- 27. Robins, M. J.; Wilson J. S.; Hansske, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 4059.
- 28. Okamoto, K.; Kondo, T.; Goto, T. Tetrahedron 1988, 44, 1291.
- 29. Höfle, G.; Steglich, W.; Vorbrüggen, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1978, 17, 569.
- 30. Petráková, E.; Glaudemans, C. P. J. *Glyconjugate J.* **1994**, *11*, 17.
- 31. Bousquet E.; Lay, L.; Nicotra, F.; Panza, L.; Russo, G.; Tirendi, S. Carbohydr. Res. 1994, 257, 317.
- 32. Barton, D. H. R.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 2619.
- 33. Gervay, J.; Danishefsky, S. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 5448.
- 34. Petráková, E.; Glaudemans, C. P. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 279, 133.
- 35. Barton, D. H. R.; Blundell, P.; Dorchak, J.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 8969.
- 36. Sheppard, R. C. in *Comprehensive Organic Chemistry*; Haslam, E., Ed.; Pergamon: New York, 1979; p 345
- 37. Cline, G. W.; Hanna, S. B. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 3583.
- 38. Cline, G. W.; Hanna, S. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 3087.
- 39. Ames, D. E.; Grey, T. F. J. Chem. Soc. 1955, 631.
- 40. Augustyns, K.; Rozenski, J.; Van Aerschot, A.; Janssen, G.; Herdewijn, P. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 2977.
- 41. Augustyns, K.; Van Aerschot, A.; Herdewijn, P. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1992, 2, 945.
- 42. Link, J. T.; Raghavan, S.; Gallant, M.; Danishefsky, S. J.; Chou, T. C.; Ballas, L. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 2825.
- 43. Link, J. T.; Gallant, M.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 3782.
- 44. Verheggen, I.; Van Aerschot, A.; Toppet, S.; Snoeck, R.; Janssen, G.; Balzarini, J.; De Clercq, E.; Herdewijn, P. J. Med. Chem. 1993, *36*, 2033.
- 45. Verheggen, I.; Van Aerschot, A.; Rozenski, J.; Janssen, G.; De Clercq, E.; Herdewijn, P. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1996, 15, 325.
- 46. Van Aerschot, A.; Verheggen, I.; Herdewijn, P. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1993, 3, 1013.
- 47. Link, J. T.; Raghavan, S.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 552.
- 48. Jarreton, O.; Skrydstrup, T.; Espinosa, J.-F.; Jiménez-Barbero, J.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 430.
- 49. Leonard, N. J.; Neelima Nucleosides Nucleotides 1996, 15, 1369.
- 50. Barton, D. H. R.; Subramanian, R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1977, 1718.
- 51. Tsuda, Y.; Sato, Y.; Kanemitsu, K.; Hosoi, S.; Shibayama, K.; Nakao, K.; Ishikawa, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1996, 44, 1465.
- 52. Haque, Md. E.; Kikuchi, T.; Kanemitsu, K.; Tsuda, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1986, 34, 430 and 1987, 35, 1016.
- 53. Muramatsu, W.; Tanigawa, S.; Takemoto, Y.; Yoshimatsu, H.; Onomura, O. Chem. Eur. J. 2012, 18, 4850.
- 54. Grouiller, A.; Buet, V.; Descotes, G. Synlett 1993, 221.
- 55. Di Cesare, P.; Gross, B. Synthesis 1980, 714.
- 56. Neumann, K. Acta Chem. Scand. 1992, 46, 913.
- 57. Bredenkamp, M. W.; Holzapfel, C. W.; Toerien, F. S. Afr. J. Chem. 1991, 44, 97.
- 58. Bredenkamp, M. W. S. Afr. J. Chem. 1995, 48, 154.
- 59. Bredenkamp, M. W. S. Afr. J. Chem. 1999, 52, 56.
- 60. Castro-Palomino, J. C.; Tsvetkov, Y. E.; Schmidt, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5434.
- 61. Castro-Palomino, J. C.; Schmidt, R. R. Synlett 1998, 501.
- 62. Wessel, H. P.; Trumtel, M. J. Carbohdyr. Chem. 1997, 16, 1345.
- 63. Bredenkamp, M. W.; Holzapfel, C. W.; Toerien, F. Synth. Commun. 1992, 22, 2459.
- 64. Kochetkov, N. K.; Sviridov, A. F.; Yashunskii, D. V.; Ermolenko, M. S.; Borodkin, V. S. Bull. Acad. Sci. USSR 1986, 35, 408.
- 65. Hanessian, S.; Sakito, Y.; Dhanoa, D.; Baptistella, L. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 6623.



- 66. Barton, D. H. R.; Parekh, S. I.; Tse, C.-L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 2733.
- 67. Baur, R. H.; Baker, D. C. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1984, 3, 77.
- 68. Nilsson, U.; Wendler, A.; Magnusson, G. Acta Chem. Scand. 1994, 48, 356.
- 69. Sheppard, T. L.; Rosenblatt, A. T.; Breslow, R. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 7243.
- 70. Nair, V.; Purdy, D. F. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 365.
- 71. Meier, C.; Huynh-Dinh, T. Synlett **1991**, 227.
- 72. Paquette, L. A.; Oplinger, J. A. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 2953.
- 73. Dunkel, M.; Pfleiderer, W. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1992, 11, 787.
- 74. Rosowsky, A.; Pai, N. N. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1991, 10, 837.
- 75. Mathé, C.; Périgaud, C.; Gosselin, G.; Imbach, J.-L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1994, 1019.
- 76. Sekine, M.; Nakanishi, T. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 924.

#### Chapter 12: Reactions of O-Thiocarbonyl Compounds

- 1. Barton, D. H. R.; McCombie, S. W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 11975, 1574.
- 2. Berkin, A.; Szarek, W. A.; Kisilevsky, R. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 37.
- 3. Robins, M. J.; Wilson, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 932.
- 4. Robins, M. J.; Wilson, J. S.; Hansske, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 4059.
- 5. Barton, D. H. R.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 2619.
- 6. Barton, D. H. R.; Dorchak, J.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 7435.
- 7. Barton, D. H. R.; Subramanian, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1976, 867.
- 8. Barton, D. H. R.; Subramanian, R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1977, 1718.
- 9. Crich, D.; Quintero, L. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1413.
- 10. Barker, P. J.; Beckwith, A. L. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1984, 683.
- 11. Barton, D. H. R.; Crich, D.; Löbberding, A.; Zard, S. Z. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 646.
- 12. Barton, D. H. R.; Crich, D.; Löbberding, A.; Zard, S. Z. Tetrahedron 1986, 42, 2329.
- 13. Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 3991.
- 14. Roussel, F.; Hilly, M.; Chrétien, F.; Mauger, J.-P.; Chapleur, Y. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1999, 18, 697.
- 15. Shafer, C. M.; Molinski, T. F. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 310, 223.
- 16. Yu, H. N.; Zhang, P.; Ling, C.-C.; Bundle, D. R. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2000, 11, 465.
- 17. Zhiyuan, Z.; Magnusson, G. Carbohydr. Res. 1994, 262, 79.
- 18. Paulsen, H.; Peters, T. Carbohydr. Res. 1987, 165, 229.
- 19. Jang, D. O.; Cho, D. H.; Barton, D. H. R. Synlett 1998, 39.
- 20. Goekjian, P. G.; Wu, T.-C.; Kang, H.-Y.; Kishi, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 6422.
- 21. Togo, H.; Matsubayashi, S.; Yamazaki, O.; Yokoyama, M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 2816.
- 22. Shimura, T.; Komatsu, C.; Matsumura, M.; Shimada, Y.; Ohta, K.; Mitsunobu, O. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8341.
- 23. Dyatkina, N. B.; Azhayev, A. V. Synthesis 1984, 961.
- 24. Gurjar, M. K.; Bera, S. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 3569.
- 25. Patroni, J. J.; Stick, R. V. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1978, 449.
- 26. Yadav, J. S.; Joshi, B. V.; Gurjar, M. K. Carbohydr. Res. 1987, 165, 116.
- 27. Redlich, H.; Francke, W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1980, 19, 630.
- 28. Acton, E. M.; Goerner, R. N.; Uh, H. S.; Ryan, K. J.; Henry, D. W. J. Med. Chem. 1979, 22, 518.
- 29. Wang, C.-L. J.; Stam, S. H.; Salvino, J. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 1107.
- 30. Yadav, J. S.; Mysorekar, S. V.; Pawar, S. M.; Gurjar, M. K. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1990, 9, 307.
- 31. Angyal, S. J.; Odier, L. Carbohydr. Res. 1982, 101, 209.
- 32. Schmitt, L.; Spiess, B.; Schlewer, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 4817.
- 33. Chen, Y.; Bauman, J. G.; Chu, C. K. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1992, 11, 693.
- 34. Barchi, J. J, Jr.; Marquez, V. E.; Driscoll, J. S.; Ford, H., Jr.; Mitsuya, H.; Shirasaka, T.; Aoki, S.; Kelley, J. A. J. Med. Chem. **1991**, 34, 1647.
- 35. Zhang, Z.; Magnusson, G. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 2383.
- 36. Chong, Y.; Chu, C. K. Carbohydr Res. 2002, 337, 397.
- 37. Son, S.-H.; Tano, C.; Furuike, T.; Sakairi, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 2008, 49, 5289.
- 38. Colombo, D.; Ronchetti, F.; Scala, A.; Taino, I. M.; Taino, P. A. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1994, 31, 611.



- 39. Sheppard, T. L.; Wong, C.-H.; Joyce, G. F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3660.
- 40. Hultin, P. G.; Buffie, R. M. Carbohydr. Res. 1999, 322, 14.
- 41. Tschamber, T.; Adam, S.; Matsuya, Y.; Masuda, S.; Ohsawa, N.; Maruyama, S.; Kamoshita, K.; Nemoto, H.; Eustache, J. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2007**, *17*, 5101.
- 42. Rasmussen, J. R.; Slinger, C. J.; Kordish, R. J.; Newman-Evans, D. D. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 4843.
- 43. Hatanaka, K.; Yoshida, Y.; Yoshida, T.; Uryu, T. Carbohydr. Res. 1991, 211, 333.
- 44. De Valette, F.; Barascut, J.-L.; Imbach, J.-L. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1998, 17, 2289.
- 45. De Bernardo, S.; Tengi, J. P.; Sassao, G. J.; Weigele, M. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 3457.
- 46. Mathé, C.; Imbach, J.-L.; Gosselin, G. Carbohydr. Res. 2000, 323, 226.
- 47. Kobayashi, Y.; Ohgami, T.; Ohtsuki, K.; Tsuchiya, T. Carbohydr. Res. 2000, 329, 325.
- 48. Huang, Z.; Schneider, K. C.; Benner, S. A. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 3869.
- 49. Fukukawa, K.; Ueda, T.; Hirano, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1983, 31, 1842.
- 50. Tona, R.; Bertolini, R.; Hunziker, J. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 1693.
- 51. Ogilvie, K. K.; Hakimelahi, G. H.; Proba, Z. A.; Usman, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 865.
- 52. Velázquez, S.; Camarasa, M.-J. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 1683.
- 53. Haque, M. E.; Kikuchi, T.; Kanemitsu, K.; Tsuda, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1986, 34, 430.
- 54. Haque, M. E.; Kikuchi, T.; Kanemitsu, K.; Tsuda, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1987, 35, 1016.
- 55. Lindhorst, T. K.; Thiem, J. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1990, 1237.
- 56. Paulsen, H.; Rutz, V.; Brockhausen, I. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1992, 735.
- 57. Petráková, E.; Glaudemans, C. P. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 279, 133.
- 58. Kanie, O.; Crawley, S. C.; Placic, M. M.; Hindsgaul, O. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 243. 139.
- 59. Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 2793.
- 60. Hermans, J. P. G.; Elie, C. J. J.; van der Marel, G. A.; van Boom, J. H. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 6, 451.
- 61. Lopez, R. M.; Hays, D. S.; Fu, G. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997,119, 6949.
- 62. Beigelman, L.; Karpeisky, A.; Usman, N. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1994, 4,1715.
- 63. Pudlo, J. S.; Townsend, L. B. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1992, 11, 279.
- 64. Church, T. J.; Carmichael, I.; Serianni, A. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 8946.
- 65. Rhie, S.-Y.; Pfliederer, W. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1994, 13, 1425.
- 66. Calvo-Mateo, A.; Camarasa, M.-J.; Díaz-Ortíz, A.; De las Heras, F. G. Tetrahedron 1988, 44, 4895.
- 67. Robins, M. J.; Guo, Z.; Samano, M. C.; Wnuk, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 11317.
- 68. Ye, J.; Bhatt, R. K.; Faick, J. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 8007.
- 69. Lioux, T.; Gosselin, G.; Mathé, C. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 3997.
- 70. Jung, P. M. J.; Burger, A.; Biellman, J.-F. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 8309.
- 71. Chen, T.; Greenberg, M. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 1103.
- 72. Aljarah, M.; Couturier, S.; Mathé, C.; Périguad, C. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2008, 16, 7436.
- 73. Kawashima, E.; Aoyama, Y.; Sekine, T.; Miyahara, M.; Radwan, M. F.; Nakamura, E.; Kainosho, M.; Kyogoku, Y.; Ishido, Y. J. Org. Chem. **1995**, *60*, 6980.
- 74. Vinayak, R.; Hansske, F.; Robins, M. J. J. Heterocyclic Chem. 1993, 30, 1181.
- 75. Cao, X.; Pfliederer, W. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1994, 13, 773.
- 76. Sekine, M.; Nakanishi, T. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 924.
- 77. Augustyns, K.; Rozenski, J.; Van Aerschot, A.; Janssen, G.; Herdewijn, P. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 2977.
- 78. Schmit, C.; Bévierre, M.-O.; De Mesmaeker, A.; Altmann, K.-H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1994, 4, 1969.
- 79. Czernecki, S.; Horns, S.; Valéry, J.-M. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1995, 14, 157.
- 80. Lin, F. L.; van Halbeek, H.; Bertozzi, C. R. Carbohydr. Res. 2007, 342, 2014.
- 81. Patroni, J. J.; Stick, R. V.; Engelhardt, L. M.; White, A. H. Aust. J. Chem. 1986, 39, 699.
- 82. Tsuda, Y.; Noguchi, S.; Kanemitsu, K.; Sato, Y.; Kakimoto, K.; Iwakura, Y. Hosoi, S. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1997, 45, 971.
- 83. Hirai, G.; Watanabe, T.; Yamaguchi, K.; Miyagi, T.; Sodeoka, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 15420.
- 84. Haque, M. E.; Kikuchi, T.; Kanemitsu, K.; Tsuda, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1987, 35, 1016.
- 85. Roberts, B. P.; Smits, T. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 3663.
- 86. Sharma, R.; Marquez, V. E.; Milne, G. W. A.; Lewin, N. E.; Blumberg, P. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1993, 3, 1993.
- Kim, S.; Powell, W. S.; Lawson, J. A.; Jacobo, S. H.; Pratico, D.; FitzGerald, G. A.; Maxey, K.; Rokach, J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2005, 15, 1613.



- 88. Tsuda, Y.; Sato, Y.; Kanemitsu, K.; Hosoi, S.; Shibayama, K.; Nakao, K.; Ishikawa, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1996, 44, 1465.
- 89. Kanemitsu, K.; Tsuda, Y.; Haque, Md. E.; Tsubono, K.; Kikuchi, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1987, 35, 3874.
- 90. Ziegler, F. E.; Zheng, Z. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 1416.
- 91. Redlich, H.; Sudau, W.; Paulsen, H. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 4253.
- 92. Brimacombe, J. S.; Mengech, A. S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1980, 2054.
- 93. Barton, D. H. R.; Hartwig, W.; Motherwell, W. B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1982, 447.
- 94. Castro-Palomino, J. C.; Tsvetkov, Y. E.; Schmidt, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5434.
- 95. Castro-Palomino, J. C.; Schmidt, R. R. Synlett 1998, 501.
- 96. Fukase, H.; Mizokami, N.; Horii, S. Carbohydr. Res. 1978, 60, 289.
- 97. Lessor, R. A.; Leonard, N. J. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 4300.
- 98. Lessor, R. A.; Gibson, K. J.; Leonard, N. J. Biochemistry 1984, 23, 3868.
- 99. Reiner, M.; Schmidt, R. R. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2000, 11, 319.
- 100. Baraniak, J.; Stec, W. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1987, 1645.
- 101. Reiner, M.; Stolz, F.; Schmidt, R. R. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 57.
- 102. Bell, R. H.; Horton, D.; Williams, D. M.; Winter-Mihaly, E. Carbohydr. Res. 1977, 58, 109.
- 103. Robins, M. J.; Madej, D.; Hansske, F.; Wilson, J. S.; Gosselin, G.; Bergogne, M.-C.; Imbach, J.-L.; Balzarini, J.; De Clercq, E. *Can. J. Chem.* **1988**, *66*, 1258.
- 104. Petráková, E.; Ková\_, P.; Glaudemans, C. P. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 233, 101.
- 105. Nozaki, K.; Oshima, K.; Utimoto, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 6125.
- 106. Ollivier, C.; Renaud, P. Chem. Rev. 2001, 101, 3415.
- 107. Cole, S. J.; Kirwan, J. N.; Roberts, B. P.; Willis, C. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 103.
- 108. Bensasson, C. S.; Cornforth, J.; Du, M.-H.; Hanson, J. R. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1509.
- 109. Mathé, C.; Périgaud, C.; Gosselin, G.; Imbach, J.-L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1994, 1019.
- 110. Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 9435.
- 111. Tsuda, Y.; Kanemitsu, K.; Kakimoto, K.; Kikuchi, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1987, 35, 2148.
- 112. Laak, K. V.; Scharf, H.-D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 4505.
- 113. Zard, S. Z. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 672.
- 114. Boiven, J.; Camara, J.; Zard, S. Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7909.
- 115. France, C. J.; McFarlane, I. M.; Newton, C. G.; Pitchen, P.; Barton, D. H. R. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 6381.
- 116. Rama Rao, A. V.; Reddy, K. A.; Srinivas, N. R.; Gurjar, M. K.; Padmaja, N.; Ramakumar, S.; Viswamitra, M. A.; Swapna, G. V. T.; Jagannadh, B.; Kunwar, A. C. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 1 **1993**, 1255.
- 117. Barrett, A. G. M.; Barton, D. H. R.; Bielski, R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I 1979, 2378.
- 118. Barrett, A. G. M.; Barton, D. H. R.; Bielski, R.; McCombie, S. W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1977, 866.
- 119. Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 2569.
- 120. Fossey, C.; Ladurée, D.; Robba, M. J. Heterocyclic Chem. 1995, 32, 627.
- 121. Park, H. S.; Lee, H. Y.; Kim, Y. H. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3187.
- 122. Kjølberg, O.; Neumann, K. Acta Chem. Scand. 1992, 46, 877.
- 123. Herdewijn, P.; Van Aerschot, A. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 1990, 99, 895.
- 124. Barton, D. H. R.; Zheng, D.-K.; Géro, S. D. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1982, 1, 105.
- 125. Nair, V.; Lyons, A. G.; Purdy, D. F. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 8949.
- 126. Chu, C. K.; Bhadti, V. S.; Doboszewski, B.; Gu, Z. P.; Kosugi, Y.; Pullaiah, K. C.; Van Roey, P. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2217.
- 127. Chu, C. K.; Ullas, G. V.; Jeong, L. S.; Ahn, S. K.; Doboszewski, B.; Lin, Z. X.; Beach, J. W.; Schinazi, R. F. J. Med. Chem. **1990**, *33*, 1553.
- 128. Jang, D. O.; Cho, D. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 5921.
- 129. Hřebabecký, H.; Holý, A.; De Clercq, E. Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1990, 55, 1801.
- 130. Aurrecoechea, J. M.; Gil, J. H.; López, B. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 7111.
- 131. Cho, D. H.; Jang, D. O. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 1799.
- 132. Herdewijn, P. A. M.; Van Aerschot, A.; Jie, L., Esmans, E.; Feneau-Dupont, J.; Declercq, J.-P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 1729.
- 133. Oba, M.; Suyama, M.; Shimamura, A.; Nishujama, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 4027.
- 134. Rama Rao, A. V.; Reddy, K. A.; Gurjar, M. K; Kunwar, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1988, 1273.
- 135. Robins, M. J.; Wnuk, S. F.; Hernández-Thirring, A. E.; Samano, M. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 11341.



- 136. Serafinowski, P. Synthesis 1990, 411 and Nucleosides Nucleotides 1991, 10, 491.
- 137. Dorland, E.; Serafinowski, P. Synthesis 1992, 477.
- 138. Lin, T.-S.; Yang, J.-H.; Liu, M.-C.; Zhu, J.-L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 3829.
- 139. Lin, T. S.; Luo, M.-Z.; Liu, M.-C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 3477.
- 140. Barton, D. H. R.; Bringmann, G.; Lamotte, G.; Motherwell, W. B.; Motherwell, R. S. H.; Porter, A. E. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1980, 2657.
- 141. Szabó, Z. B.; Borbás, A.; Bajza, I.; Lipták, A.; Antus, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2008, 49, 1196.
- 142. Barton, D. H. R; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 5700 and J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6838.
- 143. Patroni, J. J.; Stick, R. V.; Tilbrook, D. M. G.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. Aust. J. Chem. 1989, 42, 2127.
- 144. Matsuda, A.; Chu, C. K.; Reichman, U.; Pankiewicz, K.; Watanabe, K. A.; Fox, J. J. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 3603.
- 145. Nair, V.; Buenger, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 8502.
- 146. Doboszewski, B.; Chu, C. K.; Van Halbeek, H. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 2777.
- 147. Chugaev, L. Chem. Ber. 1899, 32, 3332.
- 148. Barton, D. H. R.; Parekh, S. I.; Tse, C.-L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 2733.
- 149. Crich, D.; Beckwith, A. L. J.; Chen, C.; Yao, Q.; Davison, I. G. E.; Longmore, R. W.; de Parrodi, C. A.; Quintero-Cortes, L.; Sandoval-Ramirez, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 8757.
- 150. Barton, D. H. R.; Motherwell, W. B.; Stange, A. Synthesis 1981, 743.
- 151. Gilbert, B. C.; Parsons, A. F. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2002, 367.
- 152. Hammerschmidt, F.; Öhler, E.; Polsterer, J.-P.; Zbiral, E.; Balzarini, J.; DeClercq, E. Liebigs Ann. 1995, 551.
- 153. Boquel, P.; Cazalet, C. L.; Chapleur, Y.; Samreth, S.; Bellamy, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 1997.
- 154. Hajkó, J.; Borbás, A.; Szabovik, G.; Kajtár-Peredy, M.; Lipták, A. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 16, 1123.
- 155. Pozsgay, V.; Neszmélyi, A. Carbohydr. Res. 1980, 85, 143.
- 156. Oba, M.; Nishiyama, K. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 10193.
- 157. Copeland, C.; Stick, R. V. Aust. J. Chem. 1977, 30, 1269.
- 158. Cicero, D. O.; Neuner, J. S.; Franzese, O.; D'Onofrio, C.; Iribarren, A. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1994, 4, 861.
- 159. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Brumby, S.; Davison, I. G. E.; Duggan, P. J.; Longmore, R. W. Abstracts of the Sixth International *Symposium on Organic Free Radicals: Noorwijkerhout* **1992**, 344.
- 160. Beckwith, A. L. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1993, 22, 143.
- 161. Araki, Y.; Endo, T.; Tanji, M.; Nagasawa, J.; Ishido, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 351.
- 162. Giese, B.; González-Gómez, J. A.; Witzel, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1984, 23, 69.
- 163. Yeung, B.-W. A.; Alonso, R.; Vite, G. D.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1989, 8, 413.
- 164. Lau, J.; Walczak, K.; Pupek, K.; Buch, C.; Nielsen, C. M.; Pedersen, E. B. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim) 1991, 324, 953.
- 165. Keck, G. E.; Enholm, E. J.; Yates, J. B.; Wiley, M. R. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 4079.
- 166. Albæk, N.; Petersen, M.; Nielsen, P. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 7731.
- 167. Chu, C. K.; Doboszewski, B.; Schmidt, W. Ullas, G. V. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2767.
- 168. Fiandor, J.; Tam, S. Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 597.
- 169. Lebreton, J.; Waldner, A.; Lesueur, C.; De Mesmaeker, A. Synlett 1994, 137.
- 170. Rozners, E.; Strömberg, R. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1997, 16, 967.
- 171. Grøtli, M.; Undheim, K. Acta Chem. Scand. 1995, 49, 217.
- 172. Beigelman, L.; Karpeisky, A.; Matulic-Adamic, J.; Haeberli, P.; Sweedler, D.; Usman, N. Nucleic Acids Res. 1995, 23, 4434.
- 173. Roy, B. G.; Jana, P. K.; Achari, B.; Mandal, S. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1563.
- 174. Sutherlin, D. P.; Armstrong, R. W. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 5367.
- 175. Postema, M. H. D.; Piper, J. L.; Komanduir, V.; Liu, L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 2915.
- 176. Bertrand, F.; Le Guyader, F.; Liguori, L.; Ouvry, G.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Seguin, S.; Zard, S. Z. *C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Chem.* **2001**, *4*, 547.
- 177. Vanheusden, V.; Busson, R.; Herdewijn, P.; Van Calenbergh, S. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 4446.
- 178. An, H.; Wang, T.; Maier, M. A.; Manoharan, M.; Ross, R. S.; Cook, P. D. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2789.
- 179. Sanghvi, Y. S.; Ross, B.; Bharadwaj, R.; Vasseur, J.-J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 4697.
- 180. De Mesmaeker, A.; Lebreton, J.; Hoffmann, P.; Freier, S. M. Synlett 1993, 677.
- 181. Baldwin, J. E.; Kelly, D. R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 682.
- 182. Bertrand, F.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1943.
- 183. Cordero-Vargas, A.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 7335.



- 184. Rokach, J.; Khanapure, S. P.; Hwang, S.-W.; Adiyaman, M.; Schio, L., FitzGerald, G. A. Synthesis 1998, 569.
- 185. Hwang, S.-W.; Adiyaman, M.; Khanapure, S. P.; Rokach, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 779.
- 186. RajanBabu, T. V. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 4522.
- 187. Papchikhin, A.; Chattopadhyaya, J. *Tetrahedron* **1994**, *50*, 5279.
- 188. RajanBabu, T. V.; Fukunaga, T.; Reddy, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 1759.
- 189. Mach, M.; Jarosz, S. Polish J. Chem. 1997, 71, 936.
- 190. Gómez, A. M.; Company, M. D.; Uriel, C.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1645.
- 191. Gómez, A. M.; Danelón, G. O.; Moreno, E.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Chem. Commun. 1999, 175.
- 192. Gómez, A. M.; Moreno, E.; Danelón, G. O.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 2961.
- 193. Gómez, A. M.; Moreno, E.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 1830.
- 194. Gómez, A. M.; Moreno, E.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 7863.
- 195. Gaudino, J. J.; Wilcox, C. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 4374.
- 196. Gómez, A. M.; Moreno, E.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Synlett 2002, 891.
- 197. Takagi, C.; Sukeda, M.; Kim, H.-S.; Wataya, Y.; Yabe, S.; Kitade, Y.; Matsuda, A.; Shuto, S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 1245.
- 198. Gómez, A. M.; Moreno, E.; Uriel, C.; Jarosz, S.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron; Asymmetry 2005, 16, 2401.
- 199. Bartlett, P. A.; McLaren, K. L.; Ting, P. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 1633.
- 200. Simpkins, N. S.; Stokes, S.; Whittle, A. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 793.
- 201. Takahashi, S.; Terayama, H.; Koshino, H.; Kuzuhara, H. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 14871.
- 202. Takahashi, S.; Inoue, H.; Kuzuhara, H. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1995, 14, 273.
- 203. Simpkins, N. S.; Stokes, S.; Whittle, A. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 2471.
- 204. Keck, G. E.; McHardy, S. F.; Murry, J. A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 4465.
- 205. Keck, G. E.; McHardy, S. F.; Murry, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7289.
- 206. Velázquez, S.; Camarasa, M.-J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2141.
- 207. Velázquez, S.; Huss, S.; Camarasa, M.-J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 1263.
- 208. Sharma, G. V. M.; Gopinath, T. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 6521.
- 209. Sharma, G. V. M.; Gopinath, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 6183.
- 210. Sharma, G. V. M.; Vepachedu, S. R. *Tetrahedron* **1991**, *47*, 519.
- 211. Lee, J.; Teng, K.; Marquez, V. E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 1539.
- 212. Sharma, G. V. M.; Krishnudu, K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 869.
- 213. Sharma, G. V. M.; Vepachedu, S. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 4931.
- 214. Marco-Contelles, J.; Alhambra, C.; Martínez-Grau, A. Synlett 1998, 693.
- 215. Wu, J.-C.; Xi, Z.; Gioeli, C.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 2237.
- 216. Marco-Contelles, J.; Ruiz-Fernández, P.; Sánchez, B. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 2894.
- 217. Hashimoto, H.; Furuichi, K.; Miwa, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1002.
- 218. Magnin, G. C.; Dauvergne, J.; Burger, A.; Biellman, J.-F. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 611.
- 219. Marco-Contelles, J.; Ruiz, P.; Sánchez, B.; Jimeno, M. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 5261.
- 220. Marco-Contelles, J.; Ruiz, P.; Martínez, L.; Martínez-Grau, A. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 6669.
- 221. Ferrier, R. J.; Petersen, P. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 2023.
- 222. Rhee, J. U.; Bliss, B. I.; RajanBabu, T. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 1492.
- 223. Boivin, J.; Schiano, A.-M.; Zard, S. Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 249.
- 224. Callier, A.-C.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6109.
- 225. Boivin, J.; Callier-Dublanchet, A.-C.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Schiano, A.-M.; Zard, S. Z. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 6517.
- 226. Sano, H.; Takeda, T.; Migita, T. Synthesis **1988**, 402.
- 227. Thiem, J.; Meyer, B. Chem. Ber. 1980, 113, 3058.
- 228. Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 5709.
- 229. Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6838.

#### Chapter 13: Carboxylic Acid Esters of N-Hydroxypyridine-2-thione

- 1. Barton, D. H. R.; Crich, D.; Motherwell, W. B. J. Chem. Soc., 1983, 939.
- 2. Barton, D. H. R.; Crich, D.; Motherwell, W. B. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 3901.
- 3. Barton, D. H. R.; Zard, S. Z. Pure Appl. Chem. 1986, 58, 675.
- 4. Crich, D.; Quintero, L. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1413.



- 5. Barton, D. H. R.; Chern, C.-Y.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs.; Shinada, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 6505.
- 6. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1000.
- 7. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 1627.
- 8. Larsen, D. S.; Lins, R. J.; Stoodley, R. J.; Trotter, N. S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2004, 2, 1934.
- 9. Ingold, K. U.; Lusztyk, J.; Maillard, B.; Walton, J. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 917.
- 10. Bohne, C.; Boch, R.; Scaiano, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 5414.
- 11. Alam, M. M.; Watanabe, A.; Ito, O. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3440.
- 12. Barton, D. H. R.; Blundell, P.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 6937.
- 13. Barton, D. H. R.; Bridon, D.; Fernandez-Picot, I.; Zard, S. Z. Tetrahedron 1987, 43, 2733.
- 14. Aveline, B. M.; Kochevar, I. E.; Redmond, R. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 9699.
- 15. Barton, D. H. R.; Crich, D.; Kretzschmar, G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1986, 39.
- 16. Baguley, P. A.; Walton, J. C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 3072.
- Benson, S. W.; O'Neal, H. E. Kinetic Data on Gas Phase Unimolecular Reactions; National Bureau of Standards, NSRDS-NBS: Washington, DC, 1970, p 21.
- 18. Lowry, T. H.; Richardson, K. S. Mechanism and Theory in Organic Chemistry; Harper & Row: New York, 1987; p 162.
- 19. Crich, D.; Ritchie, T. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1990, 945.
- 20. Crich, D.; Ritchie, T. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1461.
- 21. Crich, D.; Ritchie, T. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 190, c3.
- 22. Crich, D.; Lim. L. B. L.; Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 1897.
- 23. Crich, D.; Lim. L. B. L.; J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 2205 and 2209.
- 24. Sugai, T.; Shen, G.-J.; Ichikawa, Y.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 413.
- 25. Pimpalpalle, T. M.; Yin, J.; Linker, T. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2012, 10, 103.
- 26. Franz, J. A.; Bushaw, B. A.; Alnajjar, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 268.
- 27. Fleet, G. W. J.; Son, J. C.; Peach, J. M.; Hamor, T. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 1449.
- 28. Giese, B.; Carboni, B.; Göbel, T.; Muhn, R.; Wetterich, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 2673.
- 29. Newcomb, M.; Park, S. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 4132.
- 30. Newcomb, M.; Kaplan, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 1615.
- 31. Fischer, H.; Radom, L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 1340.
- 32. Barton, D. H. R.; Liu, W. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 12067.
- 33. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1988, 1372.
- 34. Togo, H.; Ishigami, S.; Fujii, M.; Ikuma, T.; Yokoyama, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1994, 2931.
- 35. Garner, P.; Anderson, J. T.; Cox, P. B.; Klippenstein, S. J.; Leslie, R.; Scardovi, N. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 6195.
- 36. Garner, P.; Leslie, R.; Anderson, J. T. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6754.
- 37. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 63.
- 38. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 981.
- 39. Barton, D. H. R. Pure Appl. Chem. 1988, 60, 1549.
- 40. Garner, P. P.; Cox, P. B.; Klippenstein, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4183.
- 41. Garner, P.; Anderson, J. T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6647.
- 42. Togo, H.; Ishigami, S.; Yokoyama, M. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1673.
- 43. Garner, P.; Anderson, J. T. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1057.
- 44. Barton, D. H. R.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs.; Liu, W.; Shinada, T. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 2717.
- 45. Barton, D. H. R.; Liu, W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 367.
- 46. Pakulski, Z.; Zamojski, A. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 3723.
- 47. Barton, D. H. R.; De Almeida, M. V.; Liu, W.; Shinada, T.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs.; Dos Santos, H. F.; Le Hyaric, M. *Tetrahedron* **2001**, *57*, 8767.
- 48. Togo, H.; Fujii, M.; Ikuma, T.; Yokoyama, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 3377.
- 49. Togo, H.; Fujii, M.; Ishigami, S.; Yokoyama, M. Nucleic Acids Sym. Series 1991, 25, 89.
- 50. Ziegler, F. E.; Wang, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 7920.
- 51. Ziegler, F. E.; Harran, P. G. Synlett 1995, 493.
- 52. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M.; Vincent, C. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 9383.
- 53. Barton, D. H. R.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs.; Theodorakis, E. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5904.
- 54. Barton, D. H. R.; Camara, J.; Cheng, X.; Géro, S. D.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs.; Quiclet-Sire B. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 9261.



55. Barton, D. H. R.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs.; Theodorakis, E. A.; Reibenspies, J. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 8050. 56. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Holliday, P.; Quiclet-Sire, B. *Tetrahedron* **1996**, *52*, 8233.

#### Chapter 14: Nitro Compounds

- 1. Tanner, D. D.; Blackburn, E. V.; Diaz, G. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1557.
- 2. Ono, N.; Miyake, H.; Tamura, R.; Kaji, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 1705.
- 3. Dupuis, J.; Giese, B.; Hartung, J.; Leising, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 4332.
- 4. Tanner, D. D.; Harrison, D. J.; Chen, J.; Kharrat, A.; Wayner, D. D. M.; Griller, D.; McPhee, D. J. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 3321.
- 5. Ono, N.; Kaji, A. Synthesis 1986, 693.
- 6. Ono, N.; Miyake, H.; Kamimura, A.; Hamamoto, I.; Tamura, R.; Kaji, A. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 4013.
- 7. Kamimura, A.; Ono, N. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1988, 61, 3629.
- 8. Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R.; Dupuis, J.; Giese, B. Chem. Ber. 1987, 120, 1197.
- 9. Hossain, N.; van Halbeek, H.; De Clercq, E.; Herdewijn, P. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 2209.
- 10. Otani, S.; Hashimoto, S.; Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1987, 60, 1826.
- 11. Garg, N.; Plavec, J.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 5189.
- 12. Brakta, M.; Lhoste, P.; Sinou, D. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 1890.
- 13. Begley, M. J.; Fletcher, R. J.; Murphy, J. A.; Sherburn, M. S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 1723.
- 14. Baumberger, F.; Vasella, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1983, 66, 2210.
- 15. Martin, O. R.; Lai, W. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 176.
- 16. Gurjar, M. K.; Nagaprasad, R.; Ramana, C. V. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 7577.
- 17. Spak, S. J.; Martin, O. R. Tetrahedron 2000, 56, 217.
- 18. Witczak, Z. J.; Chhabra, R.; Chojnacki, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 2215.
- 19. Hossain, N.; Papchikhin, A.; Garg, N.; Fedorov, I.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1993, 12, 499.
- 20. Pham-Huu, D.-P.; Petrušová, M.; BeMiller, J. N.; Petruš, L. Synlett 1998, 1319.
- 21. Pham-Huu, D.-P.; Petrušová, M.; BeMiller, J. N.; Petruš, L. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 2000, 93.
- 22. Witczak, Z. J.; Li, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 2595.
- 23. Sakakibara, T.; Takaide, A.; Seta, A.; Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 226, 271.
- 24. Martin, O. R.; Xie, F.; Kakarla, R.; Benhamza, R. Synlett 1993, 165.
- 25. Aebischer, B.; Meuwly, R.; Vasella, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1984, 67, 2236.
- 26. Branchaud, B. P.; Yu, G.-X. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 3639.
- 27. Sommermann, T.; Kim, B. G.; Peters, K.; Peters, E.-M.; Linker, T. Chem. Commun. 2004, 2624.
- 28. Garg, N.; Hossain, N.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 5273.
- 29. Kancharla, P. K.; Vankar, Y. D. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 75, 8457.
- 30. Kobertz, W. R.; Bertozzi, C. R.; Bednarski, M. D. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1894.
- 31. Barton, D. H. R.; Dorchak, J.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron Lett. 34, 8051.
- 32. Hossain, N.; Garg, N.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 10061.
- 33. Binkley, R. W.; Abdulaziz, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 4713.
- 34. a) Binkley, R. W.; Koholic, D. J. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1984, 3, 85; b) Binkley, R. W.; Koholic, D. J. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 2047.
- 35. Vite, G. D.; Fraser-Reid, B. Synthetic Commun. 1988, 18, 1339.
- 36. Walton, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 5791.
- 37. Guo, Z.; Samano, M. C.; Krzykawski, J. W.; Wnuk, S. F.; Ewing, G. J.; Robins, M. J. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 5705.
- 38. Robins, M. J.; Ewing, G. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 5823.
- 39. Robins, M. J.; Guo, Z.; Wnuk, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3637.
- 40. Robins, M. J.; Guo, Z.; Samano, M. C.; Wnuk, S. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 1425.
- 41. Robins, M. J. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 779.
- 42. Lopez, J. C.; Alonso, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 6471.
- 43. Lopez, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. Chem. Commun. 1997, 2251.
- 44. Francisco, C. G.; León, E. I.; Moreno, P.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 2975.
- 45. Francisco, C. G.; León, E. I.; Martín, A.; Moreno, P.; Rodríguez, M. S.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 6967.
- 46. Batsanov, A. S.; Begley, M. J.; Fletcher, R. J.; Murphy, J. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 1281.



- 47. Fraser-Reid, B.; Vite, G. D.; Yeung, B.-W. A.; Tsang, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 1645.
- 48. Ballestri, M.; Chatgilialoglu, C.; Lucarini, M.; Pedulli, G. F. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 948.
- 49. Tormo, J.; Hays, D. S.; Fu, G. C. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5296.

## Chapter 15: Azides and Azo Compounds

- 1. Fuchss, T.; Streicher, H.; Schmidt, R. R. Liebigs Ann. 1997, 1315.
- 2. Francisco, C. G.; Freire, R.; González, C. C.; León, E. I.; Riesco-Fagundo, C.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 1861.
- 3. Hager, C.; Miethchen, R.; Reinke, H. Synthesis 2000, 226.
- 4. Efimtseva, E. V.; Bobkov, G. V.; Mikhailov, S. N.; Van Aerschot, A.; Schepers, G.; Busson, R.; Rozenski, J.; Herdewijn, P. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **2001**, *84*, 2387.
- 5. Robins, M. J.; Wnuk, S. F.; Hernández-Thirring, A. E.; Samano, M. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 11341.
- 6. Costantino, V.; Fattorusso, E.; Imperatore, C.; Mangoni, A. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 369.
- 7. (a) Barbieri, L.; Costantino, V.; Fattorusso, E.; Mangoni, A.; Aru, E.; Parapini, S.; Taramelli, D. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2004, 468.
  (b) Barbieri, L.; Costantino, V.; Fattorusso, E.; Mangoni, A.; Basilico, N.; Mondani, M.; Taramelli, D. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2005, 3279.
- 8. Werz, D. B.; Adibekian, A.; Seeberger, PH. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 1976.
- 9. Poopeiko, N. E.; Pricota, T. I.; Mikhailopulo, I. A. Synlett 1991, 342.
- 10. Postigo, A.; Kopsov, S.; Ferreri, C.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 5159.
- 11. Dix, A. P.; Borissow, C. N.; Ferguson, M. A. J.; Brimacombe, J. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 117.
- 12. Dix, A. P.; Borissow, C. N.; Ferguson, M. A. J.; Brimacombe, J. S. Carbohydr. Res. 2004, 339, 1263.
- 13. Ogawa, S.; Sekura, R.; Maruyama, A.; Yuasa, H.; Hashimoto, H. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 2089.
- 14. Kim, S.; Joe, G. H.; Do, J. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 3328.
- 15. Dang, H.-S.; Roberts, B. P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1996, 1493.
- 16. Bräse, S.; Gil, C.; Knepper, K.; Zimmermann, V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 5188.
- 17. Fürstner, A.; Praly, J.-P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 751.
- 18. Praly, J.-P.; Senni, D.; Faure, R.; Descotes, G. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 1697.
- 19. Hernández, R.; León, E. I.; Moreno, P.; Riesco-Fagundo, C.; Suárez, E. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 8437.
- 20. Ollivier, C.; Renaud, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 6496.
- 21. Ollivier, C.; Renaud, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 4717.
- 22. Trahanovsky, W. S.; Robbins, M. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 5256.
- 23. Tingoli, M.; Tiecco, M.; Chianelli, D.; Balducci, R.; Temperini, A. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 6809.
- 24. Lemieux, R. U.; Ratcliffe, R. M. Can. J. Chem. 1979, 51, 1244.
- 25. Lin, C.-H.; Sugai, T.; Halcomb, R. L.; Ichikawa, Y.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 10138.
- 26. Look, G. C.; Ichikawa, Y.; Shen, G.-J.; Cheng, P.-W.; Wong, C.-H. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4326.
- 27. a) Kinzy, W.; Schmidt, R. R. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1985, 1537; b) Kinzy, W.; Schmidt, R. R. Carbohydr. Res. 1987, 164, 265.
- 28. Linker, T.; Sommermann, T.; Kahlenberg, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9377.
- 29. Linker, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 2002, 661, 159.
- 30. Houk, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 4092.
- 31. Paulsen, H.; Lorentzen, J. P.; Kutscher, W. Carbohydr. Res. 1985, 136, 153.
- 32. Briner, K.; Vasella, A. Helv. Chim. Acta 1987, 70, 1341.
- 33. Pedersen, C. M.; Olsen, J.; Brka, A. B.; Bols, M. Chem. Eur. J. 201117, 7080.
- 34. Wang, L.-X.; Sakairi, N.; Kuzuhara, H. Carbohydr. Res. 1991, 219, 133.
- 35. Schmidt, R. R.; Rembold, H. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 246, 137.
- 36. Kinzy, W.; Löhr, A. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 245, 193.
- 37. Seeberger, P. H.; Roehrig, S.; Schell, P.; Wang, Y.; Christ, W. J. Carbohydr. Res. 2000, 328, 61.
- 38. BeMiller, J. N.; Blazis, V. J.; Myers, R. W. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1990, 9, 39.
- 39. Bongat, A. F. G.; Demchenko, A. V. Carbohydr. Res. 2007, 342, 374.
- 40. Jiaang, W.-T.; Chang, M.-Y.; Tseng, P.-H.; Chen, S.-T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 3127.
- 41. Czernecki, S.; Randriamandimby, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 7915.
- 42. Santoyo-Gonzáles, F.; Calvo-Flores, F. G.; Garciá-Mendoza, P.; Hernández-Mateo, F.; Isac-García, J.; Robles-Díaz, R. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6122.



- 43. Czernecki, S.; Ayadi, E.; Randriamandimby, D. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 8256.
- 44. Tingoli, M.; Tiecco, M.; Testaferri, L.; Temperini, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1883.
- 45. a) Liu, Y.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2445; b) Woodward, H.; Smith, N.; Gallagher, T. Synlett 2010, 869.
- 46. Grant, L.; Liu, Y.; Walsh, K. E.; Walter, D. S.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4623.
- 47. SanMartin, R.; Tavassoli, B.; Walsh, K. E.; Walter, D. S.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 4051.
- 48. Cernecki, S.; Ayadi, E. Can. J. Chem. 1995, 73, 343.
- 49. Mironov, Y. V.; Sherman, A. A.; Nifantiev, N. E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 9107.
- 50. Bovin, N. V.; Zurabyan, S. É.; Khorlin, A. Y. Carbohydr. Res. 1981, 98, 25.
- 51. Viuf, C.; Bols, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 623.
- 52. Barton, D. H. R.; Jaszberenyi, J. C.; Theodorakis, E. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5904.
- 53. Barton, D. H. R.; Jaszberenyi, J. C.; Theodorakis, E. A.; Reibenspies, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 8050.
- 54. Bouhalbane, E.; Veyrières J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1991, 10, 487.

#### Chapter 16: Nitriles and Isonitriles

- 1. Hiebl, J; Zbiral, E. Monatsh. Chem. 1990, 121, 683.
- 2. Witczak, Z. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986, 27, 155.
- 3. Tavecchia, P.; Trumtel, M.; Veyrières, A.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 2533.
- 4. Barton, D. H. R.; Bringmann, G.; Lamotte, G.; Motherwell, W. B.; Motherwell, R. S. H.; Porter, A. E. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I 1980, 2657.
- 5. Barton, D. H. R.; Bringmann, G.; Lamotte, G.; Motherwell, R. S. H.; Motherwell, W. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1979, 2291.
- 6. Trumtel, M.; Tavecchia, P.; Veyrières, A.; Sinaÿ, P. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 191, 29.
- 7. Barton, D. H. R.; Hartwig, W.; Motherwell, W. B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1982, 447.
- 8. Barton, D. H. R.; Motherwell, W. B. Pure Appl. Chem. 1981, 53, 1081.
- 9. Barton, D. H. R.; Bringmann, G.; Motherwell, W. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I 1980, 2665.
- 10. Saegusa, T.; Kobayashi, S.; Ito, Y.; Yasuda, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 4182.
- 11. a) Yamago, S. Synlett 2004, 1875; b) Yamago, S.; Miyazoe, H.; Goto, R.; Yoshida, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2347.
- 12. Ballestri, M.; Chatgilialoglu, C.; Clark, K. B.; Griller, D.; Giese, B.; Kopping, B. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 678.
- 13. Benati, L.; Leardini, R.; Miozzi, M.; Nanni, D.; Scialpi, R.; Spagnolo, P.; Stazzari, S.; Zanardi, G. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2004**, 43, 3598.
- 14. Yamago, S.; Miyazoe, H.; Goto, R.; Hashidume, M.; Sawazaki, T.; Yoshida, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 3697.
- 15. Crich, D.; Quintero, L. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1413.
- 16. Stork, G.; Sher, P. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 6765.
- 17. Stork, G.; Sher, P. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 303.
- 18. López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3871.
- 19. López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. Chem. Commun. 1997, 2251.
- 20. Martin, J.; Jaramillo G, L. M.; Wang, P. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 5927.
- 21. Parkes, K. E. B.; Taylor, K. 1988, 29, 2995.
- 22. Yu, D.; d'Alarcao, M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 3240.
- 23. Ryu, I.; Sonoda, N.; Curran, D. P. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 177.
- 24. Alonso, R. A.; Burgey, C. S.; Rao, B. V.; Vite, G. D.; Vollerthun, R.; Zottola, M. A.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 6666.
- 25. Pak, H.; Dickson, J. K., Jr.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5357.
- 26. Pak, H.; Canalda, I. I.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 3009.
- 27. Fraser-Reid, B.; Burgey, C. S.; Vollerthun, R. Pure Appl. Chem. 1998, 70, 285.
- 28. Tsang, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2166.
- 29. Ueda, T.; Shuto, S.; Sano, T.; Usui, H.; Inoue, H. Nucleic Acids Res., Symposium Ser. 1982, 11, 5.
- 30. Sano, T.; Inoue, H.; Ueda, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1985, 33, 3595.
- 31. Sano, T.; Inoue, H.; Ueda, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1985, 33, 1856.
- 32. Crich, D.; Bowers, A. A. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 3452.
- 33. Crich, D.; Banerjee, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 8078.
- 34. Crich, D.; Bowers, A. A. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4327.



## Chapter 17: Oxime Ethers and Related Compounds

- 1. Friestad, G. K. Tetrahedron2001, 57, 5461.
- 2. Fallis, A. G.; Brinza, I. M. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 17543.
- 3. a) Hart, D. J.; Seely, F. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, *110*, 1631; b) Hart, D. J.; Krishnamurthy, R.; Pook, L. M.; Seely F. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 7819.
- 4. Debart, F.; Vasseur, J.-J.; Sanghvi, Y. S.; Cook, P. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 2645.
- 5. Bhat, B.; Swayze, E. E.; Wheeler, P.; Dimock, S.; Perbost, M.; Sanghvi, Y. S. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 8186.
- 6. Bartlett, P. A.; McLaren, K. L.; Ting, P. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 1633.
- 7. Zhou, C.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Chem. Rev. 2012, 112, 3808.
- 8. Simpkins, N. S.; Stokes, S.; Whittle, A. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 793.
- 9. Simpkins, N. S.; Stokes, S.; Whittle, A. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 2471.
- 10. Takahashi, S.; Inoue, H.; Kuzuhara, H. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1995, 14, 273.
- 11. Takahashi, S.; Terayama, H. Koshino, H.; Kuzuhara, H. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 14871.
- 12. Kiguchi, T.; Tajiria, K.; Ninomiya, I.; Naito, T., Hiramatsu, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 253.
- 13. Ingall, A. H.; Moore, P. R.; Roberts, S. M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2155.
- 14. Martínez-Grau, A.; Marco-Contelles, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1998, 27, 155.
- 15. Marco-Contelles, J.; Martínez, L., Martínez-Grau, A.; Pozuelo, C.; Jimeno, M. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 6437.
- 16. Marco-Contelles, J.; Pozuelo, C.; Jimeno, M. L.; Martínez, L.; Martínez-Grau, A. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 2625.
- 17. Marco-Contelles, J.; Martínez-Grau, A.; Bernabé, M.; Martín, N.; Seoane, C. Synlett **1991**, 165.
- 18. Marco-Contelles, J.; Martínez, L., Martínez-Grau, A.; Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1991, 2, 961.
- 19. Ingall, A. H.; Moore, P. R.; Roberts, S. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Comm. 1994, 83.
- 20. Keck, G. E.; McHardy, S. F.; Murry, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 7289.
- 21. Keck, G. E.; McHardy, S. F.; Murry, J. A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 4465.
- 22. Keck, G. E.; Wager, T. T.; McHardy, S. F. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 9164.
- 23. Marco-Contelles, J.; Ruiz, P.; Martínez, L., Martínez-Grau, A.; Tetrahedron: 1993, 49, 6669.
- 24. Clive, D. L. J.; Pham, M. P.; Subedi, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 2713.
- 25. Noya, B.; Alonso, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 2745.
- 26. Marco-Contelles, J.; Destabel, C.; Chiara, J. L.; Bernabé, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1995, 1547.
- 27. Marco-Contelles, J.; Destabel, C.; Gallego, P.; Chiara, J. L.; Bernabé, M.; J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1354.
- 28. Noya, B.; Paredes, M. D.; Ozores, L.; Alonso, R. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5960.
- 29. Lang, P.; Mayer, A.; Jung, P.; Tritsch, D.; Biellman, J.-F.; Burger, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 4013.
- 30. Fernández-González, M.; Alonso, R. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 6767
- 31. Grové, J. J. C.; Holzapfel, C. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 7429.
- 32. Dekaris, V.; Pulz, R.; Al-Harrasi, A.; Lentz, D.; Reissig, H.-U. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 3210.
- 33. Storch de Gracia, I.; Bobo, S.; Martín-Ortega, M. D.; Chiara, J. L. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1705.
- 34. Marco-Contelles, J.; Gallego, P.; Rodríguez-Fernández, M.; Khiar, N.; J.; Destabel, C.; Bernabé, M.; Martínez-Grau, A.; Chiara, J. L. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7397.
- 35. Chiara, J. L.; Marco-Contelles, J.; Khiar, N.; Gallego, P.; Destabel, C.; Bernabé, M. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6010.
- 36. Storch de Gracia, I.; Dietrich, H.; Bobo, S.; Chiara, J. L. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5883.
- 37. Boiron, A.; Zillig, P.; Faber, D.; Giese, B. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5877.
- 38. Bobo, S.; Storch de Gracia, I.; Chiara, J. L. Synlett 1999, 1551.
- 39. a) Kiguchi, T.; Tajiri, K.; Ninomiya, I.; Naito, T. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 5819; b) Miyabe, H.; Nishiki, A.; Naito, T. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **2003**, *51*, 426.
- 40. Boivin, J.; Callier-Dublanchet, A.-C.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Schiano, A.-M.; Zard, S. Z. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 6517.
- 41. Ghosez, A.; Göbel, T.; Giese, B. Chem. Ber. 1988, 121, 1807.
- 42. Veit, A.; Giese, B. Synlett 1990, 166.
- 43. Marco-Contelles, J.; Rodríguez, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 6749.
- 44. Clive, D. L. J.; Zhang, J. Chem. Commun. 1997, 549.
- 45. Zhang, J.; Clive, D. L. J. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 770.
- 46. Friestad, G. K.; Mathies, A. K. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 9373.
- 47. Masson, G.; Philouze, C.; Py, S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 2067.
- 48. Togo, H.; Fujii, M.; Ikuma, T.; Yokoyama, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 3377.



- 49. Togo, H.; Fujii, M.; Ishigami, S.; Yokoyama, M. Nucleic Acids Symposium Ser. 1991, 25, 89.
- 50. Togo, H.; Ishigami, S.; Yokoyama, M. Chemistry Lett. 1992, 1673.
- 51. Vismara, E.; Torri, G.; Pastori, N.; Marchiandi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 7575.
- 52. Togo, H.; Aoki, M.; Kuramochi, T.; Yokoyama, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1993, 2417.
- 53. Togo, H.; Ishigami, S.; Fujii, M.; Ikuma, T.; Yokoyama, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 2931.
- 54. He, W.; Togo, H.; Waki, Y.; Yokoyama, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 2425.
- 55. Francisco, C. G.; Herrera, A. J.; Martín, Á.; Pérez-Martín, I.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 6384.
- 56. León, E. T.; Martín, Á.; Pérez-Martín, I.; Suárez, E. Eur J. Org. Chem. 2011, 7339.

#### Chapter 18: Compounds with Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds I: Addition Reactions

- 1. Giese, B.; Dupuis, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1983, 22, 622.
- 2. Giese, B.; Dupuis, J.; Nix, M. Org. Syn. 1987, 65, 236.
- 3. Praly, J.-P.; Ardakani, A. S.; Bruyère, I.; Marie-Luce, C.; Qin, B. B. Carbohydr. Res. 2002, 337, 1623.
- 4. Vidal, S.; Bruyere, I.; Malleron, A.; Augé, C.; Praly, J.-P. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2006, 14, 7293.
- 5. Kita, Y.; Gotanda, K.; Sano, A.; Oka, M.; Murata, K.; Suemura, M.; Matsugi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8345.
- 6. Gotanda, K.; Matsugi, M.; Suemura, M.; Ohira, C.; Sano, A.; Oka, M.; Kita, Y. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 10315.
- 7. Araki, Y.; Endo, T.; Tanji, M.; Nagasawa, J.; Ishido, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 5853.
- 8. Michael, K.; Wittmann, V.; König, W.; Sandow, J.; Kessler, H. Int. J. Peptide Protein Res. 1996, 48, 59.
- 9. Junker, H.-D.; Fessner, W.-D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 269.
- 10. Lopez, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 3450.
- 11. Hammond, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 77, 334.
- 12. Fleming, I. Frontier Orbitals and Organic Chemical Reactions; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1976, pp115-116,163.
- 13. Giese, B. Radicals in Organic Synthesis: Formation of Carbon–Carbon Bonds; Pergamon Press: New York, 1986: pp 14-15.
- 14. Vanheusden, V.; Busson, R.; Herdewijn, P.; Van Calenbergh, S. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 4446.
- 15. Giese, B.; Gröninger, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 2743.
- 16. Dubert, O.; Gautier, A.; Condamine, E.; Piettre, S. R. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 359.
- 17. Cui, J.; Horton, D. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 309, 319.
- 18. Adlington, R. M.; Baldwin, J. E.; Basak, A.; Kozyrod, R. P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1983, 944.
- a) Liu, Y.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2445; b) Grant, L.; Liu, Y.; Walsh, K. E.; Walter, D. S.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4623.
- 20. Barton, D. H. R.; Ramesh, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 891.
- 21. a) López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 762; b) López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3871.
- 22. López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. Chem. Commun. 1997, 2251.
- 23. Lichtenthaler, F. W.; Lergenmüller, M.; Schwidetzky, S. Eur J. Org. Chem. 2003, 3094.
- 24. Pontén, F.; Magnusson, G. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 7463.
- 25. Readman, S. K.; Marsden, S. P.; Hodgson, A. Synlett 2000, 1628.
- 26. Parrish, J. D.; Little, R. D. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1439.
- 27. SanMartin, R.; Tavassoli, B.; Walsh, K. E.; Walter, D. S.; Gallagher, T. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 4051.
- 28. Giese, B.; González-Gómez, J. A.; Witzel, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1984, 23, 69.
- 29. Giese, B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1989, 28, 969.
- 30. Blattner, R.; Ferrier, R. J.; Renner, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1007.
- 31. Caddick, S.; Wilden, J. D.; Bush, H. D.; Wadman, S. N.; Judd, D. B. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 2549.
- 32. Gómez, A. M.; López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1994, 1689.
- 33. Caddick, S.; Hamza, D.; Wadman, S. N.; Wilden, J. D. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1775.
- 34. Togo, H.; Fujii, M.; Ikuma, T.; Yokoyama, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 3377.
- 35. Togo, H.; Ishigami, S.; Yokoyama, M. Chem. Lett. 1992, 1673.
- 36. Togo, H.; Ishigami, S.; Fujii, M.; Ikuma, T.; Yokoyama, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1994, 2931.
- 37. Drescher, M.; Hammerschmidt, F. Synthesis 1996, 1451.
- 38. Togo, H.; Matsubayashi, S.; Yamazaki, O.; Yokayama, M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 2816.
- 39. Araki, Y.; Endo, T.; Tanji, M.; Nagasawa, J.; Ishido, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 351.
- 40. Barton, D. H. R. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 2529.



- 41. Walczak, K.; Pupek, K.; Pedersen, E. B. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1991, 1041.
- 42. Lau, J.; Walczak, K.; Pupek, K.; Buch, C.; Nielsen, C. M.; Pedersen E. B. Arch. Pharm. 1991, 324, 953.
- 43. Blanchard, P.; Da Silva, A. D.; Fourrey, J.-L.; Machado, A. S.; Robert-Gero, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 8069.
- 44. Marco-Contelles, J.; Martínez-Grau, A. Syn. Commun. 1994, 24, 1727.
- 45. Barton, D. H. R. Pure Appl. Chem. 1994, 66, 1943.
- 46. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Lawrence, F.; Robert-Gero, M.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. J. Med. Chem. 1992, 35, 63.
- 47. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1991, 981.
- 48. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 4969.
- 49. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1000.
- 50. Barton, D. H. R. Pure Appl. Chem. 1988, 60, 1549.
- 51. Blanchard, P.; Kortbi, M. S.; Fourrey, J.-L.; Robert-Gero, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 3319.
- 52. Maria, E. J.; da Silva, A. D.; Fourrey, J.-L. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 627.
- 53. Maria, E. J.; Fourrey, J.-L.; Machado, A. S.; Robert-Géro, M. Syn. Commun. 1996, 26, 27.
- 54. Blanchard, P.; Da Silva, A. D. El Kortbi, M. S.; Fourrey, J.-L.; Robert-Géro, M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6517.
- 55. Barton, D. H. R.; Géro, S. D.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Samadi, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1988, 1372.
- 56. Araki, Y.; Endo, T.; Tanji, M.; Arai, Y.; Ishido, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2335.
- 57. Giese, B.; Carboni, R.; Göbel, T.; Muhn, R.; Wetterich, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 2673.
- 58. Pakulski, Z.; Zamojski, A. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 3723.
- 59. Barton, D. H. R.; De Almeida, M. V.; Liu, W.; Shinada, T.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs.; Dos Santos, H. F.; Le Hyaric, M. *Tetrahedron* **2001**, *57*, 8767.
- 60. Barton, D. H. R.; Liu, W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 367.
- 61. Barton, D. H. R.; Liu, W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 2431.
- 62. Barton, D. H. R.; Liu, W. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 12067.
- 63. Barton, D. H. R.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs.; Liu, W.; Shinada, T. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 2717.
- 64. Garner, P. P.; Cox, P. B.; Klippenstein S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 4183.
- 65. Garner, P.; Leslie, R.; Anderson, J. T. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6754.
- 66. Garner, P.; Anderson, J. T.; Cox, P. B.; Klippenstein S. J.; Leslie, R.; Scardovi, N. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 6195.
- 67. Curran, D. P.; Xu, J.; Lazzarini, E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 3049.
- 68. Keck, G. E.; Yates, J. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 5829.
- 69. Roe, B. A.; Boojamra, C. G.; Griggs, J. L.; Bertozzi, C. R. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6442.
- 70. Nagy, J. O.; Bednarski, M. D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 3953.
- 71. Paulsen, H.; Matschulat, P. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1991, 487.
- 72. Giese, B.; Linker, T.; Muhn, R. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 935.
- 73. Praly, J.-P.; Chen, G.-R.; Gola, J.; Hetzer, G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 2831.
- 74. Nicolaou, K. C.; Dolle, R. E.; Churcholowski, A.; Randall, J. L. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1984, 1153.
- 75. Praly, J.-P.; Chen, G.-R.; Gola, J.; Hetzer, G.; Raphoz, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8185.
- 76. Chen, G.-R.; Fei, Z. B.; Huang, X.-T.; Xie, Y.-Y.; Xu, J.-L.; Gola, J.; Steng, M.; Praly, J.-P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 2939.
- 77. Renaud, P.; Gerster, M.; Ribezzo, M. Chimia 1994, 48, 366.
- 78. Keck, G. E.; Enholm, E. J.; Kachensky, D. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 1867.
- 79. Wåglund, T.; Claesson, A. Acta Chem. Scand. 1992, 46, 73.
- 80. Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R.; Giese, B.; Rückert, B.; Gröninger, K. S. Chem. Ber. 123, 1891.
- (a) Hang, H. C.; Bertozzi, C. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 1242; (b) Dulcey, A. E.; Qasba, P. K.; Lamb, J.; Griffiths, G. L. Tetrahedron 2011, 67, 2013.
- 82. Gröninger, K. S.; Jäger, K. F.; Giese, B. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1987, 731.
- 83. Sutherlin, D. P.; Armstrong, R. W. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 5267.
- 84. Keck, G. E.; Enholm, E. J.; Yates, J. B.; Wiley, M. R. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 4079.
- 85. Liu, L.; Postema, M. H. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 8602.
- 86. Andersson, F. O.; Classon, B.; Samuelsson, B. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 4699.
- 87. Keck, G. E.; Kachensky, D. F.; Enholm, E. J. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 1464.
- 88. Keck, G. E.; Kachensky, D. F.; Enholm, E. J. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4317.
- 89. Mootoo, D.; Wilson, P.; Jammalamadaka, V. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1994, 13, 841.
- 90. Clive, D. L. J.; Paul, C. C.; Wang, Z. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7028.



- 91. Keck, G. E.; Kachensky, D. F. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 2487.
- 92. Postema, M. H. D.; Piper, J. L.; Komanduri, V.; Liu, L. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 2915.
- 93. Ferrier, R. J.; Petersen, P. M. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 1.
- 94. Burgey, C. S.; Vollerthun, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1609.
- 95. Li, X.; Chen, J. J.; Tanner, D. D. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 4314.
- 96. Ferrier, R. J.; Lee, C.-K.; Wood, T. A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 690.
- 97. Boto, A.; Hernández, R.; Suárez, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 1821.
- 98. Lamberth, C.; Blarer S. Syn. Commun. 1996, 26, 75.
- 99. Gurjar, M. K.; Ravindranadh, S. V.; Karmakar, S. Chem. Commun. 2001, 241.
- 100. Hanessian, S.; Léger, R.; Alpegiani, M. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 228, 145.
- 101. Enholm, E. J.; Gallagher, M. E.; Jiang, S.; Batson, W. A. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 3355.
- 102. Cicero, D. O.; Neuner, P. J. S.; Franzese, O.; D'Onofrio, C.; Iribarren, A. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 1994, 4, 861.
- 103. Beigelman, L.; Karpeisky, A.; Matulic-Adamic, J. Haeberli, P.; Sweedler, D.; Usman, N. Nucleic Acids Res. 1995, 23, 4434.
- 104. Grøtli, M.; Undheim, K. Acta Chem. Scand. 1995, 49, 217.
- 105. Rozners, E.; Strömberg, R. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1997, 16, 967.
- 106. Chu, C. K.; Doboszewski, B.; Schmidt, W.; Ullas, G. V.; Van Roey, P. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2767.
- 107. Lebreton, J.; Waldner, A.; Lesueur, C.; De Mesmaeker, A. Synlett 1994, 137.
- 108. Haraguchi, K.; Tanaka, H.; Saito, S.; Yamaguchi, K.; Miyasaka, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 9721.
- 109. Fiandor, J.; Tam, S. Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 597.
- 110. Ethève-Quelquejeu, M.; Valéry, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 4807.
- 111. Albæk, N.; Petersen, M.; Nielsen, P. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 7731.
- 112. Roy, B. G.; Jana, P. K.; Achari, B.; Mandal, S. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1563.
- 113. Ramana, C. V.; Chaudhuri, S. R.; Gurjar, M. K. Synthesis 2007, 523.
- 114. Sanghvi, Y. S.; Ross, B.; Bharadwaj, R.; Vasseur, J.-J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 4697.
- 115. Gómez, A. M.; López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 4048.
- 116. a) De Mesmaeker, A.; Lebreton, J.; Hoffmann, P.; Freier, S. M. *Synlett* **1993**, 677;(b) Sanghvi, Y. S.; Bharadwaj, R.; Debart, F.; De Mesmaeker, A. *Synthesis*, **1994**, 1163.
- 117. Chavain, N.; Herdewijn, P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 1140.
- 118. An, H.; Wang, T.; Maier, M. A.; Manoharan, M.; Ross, B. S.; Cook, P. D. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 2789.
- 119. Baldwin, J. E.; Kelly, D. R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 682.
- 120. Dang, H.-S.; Kim, K.-M.; Roberts, B. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 501.
- 121. Keck, G. E.; Tafesh, A. M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5846.
- 122. Le Guyader, F.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Seguin, S.; Zard, S. Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 7410.
- 123. Bertrand, F.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 1943.
- 124. Bertrand, F.; Le Guyader, F.; Liguori, L.; Ouvry, G.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Seguin, S.; Zard, S. Z. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Chim. 2001, 4, 547.
- 125. Rao, B. V.; Chan, J. B.; Moskowitz, N.; Fraser-Reid, B. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1993, 130, 428.
- 126. Fraser-Reid, B.; Walker, D. L. Can. J. Chem. 1980, 58, 2694.
- 127. Udodong, U. E.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 2131.
- 128. Benko, Z.; Frazer-Reid, B.; Mariano, P. S.; Beckwith, A. L. J. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 2066.
- 129. Mayon, P.; Euvard, M. N.; Moufid, N.; Chapleur, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 399.
- 130. Giese, B.; Damm, W.; Witzel, T.; Zeitz, H.-G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 7053.
- 131. Gould, J. H. M.; Mann, J. Chem. Commun. 1997, 243.
- 132. Herpin, T. F.; Houlton, J. S.; Motherwell, W. B.; Roberts, B. P.; Weibel, J.-M. Chem. Commun. 1996, 613.
- 133. Herpin, T. F.; Motherwell, W. B.; Roberts, B.P; Roland, S.; Weibel, J.-M. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 15085.
- 134. Gervay, J.; Flaherty, T. M.; Holmes, D. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 16355.
- 135. Crich, D.; Mo, X.-S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8169.
- 136. Giese, B.; Burger, J.; Kang, T. W.; Kesselheim, C.; Witmer, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7322.
- 137. Crich, D.; Mo, X.-S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 249.
- 138. Carvalho de Souza, A.; Kuil, J.; Maljaars, C. E. P.; Halkes, K. M.; Vliegenthart, J. F. G.; Kamerling, J. P. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2004, *2*, 2972.
- 139. Cipolla, L.; Nicotra, F.; Vismara, E.; Guerrini, M. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 6163.



- 140. Cipolla, L.; Liguori, L.; Nicotra, F.; Vismara, E.; Torri, G.; Vismara, E. Chem. Comm. 1996, 1253.
- 141. a) Moreno, B.; Quehen, C.; Rose-Hélène, M.; Leclerc, E.; Quirion, J. C. *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9*, 2477; b) Colombel, S.; Sanselme, M.; Leclerc, E.; Quirion, J.-C.; Pannecoucke, X. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2011**, *17*, 5238.
- 142. Cipolla, L.; La Ferla, B.; Nicotra, F.; *Carbohydr. Polymers* **1998**, *37*, 291.
- 143. Herpin, T. F.; Motherwell, W. B.; Weibel, J.-M. Chem. Commun. 1997, 923.
- 144. Foulard, G.; Brigaud, T.; Portella, C. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 9107.
- 145. a) Ramos, D.; Rollin, P.; Klaffke, W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 396; b) Dondoni, A.; Marra, A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2012, 41, 573.
- 146. Bertrand, M. P.; De Riggi, I.; Lesueur, C.; Gastaldi, S.; Nouguier, R.; Jaime, C.; Virgili, A. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6040.
- 147. Lopin, C.; Gautier, A.; Gouhier, G.; Piettre, S. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 10195.
- 148. Cordero-Vargas, A.; Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 7335.
- 149. Matthews, D. P.; Persichetti, R. A.; Sabol, J. S.; Stewart, K. T.; McCarthy, J. R. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1993, 12, 115.
- 150. Wnuk, S. F.; Lalama, J.; Garmendia, C. A.; Robert, J.; Zhu, J.; Pei, D. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2008, 16, 5090.
- 151. Wnuk, S. F.; Robins, M. J. Can. J. Chem. 1993, 71, 192.
- 152. Onuma, S.; Kumamoto, H.; Kawato, M.; Tanaka, H. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 2497.
- 153. a) Kumamoto, H.; Onuma, S.; Tanaka, H. *J. Org. Chem.* **2004**, 69, 72. b) Jarowicki, K.; Kilner, C.; Kocienski, P. J.; Komsta, Z.; Milne, J. E.; Wojtasiewicy, A.; Coombs, V. *Synthesis* **2008**, 2747.
- 154. Koz\_owska, E.; Jarosz, S. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1994, 13, 889.
- 155. Jarosz, S.; Skóra, S.; Szewczyk, K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2000, 11, 1997.
- 156. Tsuruta, O.; Yuasa, H.; Kurono, S.; Hashimoto, H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1999, 9, 807.
- 157. Giese, B.; Witzel, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1986, 25, 450.
- 158. Bimwala, R. M.; Vogel, P. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 2076.
- 159. Giese, B.; Hoch, M.; Lamberth, C.; Schmidt, R. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 1375.
- 160. Witczak, Z. J.; Chhabra, R. Chojnacki, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 2215.
- 161. Herpin, T. F.; Motherwell, W. B.; Tozer, M. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2269.
- 162. Bimwala, R. M.; Vogel, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 1429.
- 163. Ferritto, R.; Vogel, P. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2077.
- 164. Viodé, C.; Vogel, P. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 2001, 20, 733.
- 165. Guindon, Y.; Bencheqroun, M.; Bouzide, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 554.
- 166. Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 1209.
- 167. Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. Pure Appl. Chem. 1997, 69, 645.
- 168. Becouarn, S.; Czernecki, S.; Valéry, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, 873.
- 169. Yamago, S.; Miyazoe, H.; Yoshida, J.-I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 2343.
- 170. Xiang, J.; Fuchs, P. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 8597.
- 171. Jung, P. M. J.; Burger, A.; Biellmann, J.-F. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 8309.
- 172. Moufid, N.; Chapleur, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 1799.
- 173. Yeung, B.-W. A.; Alonso, R.; Vite, G. D.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1989, 8, 413.
- 174. Pak, H.; Canalda, I. I.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 3009.
- 175. Jung, P. M. J.; Dauvergne, J.; Burger, A.; Biellmann, J.-F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 5877.
- 176. Lang, P.; Mayer, A.; Jung, P.; Tritsch, D.; Biellmann, J.-F.; Burger, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 4013.
- 177. Marco-Contelles, J.; Domínguez, L.; Anjum, S.; Ballesteros, P.; Soriano, E.; Postel, D. Tetrahedron : Asymmetry 2003, 14, 2865.
- 178. Gómez, A. M.; Company, M. D.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 383.
- 179. Gilbert, B. C.; Parsons, A. F. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2002, 367.
- 180. Stork, G.; Mook, R., Jr.; J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2829.
- 181. Spencer, B. P.; Schwartz, J. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 4204.
- 182. Giese, B.; Thoma, G. Helv. Chim. Acta 1991, 74, 1135.
- 183. Branchaud, B. P.; Meier, M. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 3191.
- 184. Branchaud, B. P.; Meier, M. S.; Choi, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 167.
- 185. Branchaud, B. P.; Friestad, G. K. In *Encyclopedia of Reagents for Organic Synthesis;* Paquette, L. A., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1995, pp 5511-5514.
- 186. Ghosez, A.; Göbel, T.; Giese, B. Chem. Ber. 1988, 121, 1807.
- 187. Slade, R. M.; Branchaud, B. P. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 3544.



- 188. Linker, T.; Hartmann, K.; Sommermann, T.; Scheutzow, D.; Ruckdeschel, E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 1730.
- 189. Linker, T.; Sommermann, T.; Kahlenberg, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9377.
- 190. Gyóllai, V.; Schanzenbach, D.; Somsák, L.; Linker, T. Chem. Commun. 2002, 1294.
- 191. Hartmann, K.; Kim, B. G.; Linker, T. Synlett 2004, 2728.
- 192. a) Kim, B. G.; Schilde, U.; Linker, T. *Synlett* **2005**, 1507. b) Yin, J.; Sommermann, T.; Linker, T. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2007**, *13*, 10152; c) Yin, J.; Spindler, J.; Linker, T. *Chem. Commun.* **2007**, 2712.
- 193. Elamparuthi, E.; Linker, T. *Org. Lett.* **2008**, *10*, 1361.

## Chapter 19: Compounds With Carbon–Carbon Multiple Bonds II: Cyclization Reactions

- 1. Kita, Y.; Gotanda, K.; Sano, A.; Oka, M.; Murata, K.; Suemura, M.; Matsugi, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 8345.
- 2. Gotanda, K.; Matsugi, M.; Suemura, M.; Ohira, C.; Sano, A.; Oka, M.; Kita, Y. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 10315.
- 3. Cui, J.; Horton, D. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 309, 319.
- 4. Roe, B. A.; Boojamra, C. G.; Griggs, J. L.; Bertozzi, C. R. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6442.
- 5. Audin, C.; Lancelin, J.-M.; Beau, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 3691.
- 6. López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. Aust. J. Chem. 1995, 48, 333.
- 7. López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 1533.
- 8. Friestad, G. K. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 5461.
- 9. De Mesmaeker, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Winkler, T.; Waldner, A. Synlett 1990, 201.
- 10. Xi, Z.; Glemarec, C.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 7525.
- 11. Ueno, Y.; Nagasawa, Y.; Sugimoto, I.; Kojima, N.; Kanazaki, M.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 1660.
- 12. Yahiro, Y.; Ichikawa, S.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 5527.
- 13. Shuto, S.; Kanazaki, M.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 5676.
- 14. Beckwith, A. L. J. Tetrahedron 1981, 37, 3073.
- 15. Baldwin, J. E. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1976, 734.
- 16. Spellmeyer, D. C.; Houk, K. N. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 959.
- 17. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Schiesser, C. H. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 3925.
- 18. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Schiesser, C. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 26, 373.
- 19. RajanBabu, T. V. Acc. Chem. Res. 1991, 24, 139.
- 20. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Moad, G. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1974, 472.
- 21. Chapleur, Y.; Moufid, N. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 39.
- 22. a) Gómez, A. M.; Company, M. D.; Uriel, C.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2007**, *48*, 1645; b) Gómez, A. M.; Uriel, C.; Company, M. D.; López, J. C. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2011**, 7116;
- 23. Ogamino, J.; Mizunuma, H.; Kumamoto, H.; Takeda, S.; Haraguchi, K,; Nakamura, K. T.; Sugiyama, H.; Tanaka, H. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 1684.
- 24. Shuto, S.; Terauchi, M.; Yahiro, Y.; Abe, H.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 4151.
- 25. Bols, M.; Skrydstrup, T. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 1253.
- 26. Zhang, W. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 7237.
- 27. Araki, Y.; Endo, T.; Arai, Y.; Tanji, M.; Ishido, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 2829.
- 28. Nocquet, P.-A.; Hazelard, D.; Guntz, G.; Compain, P. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 78, 6751.
- 29. a) Kanazaki, M.; Ueno, Y.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2000**, *122*, 2422; b) Terauchi, M.; Yahiro, Y.; Abe, H.; Ichikawa, S.; Tovey, S. C.; Dedos, S. G.; Taylor, C. W.; Potter, B. V. L.; Matsuda, A.; Shuto, S. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 3697.
- 30. Myers, A. G.; Gin, D. Y.; Widdowson, K. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 9661.
- 31. Kovensky, J.; Burrieza, D.; Colliou, V.; Fernández Cirelli, A.; Sinaÿ, P. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 2000, 19, 1.
- 32. Rekaï, R.; Bubinstenn, G.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P.; Müller, S. N.; Giese, B. Synlett 1998, 831.
- 33. Vauzeilles, B.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 7269.
- 34. Fairbanks, A. J.; Perrin, E.; Sinaÿ, P. Synlett 1996, 679.
- 35. Rubinstenn, G.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3697.
- 36. Terauchi, M.; Matsuda, A.; Shuto, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 6555.
- 37. Chattopadhyay, P. Mukherjee, M.; Ghosh, S. Chem. Commun. 1997, 2139.
- 38. Mallet, A.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2593.
- 39. Abe, H.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 2391.
- 40. Abe, H.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 4315.



- 41. Xin, Y. C.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1993, 864.
- 42. Chénedé, A.; Perrin, Rekaï, E. D.; Sinaÿ, P. Synlett 1994, 420.
- 43. Rubinstenn, G.; Esnault, J.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1997, 8, 1327.
- 44. de Oliveira, R. B.; de Souza Filho, J. D.; Prado, M. A. F.; Eberlin M. N.; Meurer, E. C.; Santos, L. S.; Alves, R. J. *Tetrahedron* **2004**, *60*, 9901.
- 45. Ferrier, R. J.; Hall, D. W.; Petersen, P. M. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 239, 143.
- 46. Vauzeilles, B.; Cravo, D.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Synlett 1993, 522.
- 47. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Lawrence, T.; Serelis, A. K. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1980, 484.
- 48. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Page, D. M. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5144.
- 49. Durand, T.; Henry, O.; Guy, A.; Roland, A.; Vidal, J.-P.; Rossi, J.-C. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 2485.
- Kumamoto, H.; Ogamino, J.; Tanaka, H.; Suzuki, H.; Haraguchi, K.; Miyasaka, T.; Yokomatsu, T.; Shibuya, S. *Tetrahedron* 2001, 57, 3331.
- 51. RajanBabu, T. V.; Fukunaga, T.; Reddy, G. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 1759.
- 52. Ferrier, R. J.; Middleton, S. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 2779.
- 53. Hoffmann, R. W. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1124.
- 54. Désiré, J.; Prandi, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6189.
- 55. Désiré, J.; Prandi, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 3075.
- 56. Roland, A.; Durand, T.; Egron, D.; Vidal, J.-P.; Rossi, J.-C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 245.
- 57. Hwang, S. W.; Adiyaman, M.; Khanapure, S.; Schio, L.; Rokach, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 10829.
- 58. De Mesmaeker, A.; Waldner, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Hug, T.; Winkler, T.; Synlett 1992, 285.
- 59. Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R.; Dupuis, J.; Giese, B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II 1986, 1453.
- 60. Yeung, B.-W. A.; Contelles, J. L. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1160.
- 61. Marco-Contelles, J.; de Opazo, E. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 3705.
- 62. Matsugi, M.; Gotanda, K.; Ohira, C.; Suemura, M.; Sano, A.; Kita, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 6928.
- 63. Rokach, J.; Khanapure, S. P.; Hwang, S.-W.; Adiyaman, M.; Schio, L.; FitzGerald, G. A. Synthesis 1998, 569.
- 64. Rondot, B.; Durand, T.; Vidal, J.-P.; Girard, J.-P.; Rossi, J.-C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1995, 1589.
- 65. Hwang, S.-W.; Adiyaman, M.; Khanapure, S. P.; Rokach, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 779.
- 66. Wilcox, C. S.; Gaudino, J. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3102.
- 67. Jones, M. F.; Roberts, S. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1988, 2927.
- 68. Bennett, S. M.; Biboutou, R. K.; Salari, B. S. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 7075.
- 69. Bennett, S. M.; Biboutou, R. K.; Zhou, Z.; Pion, R. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 4761.
- 70. Roberts, S. M.; Shoberu, K. A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 2625.
- 71. Wee, A. G. H. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 5065.
- 72. Velázquez, S.; Huss, S.; Camarasa, M.-J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 1263.
- 73. Velázquez, S.; Jimeno, M. L.; Huss, S.; Balzarini, J.; Camarasa, M.-J. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 7661.
- 74. Velázquez, S.; Camarasa, M.-J. Tetrahderon: Asymmetry 1994, 5, 2141.
- 75. Hanessian, S.; Léger, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 3115.
- 76. Gutierrez-Avella, D.-M.; Bertrand, M.; Nouguier, R. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Chem. 2001, 4, 453.
- 77. Barton, D. H. R.; Camara, J.; Cheng, X.; Géro, S. D.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs.; Quiclet-Sire, B. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 9261.
- 78. Zhang, W. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 7237.
- 79. Papchikhin, A.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 5279.
- 80. Papchikhin, A.; Agback, P.; Plavec, J.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 329.
- 81. Gómez, A. M.; López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 4048.
- 82. Knapp, S.; Madduru, M. R.; Lu, Z.; Morriello, G. J.; Emge, T. J.; Doss, G. A. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 3583.
- 83. Kim, S.; Powell, W. S.; Lawson, J. A.; Jacobo, S. H.; Pratico, D.; FitzGerald, G. A.; Maxey, K.; Rokach, J. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2005**, *15*, 1613.
- 84. Svirdov, A. F.; Frolov, A. B.; Kochetkov, N. K. Russ. Chem. Bull. 1993, 42, 1906.
- 85. Hsia, K. Y.; Ward, P., Lamont, R. B.; de Q. Lilley, P. M.; Watkin D. J.; Fleet, G. W. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 4823.
- 86. Vorwerk, S.; Vasella, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1732.
- 87. Marco-Contelles, J.; Sánchez, B. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4293.
- 88. Ziegler, F. E.; Wang, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 7920.
- 89. Marco-Contelles, J.; Sánchez, B.; Pozuelo, C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1992, 3, 689.



- 90. Marco-Contelles, J.; Alhambra, C.; Martínez-Grau, A. Synlett 1998, 693.
- 91. Vite, G. D.; Alonso, R.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 2268.
- 92. Alonzo, R. A.; Vite, G. D.; McDevitt, R. E.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 573.
- 93. Wilcox, C. S.; Thomasco, L. M. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 546.
- 94. Majhi, T. P.; Neogi, A.; Ghosh, S.; Mukherjee, A. K.; Chattopadhyay, P. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 12003.
- 95. Yoshimura, Y; Yamazaki, Y.; Wachi, K.; Satoh, S.; Takahata, H. Synlett 2007, 111.
- 96. Suzuki, Y.; Matsuda, A.; Ueda, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1987, 35, 1085.
- 97. Yamagata, Y.; Fujii, S.; Fujiwara, T.; Tomita, K.-I.; Ueda, T. Biochem. Biophys. Acta 1981, 654, 242.
- 98. Sano, T.; Shuto, S.; Inoue, H.; Ueda, T. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1985, 33, 3617.
- 99. Ueda, T.; Usui, H.; Shuto, S.; Inoue, H. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1984, 32, 3410.
- 100. Yoshimura, Y.; Otter, B. A.; Ueda, T.; Matsuda, A. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1992, 40, 1761.
- 101. Navacchia, M. L.; Manetto, A.; Montevecchi, P. C.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 4640.
- 102. Kittaka, A.; Asakura, T.; Kuze, T.; Tanaka, H.; Yamada, N.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 7081.
- 103. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Gimisis, T.; Spada, G. P. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 2866.
- 104. Chatgilialoglu, C. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 547.
- 105. Gimisis, T.; Chatgilialoglu, C. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1908.
- 106. Kittaka, A.; Tanaka, H.; Yamada, N.; Miyasaka, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 2801.
- 107. Kittaka, A.; Tanaka, H.; Yamada, N.; Kato, H.; Miyasaka, T. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1997, 16, 1423.
- 108. Kittaka, A.; Asakura, T.; Kuze, T.; Tanaka, H.; Yamada, N.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 7081.
- 109. Ferrier, R. J.; Petersen, P. M. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 1.
- 110. Dickson, J. K., Jr.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1990, 1440.
- 111. Dickson, J. K., Jr.; Tsang, R.; Llera, J. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5350.
- 112. Henry, K. J.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 5128.
- 113. Shuto, S.; Yahiro, Y.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5547.
- 114. Sukeda, M.; Shuto, S.; Sugimoto, I.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 8988.
- 115. a) Sugimoto, I.; Shuto, S.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 7153; b) Kodama, T.; Shuto, S.; Nomura, M.; Matsuda, A. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2001**, *7*, 2332.
- 116. Shuto, S.; Kanazaki, M.; Ichikawa, S.; Minakawa, N.; Matsuda, A. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 746.
- 117. Mazéas, D.; Skrydstrup, T.; Doumeix, O.; Beau, J.-M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1383.
- 118. Sugimoto, I,; Shuto, S.; Mori, S.; Shigeta, S.; Matsuda, A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1999, 9, 385.
- 119. a) Kodama, T.; Shuto, S.; Nomura, M.; Matsuda, A. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2001**, *7*, 2332; b) Sukeda, M.; Ichikawa, S.; Matsuda, A.; Shuto, S. J. Org. Chem. **2003**, *68*, 3465.
- 120. Stork, G. Suh, H. S.; Kim, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 7054.
- 121. Xi, Z.; Rong, J.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 5255.
- 122. Jones, G. R.; Landais, Y. Tetrahedron, 1996, 52, 7599.
- 123. Sakaguchi, N.; Hirano, S.; Matsuda, A.; Shuto, S. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3291.
- 124. Pedretti, V.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Carbohydr. Res. 1993, 244, 247.
- 125. Augustyns, K.; Rozenski, J.; Van Aershot, A.; Busson, R.; Claes, P.; Herdewijn, P. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 1189.
- 126. Pingli, L.; Vandewalle, M. Synlett 1994, 228.
- 127. Doboszewski, R.; Blaton, N.; Rozenski, J.; De Bruyn, A.; Herdewijn, P. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 5381.
- 128. Jenkins, P. R. Pure Appl. Chem. 1996, 68, 771.
- 129. Kamikubo, T.; Ogasawara, K. Chem. Lett. 1996, 987.
- 130. Mayon, P.; Chapleur, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. **1994**, 35, 3703.
- 131. Bonnert, R. V.; Davies, M. J.; Howarth, J.; Jenkins, P. R.; Lawrence, N. J. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 27.
- 132. Gómez, A. M.; López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3859.
- 133. Yoshimura, T.; Bando, T.; Shindo, M.; Shishido, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 9241.
- 134. De Mesmaeker, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Ernst, B.; Hug, P.; Winkler, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 6307.
- 135. De Mesmaeker, A.; Waldner, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Mindt, T.; Hug, P.; Winkler, T. Synlett 1990, 687.
- 136. Haudrechy, A.; Sinaÿ, P. Carbohydr. Res. 1991, 216, 375.
- 137. de Pouilly, P.; Chénedé, A.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 8065.
- 138. De Mesmaeker, A.; Waldner, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Winkler, T.; Synlett 1992, 330.
- 139. Wu, J.-C.; Xi, Z.; Gioeli, C.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 2237.



- 140. Xi, Z.; Agback, P.; Sandström, A.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 9675.
- 141. Sharma, G. V. M.; Gopinath, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 6183.
- 142. Sharma, G. V. M.; Gopinath, T. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 6521.
- 143. Sharma, G. V. M.; Subash Chander, A.; Goverdhan Reddy, V.; Krishnudu, K.; Ramana Rao, M. H. V.; Kunwar, A. C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 1997.
- 144. Bamhaoud, T.; Prandi, J. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1229.
- 145. Paulsen, H.; Wulff, A.; Brenken, M. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1991, 1127.
- 146. Koole, L. H.; Wu, J.-C.; Neidle, S.; Chattopadhyaya, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 2687.
- 147. Fraser-Reid, B.; Vite, G. D.; Yeung, B.-W. A.; Tsang, R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 1645.
- 148. Sharma, G. V. M.; Krishnudu, K. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 268, 287.
- 149. Lee, J.; Teng, K.; Marquez, V. E. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1992**, 33, 1539.
- 150. Sharma, G. V. M.; Rao Vepachedu, S. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 519.
- 151. Sharma, G. V. M.; Rakesh; Chander, A. S.; Reddy, V. G.; Rao, M. H. V. R.; Kunwar, A. C. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2003**, *14*, 2991.
- 152. De Mesmaeker, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Ernst, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 57.
- 153. Garg, N.; Hossain, N.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 5273.
- 154. Sharma, G. V. M.; Vepachedu, S. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 4931.
- 155. Sharma, G. V. M.; Krishnudu, K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1999, 10, 869.
- 156. Gurjar, M. K.; Ravindranadh, S. V.; Kumar, P. Chem. Commun. 2001, 917.
- 157. Wu, J.-C.; Xi, Z.; Gioeli, C.; Chattopadhyaya, J. Tetrahedron 1991. 47, 2237.
- 158. López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Valverde, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 613.
- 159. Moufid, N.; Chapleur, Y.; Mayon, P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. I 1992, 991.
- 160. RajanBabu, T. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 609.
- 161. De Mesmaeker, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Ernst, B.; Hug, P.; Winkler, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 6311.
- 162. De Mesmaeker, A.; Hoffmann, P.; Ernst, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 6585.
- 163. Lübbers, T.; Schäfer, H. J. Synlett 1992, 743.
- 164. Zhou, Z.; Bennett, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 1153.
- 165. Hashimoto, H.; Furuichi, K.; Miwa, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1002.
- 166. Hisa, K.; Kittada, A.; Tanaka, H. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1996, 15, 85.
- 167. Czernecki, S.; Ayadi, E.; Xie, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 9193.
- 168. Redlich, H.; Sudau, W.; Szardenings, A. K.; Vollerthun, R. Carbohydr. Res. 1992, 226, 57.
- 169. Mayer, S.; Prandi, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 3117.
- 170. Mayer, S.; Prandi, J.; Bamhaoud, T.; Bakkas, S.; Guillou, O. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 54, 8753.
- 171. Maudru, E.; Singh, G.; Wightman, R. H. Chem. Commun. 1998, 1505.
- 172. Rochigneux, I.; Fontanel, M.-L.; Malanda, J.-C.; Doutheau, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 2017.
- 173. Kim, G.; Kim. H. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 225.
- 174. McDevitt, R. E.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 3250.
- 175. Gómez, A. M.; Moreno, E.; Danelón, G. O.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 2961.
- 176. Gómez, A. M.; Danelón, G. O.; Moreno, E.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Chem. Commun. 1999, 175.
- 177. Woltering, T. J.; Hoffmann, H. M. R. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 7389.
- 178. Gaudino, J. J.; Wilcox, C. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 4374.
- 179. Gómez, A. M.; Moreno, E.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 7863.
- 180. Gómez, A. M.; Moreno, E.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 1830.
- 181. Takagi, C.; Sukeda, M.; Kim, H.-S.; Wataya, Y.; Yabe, S.; Kitade, Y.; Matusda, A.; Shuto, S. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 1245.
- 182. Ferjani, M. B. S.; Zhou, Z.; Bennett, S. M. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 8133.
- 183. Gómez, A. M.; Casillas, M.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 2175.
- 184. Rama Rao, A. V.; Yadav, J. S.; Srinivas Rao, C.; Chandrasekhar, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1990, 1211.
- 185. Malanda, J.-C.; Doutheau, A. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1993, 12, 999.
- 186. Marco-Contelles, J.; Bernabé, M.; Ayala, D.; Sánchez, B. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 1234.
- 187. Molander, G. A.; Harris, C. R. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 3321.
- 188. Jasperse, C. P.; Curran, D. P.; Fevig, T. L. Chem. Rev. 1991, 91, 1237.
- 189. Breithor, M.; Herden, U.; Hoffmann, H. M. R. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 8401.



- 190. Bueno, J. M.; Coterón, J. M.; Chiara, J. L.; Fernández-Mayoralas, A.; Fiandor, J. M.; Valle, N. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 4379.
- 191. Kelly, D. R.; Picton, M. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 1559.
- 192. Moufid, N.; Chapleu, Y.; Mayon P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1992, 999.
- 193. Marco-Contelles, J. Chem. Commun. 1996, 2629.
- 194. Marco-Contelles, J.; Domínguez, L.; Anjum, S.; Ballesteros, P.; Soriano, E.; Postel, D. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2003, 14, 2865.
- 195. Moufid, N.; Chapleur, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 1799.
- 196. Gómez, A. M.; Danelón, G. O.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 9626.
- 197. Pak, H.; Dickson, J. K., Jr. ; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5357.
- 198. a) Pak, H.; Canalda, I. I.; Fraser-Reid, B. *J. Org. Chem.* **1990**, 55, 3009; b) Leeuwenburgh, M. A.; Litjens, R. E. J. N.; Codée, J. D. C.; Overkleeft, H. S.; van der Marel, G. A.; van Boom, J. H. *Org. Lett.* **2000**, *2*, 1275.
- 199. Jung, P. M. J.; Dauvergne, J.; Burger, A.; Biellman, J.-F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 5877.
- 200. Gómez, A. M.; Company, M. D.; Uriel, C.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 1645.
- 201. a) Stork, G.; Mook, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2829; b) Curran, D. P. Synthesis 1988, 417.
- 202. Ziegler, F. E.; Harran, P. G. Synlett 1995, 493.
- 203. Marco-Contelles, J.; Martínez-Grau, A. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 7663.
- 204. Andersson, F. O.; Classon, B.; Samuelsson, B. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 4699.
- 205. a) Karimiahmadabadi, M.; Erfan, S.; Földesi, A.; Chattopadhyaya, J. J. Org. Chem. **2012**, 77, 6855; b) Tadano, K.-I; Murata, T.; Kumagai, T.; Isshiki, Y.; Ogawa, S. J. Carbohydr. Chem. **1993**, *12*, 1187.
- 206. Marco-Contelles, J. Synthetic Commun. 1994, 24, 1293.
- 207. Mach, M.; Jarosz, S. Polish J. Chem. 1997, 71, 936.
- 208. Marco-Contelles, J.; Ruiz-Fernández, P.; Sánchez, B. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 2894.
- 209. Marco-Contelles, J.; Martínez-Grau, A.; Martinez-Ripoll, M.; Cano, H.; Foces-Foces, C. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 403.
- 210. Marco-Contelles, J.; Ruiz, P.; Sánchez, B.; Jimeno, M. L.; Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 5261.
- 211. López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3871.
- 212. López, J. C.; Fraser-Reid, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 3450.
- 213. RajanBabu, T. V. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 4522.
- 214. Kim, K. S.; Kim, J. H.; Kim, Y. K.; Park, Y. S.; Hahn, C. S. Carbohydr. Res. 1989, 194, c1.
- 215. Kittaka, A.; Tanaka, H.; Odanaka, Y.; Ohnuki, K.; Yamaguchi, K.; Miyasaka, T. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 3636.
- 216. Kittaka, A.; Tsubaki, Y.; Tanaka, H.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1996, 15, 97.
- 217. Kittaka, A.; Yamada, N.; Tanaka, H.; Nakamura, K. T.; Miyasaka, T. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1996, 15, 1447.
- 218. McDonald, C. E.; Dugger, R. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 2413.
- 219. Gómez, A. M.; Moreno, E.; Uriel, C.; Jarosz, S.; Valverde, S.; López, J. C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2005, 16, 2401.
- 220. Magnin, G. C.; Dauvergne, J.; Burger, A.; Biellmann, J.-F. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1999, 18, 611.
- 221. Ferrier, R. J.; Petersen, P. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1992, 2023.

Chapter 20: Reactions of Samarium(II) Iodide With Carbohydrate Derivatives

- 1. Molander, G. A. Org. React. 1994, 46, 211.
- 2. Molander, G. A. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 29.
- 3. Curran, D. P.; Fevig, T. L.; Jasperse, C. P.; Totleben, M. J. Synlett 1992, 943.
- 4. Molander, G. A.; Harris, C. R. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 307.
- 5. Krief, A.; Laval, A.-M. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 745.
- 6. Edmonds, D. J.; Johnston, D.; Procter, D. J. Chem. Rev. 2004, 104, 3371.
- 7. Kagan, H. B. Tetrahedron 2003, 59, 10351.
- 8. Steel, P. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2001, 2727.
- 9. Srikanth, G. S. C.; Castle, S. L. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 10377.
- 10. Hasegawa, E.; Curran, D. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 1717.
- 11. a) Flowers, R. A., II *Synlett* **2008**, 1427; b) Choquette, K. A.; Sadasivam, D. V.; Flowers, R. A., II *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132*, 17396.
- 12. Shabangi, M.; Flowers, R. A., II Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 1137.
- 13. Skrydstrup, T.; Mazéas, D.; Elmouchir, M.; Doisneau, G.; Riche, C.; Chiaroni, A.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 1342.
- 14. Bennett, S. M.; Biboutou, R. K.; Zhou, Z.; Pion, R. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 4761.



- 15. Zhou, Z.; Bennett, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 1153.
- 16. Bennett, S. M.; Kouya Biboutou, R.; Samim Firouz Salari, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 7075.
- 17. Samim Firouz Salari, B.; Kouya Biboutou, R.; Bennett, S. M. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 6385.
- 18. Ferjani, M. B. S.; Zhou, Z.; Bennett, S. M. Tetrahedron 2004, 60, 8113.
- 19. Hanessian, S.; Girard, C.; Chiara, J. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 573.
- 20. Inanaga, J.; Katsuki, J.; Yamaguchi, M. Chem. Lett. 1991, 1025.
- 21. Hanessian, S.; Girard, C. Synlett 1994, 861.
- 22. Hanessian, S.; Girard, C. Synlett 1994, 863.
- 23. Malleron, A.; David, S. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 308, 93.
- 24. Yang, B. V.; Massa, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 5149.
- 25. Gervay, J.; Gregar, T. Q. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 5921.
- 26. Ogawa, A.; Ohya, S.; Doi, M.; Sumino, Y.; Sonoda, N.; Hirao, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 6341.
- 27. de Pouilly, P.; Chénedé, A.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 8065.
- 28. Urban, D.; Skrydstrup, T.; Beau, J.-M. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 2507.
- 29. Urban, D.; Skrydstrup, T.; Riche, C.; Chiaroni, A.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Commun. 1996, 1883.
- 30. Jarreton, O.; Skrydstrup, T.; Beau, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 1767.
- 31. de Pouilly, P.; Vauzeilles, B.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 1991, 313, II, 1391.
- 32. de Pouilly, P.; Chénedé, A.; Mallet, J.-M.; Sinaÿ, P. Bull. Chem. Soc. Fr. 1993, 130, 256.
- 33. Mazéas, D.; Skrydstrup, T.; Beau, J.-M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 909.
- 34. Curran, D. P.; Totleben, M. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6050.
- 35. Curran, D. P.; Fevig, T. L.; Totleben, M. J. Synlett 1990, 773.
- 36. Hasegawa, E.; Curran, D. P. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 5008.
- 37. Doisneau, G.; Beau, J.-M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3477.
- 38. Mikkelsen, L. M.; Krintel, S. L.; Jiménez-Barbero, J.; Skrydstrup, T. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 6297.
- 39. Miquel, N. M.; Doisneau, G.; Beau, J.-M. Angew Chem. Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 4111.
- 40. Jarreton, O.; Skrydstrup, T.; Espinosa, J.-F.; Jiménez-Barbero, J.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 430.
- 41. Urban, D.; Skrydstrup, T.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Commun. 1998, 955.
- 42. Skrydstrup, T.; Jarreton, O.; Mazéas, D.; Urban, D.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Eur. J. 1998, 4, 655.
- 43. Du, Y.; Linhardt, R. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 308, 161.
- 44. Hung, S.-C.; Wong, C.-H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 4903.
- 45. Hanessian, S.; Girard, C. Synlett 1994, 865.
- 46. Miquel, N.; Doisneau, G.; Beau, J.-M. Chem. Commun. 2000, 2347.
- 47. Hung, S.-C.; Wong, C.-H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 2671.
- 48. a) Enholm, E. J.; Jiang, S. Heterocycles 1992, 34, 2247; b) Enholm, E. J.; Jiang, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 6069.
- 49. Malapelle, A.; Coslovi, A.; Doisneau, G.; Beau, J.-M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 3145.
- 50. Enholm, E. J.; Jiang, S.; Abboud, K. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4061.
- 51. Fairbanks, A. J.; Sinaÿ, P. Synlett 1995, 277.
- 52. Enholm, E. J.; Trivellas, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 6463.
- 53. Enholm, E. J.; Satici, H.; Trivellas, A. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 5841.
- 54. Tadano, K.-I.; Isshiki, Y.; Minami, M.; Ogawa, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 7899.
- 55. Ferreri, C.; Ballestri, M.; Chatgilialoglu, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1993, 34, 5147.
- 56. Grové, J. J. C.; Holzafel, C. W.; Williams, D. B. G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 5817.
- 57. Vorwerk, S.; Vasella, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1732.
- 58. Chiara, J. L.; Marco-Contelles, J.; Khiar, N.; Gallego, P.; Destabel, C.; Bernabé, M. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6010.
- 59. Kan, T.; Nara, S.; Ozawa, T.; Shirahama, H.; Matsuda, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 200039, 355.
- 60. Enholm, E. J.; Trivellas, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 1627.
- 61. Chiara, J. L.; Martínez, S.; Bernabé, M. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 6488.
- 62. Williams, D. B. G.; Blann, K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 3286.
- 63. Williams, D. B. G.; Caddy, J.; Blann, K. Carbohydr. Res. 2005, 340, 1301.
- 64. Adinolfi, M.; Barone, G.; Iadonisi, A.; Mangoni, L.; Manna, R. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 11767.
- 65. Jenkins, D. J.; Potter, B. V. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 41.
- 66. Adinolfi, M.; Barone, G.; Iadonisi, A.; Mangoni, L.; Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 2021.



- 67. Chiara, J. L.; Storch de Gracia, I.; Bastida, Á. Chem. Comm. 2003, 1874.
- 68. Chiara, J. L.; Gracia, Á.; Sesmilo, E.; Vacas, T. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 3935.
- 69. Chiara, J. L.; Martín-Lomas, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 2969.
- 70. Guidot, J. P.; Le Gall, T.; Mioskowski, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 6671.
- 71. Chiara, J. L.; Valle, N. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1995, 6, 1895.
- 72. Carpintero, M.; Fernández-Mayoralas, A.; Jaramillo, C. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 1916.
- 73. Kornienko, A.; d'Alarcao, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 6497.
- 74. Kornienko, A.; Turner, D. I.; Jaworek, C. H.; d'Alarcao, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 2783.
- 75. Colobert, F.; Tito, A.; Khiar, N.; Denni, D.; Medina, M. A.; Martin-Lomas, M.; Garcia Ruano, J.-L.; Solladié, G. J. Org. Chem. **1998**, 63, 8918.
- 76. Carpintero, M.; Jaramillo, C.; Fernández-Mayoralas, A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 1285.
- 77. Chiara, J. L.; Cabri, W.; Hanessian, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 1125.
- 78. Aspinall, H. C.; Greeves, N.; Valla, C. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 1919.
- 79. Marco-Contelles, J.; Gallego, P.; Rodíguez-Fernández, M.; Khiar, N.; Destabel, C.; Bernabé, M.; Martínez-Grau, A.; Chiara, J. L. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7397.
- 80. Boiron, A.; Zillig, P.; Faber, D.; Giese, B. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5877.
- 81. Storch de Garcia, I.; Bobo, S.; Martín-Ortega, M. D.; Chiara, J. L Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1705.
- 82. Bobo, S.; Storch de Gracia, I.; Chiara, J. L. Synlett 1999, 1551.
- 83. Storch de Gracia, I.; Dietrich, H.; Bobo, S.; Chiara, J. L. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5883.
- 84. Grové, J. J. C.; Holzapfel, C. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 7429.
- 85. Dalko, P. I.; Sinaÿ, P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1999, 38, 773.
- 86. Jenkins, D. J.; Riley, A. M.; Potter, B. V. L. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 7719.
- 87. Chénedé, A.; Pothier, P.; Sollogoub, M. Fairbanks, A. J.; Sinaÿ, P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1373.
- 88. Chénedé, A.; Perrin, E.; Rekaï, E. D.; Sinaÿ, P. Synlett 1994, 420.
- 89. Bols, M.; Skrydstrup, T. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 1253.
- 90. Dalko, P. I. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 7579.
- 91. Mazéas, D.; Skrydstrup, T.; Doumeix, O.; Beau, J.-M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1994, 33, 1383.
- 92. Grové, J. J. C.; Holzapfel, C. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 7429.
- 93. Martínez-Grau, A.; Marco-Contelles, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1998, 27, 155.
- 94. Rowlands, G. J. Annu. Rep. Prog. Chem., Sect. B 2008, 104, 19.
- 95. Chiara, J. L.; Sesmilo, E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 3242.
- 96. Kim, B. G.; Schilde, U.; Linker, T. Synthesis 2005, 1507.
- 97. Johannesen, S. A.; Albu, S.; Hazell, R. G.; Skrydstrup, T. Chem. Commun. 2004, 1962.
- 98. Kovács, G.; Tóth, K.; Dinya, Z.; Somsák, L.; Micskei, K. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 5253.
- 99. Kovács, G.; Gyarmati, J.; Somsák, L.; Micskei, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 1293.
- 100. Pollon, J. H. P.; Liewellyn, G.; Williams, J. M. Synthesis 1989, 758.
- 101. Lübbers, T.; Schäfer, H. J. Synlett 1992, 743.
- 102. Bertrand, M. P.; DeRiggi, I.; Lesueur, C.; Gastaldi, S.; Nouguier, R.; Jaime, C.; Virgili, A. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6040.
- 103. Micskei, K.; Juhász, Z.; Ratkovic, Z. R.; Somsák, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 6117.
- 104. Takai, K.; Nitta, K.; Fujimura, O.; Utmoto, K. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 4732.

# Chapter 21: Reactions of Radicals Produced by Electron Transfer to Manganese(III) Acetate and Ammonium Cerium(IV) Nitrate

- 1. Baciocchi, E.; Giese, B.; Farshchi, H.; Ruzziconi, R. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 5688.
- 2. Snider, B. B. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 339.
- 3. Melikyan, G. G. Org. React. 1997, 49, 427.
- 4. Nair, V.; Mathew, J.; Prabhakaran, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1997, 127.
- 5. Melikyan, G. G. Aldrichimica Acta 1998, 31, 50.
- 6. Linker, T.; Hartmann, K.; Sommermann, T.; Scheutzow, D.; Ruckdeschel, E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1996, 35, 1730.
- 7. Linker, T.; Sommermann, T.; Kahlenberg, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9377.
- 8. Linker, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 2002, 661, 159.
- 9. Yin, J.; Linker, T. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2012, 10, 2351



- 10. a) Fristad, W. E.; Peterson, J. R. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 10; b) Fristad, W. E.; Hershberger, S. S. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 1026.
- 11. Snider, B. B. *Tetrahedron* **2009**, 65, 10738.
- 12. Rowlands, G. J. Tetrahedron 2009, 65, 8603.
- 13. Hessel, L. W.; Romers, C. Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 1969, 88, 545.
- 14. Houk, K. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 4092.
- 15. Kim, B. G.; Schilde, U.; Linker, T. Synthesis 2005, 1507.
- 16. Hartmann, K.; Kim, B. G.; Linker, T. Synlett 2004, 2728.
- 17. Yousuf, S. K.; Mukherjee, D.; Mallikharjunrao, L.; Taneja, S. C. Org. Lett. 2011, 13, 576.
- 18. Beyrich-Graf, X.; Müller, S. N.; Giese, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 1553.
- 19. Nair, V.; Panicker, S. B.; Nair. L. G.; George, T. G.; Augustine, A. Synlett, 2003, 156.
- 20. Sommermann, T.; Kim, B. G.; Peters, K,; Peters, E.-M.; Linker T. Chem. Commun. 2004, 2624.
- 21. Yin, J.; Spindler, J.; Linker, T. Chem. Commun. 2007, 2712.
- 22. Yin, J.; Sommermann, T.; Linker, T. Chem. Eur. J. 2007, 13, 10152.
- 23. Reddy, Y. S.; Pal, A. P. J.; Gupta, P.; Ansari, A. A.; Vankar, Y. D. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 76, 5972.
- 24. Gyóllai, V.; Schanzenbach, D.; Somsák, L.; Linker, T. Chem. Commun. 2002, 1294.
- 25. Linker, T.; Schanzenbach, D.; Elamparuthi, E.; Sommermann, T.; Fudickar, W.; Gyóllai, V.; Somsák, L.; Demuth, W.; Schmittel, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 16003.
- 26. Elamparuthi, E.; Linker, T. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 1361.
- 27. Lemieux, R. U.; Ratcliffe, R. M. Can. J. Chem. 1979, 57, 1244.
- 28. Trahanovsky, W. S.; Robbins, M. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 5256.
- 29. Trahanovsky, W. S.; Cramer, J. J. Org. Chem. 1971, 36, 1890.
- 30. Elamparuthi, E.; Linker, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 1853.

## Chapter 22: Reactions of Carbohydrate Derivatives With Titanocene(III) Chloride

- 1. Spencer, R. P.; Schwartz, J. Tetrahedron2000, 56, 2103.
- 2. Enemærke, R. J.; Larsen, J.; Skrydstrup, T.; Daasbjerg, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 7853.
- 3. Enemærke, R. J.; Larsen, J.; Hjøllund, G. H.; Skrydstrup, T.; Daasbjerg, K. Organometallics. 2005, 24, 1252.
- 4. Cavallaro, C. L.; Schwartz, J. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 3863.
- 5. Spencer, R. P.; Schwartz, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 4357.
- 6. Spencer, R. P. Cavallaro, C. L.; Schwartz, J. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 3987.
- 7. Hansen, T.; Krintel, S. L.; Daasbjerg, K.; Skrydstrup, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 6087.
- 8. Hansen, T.; Daasbjerg, K.; Skrydstrup, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 8645.
- 9. Cavallaro, C. L.; Schwartz, J. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 7055.
- 10. Spencer, R. P.; Schwartz, J. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 4204.
- 11. a) Xu, X.; Tan, Q.; Hayashi, M. Synthesis **2008**, 770; b) Abel, M.; Segade, A.; Planas, A. *Tetrahedron Asymmetry* **2009**, *20*, 851.
- 12. RajanBabu, T. V.; Nugent, W. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 4525.
- 13. RajanBabu, T. V.; Nugent, W. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 986.
- 14. RajanBabu, T. V.; Nugent, W. A.; Beattie, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 6408.
- 15. Dötz, K. H.; Gomes da Silva, E. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 8291.
- 16. Parrish, J. D.; Little, R. D. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1439.
- 17. Chakraborty, T. K.; Das, S. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 2313.
- 18. Nishiguchi, G. A.; Little, R. D. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 5249.
- 19. Barrero, A. F.; Quílez del Moral, J. F.; Sánchez, E. M.; Arteaga, J. F. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 1627.
- 20. Hersant, G.; Ferjani, M. B. S.; Bennett, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2004, 45, 8123.
- 21. Gansäuer, A.; Rinker, B. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 7017.
- 22. Gansäuer, A.; Bluhm, H. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 2771.
- 23. Gansäuer, A.; Lauterbach, T.; Narayan, S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 5556.
- 24. Daasbjerg, K.; Svith, H.; Grimme, S.; Gerenkamp, M.; Müch-Lichtenfeld, C.; Gansäuer, A.; Barchuk, A.; Keller, F. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 2041.
- 25. Gansäuer, A.; Barchuk, A.; Keller, F.; Schmitt, M.; Grimme, S.; Gerenkamp, M.; Müch-Lichtenfeld, C.; Daasbjerg, K.; Svith, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 1359.



- Cuerva. J. M.; Campaña, A. G.; Justicia, J.; Rosales, A.; Oller-López, J. L.; Robles, R.; Cárdenas, D. J.; Buñuel, E.; Oltra, J. E. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 5522.
- 27. Dupuis, J.; Giese, B.; Rüegge, D.; Fischer, H.; Korth, H.-G.; Sustmann, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1984, 23, 896.
- 28. Barden, M. C.; Schwartz, J. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7520.
- 29. Andrews, R. S.; Becker, J. J.; Gagné, M. R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 7274.
- 30. Andrews, R. S.; Becker, J. J.; Gagné, M. R. Org. Lett. 2011, 13, 2406.

## Chapter 23: Organocobalt and Organomercury Compounds

- 1. Banerjee, R. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2083.
- Xu, Y.; Grissom, C. B. In *Comprehensive Natural Products Chemistry*; Barton, D.; Nakanishi, K; Meth-Cohn, O.; Poulter, C. D., Eds.; Elsevier: New York, 1999, pp 263-278.
- 3. Finke, R. G.; Hay, B. P. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 3041.
- 4. Duong, K. N. V.; Gaudemer, A.; Johnson, M. D.; Quillivic, R.; Zylber, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1975, 2997.
- 5. Joblin, K. N.; Johnson, A. W.; Lappert, M. F.; Nicholson, B. K. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1975, 441.
- 6. Gani, D.; Hollaway, M. R.; Johnson, A. W.; Lappert, M. F.; Wallis, O. C. J. Chem. Res. (S) 1981, 190.
- 7. Johnson, A. W.; Shaw, N. J. Chem. Soc. 1962, 4608.
- 8. Hogenkamp, H. P. C. J. Biol. Chem. 1963, 238, 477.
- 9. Johnson, A. W.; Oldfield, D.; Rodrigo, R.; Shaw, N. J. Chem. Soc. 1964, 4080.
- 10. Pattenden, G. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1988, 17, 361.
- 11. Branchaud, B. P.; Friestad, G. K. In *Encyclopedia of Reagents for Organic Synthesis*; Paquette, L. A., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1995, pp 5511-5514.
- 12. Ghosez, A.; Göbel, T.; Giese, B. Chem. Ber. 1988, 121, 1807.
- 13. Branchaud, B. P.; Meier, M. S. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 3191.
- 14. Branchaud, B. P.; Meier, M. S. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 1320.
- 15. Giese, B. Pure Appl. Chem. 1988, 60, 1655.
- 16. Yu, G.-X.; Tyler, D. R.; Branchaud, B. P. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 5687.
- 17. Slade, R. M.; Branchaud, B. P. Organometallics 1996, 15, 2585.
- 18. Branchaud, B. P.; Yu, G.-X. Organometallics 1991, 10, 3795.
- a) Branchaud, B. P.; Meier, M. S.; Choi, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1988, 29, 167; b) Slade, R. M.; Branchaud, B. P. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 3544.
- 20. Giese, B.; Carboni, B.; Göbel, T.; Muhn, R.; Wetterich, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 2673.
- 21. Branchaud, B. P.; Choi, Y. L. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 4638.
- 22. Martin, O. R.; Xie, F.; Kakarla, R.; Benhamza, R. Synlett 1993, 165.
- 23. Branchaud, B. P.; Yu, G.-X. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 6545.
- 24. Viet, A.; Giese, B. Synlett 1990, 166.
- 25. a) Désiré, J.; Prandi, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 6189; b) Mayer, S.; Prandi, J.; Bamhaoud, T.; Bakkas, S.; Guillou, O. *Tetrahedron* **1998**, *54*, 8753.
- 26. Désiré, J.; Prandi, J. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 3075.
- 27. Horton, D.; Tarelli, J. M.; Wander, J. D. Carbohydr. Res. 1972, 23, 440.
- 28. Remy, G.; Cottier, L.; Descotes, G. Can. J. Chem. 1983, 61, 434.
- 29. Giese, B.; Gröninger, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1984, 25, 2743.
- 30. Bernotas, R. C.; Ganem, B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1985, 1123.
- 31. Moutel, S.; Prandi, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 8163.
- 32. Giese, B.; Horler, H. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 4025.

## Chapter 24: Redox Couples

- 1. McGarvey, G. J. In *Encyclopedia of Reagents for Organic Synthesis;* Paquette, L. A., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1995, pp 5559-5565.
- 2. Blanchard, P.; da Silva, A. D.; Fourrey, J.-L.; Machado, A. S.; Robert-Géro, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 8069.
- 3. Readman, S. K.; Marsden, S. P.; Hodgson, A. Synlett 2000, 1628.
- 4. Hansen, T.; Daasbjerg, K.; Skrydstrup, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 8645.
- 5. Gong, H.; Andrews, R. S.; Zuccarello, J. L.; Lee, S. J.; Gagné, M. R. Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 879.



- 6. Maria, E. J.; da Silva, A. D.; Fourrey, J.-L. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 627.
- 7. Maria, E. J.; Fourrey, J.-L.; Machado, A. S.; Robert-Géro, M. Syn. Commun. 1996, 26, 27.
- 8. Blanchard, P.; da Silva, A. D.; El Kortbi, M. S.; Fourrey, J.-L.; Robert-Géro, M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6517.
- 9. Blanchard, P.; El Kortbi, M. S.; Fourrey, J.-L.; Robert-Géro, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 3319.
- 10. Luche, J. L.; Einhorn, C.; Einhorn, J.; Sinisterra-Gago, J. V. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 4125.
- 11. Somsák, L.; Madaj, J.; Wísniewski, A. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 16, 1075.
- 12. Giese, B.; González-Gómez, J. A.; Witzel, T. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1984, 23, 69.
- 13. Walling, C. Tetrahedron 1985, 41, 3887.
- 14. Luche, J. L.; Allavena, C.; Petrier, C.; Dupuy, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988, 29, 5373.
- 15. Dalko, P. I. Tetrahedron 1995, 51, 7579.
- 16. Walborsky, H. M. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23, 286.
- 17. Garst, J. F. Acc. Chem. Res. 1991, 24, 95.
- 18. Litwinienko, G.; Beckwith, A. L. J.; Ingold, K. U. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2011, 40, 2157.

## Appendix I: Hydrogen-Atom Donors

- 1. Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 7187.
- 2. Kirwan, J. N.; Roberts, B. P.; Willis, C. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 5093.
- 3. a) Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. J. Org. Chem. **1993**, 58, 6838; b)Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron Lett. **1992**, 33, 2311.
- 4. Chatgilialoglu, C. Acc. Chem. Res. 1992, 25, 188.
- 5. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Griller, D.; Lesage, M. J. Org. Chem. 1988, 53, 3641.
- 6. Chatgilialoglu, C. Chem. Rev. 1995, 95, 1229.
- 7. Lesage, M.; Chatgilialoglu, C.; Griller, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 2733.
- 8. Allen, R. P.; Roberts, B. P.; Willis, C. R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1989, 1387.
- 9. Jang, D. O.; Cho, D. H.; Barton, D. H. R. Synlett 1998, 39.
- 10. Zlatev, I.; Vasseur, J.-J.; Morvan, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 2008, 48, 3288.
- 11. Barton, D. H. R.; Jacob, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 1331.
- 12. Schweinfurth, H. Tin and its Uses 1985, 143, 9.
- 13. Boyer, I. J. Toxicology 1989, 55, 253.
- 14. Huryn, D. M.; Okabe, M. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1745.
- 15. Corey, E. J.; Suggs, J. W. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 2554.
- 16. Gurjar, M. K.; Kunwar, A. C.; Reddy, D. V.; Islam, A.; Lalitha, S. V. S.; Jagannadh, B.; Rama Rao, A. V. *Tetrahedron* **1993**, *49*, 4373.
- 17. Terstiege, I.; Maleczka, R. W., Jr. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 342.
- 18. Chuit, C.; Corriu, R. J. P.; Perz, R.; Reyé, C. Synthesis 1982, 981.
- 19. Chuit, C.; Corriu, R. J. P.; Reye, C.; Young J. C. Chem. Rev. 1993, 93, 1371.
- 20. Lopez, R. M.; Hays, D. S.; Fu, G. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997,119, 6949.
- 21. Lawrence, N. J.; Drew, M. D.; Bushell, S. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 3381.
- 22. Hayashi, K.; Iyoda, J.; Shiihara, I. J. Organomet. Chem. 1967, 10, 81.
- 23. Kuivila, H. G. Acc. Chem. Res. 1968, 1, 299.
- 24. Thiem, J.; Karl, H. Chem. Ber. 1980, 113, 3039.
- 25. Crich, D.; Sun, S. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 7200.
- 26. Leibner, J. E.; Jacobus, J. J. Org. Chem. 1979, 44, 449.
- 27. Salomon, C. J.; Danelon, G. O.; Mascaretti, O. A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 9220.
- 28. Edelson, B. S.; Stoltz, B. M.; Corey, E. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 6729.
- 29. Gerlach, M.; Jördens, F.; Kuhn, H.; Neumann, W. P.; Peterseim, M. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 5971.
- 30. Neumann, W. P.; Peterseim, M. Synlett 1992, 801.
- 31. Dumartin, G.; Pourcel, M.; Delmond, B.; Donard, O.; Pereyre, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 4663.
- 32. Boussaguet, P.; Delmond, B.; Dumartin, G.; Pereyre, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 3377.
- 33. Enholm, E. J.; Schulte, J. P., III Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1275.
- 34. Curran, D. P.; Hadida, S.; Kim, S.-Y.; Luo, Z. 1999, 121, 6607.
- 35. Curran, D. P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 1174.



- 36. Kanabus-Kaminska, J. M.; Hawari, J. A.; Griller, D.; Chatgilialoglu, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 5267.
- 37. Crich, D.; Beckwith, A. L. J.; Chen, C.; Yao, Q.; Davison, I. G. E.; Longmore, R. W.; de Parrodi, C. A.; Quintero-Cortes, L.; Sandoval-Ramirez, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 8757.
- 38. Gilbert, B. C.; Parsons, A. F. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2002, 367.
- 39. Hammerschmidt, F.; Öhler, E.; Polsterer, J.-P.; Zbiral, E.; Balzarini, J.; DeClercq, E. Liebigs Ann. 1995, 551.
- 40. Boquel, P.; Cazalet, C. L.; Chapleur, Y.; Samreth, S.; Bellamy, F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 1997.
- 41. Chen, Y.; Bauman, J. G.; Chu, C. K. Nucleosides Nucleotides 1992, 11, 693.
- 42. Oba, M.; Kawahara, Y.; Yamada, R.; Mizuta, H.; Nishiyama, K. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1996, 1843.
- 43. Gimisis, T.; Ballestri, M.; Ferreri, C.; Chatgilialoglu, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1995**, *36*, 3897.
- 44. Yamazaki, O.; Togo, H.; Matsubayashi, S.; Yokoyama, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 1921.
- 45. Yamazaki, O.; Togo, H.; Matsubayashi, S.; Yokoyama, M. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 3735.
- 46. Togo, H.; Matsubayashi, S.; Yamazaki, O.; Yokoyama, M. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 2816.
- 47. Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. *Tetrahedron* **1993**, 49, 7193.
- 48. Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 2793.
- 49. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Ferreri, C. Res. Chem. Intermed. 1993, 19, 755.
- 50. Chatgilialoglu, C.; Ferreri, C.; Lucarini, M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 249.
- 51. Newcomb, M.; Park, S. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 4132.
- 52. Curran, D. P.; Xu, J.; Lazzarini, E. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 3049.
- 53. Cole, S. J.; Kirwan, J. N.; Roberts, B. P.; Willis, C. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 103.
- 54. Roberts, B. P. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1999, 28, 25.
- 55. Cai, Y.; Roberts, B. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 763.
- 56. Studer, A.; Amrein, S. Synthesis 2002, 835.
- 57. Barton, D. H. R.; Jang, D. O.; Jaszberenyi, J. Cs. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 5709.
- 58. Takamatsu; S.; Katayama, S.; Hirose, N.; Naito, M.; Izawa, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 7605.
- 59. Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 9435.
- 60. Quiclet-Sire, B.; Zard, S. Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 9190.
- 61. Studer, A.; Amrein, S.; Schleth, F.; Schulte, T.; Walton, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 5726.